
 
Visit the Township's Web Site www.twp.ferguson.pa.us  and sign up for Notify Me! to receive email notices about Township 
Information. 
 

FERGUSON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Regular Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, February 16, 2021, 7:00 PM 
 

Join Zoom Meeting: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88575479202 

Meeting ID:  885 7547 9202 
Zoom Access Instructions 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. CITIZENS INPUT  

 
IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. January 12, 2021, Stormwater Management Utility Fee Worksession 
2. February 1, 2021, Board of Supervisors Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

V. SPECIAL REPORTS 
a. COVID-19 (Coronavirus) Response Report 
b. Schlow Centre Region Library Report 
c. Ferguson Township Climate Action Committee Report 
 

VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
1. Continued Public Hearing – Stormwater Management Utility Fee Ordinance 

a. Continued Public Hearing – Credit Policy Manual Resolution 
b. Continued Public Hearing – Agricultural Properties Partial Exemption Resolution 
c. Continued Public Hearing – Economic Hardship Exemption Resolution 
d. Continued Public Hearing – Fund Balance Limit Resolution 

 
VII. NEW BUSINESS 

1. Consent Agenda 
2. Public Hearing Resolution – Authorizing Adoption Agreement for 457(b) Comp Plan 
3. Public Hearing Resolution – Authorizing Adoption Agreement for 401(a) Comp Plan 
4. Zoning/Variance Request – 3795 W. College Avenue 
5. Award of Contract 2021-C23, Traffic Signal Pole Replacement 

 
VIII. REPORTS 

1. COG Committee Reports  
2. Other Regional Reports 
3. Staff Reports 

 
IX. COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD 

 
X. CALENDAR ITEMS – FEBRUARY/MARCH 

 
XI. ADJOURNMENT 

https://www.twp.ferguson.pa.us/administration/pages/zoom-instructions


 

 

Board of Supervisors 

Regular Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, February 16, 2021 

7:00 P.M. 

 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER 
 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

III. CITIZEN’S INPUT 
 

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

1. January 12, 2021, Stormwater Management Utility Fee Worksession 
2. February 1, 2021, Board of Supervisors Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

V. SPECIAL REPORTS          20 minutes 
 
1. COVID-19 (Coronavirus) Response Report – David Pribulka, Township Manager 
2. Schlow Centre Region Library Report – Barbara Ziff 
3. Ferguson Township Climate Action Committee Report – Brandi Robinson 

 
VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
1. A CONTINUED PUBLIC HEARING ON AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWNSHIP OF 

FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA ESTABLISHING A UTILITY FEE 
FOR STORMWATER COLLECTION AND MANAGEMENT.   60 minutes 

 
Narrative 
Provided with the agenda is a copy of the ordinance advertised for a continued public 
hearing and action this evening establishing a Stormwater Management Utility Fee. The 
ordinance, as reviewed by the Board and the public at the February 1st public hearing as 
well as several prior discussions, establishes the billing unit methodology and procedure; 
appeal process; exemptions and credits; and enforcement provisions. The single 
substantive change made from the February 1 discussion is to establish under Section 6 – 
Stormwater Utility Fee Credits, that all revenue reduced by the invocation of credits by 
private property owners shall be supplemented through interfund transfers from the 
Township’s General Fund.  If enacted, the ordinance would go into effect on January 1, 
2022.  
 
Recommended Motion: That the Board of Supervisors adopt the ordinance establishing a 
utility fee for stormwater collection and management.  
 



Tuesday, February 16, 2021 
Page 2  
 

 

2. A CONTINUED PUBLIC HEARING ON A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF 
FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA ESTABLISHING A CREDIT POLICY 
MANUAL FOR THE STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY FEE AS DESCRIBED IN 
EXHIBIT “A” AND ATTACHED HERETO.      20 minutes 
 

Narrative 
Provided with the agenda is a copy of the resolution advertised for a continued public 
hearing and action this evening establishing a Credit Policy Manual to supplement the 
Stormwater Management Utility Fee Ordinance. The Credit Policy Manual has been updated 
to reflect the February 1 discussion by adding a credit for Best Management Practices for 
stormwater rate control on properties.  David Modricker, Director of Public Works, will 
introduce the item.  
 
Recommended Motion: That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution establishing a 
credit policy manual for the Ferguson Township Stormwater Management Utility Fee.  

 
3. A CONTINUED PUBLIC HEARING ON A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF 

FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA ESTABLISHING A PARTIAL 
EXEMPTION FOR AGRICULTURAL PROPERTIES FROM THE FERGUSON TOWNSHIP 
STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY FEE.     20 minutes 
 

Narrative 
Provided with the agenda is a copy of the resolution advertised for a continued public 
hearing and action this evening establishing a partial exemption for qualified properties 
that meet the definition of agricultural use as defined in the Pennsylvania Farmland and 
Forest Land Protection Act of 1974.  The policy would impose a maximum fee assessed on 
eligible properties of twice the median assessment imposed on all properties in the 
Township.  For the purposes of the bill ing unit methodology applied, this would equate to 
two (2) Equivalent Residential Units (ERUs) for agricultural properties.  Any dwelling units 
on the property would be assessed in addition to the two (2) ERUs charged to the 
agricultural property.  A provision was added to the reflect the February 1 discussion to 
allow the fees assessed to agricultural properties to be further reduced by any qualified 
credits that apply.  
 
Recommended Motion: That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution establishing a 
partial exemption for agricultural properties from the Ferguson Township Stormwater 
Management Utility Fee. 

 
4. A CONTINUED PUBLIC HEARING ON A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF 

FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA ESTABLISHING AN EXEMPTION 
POLICY FOR CERTAIN ECONOMIC HARDSHIPS AS DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “A”. 
            20 minutes 
 

Narrative 
Provided with the agenda is a copy of the resolution advertised for a continued public 
hearing and action this evening establishing a partial and full exemption for qualified 
individuals and families who are experiencing an economic hardship.  The policy remains 
unchanged from the February 1 draft reviewed by the Board of Supervisors.  As provided 
for in the policy, individuals and families whose income is less than or equal to two hundred 
percent (200%) of the Federal Poverty Income Level would qualify for a full exemption from 
the Stormwater Management Utility Fee, and individuals and families whose income is 



Tuesday, February 16, 2021 
Page 3  
 

 

between two hundred percent (200%) and two hundred and fifty percent (250%) of the 
Federal Poverty Income Level would qualify for a fifty percent (50%) exemption.  
 
Recommended Motion: That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution establishing an 
economic hardship exemption from the Ferguson Township Stormwater Management Utility 
Fee. 

 
5. A CONTINUED PUBLIC HEARING ON A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF 

FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA ESTABLISHING A MAXIMUM FUND 
BALANCE PERMITTED TO ACCRUE IN FUND 20, STORMWATER. 10 minutes 
 

Narrative 
Provided with the agenda is a copy of the resolution advertised for a continued public 
hearing and action this evening establishing a maximum fund balance permitted to accrue 
in the Township’s Stormwater Fund.  The resolution limits the allowable fund balance in 
Fund 20, Stormwater to thirty percent (30%) of the budgeted expenditures in the fiscal year. 
By adopting the resolution, the Board intends to stabilize the fee assessed by setting a 
maximum allowable reserve.  If the budget projects a fund balance in excess of thirty 
percent (30%), the Board would either apply the excess to a one-time expenditure or reduce 
the stormwater fee to lower the fund balance to less than or equal to thirty percent (30%). 
 
Recommended Motion: That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution establishing a 
maximum fund balance permitted to accrue in Fund 20, Stormwater. 

 
VII. NEW BUSINESS 

 
1. CONSENT AGENDA         5 minutes 

a. 2021 SCWC C-NET Coverage Sponsorship Request 
b. 2021 Ferguson Township Tree Commission Work Plan 
c. Letter to PA Acting Secretary of Health – Centralized COVID-19 Vaccine Registration 

Process 
d. Contract 2018-PWGG, HVAC, Pay App #4:  $365,587.77 
e. Contract 2018-PWGG, HVAC, Pay App #6:  $41,800.00 
f. Contract 2018-PWGG, Electrical, Pay App #9:  $64,045.16 
g. Contract 2018-PWGG, General, Pay App #10:  $439,553.60 

 
3. A PUBLIC HEARING ON A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, 

CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA AUTHORIZING THE TOWNSHIP MANAGER TO 
EXECUTE AN ADOPTION AGREEMENT FOR THE 457(B) DEFERRED 
COMPENSATION PLAN FOR GOVERNMENT EMPLOYERS.   10 minutes 

 
Narrative 
In 2020, the Non-Uniformed Pension Advisory Committee voted to consider other companies to manage 
the non-uniform pension investments.  The consulting firm Cornerstone Wealth Advisors and Pat Geary 
assisted with this, sending out a Request for Proposals to pension investment management firms.  Eight 
firms responded and the committee evaluated each firm.  At the recommendation of the committee, the 
Board awarded the contract to Voya Financial.  Over the last several months, the committee, Cornerstone 
and Voya have been working on the process to move the investments from ICMA-RC.  This includes 
communicating with the pension members of the change to Voya and processes to work with Voya.  It 
also includes processes for payroll and human resources related to the 457(b) plan contributions and 



Tuesday, February 16, 2021 
Page 4  
 

 

loans, rollovers, etc.  The 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan will be transitioned at the same time as the 
457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan.  The Township will also transition its Retirement Health Savings 
Plan from ICMA-RC to the firm TASC at the same time. 
 
Provided with the agenda is a copy of the resolution advertised for public hearing authorizing the 
Township Manager to execute the Adoption Agreement for the 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan  for 
Government Employers. This is a necessary precursor to transition the Township’s non-uniformed 
pension investments to Voya from ICMA-RC.   Appended to the resolution, as Exhibits “A” and “B” are 
the Adoption Agreement and the Basic Plan Document, respectively.  
 
Recommended motion:  That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution authorizing the 
Township Manager to execute an adoption agreement for the 457(b) Deferred 
Compensation Plan for government employers.  
 
Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution. 

 
4. A PUBLIC HEARING ON A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, 

CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA AUTHORIZING THE TOWNSHIP MANAGER TO 
EXECUTE AN ADOPTION AGREEMENT FOR THE 401(A) DEFINED CONTRIBUTON 
PLAN FOR GOVERNMENT EMPLOYERS.     10 minutes 

 
Narrative 
In 2020, the Non-Uniformed Pension Advisory Committee voted to consider other companies to manage 
the non-uniform pension investments.  The consulting firm Cornerstone Wealth Advisors and Pat Geary 
assisted with this, sending out a Request for Proposals to pension investment management firms.  Eight 
firms responded and the committee evaluated each firm.  At the recommendation of the committee, the 
Board awarded the contract to Voya Financial.  Over the last several months, the committee, Cornerstone 
and Voya have been working on the process to move the investments from ICMA-RC.  This includes 
communicating with the pension members of the change to Voya and processes to work with Voya.  The 
401(a) Defined Contribution Plan will be transitioned at the same time as the 457(b) Deferred 
Compensation Plan.  The Township will also transition its Retirement Health Savings Plan from ICMA-
RC to the firm TASC at the same time. 
 
Provided with the agenda is a copy of the resolution advertised for public hearing authorizing the 
Township Manager to execute the Adoption Agreement for the 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan for 
Government Employers. This is a necessary precursor to transition the Township’s non-uniformed 
pension investments to Voya from ICMA-RC.  Appended to the resolution, as Exhibits “A” and “B” are the 
Adoption Agreement and the Basic Plan Document, respectively. 
 
Recommended motion: That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution authorizing the 
Township Manager to execute an adoption agreement for the 401(a) Defined Contribution 
Plan for government employers.  
 
Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution. 

  



Tuesday, February 16, 2021 
Page 5  
 

 

5. ZONING APPEALS/REQUESTS FOR VARIANCES 
 

a. REQUEST FOR VARIANCE – 3795 WEST COLLEGE AVENUE 10 minutes 
 
Narrative 
State College Borough Water Authority—3795 W College Avenue (24-004-096-0000), zoned Rural 
Agricultural (RA), is requesting a variance from §27-701.3.C.—Floodplain Conservation, Use Limitations; 
§27-701.3.H.—Floodplain Conservation, Floodways; and §27-701.3.I.—Floodplain Conservation, Use 
Buffer to replace an existing bridge on SR 0026 (W. College Ave.) near the intersection of SR 0026 and 
SR 0045 (Shingletown Road).  This bridge replacement is being performed in concurrence with a 
widening project to allow for enhanced traffic circulation at the intersection of these two roadways.  The 
proposed bridge replacement and roadway widening improvements will require SCBWA to relocate an 
existing 12’’ watermain through existing wetlands and the main channel of Slab Cabin Run.  
 
Recommended motion: That the Board of Supervisor remain neutral on the request for 
variance at 3795 West College Avenue. 
 
Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors remain neutral on the request for variance.  

 
6. AWARD OF CONTRACT 2021-C23 TRAFFIC SIGNAL POLE REPLACEMENT  

            5 minutes 
Narrative 
Bids were opened on February 9, 2021, for contract 2021-C23 Traffic Signal Pole 
Replacement.  A signal pole and a sign at the intersection of West College Avenue and 
Science Park Road were damaged due to a vehicle crash on December 7, 2020.  The pole 
needs to be replaced and the cost should be reimbursable through an insurance claim. 
Provided with tonight’s agenda is the award memorandum dated February 9th, Bid 
Tabulation, and location map on behalf of Township Engineer, Ron Seybert. 
 
Recommended motion: That the Board of Supervisors award contract 2021-C23 Traffic 
Signal Pole Replacement to the low bidder, M&B services in accordance with their bid 
amount of $46,020.71. 

 
Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors award Contract 2021-C23. 

 
VIII. STAFF AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 

 
1. COG COMMITTEE REPORTS  30 minutes 

a. Facilities Committee 
b. Joint PSE and TLU Committees  
c. Climate Action & Sustainability Committee 
d. Public Safety Committee 
e. Finance Committee 
f. Executive Committee 

 
2. OTHER COMMITTEE REPORTS  5 minutes 

a. Library Director Selection Committee  



Tuesday, February 16, 2021 
Page 6  
 

 

IX. STAFF REPORTS          20 minutes 
a. Manager’s Report 
b. Public Works Director 
c. Planning and Zoning Director 
d. Chief of Police 

 
X. COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD 

 
XI. CALENDAR ITEMS – FEBRUARY/MARCH 

 
XII. ADJOURNMENT 





 


 


 


 


RESOLUTION NO. ________ 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA 
ESTABLISHING A PARTIAL EXEMPTION FOR AGRICULTURAL PROPERTIES FROM THE 
FERGUSON TOWNSHIP STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY FEE. 
  


WHEREAS, the Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors adopted Ordinance #_____ 
on February 16, 2021 establishing a Stormwater Management Utility Fee for all property owners 
in Ferguson Township; and 
 


WHEREAS, the intention of the ordinance and fee is to offset the direct and indirect costs 
of stormwater management in Ferguson Township; and 
 


WHEREAS, a component of the Township’s stormwater management obligations is to 
encourage and recognize best management practices for the conveyance and treatment of 
stormwater by property owners in the Township; and 


 
WHEREAS, in recognition of the unique attributes that agricultural properties possess to 


recharge the watershed and reduce the burden on public and private treatment of stormwater 
runoff, the Board of Supervisors is desirous of providing a partial exemption to qualified 
Agricultural Properties from the Stormwater Management Utility Fee. 
 


NOW THEREFORE, the Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors hereby establishes a 
partial exemption for Agricultural Properties from the Stormwater Management Utility Fee as 
described in the policy attached hereto and made part of this Resolution as Exhibit “A”. 
 


RESOLVED this ___ day of ___________, 2021. 
 


 
TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


 
 
 
      By:__________________________________ 
           Laura Dininni, Chair 
           Board of Supervisors 
 
 
  [ S E A L ] 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
David G. Pribulka, Secretary 


 
 







 


 


Exhibit “A” 


 


Ferguson Township 


Stormwater Management Utility Fee  


Agricultural Properties Exemption Policy 


Adopted: __________ 


Amended: __________ 


 


Purpose 


 


The Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors enacted Ordinance ____ on ________, 2021, 


establishing a Stormwater Management Utility Fee for the purposes of funding the Township’s 


obligation to maintain its stormwater management infrastructure; complying with state and federal 


permit requirements; and to more equitably assess all property owners in accordance with each 


property’s total impervious area. This policy is intended to provide a partial exemption for 


agricultural properties that limits the maximum fee assessed to twice the median assessment fee 


imposed on all other properties in the Township. It is the intent of this Policy to acknowledge the 


unique infiltrative characteristics of agricultural properties. 


 


Definitions 


 


1) Agricultural Properties. Properties that meet the definition of “agricultural use” as defined 


in Section 2 of the Act of December 19, 1974, known as the "Pennsylvania Farmland and 


Forest Land Assessment Act of 1974," regardless of whether the area is comprised of 


more than one deeded tract. 


 


2) Dwelling Unit. A dwelling used by one family or single housekeeping unit. 


 


3) Equivalent Residential Unit (“ERU”). The basic unit for the computation of Stormwater 


Program Fees. An ERU is based on the analysis of all single-family-detached-residential 


properties within the Township and is the value of impervious area found on the median. 


It is 3,097 square feet of impervious area. The ERU billing unit of 3,097 square feet is 


used to calculate the Stormwater Utility Fee for each parcel of developed property within 


the Township. 


 


4) Impervious Area. A surface that prevents the percolation of water into the ground. 


Impervious surfaces (or areas) shall include, but not be limited to: roofs; additional indoor 


living spaces, patios, garages, storage sheds and similar structures; and any new streets 


or sidewalks. Decks, parking areas, and driveway areas are not counted as impervious 


areas if they do not prevent infiltration. Gravel or crushed stone shall be considered 


impervious area when designed or primarily utilized to support vehicular traffic. The 


Director may develop specifications for the mapping of impervious area for the purpose of 


this Article, including the establishment of a uniform threshold under which a contiguous 


unit of impervious area is considered de minimis and not subject to mapping. 


 


 


 







 


 


Policy 


 


1) By enactment of this Policy, Ferguson Township limits the maximum Stormwater 


Management Utility Fee assessed to Agricultural Properties in the Township whose total 


impervious area does not exceed thirty percent (30%) of the property’s total land area to 


no greater than twice the median assessment fee imposed on all other properties in the 


Township. As established by Ordinance, this shall equal a maximum of two (2) Equivalent 


Residential Units, or “ERUs”.  


 


2) Dwelling units situated on Agricultural Properties, regardless of whether or not they are 


located on the same tax parcel as the property in agricultural use, shall be assessed 


separately and distinctly from the property in agricultural use. Therefore, the maximum fee 


that may be assessed to Agricultural Properties that include one or more dwelling units 


shall equal the sum of the assessment to the property in agricultural use and the 


assessment charged to the dwelling units.  


 


a. For example, an Agricultural Property with one (1) single-family detached dwelling 


unit could be assessed a maximum of three (3) ERUs, including a maximum of two 


(2) ERUs for the property in agricultural use, and one (1) ERU for the dwelling unit. 


The total number of ERUs assessed to the property shall be multiplied by the rate 


assessed per ERU for properties inside or outside the Regional Growth Boundary, 


whichever applies to the specific property, to determine the total fee assessed.  


 


b. For the purposes of determining whether the Agricultural Property with one or more 


dwelling units qualifies for the partial exemption established by this Policy, the 


maximum allowable impervious area permitted for the property to qualify shall not 


include the impervious area attributable to the dwelling unit(s), including any 


driveways used to access the dwelling unit(s) regardless of whether the driveways 


are also used to access property in agricultural use.  


 


3) Applications for exemption shall be filed each year in accordance with the maximum 


income thresholds, as may be revised. No applications shall be accepted after September 


30th of each year without written authorization from the Township Manager. Applicants 


who fail to reapply for the exemption, or whose property no longer meets the definition of 


Agricultural Property as defined herein, shall be deemed ineligible for the exemption and 


will be subject to the applicable stormwater management utility fee for their respective 


property in the upcoming fiscal year. 


 


4) By October 31st of each year, the Director of Finance shall review each application for an 


exemption under this policy and provide a written response to the applicant 


communicating the outcome of the review. Applications which are deemed rejected or 


non-compliant may be appealed to the Township Manager no later than November 30th of 


each year. On appeal, the Township Manager shall make a determination as to whether 


the guidelines prescribed above have been met and whether the household is eligible for 


the exemption. The outcome of the appeal to the Township Manager shall be 


communicated to the applicant no later than December 31st of each year. The decision of 


the Township Manager shall be binding and not subject to further appeal under this policy. 







 


 


 


5) It shall be permissible for a property that qualifies for a partial exemption under the 


provisions of this policy to further reduce its associated Stormwater Management Utility 


Fee by an additional amount through the application of qualified eligible credits as defined 


in the Credit Policy Manual. The credits shall be applied to the total fee assessed to the 


property including any dwelling units that are situated on the property.  


 


a. For example, a qualified agricultural property with one (1) dwelling unit would be 


assessed a maximum of three (3) ERUs (2 ERUs for the agricultural property and 


one for the dwelling unit), and the cumulative fee could be further reduced through 


any eligible credits on the property.  


 


6) The revenue source for the implementation of the agricultural exemption policy shall be 


separate and distinct from the stormwater management utility fee and shall be deposited 


by the Township from the General Fund into the Stormwater Fund. Nothing shall prevent 


the Board of Supervisors from modifying or repealing the agricultural exemption policy. 


Any such modification or elimination may apply to beneficiaries of an existing agricultural 


exemption at the discretion of the Board of Supervisors.  








CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 4 


State College, PA 16801 
Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


To attend this meeting by phone: +1 929 205 6099  |  Meeting ID: 854 5157 6924   Passcode: 886744 


 
JOINT MEETING OF THE 


PUBLIC SERVICES AND ENVIRONMENTAL AND 
TRANSPORTATION AND LAND USE COMMITTEES 


Video Conference 
February 4, 2021 


12:15 PM 
 


GENERAL MEETING INFORMATION 
 
 


STEP #1:  Click HERE to RSVP and REGISTER for the meeting via ZOOM 
After you RSVP, a link to register via Zoom will be shown. Click to register. Once 
registered, you will receive a confirmation email containing information about 
joining the meeting. 


 
STEP #2:  Click HERE to locate the AGENDA and ATTACHMENTS 
 


 
 


Meeting Contact: Shelly Mato (smato@crcog.net, 814-234-7198)   
 


• This meeting and the group chat will be recorded and both video and audio files of the 
       meeting will be made available on the COG website upon its conclusion. 
 
• We ask that non-voting participants remain muted with their video turned off unless 


recognized or are actively speaking. To reduce audio interference, please remain off 
speakerphone during the meeting.  


 
• VOTING PROCEDURES: Members will provide their vote by voice. Clarification will be  


sought by the Chair if the vote is unclear. Members opposed to a motion should vote “No”. 
For additional information on COG Voting Procedures, please click HERE. 


 
• PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES: Members of the public may comment on any items  


not already on the agenda (five minutes per person). Comments relating to specific items on 
the agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. For additional information on 
COG public meeting guidelines, please click HERE. 
 


• To access agendas and minutes of previously held meetings, and to learn more about the  
Public Services and Environmental Committee on our website, please click HERE. 


 
 







Joint Meeting Public Services and Transportation and Land Use Committees Agenda 
February 4. 2021 
Page 2 of 7 
 


During the COVID-19 health emergency and in compliance with Pennsylvania’s guidelines 
for public meetings, this Public Services and Environmental Committee meeting will be held 
via video conference. Written public comment or requests to speak to the Public Services and 
Environmental Committee for items not on the agenda and for specific agenda items below 


may be submitted in advance by emailing smato@crcog.net 


 
 


 
JOINT MEETING  OF THE PUBLIC SERVICES AND ENVIRONMENTAL 


AND TRANSPORTATION AND LAND USE COMMITTEES 
Video Conference 
February 4, 2021 


12:15 PM 


AGENDA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 


 
Chair Hameister will convene the meeting. 
Ms. Mato will take a roll call of members to ensure that they can hear and be heard. 


 
2.  PUBLIC COMMENTS 


 
Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda 
(five minutes per person time limit, please). Comments relating to specific items on the 
agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. Submitted comments will be 
read into the record by the Committee Chair or Recording Secretary at the appropriate 
time in the meeting.   
 


3.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
A copy of the minutes of the January 11, 2021 Transportation and Land Use Committee 
and the January 14, 2021 Public Services and Environmental Committee meetings are 
enclosed.  Each committee will vote separately on their minutes. 


 
  







Joint Meeting Public Services and Transportation and Land Use Committees Agenda 
February 4. 2021 
Page 3 of 7 
 
4.  INTRODUCTIONS 
 
 Committee members will introduce themselves.  
  


Members of TLU and PSE Committees 
Public Services and  


Environmental Committee 
Transportation and Land Use 


Committee 
 


Representing 
Carla Stilson, Vice Chair Eric Bernier College Township 
Prasenjit Mitra Lisa Strickland Ferguson Township 
Danelle Del Corso David Piper Halfmoon Township 
Denny Hameister, Chair Frank Harden, Vice Chair Harris Township 
Betsy Whitman Pamela Robb Patton Township 
Deanna Behring Theresa Lafer, Chair State College Borough 


- Neil Sullivan Penn State 
 
5.  CONTEXT AND EXAMPLES OF COMMITTEE WORK - presented by Jim May 
 


The purpose of this item is to take a step back from the draft responsibilities discussed by 
the TLU and PSE committees in previous meetings and discuss some of work the 
committees could be doing in a broader context. CRPA staff will review the context and 
provide some specific examples of potential work. The committees should discuss the 
context, provide comments, and ask any questions for clarification.   
 
For purposes of this item, staff developed the following statement to frame the 
discussion. “The purpose of this Committee is to collaboratively plan, prioritize, and take 
actions that strengthen support the long-term development of the Region specifically in 
the areas of integrating land use planning, transportation planning, and other public 
infrastructure coordination.” Staff recommends that the newly created committee 
prepare a mission statement when members start meeting as a new committee. 
 
Planning for land use, transportation, and public infrastructure collaboratively is no 
trivial task in the Centre Region. There is a legacy of strong cooperation and 
collaboration, but the governance system is decentralized and unique to the COG. This 
includes: six diverse municipalities; a major knowledge, employment, and population 
center at PSU; a sewer authority, several water authorities; a county-wide transportation 
organization, regional transportation authority, and county-wide transportation office; 
and many active non-governmental organizations. This does not include the myriad 
federal and Commonwealth regulatory and political entities that influence projects in the 
region. 
 
It is anticipated that the newly formed committee will be working primarily in three areas 
including: 


1. Oversight and development of regional and county plans 







Joint Meeting Public Services and Transportation and Land Use Committees Agenda 
February 4. 2021 
Page 4 of 7 
 


2. Implementation and monitoring of regional and county plans 
3. Communication and collaboration 


Each area is briefly discussed below. Staff will provide additional examples in a 
PowerPoint at the joint meeting. 
 
Oversight and Development of Regional and County Plans 
Regional plans include preparation of region-wide or county-wide plans that are adopted 
or endorsed by the six Centre Region municipalities. This Committee will be the primary 
COG Committee helping staff to develop region-wide plans for land use and 
transportation. These plans include: The Centre Region Comprehensive Plan; Centre 
County Long Range Transportation Plan (LRTP); and the Centre Region Bike Plan. The 
Comprehensive Plan includes the six Centre Region municipalities and is updated every 
ten years, with the next scheduled update beginning in 2022. The LRTP is updated every 
five years however, the next update will occur earlier due to a required transition to 
performance-based planning. The Committee will primarily focus on projects in the 
Centre Region, but will also provide input to large scale projects and projects of regional 
importance outside the Region. 
 
Implementation and Monitoring of Regional and County Plans 
Region-wide plans establish guidelines, policies, and goals that are generally implemented 
by the actions at the regional or municipal level, authorities, or other entities. For 
example, the CRPA prepares the Regional Development Capacity Report (REDCAP). 
That document helps the region and municipalities understand the development 
potential in the regional and implements goals in the Comprehensive Plan related to 
directing the majority of growth into the Regional Growth Boundary and Sewer Service 
Area (RGB and SSA). The CRPA also prepares many other reports that implement the 
Comprehensive Plan and other regional or county-wide plans.   
 
The Act 537 Plan provides sewer planning in the Centre Region and is administered for 
the municipalities by the CRPA in conjunction with the University Area Joint Authority 
(UAJA). Part of the Act 537 Plan relating to expansion of the RGB and SSA require 
approval by the COG General Forum, but the UAJA Board of Directors provides 
oversight of the UAJA staff for plant operations, sewer fees, budgeting, and personnel.    
 
Communication and Collaboration 
Building formal communication networks with authorities to understand regional 
challenges and issues and collaborate on future planning should core task of this 
Committee. These may include how land use impacts, or is impacted by priorities, 
funding, and other challenges for the sewer, water, and transportation authorities and 
organizations. 
 
A substantial responsibility of the Committee should be to coordinate with authorities 
and other entities on an established annual or bi-annual schedule to receive reports from 







Joint Meeting Public Services and Transportation and Land Use Committees Agenda 
February 4. 2021 
Page 5 of 7 
 


the authorities and determine how authority plans can influence land use and 
transportation planning. For example, the SCBWA is constructing the Nixon/Kocher 
Treatment in Ferguson Township and plans to upgrade the Woodside Treatment Plant 
in Harris Township. How do these major improvements impact residents and businesses 
in the Region? The Region relies on groundwater. What plans does the SCBWA have in 
place to protect the drinking water supply? Having a regular communication channel 
with the SCBWA would provide a process to help clarify this. 
 
The Committee also should develop formal communication and collaboration with 
other COG committees. For example, this Committee will have oversight of 
transportation plans that will have a direct relationship with greenhouse gas emissions 
reductions that are the responsibility of the Climate Action and Sustainability 
Committee. Staff suggests that there are several methods to coordinate and collaborate 
including joint meetings, matters of record, staff reports and others that can be 
developed over time. 


 
To move forward, the committees should discuss this item and provide any feedback 
to staff. Formal action in not required. 


 
6.  REVIEW AND REVISE COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITIES – presented by Jim May 
 


This item summarizes the draft recommendations and responsibilities in response to 
comments from the TLU Committee meeting on January 11, 2021 and the PSE 
Committee meeting on January 14, 2021. Additions and strikeouts are show in the text 
below. The Committees should continue to refine the draft recommendations and 
responsibilities and if possible, reach consensus on the draft responsibilities moving 
forward. The responsibilities should remain in draft form for the first few months of 
Committee work and be finalized during the preparation of a COG-wide strategic plan 
and amendments to the COG Articles of Agreement. 


 
Draft Recommendations: 


 
1. The TLU and PSE Committees should be consolidated to form the Land Use, 


Transportation, and Infrastructure (LUTI) Committee. LUTI should provide oversight for 
integrating regional land use planning with public infrastructure planning (transportation 
and public or private utilities) to provide a solid foundation for the Region’s future growth, 
quality of life, and economic prosperity. 


2. The LUTI Committee should also be a forum to discuss an approach to regional affordable 
housing trends, including developing socio-economic and demographic data that can inform 
and if an approaches to County and local is developed, provide oversight to regional 
affordable housing issues and programs and ordinances. 


3. Draft responsibilities for the LUTI Committee should be prepared by members of the PSE 
and TLU Committees using draft recommendations provided by staff. 







Joint Meeting Public Services and Transportation and Land Use Committees Agenda 
February 4. 2021 
Page 6 of 7 
 


4. Members of the PSE and TLU Committees should develop a draft mission statement for the 
LUTI Committee in conjunction with the COG-wide Strategic Plan. 


5. Responsibilities of the TLU Committee regarding participation in the Centre County 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (CCMPO) transportation planning process will be 
substantially reduced to limit redundancy with CCMPO activities. Information and 
presentations to the LUTI Committee regarding the CCMPO will emphasize projects in the 
Centre Region, and projects of County-wide significance outside the Region. 


6. The LUTI Committee should receive reports from the water authorities, sewer authority, 
Centre Area Transportation Authority (CATA), MS4 Group, and other public 
infrastructure providers as needed to understand regional impacts of activities associated 
with these major infrastructure providers. 


7. The LUTI should meet two time annually with the Centre Regional Planning Commission 
(CRPC) to coordinate land use planning, transportation planning, infrastructure planning, 
affordable housing, and to provide input the Comprehensive Plan Implementation Program 
(CHIP). 


 
 


Land Use, Transportation, and Infrastructure Committee (LUTI) - Draft 
Responsibilities 
 
The TLU and PSE Committees should consider a formal name for the newly formed committee. 
LUTI is a placeholder. 
 


i. To study and prepare recommendations on actions and significant planning 
efforts relating to regional land use, transportation, sewer, water, and stormwater 
planning; and delivery of broadband internet, energy services, including electric 
power, natural gas, and other public infrastructure, and affordable housing.  


ii. To coordinate with the Public Safety Committee regarding studies, plans, 
proposals, and construction of public infrastructure as they relate to the potential 
impact on public safety and emergency response.  


iii. To coordinate with the Climate Action and Sustainability Committee regarding 
studies, plans, proposals, and construction as they relate to energy conservation 
or sustainability reductions in greenhouse gas emissions or to mitigate impacts of 
a changing climate (staff recommended comment to be consistent with the primary 
Climate Action and Sustainability responsibilities). 


iv. Receive reports on an as needed basis from the water authorities, sewer authority, 
CATA, MS4 Group, Penn State University, and other public infrastructure and 
service providers as needed to understand regional impacts of activities associated 
with these major infrastructure providers. 


v. Meet two times annually with the Centre Regional Planning Commission 
(CRPC) to discuss issues of regional interest and provide input regarding the 
Comprehensive Plan Implementation Program (CHIP). 







Joint Meeting Public Services and Transportation and Land Use Committees Agenda 
February 4. 2021 
Page 7 of 7 
 


vi. To study and prepare recommendations on regional land use; transportation; 
public infrastructure policy, issues, or projects; and affordable housing as 
requested by the Executive Committee.  


 
To move forward, the committees should discuss this item and reach consensus on the 
recommendations and draft responsibilities. Formal action in not required. 


 
7.  NEXT STEPS 
 


This item is for members of the TLU and PSE Committees to begin discussing which 
committee members will continue on with the newly formed committee and how that 
process will work. The committees should also determine a schedule for consolidation of 
the two committees. 
 
To move forward, committee members should provide any comments and feedback. 
After discussion, the committees should consider having the Chairs of each committee 
meet with Mr. Norenberg and Mr. May to compile comments and work on an acceptable 
approach for consideration during the March meetings of each committee.  
 
To move forward, the committees should discuss this item and provide, feedback to 
staff, and consider having a meeting between the committee chairs, Mr. Norenberg, 
and Mr. May.   


 
 


8.  OTHER BUSINESS 


 A. Matter of Record – The next Public Services and Environmental Committee meeting 
is scheduled for March 4, 2021 at 12:15 p.m. The next Transportation and Land Use 
Committee meeting is scheduled for March 1, 2021 at 12:15 p.m. 


 
9.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
 


ENCLOSURES: 
 
Item#   Description 
03.1   TLU Minutes January 2021 
03.2   PSE Minutes January 2021 
 
 








 


 


 


 


RESOLUTION NO. ________ 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, 
PENNSYLVANIA ESTABLISHING AN EXEMPTION POLICY FOR CERTAIN ECONOMIC 
HARDSHIPS AS DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “A”. 
  


WHEREAS, the Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors adopted Ordinance #_____ 
on February 16, 2021 establishing a Stormwater Management Utility Fee for all property 
owners in Ferguson Township; and 
 


WHEREAS, the intention of the ordinance and fee is to offset the direct and indirect 
costs of stormwater management in Ferguson Township; and 
 


WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors is desirous of establishing a partial and full 
exemption process for individuals and families who demonstrate an economic hardship as 
described in the attached policy; and 
 


NOW THEREFORE, the Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors hereby establishes a 
full and partial exemption process from the Stormwater Management Utility Fee for individuals 
and families who demonstrate and economic hardship as described in the policy attached 
hereto and made part of this Resolution as Exhibit “A”. 
 


RESOLVED this ___ day of ___________, 2021. 
 


 
TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


 
 
 
      By:__________________________________ 
           Laura Dininni, Chair 
           Board of Supervisors 
 
 
  [ S E A L ] 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
David G. Pribulka, Secretary 


 
 







 


 


Exhibit “A” 


 


Ferguson Township 


Stormwater Management Utility Fee Non-Profit Hardship Policy 


Adopted: __________ 


Amended: __________ 


 


Purpose 


 


The Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors enacted Ordinance ____ on ________, 2021, 


establishing a Stormwater Management Utility Fee for the purposes of funding the Township’s 


obligation to maintain its stormwater management infrastructure; complying with state and federal 


permit requirements; and to more equitably assess all property owners in accordance with each 


property’s total impervious area. This policy is intended to provide an opportunity for individuals 


and families whose earnings are equal to or less than the established federal poverty guideline 


as described below to receive a full exemption from the stormwater management utility fee 


applicable to their property. 


 


Policy 


 


1) It shall be the policy of the Township to provide a full (100%) exemption to individuals and 


families who earn less than or equal to two hundred percent (200%) of the Federal Poverty 


Income Level by household size as defined by the United States Department of Health 


and Human Services. A fifty percent (50%) exemption shall apply to individuals and 


families who earn less than or equal to two hundred and fifty percent (250%) of the Federal 


Poverty Income Level by household size as defined by the United States Department of 


Health and Human Services.  


 


2) Individuals and households who wish to claim this exemption must do so by filing an 


application with the Township no later than September 30th of each year prior to the fiscal 


year for which the exemption is being requested. In order to be deemed eligible, applicants 


must demonstrate that their maximum household earnings does not exceed the relevant 


maximum threshold as defined above. This shall be done by providing supporting 


documentation such as the most recent Form 1040, U.S. Individual Income Tax Return 


for all individuals in the household. Other supporting documentation may be deemed 


eligible by the Director of Finance. 


 


3) Applications for exemption shall be filed each year in accordance with the maximum 


income thresholds, as may be revised. No applications shall be accepted after September 


30th of each year without written authorization from the Township Manager. Applicants 


who fail to reapply for the exemption, or whose household income exceeds the relevant 


maximum income guidelines described above, shall be deemed ineligible for the 


exemption and will be subject to the applicable stormwater management utility fee for their 


respective property in the upcoming fiscal year. 


 


4) By October 31st of each year, the Director of Finance shall review each application for an 


exemption under this policy and provide a written response to the applicant 







 


 


communicating the outcome of the review. Applications which are deemed rejected or 


non-compliant may be appealed to the Township Manager no later than November 30th of 


each year. On appeal, the Township Manager shall make a determination as to whether 


the guidelines prescribed above have been met and whether the household is eligible for 


the exemption. The outcome of the appeal to the Township Manager shall be 


communicated to the applicant no later than December 31st of each year. The decision of 


the Township Manager shall be binding and not subject to further appeal under this policy. 


 


5) The revenue source for the implementation of the hardship policy shall be separate and 


distinct from the stormwater management utility fee and shall be deposited by the 


Township from the General Fund into the Stormwater Fund. Nothing shall prevent the 


Board of Supervisors from modifying or eliminating the hardship policy. Any such 


modification or elimination may apply to beneficiaries of an existing hardship policy at the 


discretion of the Board of Supervisors. 


 


6) Only residential property owners are eligible to receive an exemption under this program. 


Tenants of rental properties shall not be eligible to apply for this exemption on behalf of 


the property owner.  








CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 
Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


  
 


CLIMATE ACTION & SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE 
 


Centre Region Council of Governments Office Building 
2643 Gateway Drive 


 
Monday, February 8, 2021 


12:15 p.m. 
 


MEETING INFORMATION 
 


Please refer to the links below to REGISTER to attend the meeting via Zoom and to LOCATE 
the agenda and attachments. 
 
STEP 1: CLICK here to register to attend the meeting via Zoom  
After registering you will receive a confirmation e-mail from Centre Regional Planning Agency 
containing information about attending the meeting via Zoom.  
 
STEP 2: CLICK here to locate the AGENDA and ATTACHMENTS 
 


To attend this meeting via phone: 
+1 301 715 8592| Meeting ID: 845 9017 2449| Passcode: 745677 


 
Meeting Contact: Marcella Laird (mlaird@crcog.net - 231-3050) 


 
 This meeting will be recorded, and electronic files of the meeting will be made available on 


the COG website upon its conclusion. 


 We ask that non-voting participants remain muted with their video turned off unless 
recognized or are actively speaking. To reduce audio interference, please remain off 
speakerphone during the meeting. 


 VOTING PROCEDURES: Members will provide their vote by voice. Clarification will be 
sought by the Chair if the vote is unclear. Members opposed to a motion should vote “No”.  


 PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES: Members of the public may comment on any items 
not already on the agenda (five minutes per person). Comments relating to specific items on 
the agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. For additional information on 
COG public meeting guidelines, please click HERE.  


 To access agendas and minutes of previously held meetings, and to learn more about the 
COG General Forum on our website, please click HERE. 







CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
Centre Regional Planning Agency 


2643 Gateway Drive, Suite #4 
State College, PA 16801 


Phone: (814) 231-3050 Fax:  (814) 231-3083 


 
CLIMATE ACTION & SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE 


Zoom Platform 
Monday, February 8, 2021 


12:15 p.m. 
 


 


AGENDA 
 


1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL – Ms. Whitman will convene the meeting. Ms. 
Laird will review the meeting procedures. 


 


2. PUBLIC COMMENTS 


Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda 
(five minutes per person time limit, please). Comments relating to specific items on the 
agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. 
 


3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 


A copy of the minutes of the January 13, 2021 Climate Action and Sustainability 
Committee meetings are enclosed.  
 


4. COMMUNITY SURVEY ON CLIMATE PLANNING – presented by Pam Adams 


This agenda item provides the Climate Action & Sustainably Committee with 
information on an upcoming community survey and asks for their consent to release it to 
the public.  


At its January 13, 2021 meeting, the CAS Committee discussed the public outreach phase 
of the climate action and adaptation planning process intended for the next 6 months. 
Preparing for and managing climate change-related risks goes beyond local government and 
will require collective action from across our community. Understanding stakeholders’ and 
residents’ interests and priorities is paramount to creating a relevant Climate Action and 


During the COVID-19 health emergency, to continue business operations of the COG and 
ensure the safety of municipal officials and staff, and to adhere to health emergency 
recommendations while remaining in compliance with Pennsylvania’s guidelines for public 
meetings, this Climate Action and Sustainability Committee meeting will be held via video 
conference. Written public comment or requests to speak to the Climate Action and 
Sustainability Committee for items not on the agenda, and requests to comment to specific 
agenda items listed below, may be submitted in advance by emailing mlaird@crcog.net. 







Climate Action & Sustainability Committee Agenda 
February 8, 2021 
Page 2 
  


Adaptation Plan (CAAP). It can also help build momentum for the implementation of the 
CAAP. 
 
One method planned to gather public input, is through two survey instruments: an online 
opinion survey and a random sample mailed survey. The survey aligns with the overall public 
outreach strategy of initiating and facilitating community conversation about climate action 
as discussed at the January 13, 2021 CAS Committee meeting. Enclosed is the latest draft of 
the survey that is planned for release mid-February through April. The purpose of the survey 
is to: 


 Determine the community’s level of climate literacy and awareness 
 Provide key teaching points for future outreach 
 Guide decision making and prioritization of strategies to include in the CAAP. 


 
The Climate Action and Adaptation Technical Advisory Group (TAG), municipal staff, 
and several PSU professors have reviewed and provided input on the survey. Madison 
McCormick, a PSU MBA student and CRPA Sustainability Intern, is assisting with the 
survey creation and execution. Through online tools available, Ms. McCormick analyzed 
and edited the survey so that it is readable at the 9th grade level. 
 
For distribution of the mailed survey, the Centre Regional Planning Agency (CRPA) has 
drafted a mailer that can be sent to 3,000 random properties. CRPA is using the method 
followed by the Comprehensive Recreation, Parks, and Open Space Steering Committee 
for its mailed survey. For the estimated 36,900 households in the Centre Region, the 
calculated sample size for a 95% confidence level and 5% margin of error is 388 
responses.  
 
The enclosed mailer will be randomly sent to 2,000 owner-occupied homes and 1,000 
rental residential properties (not apartment buildings). Both demographics are included 
to reflect the makeup of our community. Random addresses will be selected for each 
municipality based on their owner and rental occupied housing population. For 
example, more ‘owner-occupied’ postcards are being sent to residents in Ferguson and 
College Township than to Halfmoon Township. And State College Borough will have 
the largest number of rental-occupied postcards sent.    
 
For distribution of the online survey, CRPA will employ traditional communication 
methods (news media, newsletters, website) and a social media presence. CRPA will use 
https://centresustains.com/ in outreach communications for community members to 
learn about the survey and forum. During the month of January, there were over 1,000 
site views, and there are 20 subscribers to receive future emails related to the survey and 
forum. 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Climate Action & Sustainability Committee Agenda 
February 8, 2021 
Page 3 
  


The CAS Committee should consider any questions or suggestions they have regarding 
the survey text and distribution plan. If the committee agrees, the following motion 
could be considered: 
 


“That the Climate Action and Sustainability Committee authorizes the release of 
the community survey to gather public input in preparation of the Climate 
Action and Adaptation Plan.” 


 
All municipalities should vote on this motion. 


 


5. COMMITTEE REPRESENTATION AND MISSION STATEMENT - presented by Jim May 
 


This agenda item asks the Climate Action & Sustainably (CAS) Committee to consider 
requesting a representative from the State College Area School District (SCASD) and from 
Penn State University (PSU) join the CAS Committee and discusses an approach to 
developing a mission statement for the committee. 
 
As defined in the enclosed COG Resolution 2020-8, the CAS Committee is intended to have 
liaison representatives from the SCASD and PSU. The SCASD and PSU representatives 
would be non-voting representatives of the CAS Committee, but they both represent 
substantial impacts on sustainability efforts in the Region. The resolution also defines the 
following two actions for the committee:  


1) final representation should be reviewed by the new CAS Committee in the first 
quarter of 2021; and 


2) deliberate and ratify its mission, responsibilities, and member representation by mid-
2021. 


 
Implementation of a Centre Region Climate Action and Adaptation Plan (CAAP) will be 
most successful if stakeholders of the community share a coordinated and shared vision. Prior 
to discussing the mission and responsibilities, it seems prudent to consider the stakeholder 
groups that should be represented. 
 
The CAS Committee has a set of draft responsibilities that will be reviewed in future 
meetings. Staff also recommends that in addition to SCASD and PSU representation, the 
CAS Committee should prepare a mission statement to explain the essence of sustainability 
values and objectives clearly and concisely for the Centre Region. It is anticipated that staff 
will bring forward six to eight mission statements from other organizations at the next 
meeting. The CAS Committee should utilize these, or other mission statements as brought 
forward by committee members and draft a mission statement to be included with the final 
committee responsibilities.    
 
The CAS Committee should discuss and consider extending invitations to SCASD and PSU 
to have regular representatives on the committee. Other stakeholder groups should be 
considered if deemed necessary to have representation at committee meetings. The committee 
should also discuss the approach to the mission statement and provide any input to staff 
moving forward. 







Climate Action & Sustainability Committee Agenda 
February 8, 2021 
Page 4 
  


6. OTHER BUSINESS 


A. Matter of Record – In November 2020, the PA Department of Environmental Protection 
(DEP) announced grant awards under section 902 of the Municipal Waste Planning, 
Recycling and Waste Reduction Act of 1988 (ACT 101) to 127 municipalities. Regional 
awards included grants to College, Ferguson, and Patton Townships for leaf waste 
processing, to State College Borough for its organic waste curbside collection and organic 
waste facility, and to the Centre County Recycling and Refuse Authority for its curbside 
collection and drop-off recycling programs. On January 23, 2021, DEP announced the 
rescission of the 2021 grant round due to a lack of available moneys in the Recycling 
Fund. The Recycling Fund is financed through the fee established by ACT 101 of $2/ton 
on all municipal waste delivered to a landfill or waste-to-energy facility in the 
commonwealth. The DEP was forced to cancel the grants when the PA General Assembly 
took $50 million from the Recycling Fund to balance the state budget. Act 101 requires 
the commonwealth to make available grants to assist municipalities in operating the state-
mandated recycling and leaf-waste diversion programs, and the loss of these grant funds 
places that entire burden on local governments instead. 


 
B. Matter of Record – On April 13, 2021 from 6:30 – 8:30pm the PSU Mediation of 


Environmental and Public Conflicts class students will facilitate a 
community forum on climate action. It is open to stakeholders and 
interested citizens to learn what’s happening, hear what local 
government is doing regarding climate action, and share their 
perspectives on priorities, issues, and challenges. 


 


C. Matter of Record – Enclosed is the January 25, 2021 meeting summary of the Climate 
Action and Adaptation Technical Advisory Group (TAG). The TAG’s next meeting is February 
22, 2021 at 8:30 a.m. virtually through Zoom.  


 
D. Matter of Record – The CAS Committee will virtually meet regularly on 


the second Monday of the month at 12:15pm. Note that the CAS 
Committee meetings will be moved to the second Tuesday of the month on 
the two occasions that the TLU Committee meets on the second Monday. 
The approved schedule is: 


CAS COMMITTEE MEETING DATES – 2021 
2nd Monday at 12:15 pm 


March 8 August 9 


April 12 September 14 (conflicts with TLU) 


May 10 October 11 


June 14 November 8 


July 13 (conflicts with TLU) December 13 


 


7. ADJOURNMENT 







CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS (COG) 
CLIMATE ACTION & SUSTAINABILITY (CAS) COMMITTEE 


 
Minutes 


January 11, 2021 
(please refer to the COG audio/video meeting files website when referencing the timestamps) 


Mr. May called the January 14, 2021, remote Zoom meeting of the Climate Action & Sustainability 
(CAS) Committee to order at 12:15 p.m. 


Members Present: Carla Stilson, College Township; Betsy Whitman, Patton Township; Prasenjit Mitra, 
Ferguson Township; Danelle DelCorso, Halfmoon Township; Jesse Barlow, State College Borough 


Others Present: Jim May, Centre Regional Planning Agency (CRPA) Director; Mr. Zilla, CRPA 
Principal Transportation Planner; Mark Boeckel, CRPA Principal Planner; Corey Rilk, CRPA Senior 
Planner; Nicole Pollock, CRPA Senior Planner; Pam Adams, CRPA Sustainability Planner; Shelly 
Mato, COG Refuse & Recycling Administrator; Scott Binkley COG Admin Office; Brian Heiser, State 
College Borough Water Authority (SCBWA); Julia Schaffer, SCBWA; Katie McCaulley, SCBWA; 
Brandi Robinson, Climate Action and Adaptation Technical Advisory Group (TAG) Chair; Peter Buck, 
TAG Vice-Chair; Lachlan Campbell, Patton Township Sustainability project volunteer; Denise 
Gembusia, Halfmoon Township Manager; Lara Fowler, PSU Law Professor; Madison McCormick, 
CRPA Sustainability Intern; Jasmine Fields, State College Borough Sustainability Assistant 


PUBLIC COMMENTS (00:02:35) 


There were no public comments. 


ELECTION OF OFFICERS (00:02:53) 


Mr. May open the floor for nominations for the CAS Committee Chair. 


Motion was made by Ms. Stilson and seconded by Ms. DelCorso to nominate Ms. Whitman as Chair 
for 2021. No other nominations were made. The motion carried 4-0 (Mr. Graham and Mr. Mitra 
were not in attendance). 


Ms. Whitman then opened the floor for nominations for the CAS Committee Vice-Chair. 


Motion was made by Ms. Whitman and seconded by Ms. DelCorso to nominate Ms. Stilson as Vice-
Chair for 2021. No other nominations were made. The motion carried 4-0. 


COG MEETING ETTIQUETTE (00:04:55) 


The CAS Committee members briefly reviewed meeting guidelines that were adopted by the COG 
General Form on November 26, 2018 and moved to the next agenda item.  


MEETING DATES, TIMES, AND LOCATIONS (00:05:16) 


There was a detailed discussion between Committee members regarding the days and times that the 
CAS Committee members could meet.  


After discussion, motion was made by Ms. Whitman and seconded by Ms. DelCorso for the Climate 
Action & Sustainability Committee to meet on the second Monday of the month at 12:15 p.m., with a 
note that the CAS Committee meetings will be moved to the second Tuesday of the month on the two 
occasions that the TLU Committee meets on the second Monday. The motion carried 4-0. 







Climate Action & Sustainability Committee Meeting Minutes 
January 13, 2021 
Page 2 


COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITIES (00:13:13) 


Mr. May provided a brief overview of the draft Climate Action & Sustainability Committee’s 
responsibilities, adopted by the COG General Forum on November 23, 2020. He communicated that the 
Committee should discuss the draft responsibilities at a future meeting to refine or amend the 
responsibilities as needed. In addition, a future work task for the CAS Committee will be to deliberate 
and ratify its mission, responsibilities, and member representation by mid-2021 (the entire resolution 
can be found in the January 13, 2021 – Climate Action & Sustainability agenda folder). 


Ms. Stilson communicated that social equity has become an important issue in the Centre Region 
community, so the Committee should keep that at the forefront when working on different tasks. 
Ms. Stilson went on to say that social equity should be worked into all COG Committees to allow for 
room to discuss how an issue affects people differently. 


CLIMATE ACTION AND ADAPTATION PLANNING (00:17:52) 


Ms. Adams provided a brief overview of the climate action and adaptation planning process, including 
work that has been completed and planned tasks for 2021 (the entire presentation can be found in the 
January 13, 2021 – Climate Action & Sustainability agenda folder). There are seven steps to the 
planning process: inventory emissions, establish targets, conduct a vulnerability assessment, prioritize 
actions, develop an action plan, implement the plan, and monitor/evaluate progress. Ms. Adams noted 
that the Centre Region is currently on steps three and four – conduct a vulnerability assessment and 
prioritize actions. She communicated that the Climate Action and Adaptation Plan (CAAP) objective is 
to identify pragmatic, fiscally responsible actions for local municipalities to consider in order to mitigate 
the Region’s contribution to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and adapt to changing climate conditions. 


Ms. Adams provided a few examples of potential objectives and strategies that may be included in the 
CAAP.  


Ms. Adams communicated that the next phase of the climate action and adaptation planning process will 
be public outreach from January through July 2021. The reasons to initiate and facility community 
conversations about climate action are to: 


 Promote an understanding of the purpose and motivation for the creation of the 
Climate Action and Adaptation Plan (CAAP).


 Use the input to guide decision making and prioritization of strategies to include in the 
CAAP.


 Build broader ownership of the decisions that must be made. 


Enhance community readiness to participate in collective problem-solving.


In response to a question from Mr. Barlow, Ms. Adams clarified that the planning process includes 
many renewable energy strategies, and staff intends to advocate at the state level for programs like the 
Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI) to make solar and renewable energy more widely available 
for residential use.


In response to a question from Mr. Mitra (Mr. Mitra entered the meeting at 12:40 p.m.) regarding 
actions that a municipality can take to reduce GHG emissions or incentivize residents or businesses to 
invest in renewable energy, Ms. Adams communicated that the TAG is discussing specific actions and 







Climate Action & Sustainability Committee Meeting Minutes 
January 13, 2021 
Page 3 


the impact of each of those actions. There are many factors to weigh, and the TAG is working on 
packaging the information so that it can be easily understood. 


Ms. Adams noted that the Committee will review and discuss more specific strategies in the future; 
however, today’s presentation only provided an overview of the planning process to introduce the topic 
to the Committee.  


REGIONAL GREENHOUSE GAS INITIATVE (RGGI) (00:33:34) 


The Climate Action & Sustainability Committee received a presentation from Mr. Buck, the TAG Vice-
Chair on the proposal for Pennsylvania to take part in the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI) to 
reduce climate change pollution from electric power plants (the entire presentation can be found in the 
January 13, 2021 – Climate Action & Sustainability agenda folder).  


The RGGI is a partnership between Northeastern and mid-Atlantic states that is designed to cap and 
reduce carbon emissions from fossil fuel fired power plants. The electricity sector is the second leading 
source of GHG emissions in Pennsylvania. Since 2005, RGGI states have significantly reduced their 
power sector CO2 pollution. Participating in RGGI will help Pennsylvania reach its goals to reduce its 
GHG emissions by 26% by 2025 and by 80% by 2050. 


Mr. Buck stated that the TAG is asking the CAS Committee to provide comments to the Department of 
Environmental Protection’s (DEP) Environmental Quality Board because it meets the goal of the COG’s 
Resolution 2020-01, which states, “COG shall…achieve a 45% reduction in GHG emissions by 2030 
based on 2010 levels and achieve an 80% reduction in GHG emissions by 2050 based on 2010 levels.” 
Mr. Buck then reviewed the draft comment letter from the TAG as a result of its November and 
December meetings. 


Motion was made by Mr. Barlow and seconded by Ms. Stilson to submit the comment letter to the DEP 
Environmental Quality Board on behalf of the COG in support of Pennsylvania joining the Regional 
Greenhouse Gas Initiative. Motion carried 5-0 (Mr. Mitra was in attendance). 


PUBLIC OUTREACH (00:57:21) 


Ms. Adams provided information on the upcoming outreach initiative for the CAS Committee to discuss 
and provide feedback on. Ms. Adams communicated that preparing for and managing climate change-
related risks goes beyond local government and will require collective action from across the 
community. It is important to engage with stakeholders and the public to guide the formation of the 
CAAP and to build momentum for implementation of CAAP.  


Ms. Adams stated that there are three main initiatives planned, which will be part of the overall outreach 
strategy In addition, there will also be smaller focus group sessions, traditional communication methods 
(news media, newsletters, website), and a social media presence. The survey and forum will provide 
valuable input that will guide the TAG’s recommendations and the CAS Committee’s decisions for what 
strategies are included in the final CAAP report. Ms. Adams provided an overview of the three main 
initiatives: 


Community Survey: Planned for release in mid-February through April, the survey will help to gauge 
community knowledge of and interest in various sustainable practices and provide key teaching points 
for future outreach. Madison McCormick, a PSU MBA student, is assisting the CRPA with the survey 







Climate Action & Sustainability Committee Meeting Minutes 
January 13, 2021 
Page 4 


creation and execution. A final draft will be presented to the committee at its February meeting for its 
input and approval. 


Community Forum: PSU Law Professor Lara Fowler’s Environmental Mediation Class will facilitate a 
virtual climate forum in April for stakeholders and interested residents to learn what’s happening, hear 
what local government is doing regarding climate action, and share their perspectives on priorities, 
issues, and challenges. The date recommended for this event is April 13, 2021 from 6:30 – 8:30pm.  


CentreSustains: Ms. Adams has been collaborating with Lachlan Campbell, a State High graduate and 
current NYU student to create an engagement website to promote the survey, the forum, and provide 
information on how climate change is relevant to central Pennsylvania. Lachlan’s work can be seen at 
https://www.centresustains.com. This site will be used in outreach communications for community 
members to go to learn about the survey and forum. 


Ms. Stilson stated that in regard to the survey, Ms. Adams should ensure that the survey questions are 
gathering information that represents each demographic area so that the data can be broken down at 
different levels. 


In response to a question from Ms. Whitman regarding the survey, Ms. Adams stated that if the survey is 
mailed, it will be mailed to random households in the Centre Region to obtain a true random sample. In 
addition, the survey will be sent electronically through municipalities, and the CRPA is hoping to 
connect with the Penn State University survey center for best practices. 


Ms. Whitman proposed that the community outreach effort be extended until May or June to be able to 
have outreach events at the regional parks, since outreach events cannot take place indoors during this 
time. Ms. Whitman stated that it will be very important to make an effort to get out into the public and 
reach out to residents because in all reality, the community form will only attract those residents who are 
already on board with climate change efforts. She went on to say that the CAS Committee and staff need 
to focus outreach towards residents who are neutral about climate change. In addition, it will be 
important to share this information physically through flyers or yard signs, instead of only sharing this 
information through social media and the internet. 


POTENTIAL CLIMATE ACTION & SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE ACTIVITES (01:29:30) 


Mr. May briefly reviewed potential agenda items that the CAS Committee will work on in 2021. The 
full report can be found in the January 13, 2021 CAS agenda packet. 


OTHER BUSINESS (01:30:55) 


The next CAS Committee meeting will be held on Monday, February 8, 2021 at 12:15 p.m. via the 
Zoom meeting platform. CRPA staff will send out a tentative meeting schedule for the CAS Committee. 


ADJOURNMENT (01:31:27) 


There being no further business, the January 13, 2021 meeting of the COG Climate Action & 
Sustainability (CAS) Committee was adjourned at 1:48 p.m.  


Respectfully submitted, 


Marcella Laird 
Recording Secretary 







2/3/2021


1


Centre Region Climate Action Survey
Platform: Survey Monkey


========================================================================
The Centre Region Council of Governments (COG) wants to know your opinions on how to 
make the Centre Region a more healthy, equitable, resilient, and sustainable community. The 
survey should take roughly 15 minutes to complete and your responses are completely 
anonymous. Your responses will help us gauge community knowledge of, and interest in 
various sustainable practices, and guide our recommendations on which actions to include in a 
Climate Action and Adaptation Plan for the Centre Region.


Please complete this survey by April 30, 2020 and be entered to WIN an Envinity Home 
Energy Audit or a $50 Downtown Improvement District Gift Card. (10 donated by RETTEW, a 
National Leader in Engineering and Construction)


For more information on the Centre Region's efforts, please visit https://centresustains.com/ or 
contact sustains@crcog.net .


Thank you! Your participation is much appreciated!
=======================================================================


Section 1: Tell us about you


1. Which of the following describes you? Check all that apply


Note that the Centre Region is defined as College, Ferguson, Halfmoon, Harris, 
and Patton Townships and State College Borough (it is basically the State 
College Area School District).


I live in the Centre Region I am a business owner in the Centre 
Region


I am a property owner in the Centre 
Region


I work in the Centre Region 


I attend school/university in the 
Centre Region


2. How concerned are you about the possible impacts a changing climate 
might have on the Centre Region?







2/3/2021


2


3. What do you think the most significant impacts of a possible change in the 
climate might be for our community? (Please select up to 3 options)


No significant impact Impact on agriculture


Increased flooding risk More severe storms


Increased need for air conditioning Increased poverty


Health Impacts Ecosystem impacts


Higher Taxes Impacts on infrastructure


Other (please specify)


4. Did you receive a mailed postcard informing you about this survey?
YES or NO


5. Do you own or rent a home or business property in the Centre Region?
LOGIC QUESTION text in { } explains where survey goes based on response


Own {go to Section A for property owners - page 3}
Rent {got to Section B for renters - page 4}
Both {go to Section A for property owners - page 3}
No {go to Section C for community - page 8}


==================================================================







2/3/2021


3


Section 2: Individual Sustainable practices 


A. Buildings and energy for property owners


6. Which of these factors affect your likelihood of doing the following 
sustainable practices? Check all that apply


Use energy efficient light bulbs (LEDs or CFLs)
Complete an energy efficiency audit
Install solar panels
Purchase renewable energy through my utility bill (PA Power Switch)
Use a programmable thermostat to reduce my heating/cooling bills
Purchase ENERGY STAR appliances


7. Below are examples of strategies that your local government could support to 
make the region's building be more energy-efficient and increase our
renewable energy use. Please rate the strategies below and score each from 
1-5, with 1 being least likely to support, and 5 being most likely to support.


Offer government leasing program or solar cooperatives to make it cost 
effective to install solar panels on my roof
Require large commercial buildings to track energy usage and reach certain 
energy efficiency standards
Require government entities commit to using 100% renewable energy
Promote energy audit programs and funding options to upgrade older 
homes/businesses to be more energy efficient
Provide incentives for new buildings to be more energy efficient
Offer education programs on energy conservation in schools and other public 
places


8. What other actions should be considered as it relates to building and energy?


1 (least support) 5 (most support)







2/3/2021


4


B. Buildings and energy for renters


6. Which of these factors affect your likelihood of doing the following 
sustainable practices?


Use energy efficient light bulbs
Conserve energy by turning off lights/electronics when I’m not using them
Purchase renewable energy through my utility bill (PA Power Switch)
Adjust my thermostat to save money on heating and cooling
Consider energy efficiency of the property when choosing where I rent


7. Below are examples of strategies that your local government could support to 
make the region's building be more energy-efficient and increase our 
renewable energy use. Please rate the strategies below and score each from 
1-5, with 1 being least likely to support, and 5 being most likely to support.


Develop an apartment green-certification program that evaluates its energy 
efficiency, renewable energy use, and recycling and composting options.
Require large commercial buildings to track energy usage and reach certain 
energy efficiency standards
Require government entities commit to using 100% renewable energy
Promote energy audit programs and funding options to upgrade 
homes/businesses to be more energy efficient
Provide incentives for new buildings to be more
Offer education programs on energy conservation and renewable energy 


8. What other actions should be considered as it relates to building and 
energy?


1 (least support) 5 (most support)







2/3/2021


5


Transportation


9. Which of these factors affect your likelihood of doing the following 
sustainable practices?


Walk or bike to work or school
Carpool to work or school
Work remotely or have a modified office schedule
Drive a fuel-efficient car (greater than 27 miles per gallon)
Drive an alternative fuel (electric, hybrid, CNG) vehicle


10. Below are examples of strategies that your local government could support
to help the community choose healthier and more sustainable modes of 
transportation. Please rate the strategies below and score each from 1-5
with 1 being least likely to support, and 5 being most likely to support.


Expand access to public transit (increase availability, offer reduced cost 
CATA bus passes through my employer/school)
Provide incentives to businesses for sustainable commuting programs
Expand and connect bike network (routes, lanes, shared use paths)
Improve walking conditions (sidewalk safety, lighting, more routes)
Develop regional strategy to expand electric vehicle (EV) fleets and charging 
infrastructure
Offer education programs about electric and hybrid vehicles and available 
incentive programs


11. What other actions should be considered as it relates to transportation?


1 (least support) 5 (most support)







2/3/2021


6


Food and Recycling


12. Which of these factors affect your likelihood of doing the following 
sustainable practices?


Recycle
Avoid single-use plastics-products
Reduce my food waste (changed shopping habits, compost scraps)
Purchase locally grown food or grow my own
Eat a more plant-based diet (reduce meat consumption)


13. Below are examples of strategies that your local government could support to 
the increase the community’s recycling rate and reduce its food waste. Please 
rate the strategies below and score each from 1-5, with 1 being least likely to 
support, and 5 being most likely to support.


Require construction and demolition projects to increase their recycling 
rates
Provide more cardboard recycling drop off containers throughout region
Provide businesses with waste audit services to identify waste minimization 
opportunities
Expand programs that divert food waste and other organics from landfills
Provide training and guidelines on sustainable procurement practices for 
businesses 
Offer education programs on reuse and reduce actions homeowners and 
businesses can take


14. What other actions should be considered as it relates to solid waste?


1 (least support) 5 (most support)







2/3/2021


7


Land Use and Water


15. Which of these factors affect your likelihood of doing the following 
sustainable practices? 


Plant native flowers, shrubs and/or trees
Use rain barrels to collect stormwater for re-use
Install landscaping that reduces my need for watering
Install landscaping to reduce my lawn mowing needs
Use compost on my lawn and gardens instead of fertilizers


16. Below are examples of strategies that your local government could consider 
to help find a workable balance among resource protection, agricultural 
production, economic growth and community growth. Please rate the 
strategies below and score each from 1-5, with 1 being least likely to support, 
and 5 being most likely to support.


Develop local policy strengthening the preservation of agricultural and forested 
properties 
Identify and protect high priority conservation lands to reduce flooding
Use green infrastructure such as rain gardens and permeable pavement to better 
manage impacts of stormwater
Update and/or consider a tree preservation ordinance
Require government entities to adopt sustainable landscaping standards for 
reducing water consumption and chemical use
Partner with local landscapers to offer education and incentive programs on
native plants and sustainable landscaping practices


17. What other actions should be considered as it relates to Land Use and 
Water?


1 (least support) 5 (most support)







2/3/2021


8


==================================================================
Section 3: Community Interest


18. Of the many benefits experienced by addressing climate change, select the 3 
that are most important to you.


Improved public health
Increased resilience from climate change and natural disasters
Saving money from lower utility bills
Improved air and water quality
Saving money from lower transportation costs
Reduced reliance on fossil fuels
Creation of green jobs
Reducing waste sent to landfills


19. What is most likely to prevent your community from taking action to address 
climate change? (please select no more than 3)


Nothing
Lack of scientific information
Lack of agreement on what to do
Lack of funding or financial resources
Lack of technical know-how / capacity
Lack of public-private coordination 
Lack of public support
Lack of political will
Other


20. Please state your level of agreement for the following statements
Disagree – Somewhat Disagree – Neutral – Somewhat Agree – Agree 


Climate change is happening
I understand the science behind climate change
Addressing climate change will make our community more sustainable
Addressing climate change will be good for our local economy
When making decisions today, policy makers in my community should consider
scientific projections about what the climate might be like in 50 years







2/3/2021


9


21. Carbon offset programs let individuals and businesses offset their 
environmental footprint by paying to reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
elsewhere. 


Do you or have you ever paid for carbon offsets before? YES or NO
Would you support a local carbon offset program that would use the funds generated 
to support projects that reduce our community’s emissions such as local reforestation,
low income weatherization projects, and public renewable energy installations?


YES or NO or MAYBE, NEED MORE INFO


22. If you would like to be included in email updates on the Centre Region 
Climate Action and Adaptation Plan, please enter your email address below. 
This is optional.


23. If you are a member of an organization that you believe would be interested 
in the Centre Region Climate Action and Adaptation Plan, please let us know 
by providing contact information or a website for the organization below. 
You may also reach out to us at sustains@crcog.net. This is optional.


==================================================================
Section 5: Demographics


24. If you live in the Centre Region, which municipality do you live in? 


College Township Harris Township


Ferguson Township Patton Township


Halfmoon Township State College Borough


Other


25. How would you describe where you live?
Urban
Suburban
Rural


26. What is your age group?


Under 18 46 - 64


18 - 25 65+


26 - 45 Prefer not to answer







2/3/2021


10


27. What is your gender? 


Female Male


Non-binary/third gender Prefer not to say


Other


28. Which race/ethnicity best describes you? (Please choose only one.)


American Indian or Alaskan Native Asian / Pacific Islander


Black or African American Hispanic


White / Caucasian Prefer not to say


Other


29. How long have you been a member of this community?


<1 year 10 - 20


1 - 3 20+


3 - 10 Other


30.What is your level of education?


Less than high school High school


Attended college College degree or study


Post graduate degree or study Prefer not to answer


31.How did you hear about this survey? Check all that apply
Post card mailer Newsletter
Social Media Nextdoor
Email Flyer
Public Meeting Other







2/3/2021


11


=================================================
Thank you for completing the survey. Your comments will be used to help guide the 
policies and decisions made by the Centre Region municipalities. For more information 
about the climate action and adaptation planning process, and/or resources about items 
mentioned within the survey, please visit: https://centresustains.com/ or contact 
sustains@crcog.net .


As a thank you, you can be entered in a random drawing to win one of the following 
prizes:


- Envinity Home Energy Audit
- $50 Downtown Improvement District Gift Card (10 available)


The drawing for prizes will occur in early May and winners will be contacted via email. 
Results of the survey will be posted on https://centresustains.com/ .


Please enter your email to be entered into the random drawing to win a prize for 
completing this survey. The drawing will happen in early May.
______________







Survey Postcard Mailer   2/3/21 


 


 















Centre Regional Planning Agency 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite #4  State College, PA  16801  Phone (814) 231-3050     www.crcog.net 


CLIMATE ACTION AND ADAPTATION TECHNICAL ADVISORY GROUP
January 25, 2021 - 8:30 a.m.
Virtual Meeting - Summary


1. MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE


Brandi Robinson – Chair, Peter Buck – CoChair, Pam Adams, Franklin Egan, Alan Sam


Others present:  Kelly Davidson, SCB AmeriCorp; Bud Graham, Harris Township/CAS
Committee; Lara Fowler, PSU Law Professor; Betsy Whitman, Patton 
Township/CAS Committee


PUBLIC COMMENTS


There were none.


TAG MANDATE, REPRESENTATION, CHAIRS & MEETING DATES


Consensus of the group was to remain on the TAG to complete its mandate- the
completion of the Climate Action and Adaptation Plan (CAAP).
Ms. Robinson and Mr. Buck will remain Chair and Vice-Chair, respectively.
Meetings will regularly occur on the 3rd Monday of the month at 8:30am.
Ms. Adams will follow up with Mr. Egan and Mr. Wert (Post meeting: both
members concur with the group and will remain on the TAG.)
Mr. Sam announced he will retire in April and that Ms. Fields will likely be able
to join TAG in his place.


COMMITTEE ITEMS


The TAG accepted the December 21, 2020 meeting summary.


FEBRUARY MEETING DATE
Due to the Presidents’ Day holiday, the group agreed to move the next meeting to
February 22, 2021 at 8:30am.


PUBLIC OUTREACH - PLANNED
The TAG discussed the need to get input from the community to guide the TAG and the
Climate Action and Sustainability (CAS) Committee in setting priorities in the CAAP.
Another purpose of outreach is to strengthen connections with stakeholders and identify
where our priorities align.


Ms. Adams reviewed the community survey that is planned to be open
February 15 –April 30. It will help to gauge community knowledge of and
interest in various sustainable practices and provide key teaching points for
future outreach.







Climate Action & Adaptation TAG
January 25, 2021 
Page 2


Ms. Adams asked the TAG to plan to attend the community forum on climate
action scheduled for April 13, 2021 at 6:30 – 8:30pm.
Ms. Fowler explained her vision of how a virtual structure will occur for the
forum, including breakout rooms for smaller discussion. She explained that her
students will be doing stakeholder interviews to prepare for the forum and this
process can align with TAG’s interest for stakeholder input. She referenced the
Spring Creek Watershed Commission forum in 2018.
Ms. Fowler stated the students in her Mediation of Environmental and Public
Conflicts class asked about the name for the forum. Consensus was that the CAS
Committee should provide input on name of the forum, but the group supported
using climate in the name. They preferred climate action or planning for climate
impacts, not climate change.


7. TAG NEXT STEPS FOR OUTREACH


The TAG discussed other options for public outreach including hosting small focus
groups sessions including some or all of these groups:


religious leaders


service organizations (i.e. Rotary)


youth


business community


agriculture/forestry


contractors/builders


housing services


environmental


biking


public health


architects/engineers


The TAG again stated the purpose of the sessions would be to strengthen connections 
with stakeholders and identify where our priorities align. It will be important to:


Explain what is at stake for them, and why they should be part of the conversation
and ultimately implement climate action strategies.
Tailor presentations and conversations to the different interest levels of these
groups.


It was noted that youth should include the public and private schools, PTSO and
administration.


The TAG should consider how to prioritize the key stakeholder sessions to define who 
reach out to first. This will be an agenda item for the February meeting.












CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 


Phone: (814) 231-3077 ● Fax: (814) 231-3083 ● Website: www.crcog.net 
 


PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE 
Video Conference 


Tuesday, February 9th, 2021 
12:15 pm 


 
GENERAL MEETING INFORMATION 


 
STEP #1:  Click HERE to REGISTER for the meeting via ZOOM 
        Once registered, you will receive a confirmation email containing information about joining 
                  the meeting. 
 
STEP #2:  Click HERE to locate the AGENDA and ATTACHMENTS 
        Should you desire to annotate any attachments you must download them first. 


 
To attend this meeting by phone: +1 929 205 6099|  Meeting ID: 894 1629 9103 


 
Meeting Contact: Tammy Strouse (tes@crcog.net, 814-231-3069) 


 
• This meeting will be recorded, and electronic files of the meeting will be made available on the COG  
    website upon its conclusion. 
 
• We ask that non-voting participants remain muted with their video turned off unless recognized or are  
    actively speaking. To reduce audio interference, please remain off speakerphone during the meeting.  
 
• VOTING PROCEDURES: Members will provide their vote by voice. Clarification will be sought by  
    the Chair if the vote is unclear. Members opposed to a motion should vote “No”. For additional  
    information on COG Voting Procedures, please click HERE. 
 
• PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES: Members of the public may comment on any items not  
    already on the agenda (five minutes per person). Comments relating to specific items on the agenda  
    should be deferred until that point in the meeting. For additional information on COG public  
    meeting guidelines, please click HERE. 
 
• To access agendas and minutes of previously held meetings, and to learn more about the COG  
    Public Safety Committee on our website, please click HERE. 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 



https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZIpdu-qpzIrGtfLX_T7PpJlt6dqjRhq-Il3

https://crcogonline.sharepoint.com/:f:/s/COG-Agenda-Packets/EodQNJU7reJAiEeht1dJgxoBYYfjUqGDTEdnQlMGNai9Tg?e=s2XxUE

https://www.crcog.net/index.asp?SEC=E45D3748-C2F7-4EAF-8F3E-AB63B94C36AE

https://www.crcog.net/index.asp?SEC=887A22E4-181A-49A5-997F-B836A6E6114C

https://crcogonline.sharepoint.com/sites/COGMeetingMinutes/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx





Public Safety Committee Agenda 
February 9, 2021 
Page 2 of 5 
 


During the COVID-19 health emergency, to continue business operations of the COG and ensure 
the safety of municipal officials and staff, and to adhere to health emergency recommendations 
while remaining in compliance with Pennsylvania’s guidelines for public meetings, the Public Safety 
Committee meeting will be held via video conference.  Written public comment or requests to speak 
to the Public Safety Committee for items not on the agenda and requests to comment to specific 
agenda items below, may be submitted in advance by emailing tes@crcog.net 


CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 


Phone: (814) 231-3077 ● Fax: (814) 231-3083 ● Website: www.crcog.net 
 


PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE 
Video Conference 


Tuesday, February 9th, 2021 
12:15 pm 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 


AGENDA  *revised 2.8.21 
 


 


1. CALL TO ORDER 
 


Chair Laura Dininni will convene the meeting.  Ms. Strouse will review the meeting 
procedures. 
 


2. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 


Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda 
minutes per person time limit, please). Comments relating to specific items on the agenda 
should be deferred to that point in the meeting.  Submitted comments will be read into the 
record by the Recording Secretary at the appropriate time in the meeting. 


 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 


 
A copy of the minutes of the January 12th, 2021, Public Safety Committee meeting is enclosed.  
 


4. STAFF RECOGNITION – presented by Eric Norenberg 
 


Mr. Norenberg received the enclosed email from a property owner that shared his recent 
experience with two Code Administration Existing Structures staff. 
 
Mr. Norenberg would like to recognize Kathy Woods and Brian Sampsel for their care, 
diligence, and professional service. 
 
 
 







Public Safety Committee Agenda 
February 9, 2021 
Page 3 of 5 
 


5. CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – APPOINTMENTS– presented by Walt Schneider 
 


The Joint Articles of Agreement states that the Public Safety Committee shall recommend to 
the COG General Forum appointments to the Centre Region Building & Housing Code 
Board of Appeals.  The COG General Forum shall consider the appointments and 
recommend a slate of nominations to the participating municipalities for appointment by the 
participating municipalities. An appointment to the Board of Appeals includes a three-year 
term, and members may serve a maximum of three consecutive terms or a total of nine years.  
 
In 2020 the municipalities signed an updated Articles of Agreement that restructured the 
Board of Appeals, reducing the number of members required from 17 to seven.  The revised 
Agreement also staggers the board member appointment dates; to accomplish this, the current 
members will be appointed in 2021 and re-appointed in staggered years from now on. 
 
With the reduced number of members required and to create the staggered appointment 
dates, the staff is recommending the following appointments to serve on the Building and 
Housing Board of Appeals, starting April 1st, 2021:   
 
Douglas Henry, R.A (Three-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2024) 
Chad Maholtz (Three-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2024) 
J. Michael Leakey, R.A. (Two-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2023) 
Brian Walker, P.E. (Three-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2024) 
Scott Good, P.E. (Two-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2023) 
Ryan Solnosky, Ph.D., P.E. (One-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2022) 
Alan Popovich, R.A. (new to Board of Appeals) (One-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2022) 


 
The resumes for the recommended board members for your review are enclosed. 
 
To proceed with the appointment of these individuals, the Public Safety Committee should 
consider forwarding the following motion to the Executive Committee for a referral to the 
General Forum: 
 


“That the Public Safety Committee recommends that the Executive Committee 
recommend that the General Forum forward the following nominations to the 
member municipalities for appointment to the Centre Region Building and Housing 
Board of Appeals for the identified terms:  


 
Douglas Henry, R.A  (Three-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2024) 
Chad Maholtz  (Three-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2024) 
Brian Walker, P.E.  (Three-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2024) 
J. Michael Leakey, R.A.  (Two-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2023) 
Scott Good, P.E.  (Two-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2023) 
Ryan Solnosky, Ph.D., P.E.   (One-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2022) 
Alan Popovich, R.A. (new to Board)  (One-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2022)” 


 
 Bellefonte Borough should abstain from this motion.   







Public Safety Committee Agenda 
February 9, 2021 
Page 4 of 5 
 


  
6. COVID WASTEWATER RESEARCH REPORT – presented by Shawn Kauffman 


 
The EM Coordinator has requested that Andrew Read, Ph.D. of the Penn State Department 
of Entomology, present their COVID Wastewater Research to the General Forum.  Mr. 
Kauffman is seeking a recommendation from the Committee to forward the presentation to 
the Executive Committee to add to the February 22nd General Forum agenda.   
 
To proceed, the Committee should consider the following motion: 
 


“That the Executive Committee as recommended by the Public Safety Committee add 
a presentation from Andrew Read, Ph.D. of the Penn State Department of 
Entomology on COVID Wastewater Research to the February 22nd, 2021 General 
Forum agenda.” 


 
 All municipalities should vote on this motion. 
 


7. STAFF UPDATES  
 
COG Staff will provide updates on the following topics: 


 Code Administration (Walt Schneider) – The Codes Director will report on current 
items. 


 Fire Protection (Steven Bair) – The Fire Director will report on current items. 


 


 Emergency Management Program (Shawn Kauffman) – The Emergency Management 
Coordinator will report on current items.   


 
8. OTHER BUSINESS  


 
A. Matter of Record - The January 2021 monthly comparison of code statistics, permits 


issued/permits closed reports are enclosed.  


B. Matter of Record – The Regional Fire Protection Programs’ 4th Q 2020 Standard of 
Cover performance report is enclosed. 


C. Matter of Record – The February 1st, 2021 Regional Fire Protection program dashboard 
is enclosed. 


D. Matter of Record – Enclosed is a memo from Mr. Bair regarding the Commonwealth’s 
Fireman Relief program reform  


 
9. TENTATIVE AGENDA ITEMS 


The Public Safety Committee’s next meeting, via Zoom, will be Tuesday, March 9th, 2021, at 
12:15 pm.  


 
10. ADJOURNMENT 







Public Safety Committee Agenda 
February 9, 2021 
Page 5 of 5 
 
 


ENCLOSURES 
 
Item # Description 
03  Public Safety Committee Meeting Minutes – January 12th, 2021 
04  Staff Recognition email 
05a  Henry resume 
05b  Maholtz resume 
05c  Leakey resume 
05d  Walker resume 
05e  Good resume 
05f  Solnosky resume 
05g  Popovich resume 
08A  January code statistics, permits issued/closed reports 
08B  4th Q 2020 Standard of Cover report 
08C  Regional Fire Protection dashboard 
08D  Fireman Relief Reform memo 
 


 
 


 
 








RESOLUTION NO. _____ 


A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, 
PENNSYLVANIA ESTABLISHING A MAXIMUM FUND BALANCE 
PERMITTED TO ACCRUE IN FUND 20, STORMWATER.  


WHEREAS, the Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors adopted an ordinance 
on February 16, 2021 to establish a Utility Fee for Stormwater Collection and 
Management, and  


WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors desires to limit the fund balance for Fund 
20 to be no more than thirty percent (30%) of proposed budgeted expenditures in the 
fund for the fiscal year, and  


WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors’ intent is to limit the stormwater 
management utility fee assessed to property owners to the minimum required by the 
fund for budgeted expenditures and the allowable fund balance; and  


WHEREAS, should Fund 20 exceed the maximum amount set at thirty percent 
(30%) of planned expenditures, the Board of Supervisors retains the authority to 
consider such fund balance surplus for one-time expenditures that are non-recurring in 
nature and which will not require additional funds, or to reduce the stormwater 
management utility fee for the fiscal year to offset the additional fund balance.  


NOW THEREFORE, the Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors does hereby 
resolve that the maximum fund balance for the Ferguson Township Stormwater Fund, 
Fund 20, shall be no greater than thirty percent (30%) of budgeted expenditures for the 
fiscal year. 


RESOLVED this ____ day of __________ 2021. 


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON


_______________________________ 
Laura Dininni, Chair 
Board of Supervisors


ATTEST: 


_____________________________ 


David Pribulka, Secretary 


By:


[ S E A L ]












 
 
 
 
January 27, 2021 
 
 
Mr. Dave Pribulka 
Manager 
3147 Research Drive 
State College, PA  16801 
 
Dear Mr. Pribulka,  
 
The Spring Creek Watershed Commission is an organization dedicated to the support of projects 
and programs which protect and enhance the quality of life within the Watershed.  Members of the 
Commission include twelve municipalities within the Watershed. 
 
I am writing to request that Ferguson Township sponsor C-NET coverage of two meetings of the 
Spring Creek Watershed Commission in 2021. Meetings of the Commission are scheduled for the 
third Wednesday of every other month. Meetings are cablecast on Channel 7, and available online at 
cnet1.org.    
 
In order for C-NET to record and televise these meetings, a C-NET member organization must 
agree to sponsor the coverage.  Sponsorship of the Commission meetings is shared among nine     
C-NET member organizations, which lessens the impact to any one member’s annual dues. 
Ferguson Township last sponsored meetings of the Commission in 2019. 
 
Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions regarding this request.  Confirmation of the 
Township’s sponsorship may be emailed to me at chahn@cnet1.org. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Cynthia L. Hahn 
C-NET Executive Director 








CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 
Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 


Video Conference 
February 11, 2021 


8:30 AM 
 
 


 
GENERAL MEETING INFORMATION 


 
 


STEP #1:  Click HERE to RSVP and REGISTER for the meeting via ZOOM 
        After you RSVP, a link to register via Zoom will be shown. Click to register. 
        Once registered, you will receive a confirmation email containing information about  
        joining the meeting. 
 
STEP #2:  Click HERE to locate the AGENDA and ATTACHMENTS 
        Should you desire to annotate any attachments you must download them first. 


 
To attend this meeting by phone: +1 929 205 6099  |  Meeting ID: 880 0129 0443 


 
Meeting Contact: Cary Asendorf (casendorf@crcog.net, 814-231-3077) 


 
 This meeting will be recorded, and electronic files of the meeting will be made available on 


the COG website upon its conclusion. 
 


 We ask that non-voting participants remain muted with their video turned off unless 
recognized or are actively speaking. To reduce audio interference, please remain off 
speakerphone during the meeting.  


 
 VOTING PROCEDURES: Members will provide their vote by voice. Clarification will be 


sought by the Chair if the vote is unclear. Members opposed to a motion should vote 
“No”. For additional information on COG Voting Procedures, please click HERE. 


 
 PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES: Members of the public may comment on any items 


not already on the agenda (five minutes per person). Comments relating to specific items 
on the agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. For additional 
information on COG public meeting guidelines, please click HERE. 
 


 To access agendas and minutes of previously held meetings, and to learn more about the 
COG Executive Committee on our website, please click HERE. 







Finance Committee Agenda 
February 11, 2021 
Page 2 of 6 


 
 


CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 
Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 


Video Conference 
February 11, 2021 


8:30 AM 
 


 
During the COVID-19 health emergency, to continue business operations of the 
COG and ensure the safety of municipal officials and staff, and to adhere to health 
emergency recommendations while remaining in compliance with Pennsylvania’s 
guidelines for public meetings, this Finance Committee meeting will be held via 
video conference. Written public comment or requests to speak to the Finance 
Committee for items not on the agenda, and requests to comment to specific agenda 
items listed below, may be submitted in advance by emailing casendorf@crcog.net. 
 


AGENDA 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 


 


Mr. Myers will convene the meeting. Mr. Asendorf will review the meeting procedures and 
perform a roll call of members. 
 


2. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 


Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda 
(five minute per person time limit, please). Comments relating to specific items on the 
agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. 
 


3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES (Action) 
 


A copy of the minutes from the January 14, 2021 Finance Committee meeting is enclosed 
for approval. 


 
4.       RETENTION OF CONCORD PUBLIC FINANCIAL ADVISORS               


      (DISCUSSION/ACTION) (time estimate – 30 minutes) 
 


The Committee should discuss the municipal meetings/actions/positions since the February 1, 2021 
Special Finance Committee meeting and discuss retaining Mr. Chris Gibbons and in what capacity. 
 
At its January 14, 2021 meeting staff has provided regular updates about the Whitehall 
Road Regional Park project.  Based upon the Zoom and Learn, Committee discussion, and  







Finance Committee Agenda 
February 11, 2021 
Page 3 of 6 


municipal discussion, staff was directed to continue with the bid process.  Bids for Phase I 
of Whitehall Road Regional Park were received on December 15, 2020 and staff has been  
meeting internally, with their engineers (Stahl Sheaffer), and with their construction 
management team (Poole Anderson), and held descoping meetings to determine the 
apparent low bidders.   
 
At its February 1, 2021 meeting the Finance Committee received a project update from 
Ms. Salokangas, Director of Centre Region Parks and Recreation, and a review of the debt 
service by Mr. Joe Viglione, COG Finance Director.  An extended discussion occurred 
with the Finance Committee making the following recommendation: 


 


The Finance Committee recommends that the municipalities consider retaining 
Mr. Chris Gibbons, Concord Public Financial Advisors, for the purposes of 
refinancing both the Centre Region Parks & Recreation Authority Regional 
Parks and the Pools loans for a total loan amount of approximately $10.4 million 
in order to maintain the current debt service level, while extending the term of 
the loan, and borrowing additional capital to complete the Whitehall Road 
Regional Park Phase I as estimated including the current unfunded items 
(restroom, maintenance storage building, and irrigation system), and 
furthermore, refers this discussion to the participating municipalities to state 
their position on this matter. 


  
The motion passed 5-1 with Ferguson Township dissenting.       
 
The municipal representative should come prepared to communicate the outcome of the 
discussion(s) that occurred at their individual board/council meeting(s) as outlined in the 
motion above.  Staff has enclosed those documents shared with the Committee at their 
February 1, 2021 meeting for reference. 
 


5. FINANCE COMMITTEE WORK TASKS (Informational) (time estimate 15 minutes) 
 


The Committee should receive an update on the actions taken by the Executive Committee pertaining 
to the Finance Committee’s work tasks and help define a path forward including clarifying the order 
of items to be completed. 
 
At its January meeting the Executive Committee discussed the Finance Committee work 
tasks, endorsed the enclosed work tasks as priority work tasks, and referred them back to the 
Finance Committee for implementation. 
 
Going forward within this process, staff has a few questions/concerns they would like to 
discuss with the Finance Committee prior to proceeding: 
 


 Who should be the lead staff on the each of the tasks? 
 How should we proceed with garnering support for these tasks throughout the 


COG Committees, COG staff, municipal boards, and municipal staff? 
 How do we address the impact on municipal staffing and fit these work tasks 


into their existing workload at an appropriate priority level? 







Finance Committee Agenda 
February 11, 2021 
Page 4 of 6 


 How do we address the impact on COG staffing and fit these work tasks into 
their existing workload at an appropriate priority level? 


 How do we address the impact on COG Committees and fit these work tasks 
into their existing workload at an appropriate priority level? 


 
6. REVISION TO THE COG DETAILED BUDGET DOCUMENT (Discussion) (time 


estimate 10 minutes) 
 
The Committee should review the enclosed section of the detailed budget and begin discussing if 
amending the detailed budget document might be appropriate.  This will be on ongoing discussion 
covering multiple meetings. 
 
Enclosed is the previous draft and an updated draft section of the detailed budget developed 
and reviewed by Staff.  The updated draft has taken into account the comments from the 
previous meeting. Staff is also requesting that the Finance Committee consider changing 
the document from a one-sided document to a two-sided document. 


 
The Finance Committee should review the proposed change to the budget document and 
provide comments on the appropriateness, transparency, and functionality of the 
document, and, if they deem the changes to be worthy of consideration, also provide 
suggestions to Staff as to how to improve it beyond the proposed format. The Committee 
members should pay careful attention to the text and determine if it provides detailed 
enough information to answer all detail line item questions – this was a significant 
comment/concern communicated at the previous meeting.   
 
Based on comments received at the last meeting, staff is also requesting that the Finance 
Committee determine if there is a desire to move forward with the proposed changes to 
the individual fund sections.  If there is not, perhaps the outcome of this exercise was to 
determine that COG should maintain the current budget structure and, for the next 
meeting, redirect its focus to the summary pages at the beginning to amend those 
documents to address previous Committee comments. 


 
7. FACILITIES COMMITTEE (Informational) 
 


This is an informational agenda item. The Committee should receive the update from Ms. Hartle and 
ask questions they deem appropriate. 


 


Ms. Patti Hartle will provide an update on the Facilities Committee’s February meeting.   
 


8. MONTHLY REPORTS (Action) 
 


This is an action agenda item. The Committee should review and approve the voucher report. 
 


Copies of the January 2021 voucher report are enclosed with this agenda. To proceed, the 
Committee should consider the following motion: 







Finance Committee Agenda 
February 11, 2021 
Page 5 of 6 


“That the Finance Committee approves the January 2021 voucher report for the 
Centre Region COG.”  


Consistent with past practice, copies of the January 2021 COG financial reports will not be 
distributed as the December 2020 year is still being closed out.   


If the Committee has any questions about the items in the voucher report, please let 
Finance Director Joe Viglione (jviglione@crcog.net or 231-3062) know as soon as possible 
so that the information can be researched prior to the next Committee meeting. 


9. OTHER BUSINESS 
 


A. Matter of Record – The Payment Protection Program (PPP) Loan Forgiveness 
application has been received and accepted by the Small Business Administration.  
This completes the conversion of the PPP Loan from a loan to a grant for Schlow 
Library.  Staff is beginning to investigate the Employee Retention Credit to 
determine if there would be a benefit to exploring that at as option for Schlow 
Library. 


B. Matter of Record – The following is an update of the status of planning and 
evaluation studies currently underway at the COG. 


 Planning Activity Status 
1 IT Study The RFP for the IT Study was updated and refreshed 


with the help of an intern from PSU during the fall 
semester.  Staff is now formatting the RFP and adding 
standard boilerplate text (updated for COVID-19).  It is 
on track for release in the first quarter.  


2 COG Strategic 
Plan 


Work is progressing on the development of a COG 
organizational Strategic Plan.  Elected officials will be 
asked for their input on the COG Mission and Vision 
soon.  We are grateful to be receiving the assistance of 
Penn State University’s Office of Planning, Assessment 
and Institutional Research. 


3 Code Software 
Study 


TRAISR and OpenGov provided demonstrations. 
Coordinating group representatives will perform site 
visits to multiple software client locations in March. 
(Update: A decision-makers group has been identified 
and will meet within the next two weeks to discuss any 
possibility of proceeding with the project.)  


4 COG Facilities 
Evaluation 


No significant update beyond the Facilities Committee 
report. 


5 Solar Power 
Purchase 
Agreement 
Working Group 


The Working Group named Mr. Buck Chair and Ms. 
Brandt Vice Chair. They also endorsed a timeline to 
release the RFP for Energy Consulting Services in late 
April through the approval of a contract with an Energy 
Consultant Services in mid-September. Prior to the 







Finance Committee Agenda 
February 11, 2021 
Page 6 of 6 


approval of the Energy Services Consultant each board 
will be asked for their endorsement of said consultant.  


6 Fleet 
Management 
Plan/COG 
Building Parking 
Lot Study 


There is agreement among COG staff and the elected 
officials that this should be a priority work objective for 
2021 and has been included on the Finance 
Committee’s Priority Work Task List. Staff is soliciting 
examples of fleet management plans.  If any Committee 
members have such plans in your municipality or 
workplace that would be good examples, we would 
appreciate a copy. 


7 Evaluation of 
Boardwalk at 
Millbrook Marsh 
Nature Center 


The Feasibility Study Working Group reviewed four 
concept plans from LAN Associates at its January 27 
meeting.  This was to determine if LAN Associates was 
heading in the right direction since these concepts will 
be included in the 70% Feasibility Study document.  The 
team provided feedback and asked questions of 
LAN.  These four concepts also had several surfacing, 
subsurfacing, and footing suggestions.  Since then, the 
draft 70% Feasibility Study has been received and will be 
distributed to the Feasibility Study Working Group for 
their review.  At the next project meeting, set for 
February 10, the group will review and discuss with LAN 
Associates.  Once the draft has been updated from that 
point, the revised version will be distributed for review 
and comment.  


 


10. ADJOURNMENT 













CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 
Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 


Video Conference 
February 16, 2021 


12:15 PM 
 
 


 
GENERAL MEETING INFORMATION 


 
 


STEP #1:  Click HERE to RSVP and REGISTER for the meeting via ZOOM 
        After you RSVP, a link to register via Zoom will be shown. Click to register. 
        Once registered, you will receive a confirmation email containing information about  
        joining the meeting. 
 
STEP #2:  Click HERE to locate the AGENDA and ATTACHMENTS 
        Should you desire to annotate any attachments you must download them first. 


 
To attend this meeting by phone: +1 929 205 6099  |  Meeting ID: 867 2640 7851 


 
Meeting Contact: Scott Binkley (sbinkley@crcog.net, 814-235-7818) 


 
 This meeting will be recorded, and electronic files of the meeting will be made available on 


the COG website upon its conclusion. 
 


 We ask that non-voting participants remain muted with their video turned off unless 
recognized or are actively speaking. To reduce audio interference, please remain off 
speakerphone during the meeting.  


 
 VOTING PROCEDURES: Members will provide their vote by voice. Clarification will be 


sought by the Chair if the vote is unclear. Members opposed to a motion should vote 
“No”. For additional information on COG Voting Procedures, please click HERE. 


 
 PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES: Members of the public may comment on any items 


not already on the agenda (five minutes per person). Comments relating to specific items 
on the agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. For additional 
information on COG public meeting guidelines, please click HERE. 
 


 To access agendas and minutes of previously held meetings, and to learn more about the 
COG Executive Committee on our website, please click HERE. 
 
 







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 2 of 16 
 


CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 
Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 


Video Conference 
February 16, 2021 


12:15 PM 
 


 
During the COVID-19 health emergency, to continue business operations of the 
COG and ensure the safety of municipal officials and staff, and to adhere to health 
emergency recommendations while remaining in compliance with Pennsylvania’s 
guidelines for public meetings, this Executive Committee meeting will be held via 
video conference. Written public comment or requests to speak to the Executive 
Committee for items not on the agenda, and requests to comment to specific agenda 
items listed below, may be submitted in advance by emailing sbinkley@crcog.net. 
 


AGENDA 
 


1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
Mr. Hameister will convene the meeting. Mr. Binkley will review the meeting procedures. 


 
2. PUBLIC COMMENTS 


 
Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda 
(five minutes per person time limit please). Comments relating to specific items on the 
agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. Submitted comments will be 
read into the record by the Recording Secretary at the appropriate time in the meeting.  
 


3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
A copy of the minutes of the January 19, 2021 Executive Committee meeting are enclosed. 
 


4. CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS RESOLUTION 2021-2 
A RESOLUTION OF COMMENDATION AND APPRECIATION FOR 
CATHI ALLOWAY ON HER RETIREMENT AFTER A DECADE OF SERVICE — 
Presented by Eric Norenberg 
 
This item asks the Executive Committee to review Resolution 2021-2, a resolution of 
commendation and appreciation for Cathi Alloway, treasured Library Director, Schlow 
Centre Region Library on her retirement after a decade of service to the Library, the 







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 3 of 16 
 


Centre Region Council of Governments, its member municipalities, and the residents of 
the Centre Region. 
 
Cathi Alloway has served the residents of our region since 2010 and will retire from the 
COG on April 2, 2021. 
 
The Executive Committee is asked to recommend that the General Forum enthusiastically 
adopt the proposed COG resolution. If the committee agrees, then a possible motion for 
consideration is:  
 


“That the Executive Committee recommends that the General Forum adopt 
Resolution 2021–2, a resolution of commendation and appreciation for 
Cathi Alloway on her retirement from COG after a decade of service to the 
Schlow Centre Region Library, the Centre Region Council of Governments, its 
member municipalities, and the residents of the Centre Region.”  


 
All municipalities should vote on this motion. 
 
A draft Resolution will be sent to Executive Committee members prior to the meeting for 
review and comment. 


 
5. APPOINTMENT OF SCHLOW CENTRE REGION LIBRARY DIRECTOR — Presented 


by Eric Norenberg 
 
Upon having received notification during the early months of 2020 that Library Director 
Cathi Alloway would retire in 2021, the Library Board and the HR Committee met to 
review the job description. A plan for the recruitment was developed and a Selection 
Committee was established to screen candidates and recommend a candidate to the 
Library Board for final appointment. In accordance with previously approved Organization 
and Policy Guidelines between the Centre Region COG and the Schlow Memorial Library, the 
Selection Committee consisted of the Executive Committee, three Library Board members 
appointed by the Library Board President, and a nonvoting library professional: 
 
Selection Committee Members:   
 


•  Casey McClain (Schlow Library Board)   
•  Kimberly Fragola (Schlow Library Board) 
•  Linda Treviño (Schlow Library Board) 
•  Eric Bernier (College Township)    
•  Laura Dininni (Ferguson Township)   
•  Danelle DelCorso (Halfmoon Township)   
•  Dennis Hameister (Harris Township) 
•  Elliot Abrams (Patton Township) 
•  Jesse Barlow (State College Borough) 
•  Brady Clemens (District Consultant Librarian at Schlow Centre Region Library) 


  







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 4 of 16 
 


A recruitment timeline was reviewed and approved by the Selection Committee that 
included, a survey of staff and stakeholders, the development of a recruitment profile and 
application process, and the selection of outlets in which to advertise the position. 
 
The survey was conducted, and results were analyzed based upon the data received from 
stakeholder groups about the qualities that should be sought when selecting the next 
Library Director. The results were used in developing the final recruitment materials and 
questions of candidates. The following groups were surveyed in late-September to mid-
October: 
 


 Schlow Management Staff 
 Schlow Non-Management Staff 
 Library Board members 
 Library Foundation members 
 General Forum members 
 Key Users and Donors 


 
The Library Director Selection Committee authorized the formation of a Screening 
Committee to assist the Selection Committee with the work of reviewing applications, 
supplemental materials, etc., and to conduct first-round screening interviews. The 
screening committee consisted of: 
 


 Brady Clemens (District Consultant Librarian at Schlow Centre Region Library) 
 Tom Fountaine (State College Borough Manager) 
 Eric Norenberg (COG Executive Director) 
 Becca Petitt (COG Human Resources Officer) 
 David Pribulka (Ferguson Township Manager) 
 Denise Sticha (Exec. Director of Centre County Library and Historical Museum) 


 
Regular progress reports were provided to the Library Director Selection Committee and 
The Library Board. During January, interviews and reference checks were completed. The 
concluding assessment process for the final two candidates took place last week:  
 


 Presentation to Library Board, COG General Forum members, Schlow 
Foundation, Schlow staff – Virtual 


 Library Tour – In-person (masked and distanced)  
 Meet and Greet with Schlow Management Team – Virtual  
 Interview with Selection Committee – Virtual 


 
On February 12, 2021, final candidate interviews were conducted, and a recommendation 
was made by the Library Director Selection Committee. On February 16, 2021, the Schlow 
Library Board will meet to consider appointment of the next Library Director of the 
Schlow Centre Region Library. This appointment must also be ratified by the General 
Forum. Accordingly, it is requested that the Executive Committee approve adding this item 
to the General Forum agenda.   


 







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 5 of 16 
 


6. STAFF RECOGNITION — Presented by Eric Norenberg 
 


7. CODE BOARD OF APPEALS — APPOINTMENT & RE-APPOINTMENTS — Presented 
by Walt Schneider 
 
This agenda item asks the Executive Committee to consider recommendations from the 
Public Safety Committee for members of the Centre Region Building and Housing Code 
Board of Appeals and to refer them to the General Forum for endorsement and to the 
municipalities for appointment.  


 
The Joint Articles of Agreement state that the Public Safety Committee shall recommend 
to the COG General Forum appointments to the Centre Region Building & Housing 
Code Board of Appeals. The COG General Forum shall consider the appointments and 
recommend a slate of nominations to the participating municipalities for appointment by 
the participating municipalities. An appointment to the Board of Appeals includes a three-
year term, and members may serve a maximum of three consecutive terms or a total of nine 
years.  
 
In 2020, the municipalities updated the Centre Region Building and Housing Code Board 
of Appeals Articles of Agreement that restructured the Board of Appeals, reducing the 
number of members required from 17 to 7. The revised Agreement also staggers the board 
member appointment dates; to accomplish this, the current members will be appointed in 
2021 and re-appointed in staggered years moving forward. 
 
With the reduced number of members required and to create the staggered appointment 
dates, staff is recommending the following appointments to serve on the Building and 
Housing Board of Appeals, starting April 1st, 2021:   
 


 Douglas Henry, R.A (Three-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2024) 
 Chad Maholtz (Three-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2024) 
 J. Michael Leakey, R.A. (Two-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2023) 
 Brian Walker, P.E. (Three-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2024) 
 Scott Good, P.E. (Two-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2023) 
 Ryan Solnosky, Ph.D., P.E. (One-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2022) 
 Alan Popovich, R.A. (new to Board of Appeals) (One-year term, April 1, 2021 – 


March 30, 2022) 
 
The resumes for the recommended board members for your review are enclosed. 
 
To proceed with these appointments, the Public Safety Committee unanimously asks the 
Executive Committee to refer the following motion to the General Forum: 
 


“That the Executive Committee recommends that the General Forum forward 
the following nominations to the member municipalities for appointment to the 
Centre Region Building and Housing Board of Appeals for the identified terms:  


 







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 6 of 16 
 


Douglas Henry, R.A (Three-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2024) 
Chad Maholtz (Three-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2024) 
Brian Walker, P.E.  (Three-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2024) 
J. Michael Leakey, R.A.  (Two-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2023) 
Scott Good, P.E.  (Two-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2023) 
Ryan Solnosky, Ph.D., P.E.   (One-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2022) 
Alan Popovich, R.A. (One-year term, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2022).” 


 
All municipalities should vote on this motion. 
 


8. RETENTION OF FINANCE CONSULTANT — Presented by Eric Norenberg and 
Joe Viglione  
 
On February 1, the COG Finance Committee held a special meeting to discuss possibly 
refinancing the Regional Parks and Pools loans to take advantage of historically low 
interest rates and possibly utilize the savings from the refinancing to close part of the gap to 
fund the Whitehall Road Regional Park (WRRP) Phase 1 project. (Bids on this project 
were received in mid-December. An update is provided in Matter of Record C., below.)  
The Finance Committee approved the following motion requesting municipal Councils 
and Boards discuss refinancing so that the Finance Committee could discuss the feedback 
and reach a decision during its February 11, 2021 meeting: 
 


“The Finance Committee recommends that the municipalities consider retaining Mr. Chris 
Gibbons, Concord Public Financial Advisors, for the purposes of refinancing both the Centre 
Region Parks & Recreation Authority Regional Parks and the Pools loans for a total loan 
amount of approximately $10.4 million in order to maintain the current debt service level, 
while extending the term of the loan, and borrowing additional capital to complete the 
Whitehall Road Regional Park Phase I as estimated including the current unfunded items 
(restroom, maintenance storage building, and irrigation system), and furthermore, refers this 
discussion to the participating municipalities to state their position on this matter.” 


 
During the February 11 Finance Committee meeting the Committee heard and discussed 
the feedback received from each of the five municipalities. During the discussion, they also 
heard from Mr. Gibbons and considered options. The Finance Committee discussed 
options and agreed to further explore the option of refinancing the loan under the 
following possible terms,  
 


 Investing any savings back into the project,  
 Adding additional funds for the shortfall and unfunded items,  
 Keeping the municipal debt payment levels the same, and  
 Possibly extending the loan if necessary, to manage the payment levels. 


 
There was also discussion regarding the amounts that could be financed. While there was 
not unanimous support for each of the three options proposed, there was support from 
each municipality for exploring all three options so that full information about each option 
would be known and could be considered by municipalities and the COG as final 







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 7 of 16 
 


decisions are made regarding WRRP financing. The Finance Committee approved the 
following motion at their February 11, 2021 meeting: 


 
“That the Finance Committee recommends to the Executive Committee to retain Mr. Chris 
Gibbons, Concord Public Financial Advisors, Inc., to advise the Committee about the 
following borrowings: 


 
 A borrowing of approximately $10.5 million to refinance the existing pools and 


parks debt plus borrow additional funds to complete the unfunded items identified in 
summary of costs for Whitehall Road Regional Park – approximately $1.5 million, 
with the caveat that less may be borrowed in order to maintain the current debt 
service level while potentially extending the loan. 


 A refinancing of existing debt to determine the amount of savings that would occur 
noting: 


o The amount that could be reapplied to the Whitehall Road Regional Park 
project, or  


o The amount that could be returned to the municipalities 


 A refinancing which borrows an amount(s) between the direct refinancing of existing 
debt and the refinancing of approximately $10.5 million 


 
The Finance Committee requested this information be prepared and presented to them at 
their March 11, 2021 meeting contingent upon the possible approval of the Executive 
Committee. The estimated cost of retaining Mr. Gibbons is $________ to provide these 
services, which may require a budget amendment within the purview of the Executive 
Committee should they deem the retention of Mr. Gibbons’ services appropriate.” 


 
The motion passed unanimously. 


 
As of Thursday afternoon, discussions between Finance Director Joe Viglione and 
Mr. Gibbons were underway. As a result, the final recommendation regarding engaging 
Mr. Gibbons and the additional approvals that may be necessary will be presented by 
Mr. Viglione as the information becomes available.   
 
All municipalities, except Halfmoon, should vote on this motion. 
 


9. COVID WASTEWATER RESEARCH REPORT — Presented by Shawn Kauffman 
 


The Executive Committee is asked to consider a recommendation by the Public Safety 
Committee to include a presentation by Andrew Read, Ph.D. of the Penn State 
Department of Entomology during the February 22, 2021 meeting of the COG General 
Forum. Dr. Read has been conducting COVID Wastewater Research during the course of 
the pandemic and regularly shared findings with Centre Region Emergency Management 
Agency emergency operations center participants.   


 
To proceed, the Committee should consider the following motion: 







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 8 of 16 
 


 
“That the Executive Committee as recommended by the Public Safety 
Committee approves that a presentation is provided by Andrew Read, Ph.D. of 
the Penn State Department of Entomology on COVID Wastewater Research to 
General Forum members at its February 22, 2021 meeting.” 
 


(Please note that the previously approved presentation regarding the Centre Region Anti-
bias Coalition is scheduled for the February 22 meeting.)  


 
All municipalities should vote on this motion. 
 


10. COMMUNITY SURVEY ON CLIMATE PLANNING – Presented by Pam Adams 
 
This agenda item asks the Executive Committee, as recommended by the Climate Action 
and Sustainability Committee, to consider asking the General Forum to authorize the 
release of the community survey to gather public input in preparation of the Climate 
Action and Adaptation Plan. 
 
At its January 13, 2021 meeting, the CAS Committee discussed the public outreach phase 
of the climate action and adaptation planning process intended for the next 6 months. 
Understanding stakeholders’ and residents’ interests and priorities is paramount to 
creating a relevant Climate Action and Adaptation Plan (CAAP). It can also help build 
momentum for the implementation of the CAAP. 
 
The survey will include an online version available to the entire community and a 
statistically valid random sample survey mailed to 3,000 Centre Region households. 
Enclosed is the latest draft of the survey that is planned for release in late February through 
April. The purpose of the survey is to: 
 


 Determine the community’s level of climate literacy and awareness 
 Provide key teaching points for future outreach 
 Guide decision making and prioritization of strategies to include in the CAAP. 


 
The survey has been reviewed and tested by multiple organizations including the Climate 
Action and Sustainability Committee, the Climate Action and Adaptation Technical 
Advisory Group (TAG), municipal staff, and several PSU professors. Because this is a 
random sample survey, it has been prepared to be readable at the 10th grade level to 
account for a broad range of literacy levels. 
 
The CRPA is distributing the random sample survey using the Comprehensive Recreation, 
Parks, and Open Space Survey as a model. The postcard mailer will be randomly sent to 
2,000 owner-occupied homes and 1,000 rental residential properties (not apartment 
buildings). Both demographics are included to reflect the makeup of our community.  
 
 







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 9 of 16 
 


For distribution of the online survey, CRPA will employ traditional communication 
methods (news media, newsletters, website) and a social media presence. CRPA will use 
https://centresustains.com/ in outreach communications for community members to 
learn about the survey and forum. 
 
As this is a new committee and they are interested in informing the entire body of officials, 
the Climate Action and Sustainability Committee recommended this item be sent to the 
General Forum for endorsement. The Executive Committee may consider precedent to 
determine if this is an item they can authorize or if it is best presented to the General 
Forum. The survey is planned for release in February 2021. 
 
To proceed, the Committee should consider the following motion: 
 


“That the Executive Committee as recommended by the Climate Action & 
Sustainability Committee asks the General Forum to authorize the release of the 
community survey to gather public input in preparation of the Climate Action 
and Adaptation Plan.” 


 
All municipalities should vote on this motion. 
 


11. COVID LEAVE EXTENSION / ALTERNATIVES — Presented by Eric Norenberg 
 
Overview 
As the Executive Committee will recall, the Executive Director was authorized to provide 
COG employees a bank of COVID Leave at the beginning of the pandemic. The initial 
bank of COVID leave time (prorated for part-time staff) was 15 days. It was later authorized 
to be expanded by an additional 20 days. The leave program was slated to expire at the end 
of 2020. Late in 2020, the Executive Committee authorized the Executive Director to 
extend the COVID Leave program while alternatives were evaluated. It is now scheduled to 
expire on February 28, 2021. To complement the COVID Leave program during 2021, the 
Executive Committee approved a Negative Leave Accrual program last month.  


 
Background 
The COG’s COVID Leave program was approved and implemented as an immediate 
response to an urgent need. Within a few weeks, the federal Families First Coronavirus 
Response Act was adopted and the COG COVID Leave policy guidelines were amended to 
align with the Act. Accordingly, COG staff could use their COVID Leave under the 
following situations: 
 


 The employee is subject to a federal, state, or local quarantine or isolation order 
related to COVID–19. 


 The employee has been advised by a health care provider to self-quarantine due to 
concerns related to COVID–19. 


 The employee or member of the household is experiencing symptoms of COVID–
19 and is seeking a medical diagnosis. 







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 10 of 16 
 


 The employee knows that they have been exposed, is caring for an individual, or 
resides with an individual, who is subject to either number 1, 2, or 3 as indicated 
above. 


 The employee must care for their child because the school or place of care of the 
child has been closed, or the childcare provider of such child is unavailable, due to 
COVID–19 precautions. 


 The employee is experiencing any other substantially similar condition specified by 
the Center for Disease Control and Prevention.   


 The employee falls into a high-risk category, resides with, or is caring for an older 
individual with chronic health issues. i.e. over the age of 60, or that has a pre-
existing health issue such as diabetes, heart disease, lung disease, HIV, or 
pregnancy. 


 
During the early days of the pandemic in March and April, several staff members were 
unable to work remotely and used much of their COVID Leave. Meanwhile, others were 
able to work remotely or had emergency response duties that carried on throughout the 
pandemic and thus used little or no COVID Leave. As the pandemic wore on, the COVID 
Leave bank was viewed as a key source of reassurance and support both by grateful 
employees who made use of the leave and by many who have been comforted to know it is 
there in case they need it, particularly as COVID-19 levels have surged in the 
Commonwealth and nationally.    
 
Staff continues to monitor possible federal relief legislation that could affect current or 
future COVID-19-related leave programs. To allow time for staff to assess potential federal 
legislation and/or to develop alternative leave measures to replace COVID Leave in 2021, 
it is recommended that the Executive Director be authorized to extend the current COVID 
Leave program through April 30, 2021, to allow time for replacement/alternative measures 
to be reviewed, approved and implemented.   
 
If the Executive Committee supports this recommendation, the following motion could be 
considered for approval: 
 


“That the Executive Committee authorizes the COG Executive Director to 
extend the current COG COVID Leave program for its employees until April 30, 
2021, to allow time for replacement/alternative measures to be reviewed, 
approved, and implemented.   
 


All municipalities should vote on this motion. 
 


12. EXTERNAL PRESENTATIONS TO THE GENERAL FORUM POLICY DISCUSSION 
— Presented by Eric Norenberg  (The Committee should discuss this item if time permits or 
consider moving this agenda item to a future meeting.) 
 
The Committee broadly discussed the structural role of outside groups that make 
presentations to the General Forum during its January 19, 2021 meeting, especially those 
presentation requests that do not relate directly to COG functions, agencies, or programs. 







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 11 of 16 
 


 
It was the consensus of the Executive Committee at its January 19, 2021 meeting that the 
General Forum is a convenient and open environment for groups to present factual 
information on regional topics that affect all area municipalities. It was also noted that 
these presentations are provided to elected officials for informational purposes and are not 
necessarily conducted with the intent to include them into new or existing COG programs. 
The Committee requested information for a follow-up discussion. 


 
Currently, these requests are made to the Executive Committee after consideration by the 
COG Executive Director and the COG Chair based upon their relevance to COG 
functions, agencies, or programs; their relevance as an issue to the member municipalities; 
or because the request has arisen from a topical issue that has affected the region. These 
requests, by in large, are initially made to the Executive Director by an elected or municipal 
official, Penn State, organizations related to the services of our region, or other outside 
community groups. 
 
The COG Articles of Agreement state that one of the primary responsibilities of the 
Executive Committee is to set the meeting agenda for the General Forum. Accordingly, it 
is the Executive Committee who should make such decisions regarding placing a 
presentation item on the General Forum agenda. The Executive Committee meeting 
agenda is set jointly by the Chair and the Executive Director. A discussion is usually held 
the week before the Executive Committee meeting to agree upon topics, including possible 
presentations or discussion of unusual items.  
 
The COG Articles of Agreement provides guidance about the role the General Forum and 
COG should be playing as a venue and forum to hear information about important 
regional issues, opportunities for cooperation or joint action, or topics that may merit 
advocacy by the Region. The preamble of the Articles of Agreement includes the following 
statements:   


 Many of the problems and needs confronting this region are independent of 
political boundaries. 


 Any solutions to our problems and the programs that we formulate to meet our 
common needs will have a greater chance of success if they are undertaken 
jointly and in a cooperative manner. 


 The overriding goal of the COG is to improve the quality of life for the 
residents of the Centre Region in the face of increasing pressures due to 
economic and population growth. 


 We believe that this goal can best be achieved through cooperative efforts by 
the regional municipalities. This involves combining our various resources to 
meet regional challenges which may be beyond our individual capabilities. 


 We recognize that cooperation, which is truly regional, will sometimes entail 
some trade-offs, but we believe it will result in better regional qualities than 
could be achieved by individual municipal actions. 







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 12 of 16 
 


 This agreement is to establish a council of governments in the Centre Region. 
It does not create a new layer of government, or a super-government. It does 
provide a means of communication, cooperation, and joint action in the 
interest of the municipalities individually and collectively. 
 


So, it is clear that the COG and the General Forum are the appropriate venue for hearing 
about and discussing subjects of regional nature, and to consider joint efforts to address 
regional challenges. These aspirational statements can also guide possible future decisions 
to improve quality of life: cooperative efforts, combining resources, communication, and 
joint action.  


In addition, the Articles elaborate the communications role in Article II Purpose: 


A. Forum: To serve as a mutual forum to identify, discuss, study, and bring into focus 
regional issues and needs.  


B. Communication & Coordination: To provide the organizational structure 
necessary to ensure effective communications and coordination among 
municipalities.  


E.  Regional Spokesperson: To maintain liaison with members, governmental units 
and groups or organizations and to serve as a regional spokesperson for local 
governments to governmental units and organizations at the county, state, and 
federal levels. 


 
Summary 
 


The Articles indicate that the communication roles and functions of the COG are not 
intended to be one-way (i.e. listening to presentations), but to possibly study and discuss 
regional issues, to provide a structure for communication and cooperation among 
municipalities, and be a liaison with other organizations and serve as a spokesperson.  
Accordingly, the General Forum can be an environment for individuals and organizations 
within the Centre Region to be able to present on issues of regional significance to all 
members at meetings of the General Forum.  
 
The Executive Committee is invited to discuss and consider next steps if any.   
 


13. GENERAL FORUM ROOM AUDIO/VIDEO ENHANCEMENTS DISCUSSION — 
Presented by Eric Norenberg  (The Committee should discuss this item if time permits or consider 
moving this agenda item to a future meeting.) 
 
This item asks the Executive Committee to begin a discussion on a pathway forward that will allow 
the General Forum and COG Committees to conduct its meetings successfully in a hybrid manner.  
During its November 17, 2020 meeting the Executive Committee decided to delay conversation on 
this topic while the situation on the pandemic evolved. 
 
Background 
 







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 13 of 16 
 


During the July 27, 2020 meeting of the General Forum, the following motion was passed 
unanimously: 
 
  “That the General Forum as recommended by the Executive Committee, approve Resolution   
  2020-7 to authorize remote meetings during future emergency circumstances, to authorize 
  individual members to attend and vote remotely subject to a quorum of members being  
  present at the advertised meeting location, and to authorize the Executive Committee to 
  approve and update related procedures as needed, subject to review by the General Forum.” 
 
In addition, at the September 29, 2020 meeting of the General Forum, members 
unanimously passed the following motion: 
 
  “That the General Forum, as recommended by the COG coordinating staff, COG Executive 


Director, COG Agency Directors, Program Administrators and Coordinators, elected 
officials, Municipal Managers, and Executive Committee, adopt the consensus COG 
committee structure recommendations as outlined within the Exhibit A document.” 


 
One of the recommendations identified and endorsed in this document by members was to: 
 


Investigate and implement audio/visual improvements in the General Forum room 
that support hybrid meetings (participants in the room and attending remotely). 
Determine how committee members and the public will connect and be managed. 


 
With the passage of Resolution 2020-7 complete, the COG has the ability to conduct its 
business in an electronic/remote manner once the COVID-19 Emergency Disaster 
Declaration has been fully lifted so long as a quorum of members is present in the physical 
meeting space. 
 
Existing, aging systems in the General Forum room have been assessed and the audio and 
visual infrastructure required to successfully conduct a hybrid meeting does not currently 
exist in the room. This is especially challenging given the large number of elected officials, 
staff, and others that are often present and participate in these meetings. Audio and video 
enhancements would need to be made to achieve the ability of COG staff to successfully 
conduct these meetings in a hybrid manner once the COVID-19 Emergency Disaster 
Declaration is lifted. Post-pandemic hybrid meetings would allow elected officials, staff, 
presenters, and the public to attend and participate in COG meetings in a remote manner 
so long as any requirements of a physical quorum of in-person voting members are 
satisfied. Some additional instances where remote participation may be beneficial: 
 


• Future Public Health or Public Safety Emergency 
• Inclement weather events 
• Transportation limitations or scheduling conflicts 
• Future Pandemics 


• Potential financial savings of presenters attending remotely 
• Staff or officials cannot attend in person due to sickness or vacation time 
• Social distancing measures have been put in place 







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 14 of 16 
 


Staff has reached out to Ferguson Township and the State College Area School District 
about the possibility of utilizing alternative facilities that might be both larger and have 
existing A/V systems that could be used. Thus far, the feedback is that meeting conflicts 
and prohibitions on outside organizations using facilities during the pandemic prevent 
COG from pursuing those options. Other municipal or private facilities present their own 
challenges with parking, scheduling, lack of audio and/or video capabilities, and, sanitizing 
the space before and after use. (We do welcome any suggestions for sites to explore that we 
may not have been aware of.)   
 
Staff has also received three quotes to address the audio and visual needs of the General 
Forum room and these preliminary quotes are shown below: 
 


Vendor 
Sound Loop 


(Audio Induction to 
assist the hearing impaired) 


Audio 
Improvements 


(Mics, Updated 
Rack Equipment) 


Video 
Improvements 
(Hybrid Meeting 


Capabilities) 


Total 


A X   $31,457.98 


B X X X 
$104,174.77 
$2,445.62 / 
60 Months 


C X X X $32,534.28 


 


Note: $15,000 was approved by the General Forum during the 2019 Budget process to 
make audio improvements in the General Forum room and these unspent funds could 
be used to help accomplish these improvements. 
 
It is estimated that this project would take approximately 6-8 weeks to complete following 
authorization. If desired a presentation can be arranged and be given by vendor 
representation that could highlight examples of similar systems that have been installed 
along with some comparisons and justifications. 
 
The Executive Committee is asked to discuss and provide guidance regarding priorities for 
preparing the General Forum Room for the option of post-pandemic hybrid meetings. 
 


14. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 
The Executive Director will update the Executive Committee on other items of current interest. 


 
 Cindy Hahn, C-NET Executive Director, has approached the COG Executive 


Director regarding an opportunity to broadcast meetings of the COG General 
Forum live on YouTube. This additional coverage would not affect the meeting’s 
current airing schedule on C-NET and would be provided at no additional cost. 


 







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 15 of 16 
 


The Executive Committee is asked to decide if it would like to see this additional 
coverage of its General Forum meetings and approve of the proposal or if the 
General Forum should consider this request. 
 


15. OTHER BUSINESS 
 
A. Matter of Record – The next meeting of the Executive Committee is scheduled for 


Tuesday, March 16, 2021, at 12:15 pm. It has not yet been determined if this will 
be an in-person or video conference meeting. 
 


B. Matter of Record – At its January 19, 2021 meeting the Executive Committee 
approved a presentation on the Centre Region Anti-Bias Coalition. 
 


This presentation will take place at the February 22, 2021 meeting of the General 
Forum and be conducted by Charima Young and Sonia DeLuca Fernandez, 
members of Community and Campus in Unity (CCU) 
 


The presentation will focus on the purpose, function, and expanded efforts of the 
Centre Region Anti-Bias Coalition, which is a part of Community & Campus in 
Unity (CCU). Community & Campus in Unity was launched in the fall of 2014 
and its purpose is to promote an inclusive multicultural community that respects 
and celebrates diversity. CCU is a collaborative group of Police Chiefs, Professors, 
Pastors, Students, and other Community leaders from the Centre County area. 
More information can be found on the Community & Campus in Unity website at 
https://ccustatecollege.weebly.com or the CCU Facebook page at 
https://www.facebook.com/groups/CCUnity 


 
C. Matter of Record – The bid de-scoping process was finished on January 22, 2021 for 


Whitehall Road Regional Park. On January 25, the review team met to review notes 
and determine at this time the lowest qualified bidders for each bid package. This 
was necessary to prepare a financial report for the special meeting of the Finance 
Committee which took place on February 1 at 1 PM. 
 


For that meeting, the financial documents were presented to include all associated 
low bids, cost allowances for alternates or additional testing/rock/soil movement, 
and additional allowances for engineering and design work, and contingency. 
Applied to those figures were the loan proceeds and donations and grants, showing 
a break-out of what is in-hand and what still needs to be collected as some donors 
are utilizing pledge payments. This document was updated for the February 11 
Finance Committee meeting. Also proposed to be applied to the project are 
proceeds from savings from refinances and rent paid for ag leases. Applying these 
funds still needs to be approved through a budget amendment, but they could be 
used as a DCNR grant match thereby reducing the loan amount. The overall 
project, despite competitive bids and just about $1 million in donations/grants, 
remains just over $800,000 short for the Phase I budget prior to the above-
mentioned budget amendment. The unfunded items include the restroom building, 
the maintenance storage building, and the irrigation. The combined estimated cost 
for those items is $775,000 for a total project shortfall of just under $1.6 million 







Executive Committee Agenda 
February 16, 2021 
Page 16 of 16 
 


without the budget amendment. 
  


Additionally, all apparent qualified low bidders and all qualified second low bidders 
have agreed to extend their bids through March 30, 2021. It is hoped to either 
award or reject bids at the March 18, 2021 Authority meeting or call a special 
Authority meeting prior to March 30, 2021 for these action items. 
 


D. Matter of Record – On April 13, 2021, from 6:30 – 8:30 PM students in the PSU 
Mediation of Environmental and Public Conflicts course will facilitate a 
community forum on climate action. It is open to stakeholders and interested 
citizens to learn what’s happening, hear what local government is doing regarding 
climate action, and share their perspectives on priorities, issues, and challenges. 
 


16. CALENDAR 
 
A calendar with upcoming COG committee, General Forum, and municipal meetings can 
be found by clicking the following link: COG and Municipal Meeting Overlay Calendar 
 


17. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 


ENCLOSURES 
 


Item #       Description 
03  Executive Committee Meeting Minutes ~ January 19, 2021 
04  Resolution 2021-2 Cathi Alloway Resolution 
07A  Henry Resume 
07B  Maholtz Resume 
07C  Leakey Resume 
07D  Walker Resume 
07E  Good Resume 
07F  Solnosky Resume 
07G  Popovich Resume 
10  Community Survey on Climate Planning 








 


 


 
February 17, 2021 


 
 
Ms. Alison Beam 
Acting Secretary 
PA Department of Health 
Health & Welfare Building 
8th Floor West 
625 Forster Street 
Harrisburg, PA  17120 
 
RE:  Centralized COVID-19 Vaccine Registration 
 
Dear Acting Secretary Beam: 
 
On behalf of the Board of Supervisors of Ferguson Township, Centre County, I am writing today 
with concerns over the lack of a clear, consistent, and centralized Covid-19 vaccine sign-up 
process.  The reliance on multiple distribution partners, platforms, and points of contact has 
created confusion and frustration amongst the public.  There is an immediate need for a better 
approach to vaccinating our public.   
  
A Commonwealth or County based centralized registration portal accessible via the web or 
telephone would provide ease of access.  This is especially critical for our senior population, 
which may have limited ability to navigate the current system(s).  Online, this centralized system 
could offer simple directions for signing up for or scheduling a vaccination appointment.  Over the 
phone, users could be helped by staff to sign up.  
 
Short of this, we encourage the Department of Health and healthcare providers to coordinate 
public messaging on the availability of vaccination appointments and the process for scheduling.  
  
Like most communities in Pennsylvania, Ferguson Township residents have relied on the PA 
Department of Health and local healthcare providers for direction and guidance during this 
pandemic.  We urge you to take immediate action on the above suggestions.  
Thank you for your consideration of this request.  
 
       Sincerely, 


Township of Ferguson 
 
 
 
Laura Dininni 
Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 


c:  Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
     Centre County Commissioners 
     Shawn Kauffman, Emergency Management Coordinator 
     Kathleen Rhine, CEO, Mount Nittany Medical Center 
     Dr. Jaewon Ryu, M.D., J.D., CEO, Geisinger Health Systems 
     Deborah Berini, President, Penn State Health - Hershey 
     Correspondence File 








From: Dininni,Laura <ldininni@twp.ferguson.pa.us>  
Sent: Friday, January 29, 2021 2:36 PM 
To: Pribulka,David <dpribulka@twp.ferguson.pa.us>; Norris, Faith <fnorris@twp.ferguson.pa.us> 
Subject: agenda addition 
 
Hi there, 
The Library Director Selection Committee met today at 12:00 and can be added to the committee 
reports. 
Thanks, 
Laura 
 
IMPORTANT WARNING: The information in this message (and the documents attached to it, if any) is 
confidential and may be legally privileged. It is intended solely for the addressee. Access to this message 
by anyone else is unauthorized. If you are not the intended recipient, any disclosure, copying, 
distribution or any action taken, or omitted to be taken, in reliance on it is prohibited and may be 
unlawful. If you have received this message in error, please delete all electronic copies of this message 
(and the documents attached to it, if any), destroy any hard copies you may have created and notify me 
immediately by replying to this email. Thank you.  
 








Construction Manager: 
Contract: 2018-PWGG


Brad E. Wade, PE Fund: 30.409.750 
on behalf of David Modricker 02/03/21


$365,587.77
pay from 2020 budget




























 


  
 


Manager’s Report 
February 16, 2021 


 
1. The Manager met with Supervisors Strickland and Mitra to discuss the formation 


of a Financial Advisory Committee. The item was presented through the procedure 
to place items on the agenda for consideration and will be scheduled for further 
discussion at a forthcoming Regular Meeting.  


 
2. The Municipal Managers of State College Borough, Bellefonte Borough, and 


Ferguson Township met on February 3rd to discuss the proposed Discrimination 
Ordinance and formation of a regional Human Relations Commission to adjudicate 
allegations of discrimination in employment, housing, and public accommodations. 
A follow-up meeting with the Chairs of the respective municipalities is being 
scheduled prior to presenting the item on meeting agendas for further discussion 
and consideration.  
 


3. Staff met with the Solicitor and co-counsel to discuss potential settlement options 
for the land use appeals filed by Circleville Road Partners, LLC and the Nittany 
Valley Environmental Coalition related to the Pine Hall Traditional Town 
Development General Master Plan. 
 


4. The Public Works Director and the Manager have been working with the 7Group 
to interview respondents to the Request for Proposals issued for the Solar Power 
Purchasing Agreement. Two qualified responses were received and a 
recommendation for an award is expected to be forthcoming pending several 
follow-up items that need addressed from the interviews. 
 


5. Staff met to consider options for grant funding from the Department of 
Conservation and Natural Resources to offset some of the construction cost of the 
Park Hills Drainageway project A request for approval of a grant application will be 
on the Board’s agenda for consideration on March 1st.  








Construction Manager: 
Contract: 2018-PWGG


Brad E. Wade, PE Fund: 30.409.750 
on behalf of David Modricker 02/03/21


$41,800.00
pay from 2020 budget




















 


 


- A Home Rule Municipality - 


 


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
3147 Research Drive   State College, Pennsylvania 16801 


Telephone: 814-238-4651   Fax: 814-238-3454 


 


 
`


 


Public Works Director’s Report to the Board of Supervisors (BOS) 


for the regular meeting on February 16, 2021 


 


1. Public Works Road Crew Activities –. Winter operations in progress. Vehicle and equipment 
maintenance is ongoing. When not snow fighting, the road crew is performing body work and 
maintenance on vehicles, painting building interior walls, and completing various work orders. 
An annual work plan is attached for reference. 


2. Arborist and Tree Commission Activities- The FTTC meets next on February 22nd and will 
continue work on goals set for 2021. Arborist activities continue including: attending the 
Planning Commission meeting discussion on the Tree Preservation Ordinance, work on the 
spring tree planting in Haymarket Park basin and spring bare root tree order, sending notice(s) 
regarding tree trimming and/or performing tree trimming over bikepath(s), and tree inspections. 


3. New Public Works Facility: Work by all prime contractors continues on the new public works 
facility. The project substantial completion date was February 8th. Contractors did not meet that 
date and are working to achieve substantial completion. Certain tasks such as landscaping, 
installation of an oil water separator for building 3, removal of our existing (abandoned) 
underground fuel tanks, as well as a punch list of items will remain to be completed. Public 
works employees will likely start occupying the building sometime in March. Project costs 
remain within the approved budget. Change orders are being managed in cooperation with our 
Construction Manager and Architect. The Construction Manager is on site full time until 
substantial completion of the project. 


4. Stormwater Fee Study Phase 2 – Staff continues to provide the BOS requested information 
in preparation of the continued public hearing on February 16th. 


5. Contract 2016-C11 Traffic Signal Performance Metrics – Design work on this project 
continues. 


6. Contract 2018-C20 Park Hills Drainageway –Design work continues. A progress meeting 
was held on January 26th. Staff is preparing a mailing to update property owners abutting the 
project limits. An informational open house is being planned for March. Completion of design, 
permitting, easement acquisition, utility relocation this year are needed to progress the project 
toward construction in 2022. 


7. Contract 2019-C21 Pine Grove Mills Street Light Conversion: Phase 1 of the design is 
complete including base mapping, utility location, identification of meter and power locations, 
locations of existing and proposed conduit. A preliminary cost estimate was completed by 
Barton. Barton Associates is providing a professional services proposal to assist with phase 2 
of the design. A 3000 Kelvin temperature LED retrofit “corn cob” style bulb was installed in a 







 


 


 


fixture nearest the Naked Egg Café. This is the lowest Kelvin temperature bulb available for 
the existing luminaire. Staff will need direction on either keeping the current 100 watt high 
pressure sodium bulbs, converting to 3000K retrofit LED bulbs, or purchasing entirely new 
2700K LED fixtures at an additional cost of approximately $43,000. 


8. Contract 2020-C3 Pipe Lining: The contractor is installing ultraviolet light cured in place pipe 
liners (UV-CIPP) in corrugated metal pipes in the Chestnut Ridge neighborhood, Saratoga 
Drive, Blue Course Drive, West Whitehall Road and Deibler Road. This year, College 
Township piggybacked on the contract. 


9. Contract 2020-C18 Science Park and Sandy Drive Signal Design – Design of the traffic 
signal will be completed in-house for bidding and construction in 2021.  Signal design is 
progressing with the next step being utility coordination and subsurface utility engineering.  


10. Contract 2020-C20 Pine Grove Mills Mobility Study – A contract for this study has been 
awarded to McCormick Taylor, but a notice to proceed has not been issued due to the 
coronavirus pandemic which has affected traffic volumes.  Staff and consultant are monitoring 
traffic volumes and activities to determine an appropriate time to begin the project.  This 
project is currently on hold. 


11. Contract 2020-C21 Pine Grove Road & Water Street/Nixon Road Signal Warrant Study – 
A contract for this study has been awarded to McCormick Taylor, but a notice to proceed has 
not been issued due to coronavirus pandemic which has affected traffic volumes.  This project 
is on hold. 


12. Contract 2021-C1 Harold Drive and Gatesburg Road – This project is in design for a 
combination of in-house work and contract work to improve roadside drainage and paving. 


13. Contract 2021-C2 Devonshire Drive Inlet Box – Work includes replacing a very deep 
oversized inlet on Devonshire Drive at the low point near the Ferguson/Patton Township line. 


14. Contract 2021-C3 Cured in Place Pipe Lining – This project includes lining old corrugated 
metal storm pipes predominately in the Brackenridge neighborhood based on a completed 
video assessment of the pipes. 


15. Contract 2021-C5 Storm Sewer Cleaning and Video Assessment – This project includes 
cleaning existing storm pipes and televising the system to document the condition of pipes. 


16. Contract 2021-C6 Concrete curb and ADA ramp upgrades – This is an annual assessment 
and upgrade of curb ramps associated with road paving and microsurfacing projects. 


17. Contract 2021-C7 a Fuel – Annually the Township bids gasoline and diesel fuel. 


18. Contract 2021-C7b Street signs and supplies – Annually the Township receives quotes for 
street signs and supplies. 


19. Contract 2021-C7c Asphalt and Aggregate – Annually the Township bids asphalt and 
aggregate. The bid is usually advertised in March. 


20. Contract 2021-C 8 Pavement Markings – Each year the Township bids pavement markings 
and long lines. A dozen municipalities piggyback on this popular contract. 







 


 


 


21. Contract 2021-C9 Microsurfacing – This work is bid each year and typically performed in late 
July when school is out of session and temperatures are favorable for this type of work. Work 
includes the placement of two layers of a slurry of fine aggregate, minerals, asphalt emulsion 
and water on the pavement surface as a preventative maintenance measure to cost effectively 
extend the life of the pavement. 


22. Contract 2021-C10 Sealcoat bikepaths – Certain bikepaths and multi-use paths are 
sealcoated to extend the life of the asphalt path. In advance of work, FTPW will edge and 
sweep the paths, seal any cracks, and repair the asphalt as needed. Work is performed in the 
summer months. 


23. Contract 2021-C11 Sidewalk Repairs – FTPW Engineering Section will inspect a portion of 
the public sidewalks each year. Property owners are sent notices to fix deficient sidewalk 
sections and given an opportunity to fix it themselves or have the Township perform the work 
by contract and bill the property owner. 


24. Contract 2021-C12 Traffic Signal Cabinet Installation – Work includes upgrading the 
cabinet at the intersection of Science Park Road and West College Avenue  


25. Contract 2021-C13 Traffic Signal LED Replacements – Signal LEDs are replaced 
approximately every 7 years. 


26. Contract 2021-C14 Traffic Signal UPS Batteries – Batteries are needed in the event of 
power outages and are replaced at the end of their useful life. 


27. Contract 2021-C15 Street Tree Pruning – Each year a certain number of street trees are 
pruned to include shaping, clearance, deadwood removal, and hazard mitigation. 


28. Contract 2021-C16 Chesapeake Bay Pollutant Reduction Plan (CBPRP) Design and 
Permitting – In compliance with our MS4 permit and CBPRP, certain projects will be 
advanced through the design and permitting phase. 


29. Contract 2021-C17 Guide Rail Replacement – Quotes are obtained to replace certain 
sections of guiderail as needed. 


30. Contract 2021-C18 Homestead Park Play Equipment Installation – Once equipment is 
selected, FTPW Engineering Section with assistance as needed from the Road Crew will 
procure, prepare the playground pit, and oversee installation of playground equipment. 


31. Contract 2021-C19 Louise E. Silvi Baseball Field Fence Installation – Work includes 
replacement of a section of ball field fence. 


32. Contract 2021-C20 Songbird Sanctuary Plan Implementation – A yet to be formalized 
scope of work including a perimeter walking path and tree planting will be moved forward by 
FTPW. 


33. Contract 2021-C21 Signal Luminaire Conversion to LED – This project includes converting 
select overhead lighting at traffic signal intersections from high pressure sodium to LED. 







 


 


 


34. Contract 2021-C22 Playground Safety and Update Program – Each year funding is 
provided to update playground equipment found to be deficient based on playground 
inspections. No project has yet been assigned to FTPW for this year. 


35. Contract 2021-C23 Traffic Signal Pole Replacement – Work includes replacement of a 
traffic signal pole at the intersection of West College Avenue and Science Park Road. The pole 
was damaged in a vehicle accident. Reference separate award recommendation memo. 


 








64,045.16


Construction Manager:
Brad E. Wade, PE
on behalf of David Modricker


Contract: 2018-PWGG
Fund: 30.409.750


01/20/2021


PAY FROM LAST YEAR'S BUDGET 2020
djm


By dmodricker at 1:29:44 PM, 2/3/2021
























































- A Home Rule Municipality -


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
3147 Research Drive  •  State College, Pennsylvania 16801 
Telephone: 814-238-4651  •   Fax: 814-238-3454 
www.twp.ferguson.pa.us 


PLANNING & ZONING DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
Tuesday, February 16, 2021 


PLANNING COMMISSION 
The Planning Commission met February 8th to review the W. College Student Housing Land Development 
Plan and the Tree Preservation Ordinance. 


LAND DEVELOPMENT PLANS AND OTHER PROJECTS 


1. Active Plans are listed below for the Board of Supervisors (02/10/2021).
o Orchard View Subdivision (24-004-,067)
o Whitehall Road Sheetz Land Development Plan (24-004-067)
o State College Borough Water Authority (24-006-055E)
o West College Student Housing Lot Consolidation and Land Development Plan


(24-002A-015; 24-002A-016; 24-002A-017; 24-002A-018; and 36-010-006)
o Wasson/Ash Ave. Subdivision Plan


(24-002A-132; 24-002A-134; 24-002A-135)
2. Community Planner is working to complete a private streets map, active/ongoing land


development plans map, as well as updating the Township’s Agricultural Easement Map.
3. Zoning Administrator and PZ Director met with applicants for Centre Animal Hospital to review a


potential addition for the property.
4. PZ Staff attended an APA-PA Webinar on Planning and the Dynamics of the Demographic


Grandparents Raising Grandchildren Growth.
5. PZ Director attended the Core Team Kick-Off Meeting for Community Resilience Building


Workshop, the VOYA Transition Meeting and Centre County Housing and Land Trust Meeting.
6. Community Planner and PZ Director attended Centre Region Municipal Planners Meeting.
7. PZ Director and Township Manager met with the Township Solicitor to discuss ongoing litigation.


ZONING HEARING BOARD 


1. State College Borough Water Authority—3795 W College Avenue (24-004-096-0000), zoned Rural
Agricultural (RA), is requesting a variance from §27-701.3.C.—Floodplain Conservation, Use
Limitations; §27-701.3.H.—Floodplain Conservation, Floodways; and §27-701.3.I.—Floodplain
Conservation, Use Buffer to replace an existing bridge on SR 0026 (W. College Ave.) near the
intersection of SR 0026 and SR 0045 (Shingletown Road). This bridge replacement is being
performed in concurrence with a widening project to allow for enhanced traffic circulation at the
intersection of these two roadways. The proposed bridge replacement and roadway widening







 


- A Home Rule Municipality - 


 


improvements will require SCBWA to relocate an existing 12’’ watermain through existing 
wetlands and the main channel of Slab Cabin Run. 








Brad E. Wade, PE
on behalf of David Modricker


2/09/2021


Contract: 2018-PWGG
Fund: 30.409.750


439,553.60



Wade, Bradford

Text Box

Construction Manager:



Wade, Bradford

Rectangle



dmodricker

Highlight



dmodricker

Highlight



dmodricker

Highlight



dmodricker

Highlight







PAGE    2  OF   6   PAGESCONTINUATION SHEET
Ten


01/31/21
01/31/21
FT-0412


A B C D E F H I
TOTAL


MATERIALS COMPLETED BALANCE RETAINAGE
ITEM DESCRIPTION SCHEDULED FROM PREVIOUS THIS PRESENTLY AND STORED % TO (IF VARIABLE


NO. VALUE APPLICATION PERIOD STORED TO DATE COMP. FINISH RATE)
( D + E + F ) (NOT IN D OR E) ( D + E + F )


General Conditions


1 Mobilization 1 LS 8,000.00 8,000.00 0.00 0.00 8,000.00 100% 0.00 400.00


2 Performance & Payment Bond 1 LS 27,220.00 27,220.00 0.00 0.00 27,220.00 100% 0.00 1,361.00


3 Builders Risk Insurance 1 LS 3,100.00 3,100.00 0.00 0.00 3,100.00 100% 0.00 155.00


4 Supervision/Project Management 6 MO 98,500.00 82,740.00 10,835.00 0.00 93,575.00 95% 4,925.00 4,678.75


5 General Conditions 6 MO 74,000.00 62,160.00 8,140.00 0.00 70,300.00 95% 3,700.00 3,515.00


6 Final Cleaning 1 LS 4,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0% 4,500.00 0.00


7 Dumpsters 1 LS 16,000.00 13,440.00 1,760.00 0.00 15,200.00 95% 800.00 760.00


8 Layout 6 MO 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 10,000.00 100% 0.00 500.00


9 Construction Fencing 1 Ls 6,500.00 6,370.00 0.00 0.00 6,370.00 98% 130.00 318.50


Site Construction


10 Site Demolition 1 LS 19,500.00 19,500.00 0.00 0.00 19,500.00 100% 0.00 975.00


11 Earthwork 1 LS 251,600.00 246,568.00 0.00 0.00 246,568.00 98% 5,032.00 12,328.40


12 Erosion & Sediment Control 1 LS 22,200.00 21,090.00 0.00 0.00 21,090.00 95% 1,110.00 1,054.50


13 Site Storm Water 1 LS 118,000.00 115,640.00 0.00 0.00 115,640.00 98% 2,360.00 5,782.00


CONTINUATION SHEET


APPLICATION AND CERTIFICATE FOR PAYMENT,
containing Contractor's signed Certification, is attached.


APPLICATION DATE:


PERIOD TO:


G


Contract 2018-PWGG


ARCHITECT'S PROJECT NO.:


WORK COMPLETED


APPLICATION NO.:







PAGE    3  OF   6   PAGESCONTINUATION SHEET
Ten


01/31/21
01/31/21
FT-0412


A B C D E F H I
TOTAL


MATERIALS COMPLETED BALANCE RETAINAGE
ITEM DESCRIPTION SCHEDULED FROM PREVIOUS THIS PRESENTLY AND STORED % TO (IF VARIABLE


NO. VALUE APPLICATION PERIOD STORED TO DATE COMP. FINISH RATE)
( D + E + F ) (NOT IN D OR E) ( D + E + F )


APPLICATION AND CERTIFICATE FOR PAYMENT,
containing Contractor's signed Certification, is attached.


APPLICATION DATE:


PERIOD TO:


G


Contract 2018-PWGG


ARCHITECT'S PROJECT NO.:


WORK COMPLETED


APPLICATION NO.:


14 Asphalt Paving 1 LS 100,700.00 100,700.00 0.00 0.00 100,700.00 100% 0.00 5,035.00


15 Concrete Walks 1 LS 34,500.00 32,775.00 0.00 0.00 32,775.00 95% 1,725.00 1,638.75


16 Concrete Pavement 1 LS 29,800.00 29,800.00 0.00 0.00 29,800.00 100% 0.00 1,490.00


17 Concrete Slabs (Exterior) 1 LS 37,940.00 37,940.00 0.00 0.00 37,940.00 100% 0.00 1,897.00


18 Bollards 1 LS 16,200.00 15,390.00 810.00 0.00 16,200.00 100% 0.00 810.00


19 Concrete Curbing 1 LS 6,200.00 5,890.00 0.00 0.00 5,890.00 95% 310.00 294.50


20 Site Signage 1 LS 1,300.00 1,300.00 0.00 0.00 1,300.00 100% 0.00 65.00


21 Bike Racks 1 LS 2,500.00 0.00 1,250.00 0.00 1,250.00 50% 1,250.00 62.50


22 Segmental Retaining Wall 1 LS 35,600.00 35,600.00 0.00 0.00 35,600.00 100% 0.00 1,780.00


23 Landscaping 1 LS 35,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0% 35,000.00 0.00


Building Construction


24 Rebar 1 LS 51,500.00 51,500.00 0.00 0.00 51,500.00 100% 0.00 2,575.00


25 Foundation Excavation 1 LS 43,500.00 43,500.00 0.00 0.00 43,500.00 100% 0.00 2,175.00


26 Strip Footers 1 LS 28,900.00 28,900.00 0.00 0.00 28,900.00 100% 0.00 1,445.00


27 Spread Footers 1 LS 39,500.00 39,500.00 0.00 0.00 39,500.00 100% 0.00 1,975.00


CONTINUATION SHEET







PAGE    4  OF   6   PAGESCONTINUATION SHEET
Ten


01/31/21
01/31/21
FT-0412


A B C D E F H I
TOTAL


MATERIALS COMPLETED BALANCE RETAINAGE
ITEM DESCRIPTION SCHEDULED FROM PREVIOUS THIS PRESENTLY AND STORED % TO (IF VARIABLE


NO. VALUE APPLICATION PERIOD STORED TO DATE COMP. FINISH RATE)
( D + E + F ) (NOT IN D OR E) ( D + E + F )


APPLICATION AND CERTIFICATE FOR PAYMENT,
containing Contractor's signed Certification, is attached.


APPLICATION DATE:


PERIOD TO:


G


Contract 2018-PWGG


ARCHITECT'S PROJECT NO.:


WORK COMPLETED


APPLICATION NO.:


28 Columns 1 LS 30,500.00 30,500.00 0.00 0.00 30,500.00 100% 0.00 1,525.00


29 Trench Drain Walls/Slabs 1 LS 8,400.00 8,400.00 0.00 0.00 8,400.00 100% 0.00 420.00


30 Lift Pit Walls/Slabs 1 LS 10,200.00 10,200.00 0.00 0.00 10,200.00 100% 0.00 510.00


31 Wash Equipment Walls/Slabs 1 LS 9,800.00 9,800.00 0.00 0.00 9,800.00 100% 0.00 490.00


32 Slab on Grade 4" 1 LS 41,500.00 41,500.00 0.00 0.00 41,500.00 100% 0.00 2,075.00


33 Slab on Grade 8" (cr) 1 LS 112,000.00 112,000.00 0.00 0.00 112,000.00 100% 0.00 5,600.00


34 Concrete Stoops 1 LS 22,500.00 22,500.00 0.00 0.00 22,500.00 100% 0.00 1,125.00


35 Slab on Deck 1 LS 14,500.00 14,500.00 0.00 0.00 14,500.00 100% 0.00 725.00


36 Stair pans/Landing Concrete 1 LS 1,900.00 1,900.00 0.00 0.00 1,900.00 100% 0.00 95.00


37 Concrete Waterproofing 1 LS 10,200.00 10,200.00 0.00 0.00 10,200.00 100% 0.00 510.00


38 Unit Masonry 1 LS 440,000.00 431,200.00 8,800.00 0.00 440,000.00 100% 0.00 22,000.00


39 Structural & Miscellaneous Steel 1 LS 464,000.00 464,000.00 0.00 0.00 464,000.00 100% 0.00 23,200.00


40 Rough Carpentry 1 LS 15,200.00 14,440.00 760.00 0.00 15,200.00 100% 0.00 760.00


41 Finish Carpentry 1 LS 31,500.00 0.00 29,925.00 0.00 29,925.00 95% 1,575.00 1,496.25


42 Urethane Insulation 1 LS 2,300.00 2,300.00 0.00 0.00 2,300.00 100% 0.00 115.00


CONTINUATION SHEET







PAGE    5  OF   6   PAGESCONTINUATION SHEET
Ten


01/31/21
01/31/21
FT-0412


A B C D E F H I
TOTAL


MATERIALS COMPLETED BALANCE RETAINAGE
ITEM DESCRIPTION SCHEDULED FROM PREVIOUS THIS PRESENTLY AND STORED % TO (IF VARIABLE


NO. VALUE APPLICATION PERIOD STORED TO DATE COMP. FINISH RATE)
( D + E + F ) (NOT IN D OR E) ( D + E + F )


APPLICATION AND CERTIFICATE FOR PAYMENT,
containing Contractor's signed Certification, is attached.


APPLICATION DATE:


PERIOD TO:


G


Contract 2018-PWGG


ARCHITECT'S PROJECT NO.:


WORK COMPLETED


APPLICATION NO.:


43 Metal Wall Panels 1 LS 364,000.00 327,600.00 0.00 0.00 327,600.00 90% 36,400.00 16,380.00


44 TPO Roofing 1 LS 206,000.00 181,280.00 24,720.00 0.00 206,000.00 100% 0.00 10,300.00


45 Intumescent Fireproofing 1 LS 16,300.00 16,300.00 0.00 0.00 16,300.00 100% 0.00 815.00


46 Fire Stopping/Caulking 1 LS 10,000.00 8,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 10,000.00 100% 0.00 500.00


47 Doors/Frames/Hardware 1 LS 56,800.00 39,760.00 11,360.00 0.00 51,120.00 90% 5,680.00 2,556.00


48 Overhead Coiling Doors 1 LS 79,100.00 67,235.00 7,910.00 0.00 75,145.00 95% 3,955.00 3,757.25


49 Entrances/Storefront 1 LS 142,500.00 85,500.00 42,750.00 0.00 128,250.00 90% 14,250.00 6,412.50


50 GWB/Metal Stud Framing 1 LS 191,500.00 143,625.00 44,045.00 0.00 187,670.00 98% 3,830.00 9,383.50


51 Resilient Flooring 1 LS 48,400.00 23,120.00 5,920.00 0.00 29,040.00 60% 19,360.00 1,452.00


52 Resinous Flooring 1 LS 16,500.00 825.00 15,675.00 0.00 16,500.00 100% 0.00 825.00


53 Painting 1 LS 60,900.00 30,450.00 25,578.00 0.00 56,028.00 92% 4,872.00 2,801.40


54 Interior Signage 1 LS 5,600.00 280.00 2,520.00 0.00 2,800.00 50% 2,800.00 140.00


55 Toilet Compartments/Accessories 1 LS 14,000.00 0.00 14,000.00 0.00 14,000.00 100% 0.00 700.00


56 Wall Protection 1 LS 740.00 0.00 740.00 0.00 740.00 100% 0.00 37.00


57 F.E. Cabinets 1 LS 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 100% 0.00 100.00


CONTINUATION SHEET







PAGE    6  OF   6   PAGESCONTINUATION SHEET
Ten


01/31/21
01/31/21
FT-0412


A B C D E F H I
TOTAL


MATERIALS COMPLETED BALANCE RETAINAGE
ITEM DESCRIPTION SCHEDULED FROM PREVIOUS THIS PRESENTLY AND STORED % TO (IF VARIABLE


NO. VALUE APPLICATION PERIOD STORED TO DATE COMP. FINISH RATE)
( D + E + F ) (NOT IN D OR E) ( D + E + F )


APPLICATION AND CERTIFICATE FOR PAYMENT,
containing Contractor's signed Certification, is attached.


APPLICATION DATE:


PERIOD TO:


G


Contract 2018-PWGG


ARCHITECT'S PROJECT NO.:


WORK COMPLETED


APPLICATION NO.:


58 Lockers 1 LS 20,500.00 1,025.00 19,475.00 0.00 20,500.00 100% 0.00 1,025.00


59 Fuel Dispensing System 1 LS 425,400.00 382,860.00 0.00 0.00 382,860.00 90% 42,540.00 19,143.00


60 Truck Wash System 1 LS 171,000.00 119,700.00 0.00 0.00 119,700.00 70% 51,300.00 5,985.00


61 Projection Screen/Projector Kit 1 LS 8,400.00 0.00 5,040.00 0.00 5,040.00 60% 3,360.00 252.00


62 Window Shades 1 LS 8,100.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0% 8,100.00 0.00


63 Vehicle Lifts 1 LS 164,500.00 24,675.00 139,825.00 0.00 164,500.00 100% 0.00 8,225.00


64 Vehicle Lube Equipment 1 LS 67,000.00 23,450.00 36,850.00 0.00 60,300.00 90% 6,700.00 3,015.00


CO-01 6,350.49 6,350.49 0.00 0.00 6,350.49 100% 0.00 317.52


CO-02 8,995.35 5,936.93 0.00 0.00 5,936.93 66% 3,058.42 296.85


CO-04 PCO-004R Add Girts per RFI 020 30,253.82 30,253.82 0.00 0.00 30,253.82 100% 0.00 1,512.69
5,573.54 5,573.54 0.00 0.00 5,573.54 100% 0.00 278.68


T O T A L S : 4,467,173.20 3,735,862.78 462,688.00 0.00 4,198,550.78 94% 268,622.42 209,927.54
CONTINUATION SHEET


PCO-005 Added Sag Rods per SK-S5


PCO-002 COVID 19 Associated Shutdown Cost


PCO-001R Concrete Slab over Buried Fuel Tank







   


PII-1165629v1  


PARTIAL LIEN WAIVER AND RELEASE UPON PROGRESS PAYMENT 
(CONTRACTOR) 


THIS PARTIAL LIEN WAIVER AND RELEASE UPON PROGRESS PAYMENT is 
executed this 5th  day of  February, 2021  by Leonard S. Fiore, Inc. ("Contractor"). 


WHEREAS, on or about __January 15th __, 2020_, Contractor entered into an agreement 
with the Ferguson Township, State College, PA_ (“Owner”), pursuant to which Contractor 
agreed to provide certain construction services in connection with the New Public Works 
Building, Contract 2018-PWGG  (the “Project”). 


NOW THEREFORE, contingent only upon Contractor's receipt of the partial payment of 
$439,553.60 for sums attributable to any claims for payments on the Project through 01/31/21, 
Contractor does hereby release and forever discharge Owner and its respective officers, directors, 
shareholders, partners, successors, assigns, agents, insurers, sureties and legal representatives of 
and from any and all manner of actions, causes of action, suits, demands, damages, debts, 
contracts, contributions, claims, mechanic’s liens, public improvement liens, rights in materials 
or goods furnished, stop notices, claims against a bond, judgments and executions whatsoever, in 
law or equity or otherwise, which Contractor ever had, now has or may hereafter have, whether 
known or unknown, against Owner related to, created by or arising out of any claim for 
payments (excluding retainage) relating to the Project as of 01/31/21.  This release and partial 
waiver of liens is contingent only upon Contractor's receipt of payment as set forth herein, and 
Contractor agrees that this partial lien waiver and release shall become unconditional upon 
Contractor's receipt of said payment. 


This release covers only progress payments (excluding retainage) for all goods, materials, 
equipment, labor and/or services furnished directly or indirectly to or on behalf of Owner on the 
Project as of 01/31/21 such that all claims for goods, materials, equipment, labor and/or services 
furnished to or on behalf of Owner as of 01/31/21 are hereby released to the full extent of 
payment received for such work.  This release does not cover retention or items furnished after 
01/31/21. 


In executing this release, Contractor represents that all labor charges, wages, taxes and 
applicable fringe benefits have been paid in full on behalf of Contractor’s employees and 
laborers who performed work on the Project as of 01/31/21 and that all subcontractors and 
suppliers who provided labor, goods, materials and/or services to Contractor in connection with 
the Project have also been or will be paid in full as of 01/31/21.  Contractor further agrees that it 
shall, at its sole cost and expense, forever defend and hold harmless Owner and its respective 
insurers and sureties, if any, from any and all claims, demands, damages, judgments and liens 
asserted or brought by any employee, supplier or subcontractor of Contractor in connection with 
the Project. 


In the event that any of the work performed by Contractor on the Project (including the 
materials used or incorporated therein and the workmanship thereof) is the subject of any 
guaranty or warranty by Contractor, neither the giving of this release and waiver of liens by 
Contractor nor its acceptance by Owner shall operate in any way to reduce or modify such 







 - 2 -  
PII-1165629v1  


guaranty or warranty or to release the undersigned therefrom.  Contractor further agrees that if it 
hereafter performs any labor or furnishes any materials, tools, equipment, supplies, or services 
pursuant to such guaranty or warranty, it will fully pay for the same, will pay any and all taxes 
and charges in connection therewith and will release, discharge, defend and hold harmless 
Owner from any and all claims, demands, liens and claims of lien arising in connection therewith 
all in a like manner and to the same extent as is herein provided with respect to labor, materials, 
etc., heretofore furnished. 


In executing this partial lien waiver and release, Contractor states under penalty of 
perjury that the sum to be paid herewith is the entire and complete sum owed or due to 
Contractor for goods, materials, equipment, labor and/or services on the Project as of 01/31/21 
and for which payment has not previously been made by Owner or any other person or entity. 


 


Signature:  


 


 


 


Witness:  Jill Hart   





		FT412#10 Pencil Copy.pdf

		Binder2.pdf

		FT0412#09 LSF Lien Waiver.pdf





































































































 
 


FERGUSON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Stormwater Management Utility Fee 


Work Session Meeting 
Tuesday, January 12, 2021 


6:00 PM 


 
ATTENDANCE 


The Board of Supervisors held a Stormwater Management Utility Fee Work Session on Tuesday, 
January 12, 2021, via Zoom in a webinar format.  In attendance were: 
 
Board: Laura Dininni, Chair 


Lisa Strickland, Vice Chair 
Steve Miller 
Prasenjit Mitra 
Patty Stephens 
 


Staff: Dave Pribulka, Township Manager 
Dave Modricker, Director of Public Works 
Jenna Wargo, Director, Planning and Zoning 
Centrice Martin, Assistant to the Township Manager 
Ron Seybert, Township Engineer 
Eric Endresen, Finance Director 
 
 


 
Others in attendance included:  Rhonda Demchak, Recording Secretary; Elizabeth Treadway, Wood; 
Mr. Darin Barker, Ferguson Township Resident; Mr. Ford Stryker, Ferguson Township Resident; Mr. 
Mark Kunkle, Ferguson Township Resident; Ms. Jeanne Fudrow, Ferguson Township Resident; Mr. 
Todd Giddings, Ferguson Township Resident; Mr. Ralph Wheland, Ferguson Township Resident; Mr. 
Larry Harpster, Ferguson Township Resident; Mr. Bill Keough, Ferguson Township Resident;  


 
I. CALL TO ORDER 


Ms. Dininni called the Tuesday, January 12, 2021, Stormwater Management Utility Fee Work Session  
to order at 6:00 p.m.  
 
Mr. Pribulka noted that the Stormwater Management Utility Fee Work Session meeting had been 
advertised in accordance to the PA Sunshine Act as a virtual meeting via Zoom in a webinar format. 
There was also an audio conference bridge that was accessible by dialing the Ferguson Township’s 
main line at 814-238-4651 and then dialing extension 3799.  Zoom access can be found on the 
Township’s website.  Mr. Pribulka noted that attendees will not be permitted to speak unless addressed 
by the Chair.  People utilizing the conference bridge are also not permitted to speak unless addressed 
by the Chair.  Mr. Pribulka will share more information prior to the Public Comment portion of the 
meeting.  C-NET is recording as well .  Mr. Pribulka took Roll Call and there was a quorum. 
 


II. OVERVIEW OF WORKSESSION FORMAT 
 
Mr. Pribulka noted that it is important to know that this meeting is a Work Session with several items 
that the Board must consider prior to the Public Hearing.  There will be Public Comment at the end of 
the Work Session and will be limited to 1 hour.  Prior to the Public Comment, Mr. Pribulka will activate 
a Google Doc Sign-in Sheet for attendees to participate.  Attendees via the phone, will also  have an 
opportunity to speak.  The Public Hearing is scheduled for February 1, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. and then 
consideration for enacting the ordinance will be on Tuesday, February 16, 2021.  The meeting will take 
place on a Tuesday because the Township Building is closed to observe President’s Day.  Mr. Pribulka 
introduced the Ferguson Township Team and Elizabeth Treadway, Consultant for Wood.  Mr. Pribulka 
thanked the Ferguson Township staff, Wood, Gannett Fleming, Stormwater Fee Advisory Committee, 
and the members of the public.  More information on the fee can be found at the Township’s website. 
 
 
 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Stormwater Management Utility Fee Work Session 
Tuesday, January 12, 2021 
Page 2 


III. REVIEW OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY FEE PROGRAM ELEMENTS  


1. Billing Unit Methodology and Fee Structure 
 
Mr. Pribulka noted that provided with the agenda was information prepared by the consultant 
including a summary of different unit methodologies and that tonight’s goal is to agree on one.  Mr. 
Modricker noted that the Board has discussed each of the different methodologies during past 
meetings.  
 
Ms. Stephens requested Ms. Dininni to review the Tiered ERU Billing method that Ms. Dininni 
researched and presented at the last Board meeting.   Ms. Dininni gave a review.   
 
Mr. Miller proposed that the Equivalent Residential Billing Unit (ERU) be the method, because he 
is not convinced the square foot model would be the best fit especially with farmlands.    
 
Mr. Pribulka shared his screen to review the Impervious Area and Billing Units by Parcel 
spreadsheet that can be found on the Township’s website.    
 
Mr. Mitra noted that he prefers the Impervious Area method.   
 
Ms. Strickland requested how will the ERU be accessed on farm properties.  Ms. Treadway noted 
that residents on an agricultural property that have no agricultural activities, will be treated as a 
residence.  Ms. Treadway stated that there are a lot of agricultural properties in the area that have 
no farming activity.   
 
Mr. Modricker shared his screen and reviewed examples of Agricultural Classified Parcels, a 
Histogram – Distribution of Residential Impervious Area, a Histogram of Residential Parcels without 
Agriculture Land Use Code, and a Histogram of Agriculture – Class Residential Parcels.  Mr. 
Modricker noted that the Tiered Program would only apply to residential.   
 
Ms. Treadway shared her screen and reviewed Rates without Agriculture Cap and explained the 
three billing unites, ERU Billing Commercial Ag; 1000 sq. ft. Billing Unit; and the 500 sq. ft. Billing 
Unit.   
 
Ms. Stephens noted that she supports the ERU model due to the diversity of residences in the 
Township.   
 
Continued discussion occurred regarding the different models. 
 
Ms. Dininni noted that she supports the ERU method as well. 
 
Mr. Mitra shared his screen and reviewed an Urban Storm Water Preliminary Data Summary and 
the Effects of Imperviousness on Runoff and Infiltration slide.  Ms. Treadway noted that the 
summary Mr. Mitra shared has been reviewed in various communities and is typically not adopted.   
 
Ms. Strickland thanked Mr. Mitra for sharing his idea and noted that it was what she wanted to see 
in the Tiered Program and would be willing to explore Mr. Mitra’s model.  Ms. Dininni thanked Mr. 
Mitra and asked if it could be utilized in the credits.  Ms. Treadway stated that it can be considered.   
 
The Board came to a consensus to use the ERU Billing Methodology.      
 


2. Program Plan and Level of Service 
  







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Stormwater Management Utility Fee Work Session 
Tuesday, January 12, 2021 
Page 3 


 Mr. Pribulka introduced the plan and service that has been discussed in previous meetings but 
 wanted to give the Board another opportunity to review.   


Ms. Strickland asked about the Master Plan and how maintenance, inspections, plans, protocols, 
etc., are related to the Master Plan.  Mr. Modricker noted that the Master Plan is 5 years out and 
there are items that staff, the advisory committee, and the consultant would like to incorporate in 
the future that are not in the Master Plan.  Ms. Treadway noted that the Master Plan builds off of 
the first few years of the assessment of the physical system and will start to show where there are 
weaknesses in the system.   


Discussions continued regarding Program Elements such as Partnerships Programs, West End 
cross-pipe, etc. 


Ms. Strickland inquired about the assessments that will be done over the 7-year period, and once 
the assessment is completed, how long will it be good for.  Mr. Modricker stated that the goals is to 
do 6-7 miles a year of the 44 miles of the system, but in general it’s an ongoing process.  Ms. 
Strickland proposed spacing out some of the projects over the years if the lining can last longer.  
Mr. Pribulka noted that the cost to reline versus replacing a pipe is comparable but with the 
assessment it will be easier to make decisions.  Ms. Strickland suggested subtracting from the 
Program Plan instead of moving funds from the General Fund to supplement.   


Ms. Dininni noted that if there are no critical projects with not enough funding, the Board could 
decide to delay.  Ms. Strickland suggested changing language in the Program Element to prioritize 
by assessment.     


Mr. Mitra inquired if all of the pipes will be examined during the 7-year program and what will happen 
after 7 years.  Mr. Modricker stated that the estimate to inspect the pipes in the 7-year window is 
reasonable, and if the funding isn’t available, the pipes will be prioritized.  Mr. Modricker noted that 
the estimated life of the pipe lining is approximately  50+ years.  Mr. Seybert noted they might even 
last longer than 50 years. 


Mr. Seybert noted that from a technical perspective the storm pipe assessment, inventory, and 
rating will be done similar to how the streets are assessed.  


Mr. Mitra expressed concerns with funding.  Mr. Pribulka noted that there would be different ways 
to spread out the cost obligation.   


Mr. Pribulka noted that all the feedback that has been given throughout the process is very helpful 
and will need final endorsement of the components in the program.        


3. Credit Policy Manual 
 
Mr. Pribulka noted that in the packet is an excerpt of the Credit Policy Manual, and a more detailed 
manual is on the Township’s website.   
 
Mr. Modricker reviewed the Summary of Available Credits by Property Type.  Under the Credit 
column in black font are items that were included in the 2-page document that was provided to the 
Advisory Council and also in the Credit Policy Manual.  Items in purple font were items that Mr. 
Modricker added based on input from resident’s, constitutes, staff and board.  Mr. Modricker 
reviewed the Eligible Property Types, Residential; Non-Residential, All; Non-Residential, 
Education; Non-Residential, Agriculture; and Non-Residential, MS4.    
 
Mr. Pribulka asked the Board whether they wanted to provide or allow for credits to be invoked on 
top of an exemption.   







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Stormwater Management Utility Fee Work Session 
Tuesday, January 12, 2021 
Page 4 


 
Mr. Mitra noted that if there is a fixed cost then he would not be in favor of exemptions going below 
the fixed cost but would be in favor of stacking exemptions.  Mr. Mitra stated that in the case of 
putting a maximum cap for the agricultural land where it is twice the median, he suggested 
calculating into two methods, either twice the median or using a credit, then the minimum of the 
two would be paid.  However, not in sequence so that it is not capped at twice the median first, 
then reduces it further with the credit.         
 
Ms. Stephens and Mr. Miller concurred with Mr. Mitra’s statement. 
 
Mr. Pribulka stated that it will probably be unlikely that a property under the proposal will qualify for 
an exemption and see their bill lower if they applied credits in-lieu of an exemption.  
 
Ms. Dininni asked about the Non-Residential, Education and Credit.  Mr. Modricker reviewed the 
Education (NR EDUC) portion that was included in the packet.   
 
Ms. Dininni suggested applying the Riparian Buffer/Floodplain Protection to Residential.  Mr. 
Modricker noted that they could possibly extend to Residential.  Mr. Mitra is supportive of the idea.   
 
Mr. Modricker reviewed the items in purple under the Credits column to include Turf, Adopt an Inlet, 
Rain Barrel and Downspout Disconnection, Separate MS4 Permit Holder, Urban Tree Canopy 
Expansion, and Innovation.   
 
Ms. Strickland asked why the separate MS4 Permit Holder is at 50%.  Mr. Pribulka noted that there 
are only a few MS4 permit holders that operates in the Township, Ferguson Township, Penn State, 
PA Department of Transportation, and State College Borough.  Mr. Pribulka stated that a MS4 
Permit Holder is not paying for any of the obligations that Ferguson Township has to pay, and it 
only applies to Penn State.  There is a baseline assessment that applies uniformly to all properties 
throughout the Township.  MS4 obligations represents approximately 12% of the overall fee.  Mr. 
Pribulka added that the percentage will be set by the Board.  
 
Ms. Dininni stated that the MS4 Permit Holder percentage seemed high and it is more than any 
exemption for any other property owner.     
 
Mr. Mitra asked if MS4 Permit Holder is saving the Township money, and are they mitigating some 
of the runoff.   
 
Mr. Miller stated that Penn State and the Borough (where their facility is located), are managing a 
significant amount of stormwater runoff and feels 50% is agreeable. 
 
Mr. Seybert noted that all of the land area that is covered by another MS4 Permit Holder is removed 
from the area the Township is responsible for.  Mr. Seybert added that the State College Borough 
Maintenance Facility that is in Ferguson Township, the property is taxed in the Borough and will 
not be receiving a Stormwater bill from the Township.   
 
Mr. Mitra asked about administrative overhead costs.  Mr. Pribulka stated that it would depend on 
how aggressive the Township wants to be in regards with the auditing of the credits, it could be 
minimal.  The Township proposed additional staffing by moving the part-time Stormwater Engineer 
to full-time, but it was cut from the 2021 budget.  If the Township would want to be aggressive, then 
the additional Stormwater Engineer would be needed.   
 
Mr. Miller noted that most of the individual properties that are involved are residential and a 10% 
discount is approximately $9 or $10.   







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Stormwater Management Utility Fee Work Session 
Tuesday, January 12, 2021 
Page 5 


 
Ms. Strickland suggested making the MS4 Permit Holder at 40%.  Ms. Dininni concurred.   
 
Ms. Strickland asked if the maximum credit were taken what would it do to the revenue.  Ms. 
Treadway noted that a parcel-by-parcel assignment was not modeled out.  Ms. Strickland stated 
that it is typically 9% to 10%.  Ms. Strickland suggested obtaining the numbers for the Public 
Hearing.  Mr. Pribulka noted that the 9% to 10% is on par with other communities that enacted a 
fee.  Mr. Pribulka stated that the majority of individual lots in the Township are residential.   
 
The Board agreed to include a credit for Disconnected Impervious (low impact develop) for 
residential.   
 


4. Exemptions 
 
a.  Agricultural Properties 
b.  Economic Hardship 
 
Mr. Pribulka noted that the Agricultural Properties has a limit on the maximum exposure for 
properties that are defined as agriculture use by the PA Clean and Green Act.    Mr. Pribulka 
reviewed Section 7.B that states: 
 
The Board of Supervisors may adopt by Resolution as part of the Stormwater Management Utility 
Fee policies and procedures a policy to reduce the stormwater management utility assessed to 
agricultural properties whose total area of impervious surface does not exceed thirty percent (30%) 
of the property's total land area to a fee that does not exceed twice the median assessment fee 
imposed on all other properties in the township. 
 
Ms. Dininni thanked the staff for their work on the ordinance. 
 
Mr. Miller noted that he has received communications from residents that live on social security 
and are worried that they will have to pay this fee.  Mr. Miller stated that the exemption policy is 
based on earned income and anyone living on social security would be 100% exempted.   
 
Mr. Mitra asked about Adjusted Gross Income (AGI) vs. Earned Income.  Mr. Pribulka noted it’s a 
topic to discuss because there was not a strong administrative reason why earned income was 
chosen.  Mr. Pribulka stated AGI could be used to reflect the actual economic conditions of the 
property owner.  Mr. Miller asked if it is legal to use AGI.  Mr. Endresen stated that authorization 
would be needed through the Borough.  Mr. Pribulka will investigate the options and review with 
the Board his findings.  
 


5. DRAFT Stormwater Management Utility Fee Ordinance 
 
Mr. Pribulka introduced the latest draft ordinance that was included in the agenda packet.  
 
Ms. Dininni stated that it was easy to understand and appreciated the straightforward language. 
 
Ms. Stephens concurred with Ms. Dininni’s statement.   
 
Under Section 9.B  – Appeal Process and Procedure, Ms. Strickland asked who the Hearing Officer 
would be.  Mr.  Pribulka noted that it will most likely be Mr. Seybert. 
 
Section 6.B – Stormwater Utility Fee Credit, Ms. Strickland asked for clarification.  Mr. Pribulka 
gave a hypothetical example of a property owner taking advantage of a credit for having a 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Stormwater Management Utility Fee Work Session 
Tuesday, January 12, 2021 
Page 6 


stormwater basin on their property that is not functioning as designed.   It would be up to the director 
that is proposed in the ordinance to decide.  Mr. Pribulka will adjust the language to be more in line 
with the content.  Ms. Strickland asked if there is an appeals process.  Mr. Pribulka will adjust the 
language in Section 9.E to be more in line with the content. 
 
Ms. Strickland asked if the fee amount will be reviewed annually under Section 3.A  –  Stormwater 
Utility Fee Established.  Mr. Pribulka stated that it will be reviewed annually.  Ms. Strickland asked 
if there are any parameters with any of the fees.  Ms. Treadway stated that there would not be a 
cap on the maximum stormwater fee to be assessed and it is driven by the program itself and what 
the community’s needs and objections would be.   
 
Ms. Strickland read about liability and a flooding clause in another township where the township 
wouldn’t be liable and asked if staff considered such a clause.  Ms. Treadway stated that she has 
never seen this in other communities, and the Township Solicitor would need to review.  Mr. 
Pribulka recommended not including such a clause.  The Board agreed to have the Township 
Solicitor look into the clause.  Ms. Strickland will send her findings of the clause to Mr. Pribulka.   
 
Ms. Strickland suggested adding a Sunset Clause.  Mr. Miller is not in favor, but if the Board is, 
would want a legal opinion.  Mr. Pribulka discouraged having a Sunset Clause due to additional 
challenges.  Mr. Mitra asked if the Board could set the fee at $0 any given year.  Mr. Pribulka stated 
that it is possible if the fund can sustain itself and it’s the Board’s decision to access each year.   
 
Mr. Pribulka asked the Board if the Township Solicitor should review the Sunset Clause.  Ms. 
Dininni polled each member if they want to add the clause to the ordinance.  Mr. Miller, no.  Ms. 
Strickland, yes.  Ms. Stephens stated she was leaning towards no.  Mr. Mitra stated that he is 
leaning towards no.  The Township Solicitor will not be needed. 
 
Mr. Mitra suggested revising the language in Section 7.A – Exemptions. 
 
Under Section 6.B – Stormwater Utility Fee Credits, Mr. Mitra suggested adding that the Board 
would be consulted.  Mr. Pribulka will work with Mr. Modricker, Mr. Seybert, and Ms. Treadway on 
the language.   
 
Mr. Seybert indicated that the agricultural cap is not in line with the ordinance and asked if it needs 
to be clarified better in the ordinance.  Mr. Pribulka agreed.  Ms. Dininni suggested changing the 
language under Section 7.B – Exemptions.  Mr. Miller suggested adding, capped at two billing units.  
Mr. Pribulka will revise the language.    
 


IV. BOARD DISCUSSION 
 


 1.  Board of Supervisors – General Discussion Items – There was no additional comments.  
 


V. CITIZENS INPUT 


Mr. Pribulka reviewed the process for attendees to participate during the Citizen’s Input. 


Mr. Steve Balkey, Ferguson Township Resident, read a statement from a group of residents by the 
name of Citizens Concerned for the Responsible Government Spending.  The statement covered 
issues with regards to the stormwater asset conditions not fully defined; policies guiding the stormwater 
management; stormwater funding mechanisms; the Stormwater Advisory Council was not asked to 
participate with the draft and didn’t see the draft before it went to the Board, nor was able to formally 
make a recommendation; major revenue generator; residents are struggling due to the pandemic; the 
group suggested forming a Financial Advisory Committee; requested to table the ordinance to further 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Stormwater Management Utility Fee Work Session 
Tuesday, January 12, 2021 
Page 7 


identify the problems and needs that would create a validation for the ordinance.  Mr. Balkey made 
personal comments and noted that he is concerned with the exemptions, hardships, and credits 
because they produce administrative cost annually.  Mr. Balkey has concerns with funds being shifted 
out of the TIF Fund over the last few years into the General Fund.   


Mr. Darin Barker, Ferguson Township Resident, noted that the proposed ordinance will have an impact 
on the township’s operating budget .  Mr. Barker noted that the streets alone could total over $400,000 
that the township maintains.  Combined with the $90,000 estimated in agriculture property exemptions, 
it would require approximately $500,000 in General Funds and then be transferred to the Stormwater 
Fund annually.  As currently drafted, the fee would limit the funds that are available to the township  for 
anything not stormwater related.  Mr. Barker asked the Board if they would accommodate the 
communities request  to hold an in-person meeting.   


Mr. Ford Stryker, Ferguson Township Resident, noted that he supports the Board’s decision with the 
ERU method.  Mr. Stryker has concerns with Section 4. – Stormwater Management Fund because 
typically the fee usually increases and suggested changing to a revolving fee.  Also, Mr. Stryker 
requested adding language to Section 4. that funds received in a year must be expended in two years, 
and if the funds are not spent, reduce the fee the next year.  Under the Program Elements – CIP for 
Partnerships, Mr. Stryker encouraged the Board to fund and promote.  Mr. Stryker noted that under 
Section 5.A – Stormwater Utility Fee Calculation, there is nothing included regarding how the rate/fee 
is calculated and encouraged the Board to examine closer.   


Mr. Mark Kunkle, Ferguson Township Resident, stated that on September 8, 2020 he spoke at the 
Board meeting requesting a delay of any further action with scheduling a public hearing to implement 
the ordinance.  Mr. Kunkle stated that it is poor timing to enact the ordinance with residents struggling 
financially and asked what the urgency is since it wouldn’t be implement until 2022.  Mr. Kunkle noted 
that most property owners are not informed about the ordinance and urged the Board to delay further 
action until meetings can be done in-person.  Mr. Kunkle appreciated the dialogue that the Board had 
tonight.  Mr. Kunkle asked why similar residential properties in the non-growth area have a different 
ERU rate vs those in the growth area.  Under Section 7.C.a – Exemptions, Mr. Kunkle asked if private 
streets will be exempt.  Under Section 7.D, Mr. Kunkle asked if tax revenues be utilized to pay for the 
proposed 40% credit being given to Penn State and PennDot.  Also, will any unpaid stormwater fee by 
the MS4 Permit Holders be subject to a municipal lien, and are Penn State and PennDot subject to a 
municipal lien law.  Mr. Kunkle suggested having the Township Solicitor review the questions he made.  
Mr. Kunkle asked how the existing BMP’s will be evaluated for the Credit Program.  


Ms. Jeanne Fudrow, Ferguson Township Resident, thanked the Board for their hard work on the 
ordinance.  Ms. Fudrow concurred with Mr. Balkey’s comments about validation.  Ms. Fudrow stated 
that she has struggled with the ERU method over the distinction between growth area and non-growth 
area and the different billing rates.  Ms. Fudrow noted that the draft doesn’t address the variability of 
the rates and suggested adding.   


Mr. Todd Giddings, Ferguson Township Resident, noted that the township’s consultant has been 
unaware of the importance of ground water recharge in Ferguson Township and the township has a 
Source Water Protection Ordinance.  Mr. Gidding’s stated that most of the drinking water comes from 
ground water and requested the Board to change the credit to 40%.           


Mr. Ralph Wheland, Ferguson Township Resident, noted that a few years ago Ferguson Township 
decided to pursue the ordinance and the Board designated funds to study with no alternative 
discussions.  Mr. Wheland stated the township has a simple mechanism in place with no agriculture 
caps, no credit, no hardships, no exemptions, etc., without a layer of complications that the draft 
ordinance includes.  Mr. Wheland stated there wouldn’t be so much discussion if it were to be a 
reasonable tax increase.  Mr. Wheland has heard it said by a Supervisor that if the ordinance doesn’t 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Stormwater Management Utility Fee Work Session 
Tuesday, January 12, 2021 
Page 8 


pass then the $250,000 was a waste of money.  Mr. Wheland stated that it would not be a rational 
justification to pass the ordinance just because funds would be lost. 


Ms. Dininni addressed Mr. Wheland’s comment regarding “waste of money”.  Ms. Dininni clarified that 
if it were her that misspoke, she never meant to say it would be a waste if it wasn’t passed.  


Mr. Larry Harpster, Ferguson Township Resident and lifelong farmer, went over a list of comments 
from meetings with the Ferguson Township Agricultural Community.  Mr. Harpster asked the Board to 
terminate the ordinance.  Mr. Harpster requested that the ordinance be delayed until the pandemic is 
over so that meetings can convene in person.  The Agricultural Community is opposed of the fee and 
prefers the expenditures be built into the regular budget using existing revenue.  Mr. Harpster stated it 
may mean tightening the budget, a hiring freeze, prioritizing the public works projects, etc.  Mr. Harpster 
is appreciative of the agricultural exemption, but since fees are reviewed each year, future Boards may 
not be so inclined to have an agricultural exemption.  Mr. Harpster noted that the farms will not be 
allowed the credit for the recharge and requested that the credit be added and tied to the farm acreage.  
The Ag Community doesn’t agree with assessing fees to non-profits, but if there is, there should be a 
special rate.    


Mr. Bill Keough, Ferguson Township Resident, strongly stated that the stormwater fee approach is the 
wrong solution and there are several other solutions that can be addressed with the infrastructure 
issues.  Mr. Keough expressed concerns with the cost of managing the fee system and stated it was 
not well vetted.  Mr. Keough expressed his dismay that Public Comment was approximately 4.5 hours 
into the meeting that started at 6:00 p.m. and noted that the zoom approach is not user friendly.  Mr. 
Keough stated that several farmers contacted him throughout the evening and the farmers that were 
scheduled to speak, couldn’t participate due to the hour. 


Ms. Dininni offered her apologies to the farmers that had to leave, and noted that during a work session 
format, there are typically no Public Comment.  Ms. Dininni stated that since this is an important issue, 
she wanted to ensure there was comment at the end of the work session.  Ms. Dininni asked Mr. 
Keough to convey to his group that when the public hearing is held, Public Comments are taken first.     


VI. WRAP-UP/NEXT STEPS 
 
Mr. Pribulka thanked everyone for their comments and will work on the modifications.  The Public 
Hearing will be scheduled on February 1, 2021, and consideration of enacting the ordinance will be 
held on Tuesday, February 16, 2021.  
 
Mr. Mitra commented that since there is an agricultural exemption, he would do away with the growth 
area and non-growth area.  Mr. Miller stated that in general it is consistent with the costs and by having 
two rates addresses the two areas.  Ms. Dininni concurs with Mr. Miller.   
 
Ms. Strickland addressed some of the public comments with regards to Section 4, spending within a 
specific number of years; and language in Section 5 regarding the calculation of fees.  Ms. Strickland 
noted that she would like more time to discuss some of the comments. Ms. Dininni requested adding 
an agenda item to the January 18, 2021 meeting.  Mr. Pribulka will add to the agenda.      
 
Ms. Strickland asked if the ordinance, credit policy, exemptions, and the fee resolution would be voted 
on the same day.  Mr. Pribulka stated that the ordinance and all accompanying resolutions would be 
presented at the same meeting on February 16, 2021 to be considered for enactment.  Mr. Pribulka 
noted that presenting everything on the same day is normal township procedure. 
 
 
  
 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Stormwater Management Utility Fee Work Session 
Tuesday, January 12, 2021 
Page 9 


VII. ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no further business to come before the Board of Supervisors, Ms. Stephens motioned to adjourn 
the meeting.  The meeting adjourned at 11:17 p.m. 
 
 
       Respectfully submitted, 


 
 
 
David Pribulka, Township Manager 
For the Board of Supervisors 








 
RESOLUTION NO. ___________ 


 
 


A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, 
PENNSYLVANIA AUTHORIZING THE TOWNSHIP MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN 
ADOPTION AGREEMENT FOR THE 457(B) DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 
FOR GOVERNMENT EMPLOYERS. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township has established a Code Section 457(b) Deferred 
Compensation Plan for Government Employers; and   
 
 WHEREAS, the 457(b) Plan is established pursuant to applicable state law and 
is intended to comply with the provisions of Section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, as amended, Treasury Regulations thereunder, and applicable law; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the 457(b) Plan consists of provisions set forth in the basic plan 
document attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and made part of the Resolution. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Supervisors hereby 
authorizes the Township Manager to execute the Adoption Agreement for the 457(b) 
Deferred Compensation Plan for Government Employers attached hereto as Exhibit 
“A” and made part of the Resolution. 
 
 RESOLVED, this 16th day of February 2021. 
 
           TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
 
 
 
      By:       
             Laura Dininni, Chair 
             Board of Supervisors 


 
 
 
[ S E A L ] 
 
       


 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:______________________________ 
      David G. Pribulka, Secretary    







1 


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
ADOPTION AGREEMENT FOR 


457(b) DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 
FOR GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYERS 


The undersigned Employer adopts the 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan for Governmental Employers 
for those Employees who will qualify as Participants hereunder, to be known as the 


Township of Ferguson 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan 


It will be effective as of the date specified below.  The Employer hereby selects the following Plan 
specifications: 


EMPLOYER INFORMATION (Plan Section 1.11) 


Name of Employer: Township of Ferguson 
Address: 3147 Research Drive 


State College, PA  19608 


Telephone Number: 814-238-4651 


Employer Identification Number:  25-1197270 


Location of Employer: 


The Plan shall be governed in accordance with retirement plan laws of the 
o State of
X    Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
o District of


______________________.


Employer Fiscal Year: 


The 12-consecutive month period commencing on January 1 and ending on December 31. 


Exhibit "A"







2 
 


 
PLAN INFORMATION 
 
Effective Date: 
 
This Adoption Agreement of the 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan for Governmental Employers will: 


 
o establish a new Plan effective as of ___________. 
 


X     constitute an amendment and restatement in its entirety of a previously established 457(b) Plan of 
the Employer which was effective June 14, 1977.  Except as specifically provided in the Plan, the 
effective date of this amendment and restatement is April 1, 2021, 
 


 
Plan Year (Plan Section 1.22): 
 


The 12-consecutive month period beginning on January 1 and ending on December 31. 
 
Name of Administrator (Plan Section 1.1): 
 


o Employer (use Employer address) 


X     Name(s):   David Pribulka 


Address:    3147 Research Drive 


                  State College, PA  16801 
 


    Telephone:  814-238-4651 
 


Eligibility (Plan Section 2.1) 
 
Eligible Individuals for Purposes of Participant Deferral Contributions: 
 


X    All Employees 
 


    All Employees other than the following group or groups of Employees elected below: 
 


 Nonresident aliens with no U.S. source of income 
 Employees who normally work less than 20 hours per week 
 Students performing services for the Employer whose Compensation is not 
       considered wages under the Federal Insurance Contributions Act (“FICA”) 
 Collectively bargained employees 


 
NOTE:  The group(s) specified must correspond to a group of the same designation that is defined in 
statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, personnel manuals or other authority for the state or local 
jurisdiction of the Employer.  







3 
 


 
Independent Contractors 
 
For purposes of this section, the term Eligible Individual: 
 


X    Will not include Independent Contractors 
o Will include all Independent Contractors 
o Will include all Independent Contractors other than as specified below: 


____________________________________________________ 
____________________________________________________ 
____________________________________________________ 


 
CONTRIBUTIONS AND ALLOCATIONS 
 
Roth 457(b) Contributions (Plan Section 1.25) 
 □ will X will not be permitted under the Plan. 
 
In-Plan Roth Rollovers (Plan Section 1.14) 
 □ will X will not be permitted under the Plan. 
 
In-Plan Roth Conversions (Plan Section 1.15) 
 □ will X will not be permitted under the Plan 
 
Age 50 Plus Catch-Up Contributions (Plan Section 1.3): 
 X will □ will not be permitted under the Plan. 
 
Special 457(b) Catch-up Contributions (Plan Section 1.27): 
 X will □ will not be permitted under the Plan. 
 
Rollover Contributions (Plan Section 1.24): 
 X will □ will not be permitted under the Plan. 
 
Transfers into the Plan (Plan Section 3.7): 
 X will  □ will not be permitted. 
 
Deferral of Accumulated Sick Pay, Accumulated Vacation Pay and Back Pay (Plan Section 3.1(b)): 
 
Participant may elect to defer (check all that are applicable) to the Plan: 
 
 □ accumulated sick pay 
 □ accumulated vacation pay 
 □ back pay 
 
Note:  any amounts deferred under Section 3.1(b) of the Plan must be consistent with applicable state 
and local law, including, but not limited to, the terms of any collective bargaining agreements. 
 







4 
 


 
Normal Retirement Age for Purposes of the Special Section 457 Catch-up (Plan Section 1.17): 
 
Note:  The Employer, together with any related employers, is not permitted to have more than one 
Normal Retirement Age for each Participant under all of the plans under Section 457(b) of the 
Code that it sponsors. 
 
For purposes of the Special 457 Catch-Up Deferral Election under Section 3.2, Normal Retirement Age 
will be: 
 


o Age 65 
o Age 70½  
o Other stated age between 65 and 70½ : ______________________________ 


   X    The Normal Retirement Age as elected by the Participant that is between: 
 the earlier of the earliest retirement age under the Employer’s pension plan at which the 


Participant immediately could receive unreduced retirement benefits; and 
 age 70 ½. 


o The Normal Retirement Age as elected by the Participant that is between: 
 65; and 
 age 70 ½. 


 
Normal Retirement Age for Police or Firefighters 
 
For purposes of the Special 457 Catch-Up Deferral Election under Section 3.2, Normal Retirement Age 
will be: 
 


o the earliest retirement age at which an individual could receive unreduced benefits under the 
 Employer’s pension plan 


o Age 40 
o Age 55 
o Age 65 
o Age 70 1/2  
o Other:  ______________________________   


 NOTE:  Age specified for this option generally may not be less than age 40 or 
more than age 70 ½. 


          X     the Normal Retirement Age as elected by the Participant that is between: 
 the earlier of the earliest retirement age under the Employer’s pension plan at which the 


Participant immediately could receive unreduced retirement benefits; and 
 age 70 ½. 


o the Normal Retirement Age as elected by the Participant that is between: 
 age 40; and 
 age 70 ½. 


 







5 
 


DISTRIBUTIONS 
 
Distribution Options (Plan Section 4.3(c)): 
 


      X     Lump sum 
      X     Immediate or deferred annuity (including life annuities and installment payment annuities) 
      X     Systematic distribution option 
      X     Under any distribution method permitted under the Investment Product. 


o Other:  _________________________________________ 
 
 
Death Benefits Payable to Beneficiary (Plan Section 4.3(d)): 
 
Amounts payable to the Beneficiary may be elected by the Beneficiary in the following forms of benefit 
payment: 
 


         X     Same distribution options as available to the Participant 
o Other: 


    _______________________________________________ 
    _______________________________________________ 


 _______________________________________________ 
    _______________________________________________ 
 
NOTE:  Distribution options selected are available to the extent permitted by applicable law and the terms 
of the Investment Product. 
 
 
Rollovers and In-Plan Roth Rollovers (Plan Section 4.1(b)): 
 
Amounts attributable to Rollovers and In-Plan Roth Rollovers will be paid to a Participant: 
 


o Upon attainment of an event as described in Section 4.1 
o Upon the request of a Participant 
o Other: 


 ______________________________________________ 
 ______________________________________________ 
 ______________________________________________ 
 ______________________________________________ 
 
 
Unforeseeable Emergency Withdrawals (Plan Section 4.6): 
X will       □ will not be permitted under the Plan. 
 
If Unforeseeable Emergency withdrawals are allowed by the Plan, amounts eligible for such withdrawals 
shall be in accordance with the Investment Product. 
 
A Participant X may       □ may not take an Unforeseeable Emergency Withdrawal resulting from the 
illness or accident of a primary Beneficiary designated by the Participant. 







6 
 


 
Small Balance Distribution (Plan Section 4.7):  
 X will  □ will not be permitted under the Plan. 
 
Transfer of Amounts for Purchase of Service Credits in Governmental Retirement System (Plan 
Section 4.9) 
  X will □ will not be permitted under the Plan. 
 
Loans to Participants (Plan Section 4.11): 
 X will □ will not be permitted under the Plan. 
 
Distributions for Health Insurance and Long Term Care (Plan Section 4.12): 
 X will □ will not be permitted under the Plan. 
 
Mandatory Distributions (Plan Section 4.13) 
 X will □ will not be permitted under the Plan. 
 
If mandatory distributions are permitted under the Plan, the dollar amount of a mandatory distribution 
under the Plan is $5,000 (not to exceed $5,000). 
 
 
CERTIFICATION AND SIGNATURE 
 
The undersigned Employer hereby represents that it is a unit of a State or local government or an agency 
or instrumentality of one or more units of a State or local government as described in Code Section 
414(d). 
 
This Adoption Agreement and the Plan document together constitute the Plan.  The Plan is a specimen 
plan, not a master or prototype plan, and has not been approved by the IRS.  The adoption of this Plan 
and related tax consequences are the responsibility of the Employer and its independent tax and legal 
advisors. 
 
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer hereby causes this Plan to be executed on this _____ day of  
 
___________________, 2021. 
 
 


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
 
 


By: _____________________________ 
                  Name & Title 
       







457(b) DEFERRED COMPENSATION 
PLAN FOR GOVERNMENTAL 


EMPLOYERS 
BASIC PLAN DOCUMENT 


Exhibit "B"







 


TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 Page 
  
Preamble 1 
  
  
Article I – Definitions 1 
  
  
Article II – Participation 4 
  
  
Article III – Contributions and Limitations 5 
  
  
Article IV – Benefit Distributions 8 
  
  
Article V – Administration 13 
  
  
Article VI – Amendment and Termination 15 
  
  
Article VII – Miscellaneous 16 
  


 







1 
 


457(b) DEFERRED COMPENSATION  
PLAN FOR GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYERS 


PREAMBLE 
 
 
The Employer hereby establishes the Code Section 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan for 
Governmental Employers (the "Plan"). 
 
The Plan is established pursuant to applicable state law and is intended to comply with the provisions of 
Section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, Treasury Regulations thereunder and 
applicable law.  The Plan consists of the provisions set forth in this basic plan document and the Adoption 
Agreement, and is applicable to each Eligible Individual.  
 
 


ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 


 
As used in this Plan, the following words and phrases will have the meanings set forth herein unless a 
different meaning is clearly required by the context. 
 


1.1 “Administrator” means the person(s), committee or organization appointed by the 
Employer pursuant to Section 5.2 to administer the Plan and perform administrative functions for the Plan 
as specified by the Employer. 
 


1.2 “Adoption Agreement” means the separate agreement that is executed by the Employer 
and sets forth the elective provisions of the Plan.  The Adoption Agreement is considered a part of the 
Plan. 
 


1.3 “Age 50 Plus Catch-Up Contribution” means, if elected by the Employer in the Adoption 
Agreement, the catch-up contribution for Participants who attain age 50 by the end of the calendar year, 
as permitted under Code Section 414(v) and pursuant to Section 3.3. 
 


1.4 “Beneficiary” means the individual, individuals or trust designated by the Participant in 
writing on a form acceptable to the Administrator, and received by the Administrator before the 
Participant's death, to receive any undistributed amounts under the Participant Account which becomes 
payable upon the Participant's death.  A Beneficiary may designate his own Beneficiary.  If a Participant 
or Beneficiary does not designate a Beneficiary in a form acceptable to the Administrator, then his estate 
will be deemed to be his Beneficiary.  In addition, any Beneficiary designation will meet the requirements 
of applicable state law. 
 


1.5 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as now in effect or as hereafter 
amended.  All citations to sections of the Code are to such sections as they may from time to time be 
amended or renumbered. 
 


1.6 “Compensation” means for an Employee all cash compensation for services to the 
Employer, including salary, wages, fees, commissions, bonuses, and overtime pay, that is includible in 
the Employee’s gross income for the calendar year, plus amounts that would be cash compensation for 
services to the Employer includible in the Employee’s gross income for the calendar year but for a 
compensation reduction election under Code Sections 125, 132(f), 401(k), 403(b) or 457(b) (including an 
election under Article III to defer Compensation under the Plan).  For purposes of an Independent 
Contractor, “Compensation” will mean all amounts payable to a Participant from the Employer as 
remuneration for services rendered which would be includible in income for federal tax purposes if not 
deferred under this Plan, subject to the provisions of the current Code. 


 







 


2 
 


1.7 “Deferrals” means the amount of Compensation deferred by a Participant to the Plan, 
including Elective Deferrals and, if elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement and the 
Participant so elects on a Participation Agreement, Roth 457(b) Contributions.  


 
1.8 “Elective Deferrals” means amounts made by the Employer to the Plan on a voluntary 


pre-tax basis pursuant to a Participation Agreement entered into by a Participant, 
 
1.9 “Eligible Individual” means any Employee who is in one or more of the classifications 


specified in the Adoption Agreement, and, if elected by the Employer, may include Independent 
Contractors. 
 


1.10 “Employee” means any common law employee who is employed by the Employer and 
who performs services for the Employer for which Compensation is payable. 
 


1.11 “Employer” means a state or the District of Columbia, any political subdivision of a state 
or the District of Columbia, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or the District of Columbia, which 
satisfies the definition of Code Section 457(e)(1)(A) (together with any other entity required to be 
aggregated with such governmental employer under Code Sections 414(b), (c), (m) or (o)) and which has 
adopted this Plan as indicated in the Adoption Agreement. 
 


1.12 “Includible Compensation” means an Employee’s actual wages in box 1 of Form W-2 for 
the Employer, but increased (up to the dollar maximum) by any compensation reduction election under 
Code Section 125, 132(f), 402(g)(3) or 457(b).  The amount of Includible Compensation is determined 
without regard to any community property laws.  Pursuant to Section 1.457-4(d)(1) of the Treasury 
Regulations, Includible Compensation will include any payments made to a Participant who has had a 
Severance from Employment, provided that the Includible Compensation is paid by the later of 2 ½ 
months after the Participant’s Severance from Employment or the end of the calendar year that contains 
the date of such Participant’s Severance from Employment.  In addition, pursuant to Section 1.457-4(d)(1) 
of the Treasury Regulations, Includible Compensation will include payments made to an individual who 
does not currently perform services for the Employer by reason of qualified military service (as defined in 
Code Section 414(u)(5)) to the extent those payments do not exceed the amount the individual would 
have received if the individual had continued to perform services for the Employer rather than enter 
qualified military service.  Includible Compensation will not include Employee pick-up contributions 
described in Code Section 414(h)(2).  


 
1.13 “Independent Contractor” means any person to whom Compensation from the Employer 


is payable for services rendered pursuant to one or more written or oral contracts, if such person is not a 
common-law employee. 
 


1.14 “In-Plan Roth Rollover” means, if elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, a 
Rollover Contribution to the Plan that consists of a distribution of Elective Deferrals and/or Rollover 
Contributions under the Plan that are otherwise distributable, in accordance with Code Section 
402A(c)(4)(A).  In-Plan Roth Rollovers will be subject to the IRS guidance applicable to Roth 457(b) 
Contributions, including the requirement that gains, losses, and other credits or charges thereon must be 
separately allocated for on a reasonable and consistent basis for each Participant. 


 
1.15 “In-Plan Roth Conversion” means, if elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, 


amounts in the Participant Account consisting of Elective Deferrals and/or Rollover Contributions under 
the Plan that are not otherwise distributable which are transferred and treated as Roth 457(b) 
Contributions, including the requirement that gains, losses, and other credits or charges thereon must be 
separately allocated for on a reasonable and consistent basis for each Participant in accordance with 
Code Section 402A(c)(4)(E) and IRS guidance thereunder. 
 


1.16 “Investment Product” means group or individual annuity contracts or such other 
investment arrangements issued by or offered through the Provider and used to hold assets of the Plan. 
 







 


3 
 


1.17 “Normal Retirement Age” means the age as elected by the Employer in the Adoption 
Agreement that is used for the Special 457 Catch-up Contribution election under Section 3.2.  The 
Employer is not permitted to have more than one Normal Retirement Age for each Participant under all 
plans under Code Section 457(b) that it (together with any other entity required to be aggregated with the 
Employer under Code Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o)) sponsors. 


 
1.18 “Participant” means any individual who has entered into a Participation Agreement to 


make Deferrals under the Plan or has previously made Deferrals under the Plan and who has not yet 
received a distribution of his entire Participant Account under the Plan.  As appropriate, a Participant 
means a Beneficiary or an alternate payee as defined in Code Section 414(p)(8). 
 


1.19 “Participant Account” means the account(s) or separate accounting for recordkeeping 
purposes established for the Participant and maintained by the Administrator, including any earnings and 
losses attributable thereon, 


 
1.20 “Participation Agreement” means an agreement, which meets the requirements of 


Section 2.4, entered into between an Eligible Individual and the Employer pursuant to which an Eligible 
Individual agrees to defer Elective Deferrals and/or Roth 457(b) Contributions to the Plan and thus to 
become a Participant. 
 


1.21 “Plan” means the name of the Plan as indicated in the Adoption Agreement. 
 


1.22 “Plan Year” means the Plan's 12-consecutive month accounting year as elected by the 
Employer in the Adoption Agreement. 


 
1.23 “Provider” means Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company and/or ReliaStar Life 


Insurance Company or such other provider entity as the Employer may approve. 
 


1.24 “Rollover Contribution” means, if elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, 
contributions made by a Participant (or, if applicable, Eligible Individual) of “eligible rollover distributions” 
in accordance with Code Section 402(c)(4), including rollovers of Roth amounts, as applicable. 
 


1.25 “Roth 457(b) Contributions” means, if elected by the Employer in the Adoption 
Agreement, contributions that are: 
 


(a) Made by the Employer to the Plan pursuant to a Participation Agreement entered into by 
a Participant, which qualifies as a “designated Roth contribution” within the meaning of Code Section 
402A; 
 


(b) irrevocably designated by the Participant at the time of the cash or deferred election as a 
Roth 457(b) Contribution that is being made in lieu of all or a portion of the Elective Deferrals the 
Participant is otherwise eligible to make under the Plan; and 
 


(c) Treated by the Employer as includible in the Participant’s income at the time the 
Participant would have received that amount in cash if the Participant had not made a cash or deferred 
election. 


 
Contributions of Roth 457(b) Contributions and withdrawals of Roth 457(b) Contributions, including gains, 
losses, and other credits or charges thereon must be separately allocated for on a reasonable and 
consistent basis for each Participant in accordance with applicable IRS guidance. 
 


1.26 “Severance from Employment” means the date on which the Employee dies, retires or 
otherwise has a severance from employment with the Employer, as determined by the Administrator. 


 
1.27 “Special Section 457 Catch-up Contributions” means, if elected by the Employer in the 


Adoption Agreement, the catch-up contribution for a Participant in the three consecutive years prior to the 







 


4 
 


year in which the Participant reaches Normal Retirement Age, as permitted under Code Section 457(b)(3) 
and pursuant to Section 3.2. 


 
1.28 “Unforeseeable Emergency” means, if elected by the Employer in the Adoption 


Agreement, a financial hardship of the Participant or Beneficiary resulting from: 
 


  (a) An illness or accident of: 
(1) the Participant or the Beneficiary 
(2) the spouse of the Participant or Beneficiary, or 
(3) the dependent of the Participant or Beneficiary; 


 
 (b) Loss of the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s property due to casualty; or 


 
 (c) Similar extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances arising as a result of events 
beyond the control of the Participant or Beneficiary. 
 
In addition, if elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, an Unforeseeable Emergency means a 
severe financial hardship of the Participant resulting from an illness or accident of a primary Beneficiary 
designated by the Participant under the Plan.  


 
A determination of an Unforeseeable Emergency will be based on each Participant’s and Beneficiary’s 
specific facts and circumstances. 
 
 


ARTICLE II 
PARTICIPATION 


 
2.1 Eligibility 


 
Each Eligible Individual will be a Participant in the Plan when he satisfies the eligibility requirements 
specified by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement and has executed a Participation Agreement. 
 


2.2 Determination of Eligibility and Effective Date of Participation 
 
 (a) The Administrator will determine whether an Eligible Individual has satisfied the eligibility 
requirements specified by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement based upon information furnished by 
the Employer.  Such determination will be conclusive and binding and the criteria for such determination 
will be applied uniformly to all Participants. 
 


(b) The Participant will provide investment direction for contributions made to an Investment 
Product on such forms as may be required by the Provider. 
 


2.3 Termination of Eligibility 
 
In the event a Participant will go from a classification of an Eligible Individual to a non-Eligible Individual, 
such Participant will not be able to make Deferrals to the Plan until he is again reclassified as an Eligible 
Individual.  The Participant Account of such inactive Participant will continue to be allocated any 
attributable earnings and losses based on the investment direction supplied by the Participant. 
 


2.4 Participation Agreements 
 


(a) In order to participate in the Plan, a Participant must complete a Participation Agreement 
with the Employer and file such Participation Agreement in a manner and method determined by the 
Administrator.  The Participation Agreement will specify: 
 







 


5 
 


(1) The amount (expressed either as a dollar amount or as a percentage) of the 
Participant's Compensation which the Participant agrees to make as Deferrals, subject 
to the limitations of Article III; and 


(2) The date as of which Deferrals pursuant to the Participation Agreement will begin. 
 


(b) A Participant may make Deferrals payable in the calendar month during which the 
Eligible Individual first becomes a Participant if the Participation Agreement providing for such Deferrals is 
entered into before the first day of the month in which the Compensation is paid or becomes available. 
 
 (c) Notwithstanding subsection (b), a new Employee who is also an Eligible Individual may 
become a Participant and make Deferrals payable in the calendar month during which he first becomes 
an Employee if a Participation Agreement providing for the Deferrals is entered into on or before the first 
day on which he performs services for the Employer. 
 
 (d) A Participant may, by amendment of a Participation Agreement or by any manner as the 
Administrator may prescribe, do any of the following: 
 


(1) change the specification of the investment for any contributions to a Participant 
Account under an Investment Product; 


(2) change prospectively the amount of Deferrals; or 
(3) revoke the Participation Agreement. 


 
An amendment to or revocation of the Participation Agreement will be effective as early as 
administratively practicable, but not earlier than the first day of the following calendar month in which the 
Compensation is paid or made available. 
 
 2.5 Information Provided by the Employee 
 
Each Eligible Individual enrolling in the Plan should provide to the Administrator at the time of initial 
enrollment, and later if there are any changes, any information necessary for the Administrator to 
administer the Plan, including, without limitation, whether he is a participant in any other eligible plan 
under Code Section 457(b). 
 


2.6 Contributions Made Promptly 
 
All contributions under the Plan will be transferred to the applicable Investment Product within a period 
that is not longer than is reasonable for the proper administration of the Participant Accounts.  For 
purposes of this requirement, Deferrals under the Plan by a Participant must be transferred to the 
Investment Product within 15 business days following the month in which these amounts would otherwise 
have been paid to the Participant. 


 
2.7 Leave of Absence 


 
Unless an election is otherwise revised, if an Employee is absent from work by leave of absence, 
Deferrals under the Plan will continue to the extent that Compensation continues. 
 
 


ARTICLE III 
CONTRIBUTIONS AND LIMITATIONS 


 
 3.1 Deferrals 
 


(a) Except as provided in Section 3.2 and 3.3 and subject to any applicable law or under any 
applicable collective bargaining agreement, the maximum amount of Deferrals which may be made by a 
Participant in any taxable year will not exceed the lesser of (1) the applicable dollar amount provided 







 


6 
 


under Code Section 457(b)(2) (adjusted for cost of living under Code Section 457(e)(15)) or (2) 100% of 
the Participant's Includible Compensation.   


 
(b) If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may elect to make 


Deferrals from accumulated sick pay, accumulated vacation pay and back pay, provided the Participant 
enters into a Participation Agreement pursuant to Section 2.4 to make such Deferrals before the amounts 
would otherwise be paid or made available.  A Participant who is a former Employee may make Deferrals 
from accumulated sick pay, vacation pay and back pay, provided that the Participant enters into a 
Participation Agreement pursuant to Section 2.4 prior to the first day of the calendar month to make such 
Deferrals before the amounts would otherwise be paid or made available, provided that such amounts are 
payable within the later of 2 ½ months after the Participant’s Severance from Employment or the end of 
the calendar year that includes the date of the Participant’s Severance from Employment. 
 
 3.2 Special 457 Catch-Up Contributions 
 


(a) In any one or more of a Participant's last three calendar years ending before the year in 
which the Participant attains Normal Retirement Age, as defined by the Employer in the Adoption 
Agreement, the Participant may elect to make Deferrals in an amount not exceeding the lesser of (1) 
twice the dollar amount permitted as a general deferral under Section 3.1 or (2) the sum of the maximum 
deferral permitted under Section 3.1 for the current tax year and as much of the applicable deferral limit 
under Code Section 457(b)(2) in prior years before the current tax year that had not previously been used 
(“underutilized amount”).  For purposes of this Section, a prior year will be taken into account only if such 
year began after December 31, 1978, and the Participant was eligible to participate in the Plan during all 
or a portion of the prior year.  A Participant may only make this election under this subsection once with 
respect to any plan under Code Section 457(b) of the Employer. 


 
(b) In determining a Participant’s underutilized amount, the Plan will take into consideration: 
 


(1) Prior to 2002, if a Participant made Deferrals to the Plan and deferrals to any 
other plan under Code Section 457(b), salary reduction contributions made to 
plans under Code Section 401(k), plans under Code Section 403(b), simplified 
employee pension (SARSEP) plans under Code Section 402(h)(1), simple 
retirement accounts under Code Section 408(p), and amounts deferred under 
any plan for which a deduction is allowed because of a contribution to an 
organization described in Code Section 501(c)(18), such deferrals to the other 
plans will be taken into account in determining a Participant’s underutilized 
amount under Code Section 457(b)(2).  In addition, Includible Compensation will 
be limited to the limitation in effect in the calendar year in which the deferrals 
were made.  If such deferrals cumulatively exceed the then-applicable dollar 
amount in Code Section 457(b)(2) in the year that such amounts were deferred, 
then there will be no underutilized amount for that year. 


(2) To the extent that the Employer did not maintain a plan under Code Section 
457(b), no underutilized limitation is available to a Participant for that prior year. 


(3) After 2001, only deferrals to plans under Code Section 457(b) will be taken into 
account for purposes of determining the underutilized amount. 


(4) Age 50 Plus Catch-Up Contributions will not be taken into account for purposes 
of determining a Participant’s underutilized amount. 


 
3.3 Age 50 Plus Catch-Up Contributions 


 
If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant who has attained age 50 before the 
close of the calendar year may elect Age 50 Plus Catch-up Contributions.  Such contributions are not 
subject to the limitations of Code Section 457(b).  The maximum dollar amount of the Age 50 Plus Catch-
up Contributions for a calendar year adjusted for cost of living under Code Section 414(v)(2)(C). 
 
 3.4 Maximum Amount of Catch-Up Contributions 







 


7 
 


Any catch-up contributions made by a Participant pursuant to Section 3.2 or Section 3.3 may not exceed 
the greater of (a) the amount that the Participant is eligible to make as Deferrals under Section 3.2 or (b) 
the amount that the Participant is eligible to make as Deferrals under Section 3.3. 
 


3.5 Participant Covered by More than One 457(b) Plan 
 


If a Participant is or has been a participant in one or more other plans under Code Section 457(b) in the 
same calendar year, then the Plan and all such other plans will be considered as one plan for purposes of 
applying the limitations of this Article III.  For this purpose, the Administrator will take into account any 
other such plan of the Employer under Code Section 457(b) in which the individual participated in the 
same calendar year and, to the extent the Participant provides the Administrator with sufficient 
information concerning his participation. 


 
3.6 Excess Deferrals 
 
(a) In the event that the limit on Deferrals is exceeded pursuant to this Article III, the 


Administrator will direct the Provider as to the proper correction method permissible under applicable law, 
including calculation of any earnings or losses and the proper tax reporting with respect to such 
distributions as soon as administratively practicable after the Administrator determines that the amount is 
an excess deferral. 
 


(b) A Participant who participates in the Plan and another 457(b) plan of another employer 
will be responsible for complying with the deferral limits of this Article III.  In the event of an excess 
amount, the Participant will notify the Administrator so that the excess may be distributed as soon as 
practicable after the Administrator determines that the amount is an excess deferral. 
 


3.7  Transfers from Other Plans under Code Section 457(b) 
 


(a) If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the Plan will accept transfers of 
amounts previously deferred under another plan under Code Section 457(b) maintained by another 
employer as defined in Code Section 457(e)(1)(A). 


 
(b) A transfer under subsection (a) will only be permitted if: 
 


(1) the transferring plan provides for the transfer of such amounts, and 
 
(2) the Participant has a benefit equal to the amount immediately after the transfer at 


least equal to the amount under the Plan immediately before the transfer. 
 
 (c) The Administrator may require such documentation from the transferring plan as it deems 
necessary to effectuate the transfer in accordance with Section 1.457-10(b) of the Treasury Regulations 
and to confirm that the transferring plan is an eligible government plan as defined in Code Section 
457(e)(1)(A).  The amount so transferred will be credited to the appropriate account under the Participant 
Account and will be held, accounted for, administered and otherwise treated in the same manner as 
amounts as held in the transferor plan, except that the transferred amounts will not be taken into 
consideration for purposes of Code Section 457(b)(2) for the year of transfer. 
 


3.8  Rollovers to the Plan 
 
The Employer may elect in the Adoption Agreement to permit an Eligible Individual, whether a Participant 
at the time, to rollover amounts that are considered eligible rollover distributions as defined in Code 
Section 402(c)(4) to the Plan from an eligible retirement plan, as defined in Code Section 402(c)(8)(B). 


 
3.9 Investments 


Amounts contributed to the Plan will be invested in an Investment Product.  Participants will direct the 
investment of their Participant Accounts among the investment options available under the Investment 







 


8 
 


Product.  Contributions will be allocated to a Participant Account in accordance with this Article III and 
earnings and losses attributable to such contributions will be allocated to such Participant Account.  If any 
provision of an Investment Product agreement is not consistent with the Plan provisions, the terms of the 
Plan will control. 
 


3.10 Protection of Persons Who Serve In a Uniformed Service 
 
(a) An Employee whose employment is interrupted by qualified military service under Code 


Section 414(u) or who is on a leave of absence for qualified military service under Code Section 414(u) 
may elect to make additional Deferrals upon resumption of employment with the Employer equal to the 
maximum Deferrals that the Employee could have elected during that period if the Employee’s 
employment with the Employer had continued (at the same level of Compensation) without the  
interruption or leave, reduced by the Deferrals, if any, actually made for the Employee during the period of 
the interruption or leave.  Except to the extent provided under Code Section 414(u), this right applies for 
five years following the resumption of employment (or, if sooner, for a period equal to three times the 
period of the interruption or leave). 
 


(b) In the case of a Participant who dies while performing qualified military service (as 
defined in Code Section 414(u)), the Beneficiaries are entitled to any additional benefits (other than 
Deferrals relating to the period of qualified military service) provided under the Plan had the Participant 
resumed employment and then had a Severance from Employment on account of death.   


 
 


ARTICLE IV 
BENEFIT DISTRBUTIONS 


 
4.1   Distributions Under the Plan 


 
(a) Accounts attributable to Elective Deferrals, Roth 457(b) Contributions or In-Plan Roth 


457(b) Conversions may not be paid to a Participant (or, if applicable, the Beneficiary) until one of the 
following events has occurred: 
 


(1) upon the Participant’s Severance from Employment; 
(2) the calendar year in which the Participant attains age 70 ½; 
(3) an Unforeseeable Emergency, within the meaning of and subject to Section 4.6; or 
(4) the election of a small balance distribution within the meaning of and subject to Section 


4.7. 
 
 (b) A Participant may choose to receive a distribution from amounts attributable to Rollovers 
and In-Plan Roth 457(b) Rollovers at the time elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. 
 
 (c) An Independent Contractor will be considered to have a Severance from Employment 
upon the expiration of all of the contracts under which services are performed for the Employer, if the 
expiration constitutes a good faith and complete termination of the contractual relationship.  An expiration 
of such contractual relationship will not be considered to be a good faith and complete termination if the 
Employer anticipates a renewal of such contractual relationship or the Independent Contractor becomes 
an Employee. 
 


4.2 Distributions of Roth amounts will be tax-free for federal income tax purposes if: 
 
(1) The distribution meets the requirements of Section 4.1(a); 
 
(2) The Roth amounts are held for the applicable 5-year holding period, and 
 
(3) The distribution is due to a Participant’s attainment of age 59 ½, death, or in the event of 


the Participant’s becoming disabled. 







 


9 
 


4.3 Determination of Benefits Payable to a Participant 
 


(a) Upon attainment of a distributable event described in Section 4.1, but in no event later 
than the requirement to commence minimum distribution payments in accordance with Code Section 
401(a)(9) and the Treasury Regulations thereunder, a Participant may elect a benefit distribution option to 
which benefits will be paid. 


 
(b) Upon a Participant’s application for benefits, the Administrator will direct the distribution 


of a Participant Account in accordance with this Section 4.2. 
 


 (c) A Participant may choose a benefit distribution option as elected by the Employer in the 
Adoption Agreement.  In the event a Participant fails to make an election as to a benefit distribution 
option, any benefit payable to such Participant will be distributed as elected by the Employer in the 
Adoption Agreement.  The terms of any annuity contract purchased and distributed by the Plan to a 
Participant will comply with the requirements of the Plan. 
 


4.4 Determination of Benefits upon Death 
 
 (a) Upon the death of a Participant, the Administrator will direct that the deceased 
Participant’s Participant Account be distributed to the Beneficiary in accordance with the provisions of this 
Section. 
 


(b) The designation of a Beneficiary will be made on a form satisfactory to the Administrator.  
A Participant or Beneficiary may at any time revoke his designation of a Beneficiary or change his 
Beneficiary by filing notice of such revocation or change with the Administrator.  In the event no valid 
designation of Beneficiary exists at the time of the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s death, the death benefit 
will be payable to the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s estate. 
 


(c) The Administrator may require such proper proof of death and such evidence of the right 
of any person to receive payment of the value of the Participant Account of a deceased Participant or 
Beneficiary, as the Administrator may deem appropriate.  The Administrator’s determination of death and 
of the right of any person to receive payment will be conclusive. 
 


(d) Death benefits payable to a Beneficiary will be made in a form as selected by the 
Beneficiary in accordance with the available options as elected by the Employer in the Adoption 
Agreement.  In the event a Beneficiary fails to make an election as to a benefit distribution option, any 
benefit payable to such Beneficiary will be distributed in accordance with Code Section 401(a)(9).  The 
terms of any annuity contract purchased and distributed by the Plan to a Beneficiary will comply with the 
requirements of the Plan. 
 


4.5 Minimum Distributions. 
 


(a) All distributions under the Plan will comply with the minimum distribution requirements of 
Code Section 401(a)(9) and the Treasury Regulations. 


 
((b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant or Beneficiary who would have been 


required to receive required minimum distributions for 2009 but for the enactment of Code Section 
401(a)(9)(H) (“2009 RMDs”), and who would have satisfied that requirement by receiving distributions that 
are (1) equal to the 2009 RMDs or (2) one or more payments in a series of substantially equal 
distributions (that include the 2009 RMDs) made at least annually and expected to last for the life (or life 
expectancy) of the Participant, the joint lives (or joint life expectancy) of the Participant and the 
Participant’s Beneficiary, or for a period of at least 10 years (“Extended 2009 RMDs”), will not receive 
those distributions for 2009 unless the Participant or Beneficiary chooses to receive such distributions. 
Participants and Beneficiaries described in the preceding sentence will be given the opportunity to elect to 
receive the distributions described in the preceding sentence. 


 







 


10 
 


(c) In addition, notwithstanding Section 4.8, 2009 RMDs and Extended 2009 RMDs will be 
treated as eligible rollover distributions as defined in Code Section 402(c)(4). 
 
 4.6 Unforeseeable Emergency Withdrawals 
 
 (a) If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant or Beneficiary may 
request an Unforeseeable Emergency withdrawal subject to the following requirements: 
 


(1) The request for an Unforeseeable Emergency withdrawal will be determined by 
the Administrator based on the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s relevant facts and 
circumstances. 


 
(2) The request for an Unforeseeable Emergency may be made only to the extent 


that such emergency is or may not be relieved through: 
 


• reimbursement or compensation from insurance or otherwise; 
• liquidation of the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s assets, to the extent the 


liquidation of such assets would not itself cause severe financial hardship; 
or  


• cessation of the Participant’s Deferrals to the Plan. 
 


(3) Distributions due to an Unforeseeable Emergency must be limited to the amount 
reasonably necessary to satisfy the emergency need (which may include any 
amounts necessary to pay federal, state, or local income taxes or penalties 
reasonably anticipated to result from the distribution). 


 
(b) A Participant or Beneficiary may request an Unforeseeable Emergency withdrawal by 


submitting that request to the Administrator who will review and approve the request.  If the request is 
denied, a request for review of the determination may be made in writing to such entity as the 
Administrator may designate, provided that such entity has accepted the designation.  If the review of the 
determination fails to confirm a claim of Unforeseeable Emergency, an appeal may be made to the 
appellate committee established by the Administrator in writing.  When a request for an Unforeseeable 
Emergency withdrawal is approved, the Employer will direct the Provider to distribute the amount 
approved to meet the Unforeseeable Emergency to the Participant or Beneficiary. 


 
(c) Unforeseeable Emergency withdrawals will be made in accordance with the procedures 


established by the applicable Provider’s Investment Products. 
 
 4.7 Small Balance Distribution 
 
If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement and upon proper written request, a Participant may 
elect to receive a small balance distribution, payable in a lump sum, if the Participant’s Participant 
Account, not including Rollover Contributions, value is $5,000 or less, and the Participant has not made 
Deferrals to the Plan for a period of two years before distribution.  A Participant may take a small balance 
distribution under this Section only once while a Participant under the Plan. 
 
 


4.8 Rollovers from the Plan 
 


(a) Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, a Participant, a surviving 
spouse who is the designated Beneficiary of the Participant or a spouse or former spouse who is the 
alternate payee will be permitted to elect to have any eligible rollover distribution as defined in Code 
Section 402(c)(4) paid directly to an eligible retirement plan as defined in as defined in Code Section 
402(c)(8)(B) or to a Roth IRA established under Code Section 408A specified by the Participant.  The 
Participant will, in the time and manner prescribed by the Administrator, specify the amount to be rolled 







 


11 
 


over and the eligible retirement plan to receive such rollover.  Any portion of a distribution which is not 
rolled over will be distributed directly to the Participant. 
 
 (b) A non-spousal Beneficiary may elect to roll over death benefits amounts in accordance 
with Code Section 402(c)(11) provided that: 
 


(1) such amounts are rolled over to an inherited IRA via a direct trustee-to-trustee transfer; 
 and 
(2) the rolled over amounts are eligible rollover distributions as defined in Code Section 


402(c)(4). 
 


 4.9 Permissive Service Credit Transfers 
 


(a) If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement and if a Participant is also a 
participant in a tax qualified defined benefit governmental plan (as defined in Code Section 414(d)) that 
provides for the acceptance of plan-to-plan transfers with respect to the Participant, then the Participant 
may elect to have any portion of his Participant Account that would otherwise be taxable transferred to 
the defined benefit governmental plan in accordance with Code Section 457(e)(17).  A transfer under this 
Section may be made before the Participant has had a Severance from Employment. 
 


(b) A transfer may be made under subsection (a) only if the transfer is either for the purchase 
of permissive service credit (as defined in Code Section 415(n)(3)(A)) under the receiving defined benefit 
governmental plan or a repayment to which Code Section 415 does not apply by reason of Code Section 
415(k)(3). 
 
 4.10 Transfers to Other Plans under Code Section 457(b) Upon Severance From Employment 
 


(a) If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement and upon a Participant’s 
Severance from Employment, a Participant or Beneficiary may elect to have all or a portion of the 
Participant Account transferred to a plan under Code Section 457(b) of an employer defined in Code 
Section 457(e)(1)(A).  Such amounts will be transferred at the Participant’s election, provided: 
 


(1) The plan under Code Section 457(b) to which the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s 
benefit is being transferred provides for the acceptance of such amounts; 


 
(2) The Participant or Beneficiary has a benefit equal to the amount immediately 


after the transfer to least equal to the amount under the Plan immediately before 
the transfer; and 


 
(3) In the case of a transfer made on behalf of a Participant, such individual has had 


a Severance from Employment with the Employer and is performing services for 
the employer maintaining the receiving plan. 


 
(b) Upon the transfer of amounts under subsection (a), the Plan’s liability to pay benefits to 


the Participant or Beneficiary under the Plan will be discharged to the extent of the amount so transferred 
on behalf of the Participant or Beneficiary.  The Administrator may require such documentation from the 
receiving plan as it deems appropriate or necessary to comply with this Section or effectuate the transfer 
pursuant to Section 1.457-10(b) of the Treasury Regulations.  If Roth 457(b) Contributions are 
transferred, the receiving plan must permit Designated Roth contributions as defined in Code Section 
402A. 
 
 4.11 Loans to Participants 
 


(a) If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may receive a loan 
from eligible amounts in his Participant Account, subject to the requirements of the Investment Product 
and as set forth in the loan program created by the Employer. 







 


12 
 


(b) For purposes of this Section, all plans of the Employer will be considered one plan in 
accordance with Code Section 72(p) and Treasury Regulations thereunder, and the balance of all loans 
under any plan of the Employer under which the Participant participates must be aggregated in 
determining the maximum loan available under subsection (d).   
 


(c) The Provider may, in accordance with the Administrator’s direction, make loans to 
Participants under the following circumstances: (1) loans will be made available to all Participants on a 
reasonably equivalent basis; (2) loans will bear a reasonable rate of interest; (3) loans will be adequately 
secured; and (4) will provide for periodic repayment over a reasonable period of time.   


 
(d) No loan made pursuant to this Section will exceed the lesser of: 


 
(1) $50,000 reduced by the excess (if any) of the highest outstanding balance of 


loans from the Plan to the Participant during the one-year period ending on the 
day before the date on which such loan is made, over the outstanding balance of 
loans from the Plan to the Participant on the date on which such loan was made, 
or 


 
(2) one-half (1/2) of the Participant Account. 


 
For purposes of this Section, any loan from any other plan maintained by the Employer will be treated as 
if it were a loan made from the Plan, and the Participant’s vested interest under any such other plan will 
be considered a vested interest under this Plan; provided, however, that the provisions of this paragraph 
will not be applied so as to allow the amount of a loan to exceed the amount that would otherwise be 
permitted in the absence of this paragraph. 
 


(e) Loans will provide for level amortization with payments to be made not less frequently 
than quarterly over a period not to exceed five (5) years.  However, loans used to acquire any dwelling 
unit which, within a reasonable time, is to be used (determined at the time the loan is made) as a principal 
residence of the Participant will provide for periodic repayment over a reasonable period to be determined 
by the Administrator of time that may exceed five (5) years.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event a 
Participant enters the uniformed services of the United States and retains reemployment rights under law, 
repayments will be suspended and interest will cease to accrue during the period of leave and the period 
of repayment will be extended by the number of months of leave in the uniformed services.  In the event a 
Participant is on an Employer-approved bona fide leave of absence without pay, loan payments may be 
suspended (but interest will continue to accrue) for the period of leave but not to exceed one year; 
however, the loan must be repaid by the original loan repayment date. 
 


(f) An assignment or pledge of any portion of a Participant’s interest in the Plan will be 
treated as a loan under this Section. 
 


(g) Any security interest held by the Plan by reason of an outstanding loan to the Participant 
will be taken into account in determining the amount of the death benefit or single lump-sum payment.  
 
 4.12 Distributions from Governmental Plans for Health and Long Term Care. 
 
If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement and pursuant to Code Section 457(a)(3), annual 
distributions of up to $3,000 from the Plan that would otherwise be taxable are excludable for income tax 
purposes if the following conditions are satisfied:  (1) the distribution is used to pay for qualified health 
insurance premiums (accident, health insurance or long term care) for an eligible retired public safety 
officer as defined in Code Sections 402(l)(4)(B) and 402(l)(4)(C), or spouse or dependent of the public 
safety officer, (2) the public safety officer is separated from service due to disability or attainment of the 
age which the Participant has the right to retire and receive unreduced retirement benefits from the 
Employer’s basic pension plan, and (3) the distributions are paid directly to the insurer or to the 
administrator of a self-insured plan. 
 







 


13 
 


4.13        Mandatory Distributions 
 


(a) To the extent permitted by the Investment Product and if elected by the Employer in the 
Adoption Agreement, if the value of a Participant Account of a Participant who has had a Severance from 
Employment does not exceed an amount as elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, then a 
distribution may be made in the form of a lump sum payment, without the consent of the Participant or 
Beneficiary. 
 


(b) If a mandatory distribution made pursuant to this Section is greater than $1,000 and the 
Participant does not elect to have such distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan as defined in 
Code Section 402(c)(8)(B) or to receive the distribution directly in cash, then the Administrator shall 
transfer such amount to an individual retirement account described in Code Section 408(a) or an 
individual retirement annuity described in Code Section 408(b) designated by the Administrator in 
accordance with the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(31)(B). 
 
 


ARTICLE V 
ADMINISTRATION 


 
5.1 Powers and Responsibilities of the Employer 


 
 (a) The Employer will have full power to interpret and construe the Plan in a manner 
consistent with its terms and the provisions of Code Section 457, including the applicable Treasury 
Regulations and to establish practices and procedures conforming to those provisions.  In all such cases, 
the Employer’s determination will be final and conclusive upon all persons.  It is recognized that unusual 
circumstances may occur and questions may arise that are not specifically covered by any provision of 
the Plan, and the Employer will have the right to resolve all such questions.  Notwithstanding the above, 
the Employer’s power and responsibility under the Plan will not extend to, nor have any control over, 
those responsibilities and duties of the Provider. 
 
 (b) The Employer will be empowered to appoint and remove the Administrator from time to 
time as it deems necessary for the proper administration of the Plan to assure that the Plan is being 
operated for the exclusive benefit of the Participants and their Beneficiaries in accordance with the terms 
of the Plan and the Code. 
 
 (c) The Employer will periodically review the performance of any person to whom duties 
have been delegated or allocated by it under the provisions of this Plan or pursuant to procedures 
established hereunder.  This requirement may be satisfied by formal periodic review by the Employer or 
by a qualified person specifically designated by the Employer, through day-to-day conduct and 
evaluation, or through other appropriate ways. 
 
 5.2 Designation of Administrative Authority 
 
The Employer may appoint a committee (“Committee”) of one or more persons to serve as the 
Administrator and to discharge the Administrator's responsibilities under the Plan.  The Employer may 
remove a Committee member for any reason by giving such member ten (10) days’ notice and may 
thereafter fill any vacancy thus created.  If the Employer does not appoint a Committee to administer the 
Plan, the Employer will be the Administrator. 
 







 


14 
 


 5.3 Allocation and Delegation of Responsibilities  
 
If more than one person is appointed as Administrator, the responsibilities of each Administrator may be 
specified by the Employer and accepted in writing by each Administrator.  In the event that the Employer 
makes no such delegation, the Administrators may allocate the responsibilities among themselves, in 
which event the Administrators will notify the Employer in writing of such action and specify the 
responsibilities of each Administrator. 
 
 5.4 Powers and Duties of the Administrator 
 
The primary responsibility of the Administrator is to administer the Plan for the benefit of the Participants 
and their Beneficiaries, subject to the specific terms of the Plan.  The Administrator will administer the 
Plan in accordance with its terms and will have the power and discretion to construe the terms of the Plan 
and determine all questions arising in connection with the administration, interpretation, and application of 
the Plan.  Any such determination by the Administrator will be conclusive and binding upon all persons.  
The Administrator may establish procedures, correct any defect, supply any information, or reconcile any 
inconsistency in such manner and to such extent as will be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out 
the purpose of the Plan; provided, however, that any procedure, discretionary act, interpretation or 
construction will be done in a nondiscriminatory manner based upon uniform principles consistently 
applied and will be consistent with the intent that the Plan will continue to be deemed a plan qualified 
under the terms of Code Section 457, and will comply with the terms of all  Treasury Regulations issued 
pursuant thereto.  The Administrator will have all powers necessary or appropriate to accomplish his 
duties under this Plan.  The Administrator will be charged with the duties of the general administration of 
the Plan, including, but not limited to, the following: 
 
 (a) the discretion to determine all questions relating to the eligibility of Employees and 
Independent Contractors to participate or remain a Participant hereunder and to receive benefits under 
the Plan; 
 
 (b) determine the amounts to be contributed to each Participant Account; 
 
 (c) to authorize and direct the Provider with respect to all disbursements to which a 
Participant is entitled under the Plan; 
 
 (d) to maintain all necessary records for the administration of the Plan; 
 
 (e) to maintain practices and procedures necessary to administer the Plan as are consistent 
with the terms hereof; 
 
 (f) to determine the type of any Investment Product to be offered by the Provider; and 
 
 (g) to assist any Participant regarding his rights, benefits, or elections available under the 
Plan. 
 
 5.5 Records and Reports 
 
The Administrator will keep a record of all actions taken and will keep all other books of accounts, 
records, and other data that may be necessary for proper administration of the Plan and will be 
responsible for supplying all information and reports to the Internal Revenue Service, Participants, 
Beneficiaries and other parties as required by law. 
  


5.6 Appointment of Advisors 
 
The Administrator may appoint/employ such agents, attorneys, actuaries, accountants, auditors, 
investment counsel, and clerical assistants, and other persons or entities as the Administrator deems 
necessary or desirable in connection with the administration of this Plan. 







 


15 
 


 5.7 Information from the Employer 
 
To enable the Administrator to perform his functions, the Employer will supply the necessary information 
to the Administrator on a timely basis regarding the Participants under the Plan, including but not limited 
to Compensation, date of hire, date of death, Severance from Employment, and such other pertinent facts 
and data as the Administrator may require.  The Administrator may rely upon such information as is 
supplied by the Employer and will have no duty or responsibility to verify such information. 
 
 5.8 Payment of Expenses 
 
All expenses of administration will be paid by the Employer.  Such expenses will include any expenses 
incident to the functioning of the Administrator, including, but not limited to, fees of accountants, counsel, 
and other specialists and their agents, and other costs of administering the Plan. 
 


5.9 Discontinuance of Provider 
 
Notwithstanding Section 3.9, if any Provider ceases to be eligible to receive Deferrals under the Plan, the 
Employer may direct that both existing amounts under Participant Accounts that were invested with such 
Provider and any future contributions be transferred to the Investment Products of those Providers which 
are currently approved to receive Deferrals under the Plan. 
 
 


ARTICLE VI 
AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION 


 
 6.1 Amendment 
 
 (a) The Employer will have the right at any time to amend this Plan.  Any such amendment 
will become effective as provided therein upon its execution. 
 
 (b) No amendment to the Plan will be effective if it authorizes or permits any part of the 
Investment Product (other than such part as is required to pay taxes and administration expenses) to be 
used for or diverted to any purpose other than for the exclusive benefit of Participants or Beneficiaries; or 
causes any reduction in the amount credited to the account of any Participant or Beneficiary; or causes or 
permits any portion of the Investment Product to revert to or become property of the Employer. 
 
 6.2 Termination 
 
 (a) The Employer will have the right at any time to terminate the Plan by resolution of its 
governing board.  In addition, the Employer must deliver notice of discontinuance of the Investment 
Product to the Provider. 
 
 (b) Upon the full termination of the Plan, the Employer will direct the distribution of the assets 
to Participants and Beneficiaries in a manner which is consistent with and satisfies the provisions of 
Article IV as soon as administratively practicable after termination of the Plan. 
 


6.3 Transfer of Entire Plan Assets to Another Eligible Plan Within the Same State 
 
Subject to this Section, the Employer may direct the transfer of all assets of the Plan to another plan 
under Code Section 457(e)(1)(A) and that is located in the same state, provided that the requirements of 
Code Section 457(b) and Section 1.457(b)-10 (b)(3) of the Treasury Regulations are satisfied.  If Roth 
457(b) Contributions are transferred, the receiving plan must permit Designated Roth contributions as 
defined in Code Section 402A. 
 
 







 


16 
 


ARTICLE VII 
MISCELLANEOUS 


 
 7.1 Assets For Exclusive Benefit Of Participants And Beneficiaries 
 
All amounts in the Participant Accounts under this Plan, all property and rights which may be purchased 
with such amounts and all income attributable to such amounts, property or rights will be held in trust (or 
a custodial account or annuity contract described in Code Section 401(f)) for the exclusive benefit of 
Participants and their Beneficiaries.  All such amounts will not be subject to the claims of the Employer’s 
general creditors. 
 


7.2  Participant Rights 
 
This Plan will not be deemed to constitute a contract between the Employer and any Participant or to be a 
consideration or an inducement for the employment of any Participant, Employee, or Independent 
Contractor.  Nothing contained in this Plan will be deemed to give any Participant, Employee, or 
Independent Contractor the right to be retained in the service of the Employer or to interfere with the right 
of the Employer to discharge any Participant, Employee or Independent Contractor at any time regardless 
of the effect which such discharge will have upon him as a Participant in this Plan. 
 
 7.3 Alienation 
 
Subject to applicable state law (and Code Section 401(g) if the Investment Product consists of an annuity 
contract) and except as provided in Section 7.4, no benefit which will be payable to any person (including 
a Participant or his Beneficiary) will be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, 
assignment, pledge, encumbrance, or charge, and any attempt to anticipate, alienate, sell, transfer, 
assign, pledge, encumber, or charge the same will be void; and no such benefit will in any manner be 
liable for, or subject to, the debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements, or torts of any such person, nor will 
be subject to attachment or legal process for or against such person, and the same will not be recognized 
except to such extent as may be required by law. 
 
 
 7.4 Recognition of Approved Domestic Relations Orders 
 
Notwithstanding Section 7.3, if a judgment, decree or order (including approval of a property settlement 
agreement) that relates to the provision of child support, alimony payments, or the marital property rights 
of a spouse or former spouse, child, or other dependent of a Participant is made pursuant to the domestic 
relations law of any State (“domestic relations order”) and Code Section 414(p), then the amount of the 
Participant Account will be paid in the manner and to the person or persons so directed in the domestic 
relations order.  Such payment will be made without regard to whether the Participant is eligible for a 
distribution of benefits under the Plan.  The Administrator will establish reasonable procedures for 
determining the status of any such decree or order and for effectuating distribution pursuant to the 
domestic relations order.  
 


7.5 IRS Levy 
 


Notwithstanding Section 7.3, if a Participant or Beneficiary is entitled to a distribution in accordance with 
Article IV, the Administrator may pay from a Participant's or Beneficiary's Account the amount that the 
Administrator finds is lawfully demanded under a levy issued by the Internal Revenue Service with 
respect to that Participant or Beneficiary or is sought to be collected by the United States Government 
under a judgment resulting from an unpaid tax assessment against the Participant or Beneficiary. 


 
7.6 Distribution for Minor Beneficiary or Incompetent 


 
If a Participant or Beneficiary entitled to receive any benefits hereunder is a minor or is adjudged to be 
legally incapable of giving valid receipt and discharge for such benefits, or is deemed so by the 







 


17 
 


Administrator, benefits will be paid to such person as the Administrator may designate for the benefit of 
such Participant or Beneficiary.  Such payments shall be considered a payment to such Participant or 
Beneficiary and shall, to the extent made, be deemed a complete discharge of any liability for such 
payments under the Plan. 
 


7.7 Mistaken Contributions 
 
If any contribution (or any portion of a contribution) is made to the Plan by a good faith mistake of fact, 
then within one year after the payment of the contribution, and upon receipt in good order of a proper 
request approved by the Administrator, the amount of the mistaken contribution (adjusted for any income 
or loss in value, if any, allocable thereto) will be returned directly to the Participant or, to the extent 
required or permitted by the Administrator, to the Employer. 
 


7.8 Procedure When Distributee Cannot Be Located 
 
The Plan Administrator shall make all reasonable attempts to determine the identity and address of a 
Participant entitled to benefits under the Plan.  For this purpose, a reasonable attempt includes the 
following: 
 


(a) the mailing by certified mail of a notice to the last known address of the missing individual 
shown on the Employer’s or the Plan Administrator's records; 


 
(b) the mailing of a letter to the missing individual following the employer and administrator(s) 


of related plans searching their records for a more current address; 
 
 (c)  the mailing of a letter to the missing individual after identifying and contacting any 


beneficiary of the missing individual designated in accordance with applicable law for a more current 
address for that missing individual: 


 
(d)  reasonable use of Internet search tools that do not charge a fee (including Internet 


search engines, public record databases (such as those for licenses, mortgages and real estate taxes), 
obituaries and social media) for a more current address for the missing individual, and (e) such other 
attempts as may be provided under applicable law. 


 
If, despite these attempts, the individual has not responded within a reasonable period of time, or if there 
has been no claim made for such benefits, the Investment Product shall continue to hold the benefits due 
such individual, with investment direction provided by the Plan Administrator, under the Plan.  In the event 
a Participant is located subsequent to his benefit being held in such account, such benefit shall be 
restored, including any applicable interest, and paid to the individual in accordance with Article I. 
 


7.9 Governing Law 
 
The Plan will be construed, administered and enforced according to the Code and the laws of the state in 
which the Employer has its principal place of business. 
 


7.10 Headings 
 


Headings of the Plan have been inserted for convenience of reference only and are to be ignored in any 
construction of the provisions hereof. 
 


7.11 Gender 
 


Pronouns used in the Plan in the masculine or feminine gender include both genders unless the context 
clearly indicates otherwise. 








 
 


FERGUSON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Regular Meeting 


Monday, February 1, 2021 
7:00 PM 


 
ATTENDANCE 


The Board of Supervisors held its first regular meeting of the month on Monday, 
February 1, 2021, via Zoom in a webinar format.  In attendance were: 
 
Board: Laura Dininni, Chair 


Lisa Strickland, Vice Chair 
Steve Miller 
Prasenjit Mitra 
Patty Stephens 
 


Staff: Dave Pribulka, Township Manager 
Dave Modricker, Director of Public Works 
Jenna Wargo, Director, Planning and Zoning 
Chris Albright, Chief of Police 
Centrice Martin, Assistant to the Township Manager 
Ron Seybert, Township Engineer 
 
 


 
Others in attendance included:  Rhonda Demchak, Recording Secretary; Bill Keough, Ferguson 
Township Resident; Mr. Fred Growl, Ferguson Township Resident; Ron Strouse, Ferguson Township 
Resident; Ms. Charima Young, PSU; Mr. Mark Kunkle, Ferguson Township Resident; Ms. Nancy 
Krouse, HOA Representative of Westway Gardens; Mr. Aaron Miller, Patton Township Resident; Mr. 
Peter Buck, Past Supervisor; Mr. Bill Peters, Ferguson Township Resident; Ms. Shannon Holiday, 
Ferguson Township Resident; Mr. Jeremie Thompson, Ferguson Township Resident; Mr. Steve 
Balkey, Ferguson Township Resident; Mr. William Kenyon, President, HOA, The Landings; Mr. John 
Stepp, PennTerra Engineering; Mr. Darin Barker; Ms. Higgins 


 
I. CALL TO ORDER  


Ms. Dininni called the Monday, February 1, 2021, regular meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  The Pledge of 
Allegiance was recited.    
 
Mr. Pribulka noted that the Board of Supervisors meeting had been advertised in accordance to the 
PA Sunshine Act as a virtual meeting via Zoom in a webinar format. There was also an audio 
conference bridge that was accessible by dialing the Ferguson Township’s main line at 814-238-4651 
and then dialing extension 3799.  Persons attending the webinar as members of the public and wanted 
to participate were asked to enter their name, municipality, and topic by utilizing the Q&A bubble at the 
bottom of the screen.  Mr. Pribulka noted that attendees will not be permitted to speak unless 
addressed by the Chair.  Mr. Pribulka will share more information on how attendees can interact with 
the Board at the appropriate time of the meeting.  C-NET is recording as well.  Mr. Pribulka took Roll 
Call and there was a quorum.  
 


II. CITIZENS INPUT  
 
None. 
 


III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  


Ms. Stephens moved that the Board of Supervisors approve the Regular meeting Minutes of January 
18, 2021.  Mr. Miller seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 


IV. SPECIAL REPORTS 
 
a) COVID-19 (Coronavirus) Response Report  







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, February 1, 2021 
Page 2 


 
Mr. Pribulka noted that local or regional updates can be found on the Centre Region Ready 
Facebook page or the COG website page.  Also, information can be found on the Township website 
and State College Borough website.   
 
The Municipal Building has reopened with limited hours.  The lobbying is open between 10:00 a.m. 
– 2:00 p.m., Monday through Friday.  The police lobby remains open for walk-ins Monday-Friday 
during normal hours of operation, but residents are encouraged to meet virtually.  Staff is working 
both remotely and in the office.  The public is encouraged to make appointments virtually.   
 
The distribution of the COVID-19 Vaccine Phase 1A continues.  Several pharmacies and health 
care facilities have joined Mount Nittany Medical Center to serve as local distribution sites.   
 
There have been 10,479 confirmed cases county-wide and 57,049 negative cases in the State 
College area as of January 30, 2021.  There have been 193 deaths due to the virus in Centre 
County.  There have been 736,236 reported cases in Pennsylvania and an additional 109,842 
probable cases.  There have been 21,678 deaths.  
 
Mr. Pribulka thanked the residences and business owners in Ferguson Township for their patience 
and understanding as the Township recovers.   
 


b) Centre Region Parks and Recreation Authority (CRPRA)  
 
Mr. Bill Keough, Ferguson Township Representative for Centre Region Parks and Recreation 
Authority, presented the report.  COVID-19 continues to be a challenge for programming.  
Programs are being planned for spring and summer with some COVID-19 mitigation at this time.  
There is no plan to cancel programs.  Pools are preparing to be open on schedule to the public.  
The pool at the high school has not been utilized for CRPRA programs but trying to hold a few 
training events two weeks prior to the public pools being opened.  Esports, which is a gaming 
platform, might be a future program.  There were 30 homes registered for the holiday light contest 
and it was a huge success.  Planning spring programs and summer camps at the Millbrook Marsh 
because they are mostly outdoor activities.  Staff is coming back from furloughs to the Senior Center 
at the Nittany Mall.   
 
Ms. Stephens asked Mr. Keough if proof of a vaccination card will be required at the Senior Center.  
Mr. Keough stated that it has not been resolved and will continue to inquire about such card. 
 
Mr. Dininni thanked Mr. Keough for the Watershed-Friendly Property Certification.   
 
On a different matter, Mr. Keough expressed disappointment with the county roll-out to sign up for 
the COVID-19 vaccine, because registration was extremely difficult to access.  Mr. Keough stated 
that he could not access and asked Mr. Pribulka to relay his frustrations to the other boards and 
committees that he attends.  Mr. Mitra agreed with Mr. Keough that the system is difficult.   
 


V. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 


1. PUBLIC HEARING – STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY FEE ORDINANCE 
 
Mr. Pribulka reviewed the logistical aspects for attendees to participate in the hearing.  The hearing 
included a series of resolutions.  The study started in 2016 and included multiple meetings, reports, 
educational sessions, etc.  Mr. Pribulka thanked the Stormwater Advisory Committee, Dave 
Modricker, Ron Seybert, Kevin Bloom, Jaymes Progar, Summer Krape, Eric Endresen, and many 
others that spent countless hours on this project.  Also, Mr. Pribulka thanked the consultants at 
Wood and most importantly the residents of Ferguson Township. 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, February 1, 2021 
Page 3 


 
Mr. Pribulka noted that consideration of the fee is not reflective of the Township’s mismanagement 
of taxpayer’s money or reckless spending.  Staff and the Board have heard legitimate concerns 
that helped frame the ordinance, and also there were theories and accusations that were made 
regarding wasteful spending.  Mr. Pribulka stated that the data does not support the allegations 
because the budget is open to the public and is transparent.  Mr. Pribulka stated to the Board that 
considering adding the fee is a difficult decision for any elected official. There were no 
recommendations made to the Board by Mr. Pribulka, staff, or the consultant.   
 
Public Hearing 
 
Mr. Fred Growl, Ferguson Township Resident, noted that it was difficult to sign up to speak against 
the ordinance and generally connecting to the meeting.  
 
Ms. Charima Young, PSU, thanked everyone for their hard work and the Board’s willingness to 
have public comment.   The University provided comments via a presentation last week to the 
Township explaining their position.  Ms. Young stated that as a MS4 Permit Holder the University 
feels they should be exempt for the following reasons:  


1. Penn State holds an MS4 permit that is equivalent to the Township’s MS4 permit  and has 
 worked cooperatively as an equal on MS4 permit requirements since 2004.   


2. Penn State already operates a mature stormwater program similar to the program 
 that the Township envisions. The University also owns a larger storm system than 
 the Township, that Ferguson Township and PennDOT drain into, which the 
 University alone is responsible for maintaining.   


3. Chesapeake Bay Pollution Reduction Plan (CBPRP) loads for University property 
 located in the Township are parsed out from Ferguson Township CBPRP loads  and 
 remain a University MS4 permit requirement. No other property owner in the 
 Township has this obligation 


4. Penn State is impacted significantly more by Township and private runoff than Penn State 
 property impacts Ferguson Township (at a 5:1 ratio).   


Mr. John, Ferguson Township Resident, expressed concerns that the fee structure and projection 
costs are missing details.  
 
Mr. Rick Tezzlaff, Member of the HOA for Aaron Village, noted that the credits don’t take in 
consideration that Aaron Village takes on stormwater from public properties because they have a 
basin.  Mr. Tezzlaff stated he is against the ordinance.  Mr. Modricker noted that there was a 
preexisting drainageway at Aaron Village and the basin was built adjacent to the drainageway.  Mr. 
Modricker noted that there is some funding set aside for areas like Aaron Village that take in public 
and private water.  
 
Mr. Modricker stated that there is back up information for all of the estimates in the model.  
 
Mr. Mark Kunkle, Ferguson Township Resident, spoke about the financial implications of the fee 
and the impact it will have on residential owners. 
 
Ms. Nancy Krouse, HOA Representative of Westway Gardens, noted that most of the residents are 
retired with fixed incomes.  Ms. Krouse stated that Westway Gardens I and Westway Gardens II 
are combined and share the same tax identification number and they do not know what their fee 
will be.  Ms. Krouse requested clarification with the combined properties.   Mr. Pribulka encouraged 
Ms. Krouse to contact Dave Modricker, Ron Seybert, or anyone in the Public Works Department.   
 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, February 1, 2021 
Page 4 


Mr. Bill Keough, Ferguson Township Resident, expressed concerns with the meeting structure 
because it is not consistent.  Mr. Keough stated that there was not adequate discussion and should 
look at other alternatives.  Mr. Keough expressed concerns with overhead to manage the credit 
program.   
 
Mr. Aaron Miller, Patton Township Resident, but soon to be a resident of Ferguson Township, 
stated that he is in favor of the fee.   
 
Mr. Peter Buck noted that he was a Supervisor when the ordinance was first considered and noted 
that the process was transparent.  Mr. Buck requested that the Board not look into other alternatives 
and supports the fee.  Mr. Buck currently does not live in Ferguson Township. 
 
Mr. Bill Peters, Ferguson Township Resident, noted that the community wasn’t aware of the fee 
until recently and felt the Township wasn’t transparent.    
 
Board Discussion 
 
Mr. Miller read a written statement with regards to the entire ordinance and noted that he will be 
voting in support of the fee.  Mr. Miller explained his reasons for supporting the ordinance.  Mr. 
Miller feels that a tax increase is a simple process compared to the fee that was calculated.  Mr. 
Miller stated that he doesn’t agree with some of the decisions the Board has made and going 
forward will be speaking on behalf of himself.   In the event the fee is not enacted, Mr. Miller asked 
the Board to schedule a Public Hearing to enact the fee through a tax increase.  Mr. Miller 
expressed frustration with some people in the community that feels the Township is hiding money 
and frivolous spending, because it is simply untrue.     
 
Mr. Mitra stated that he is opposed of the fee in its current form and believes that a stormwater fee 
is a better option than an income or property tax increase.  Mr. Mitra noted that he would like to 
see a Financial Advisory Committee created to look into the fee more closely.  
 
Ms. Stephens stated that she believes the stormwater fee is a better option than an income or 
property tax.  Ms. Stephens noted that she likes the hardship fee. 
 
Ms. Strickland shared her thoughts and suggestions with a written statement.  Ms. Strickland is 
troubled with the deliberation of the ordinance through an emergency declaration.  Ms. Strickland 
suggested moving forward with accessing the pipes and the major stormwater project as planned 
and use the assessment to have as groundwork for the stormwater project in 2022.  This would 
enable to have another year to access and to be funded by the General Fund.  Ms. Strickland noted 
that it would move forward without a fee or a tax increase for the next two years.  Ms. Strickland 
encouraged each Board member to reflect on what the priorities should be as we emerge from the 
pandemic before the vote in two weeks. 
 
Ms. Dininni prepared a written statement and read part of it.  Ms. Dininni addressed concerns that 
she received from community members stating they have not been heard.  Ms. Dininni stated that 
if she chooses to vote in favor of the ordinance it is not a reflection of not hearing community 
members who are in opposition, but rather it is a disagreement with the conclusion.   
 
Mr. Miller moved that the Board of Supervisors continue the public hearing on February 16, 2021.  
Ms. Stephens seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.   
 
a.  Public Hearing – Credit Policy Manual Resolution 


 
Mr. Pribulka introduced the resolution and noted that provided with the agenda is a copy of a 
resolution advertised for public hearing establishing a credit policy manual to supplement the 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, February 1, 2021 
Page 5 


stormwater management utility fee.  If enacted, the credit policy would provide a mechanism for 
property owners in the Township to invoke certain credits for which they may be eligible to offset 
their obligations under the stormwater management utility fee.  Mr. Modricker noted that Table 
1 focuses on the description of the credits.   
 
Public Hearing 
 
Ms. Shannon Holiday, Ferguson Township Resident, stated that she has not received a pay 
raise in two years as a result of COVID-19 and asked about the impact for those that are renters 
like herself.  Mr. Pribulka stated that the fee would be assessed to the property owner.   Ms. 
Holiday expressed concerns with a hike in her rent due to the fee.  Ms. Holiday asked if the fee 
will be permanent.  Mr. Pribulka noted that the fee will be accessed every year to determine 
because it is a fluid fee.  
 
Mr. Bill Keough, Ferguson Township Resident, asked Mr. Modricker what the column means for 
ALL within Table 1.   Mr. Modricker explained that the credit pertains to all non-residential 
property.  Mr. Keough asked where the farms would be on the table.  Mr. Modricker noted that 
there is an agricultural exemption, but it is not written in the credit manual.   Mr. Keough asked 
if the ALL category includes an opportunity for agricultural properties to be eligible for credits.  
Mr. Modricker stated that it would. 
 
Ms. Nancy Krouse, asked a question regarding the HOA and if the individual unit owner would 
apply for each credit or would the credit go against the HOA.  Mr. Modricker stated that they 
want to address HOA’s in a flexible manner.   
 
Ms. Higgins asked about the credits and the overall affect on the stormwater fee program relating 
to the budget.  Mr. Pribulka noted that the credits and exemptions would be transferred from the 
General Fund to supplement any loss revenue.    
 
Mr. Bill Keough, asked if a person has to apply for a credit or an exemption annually.  Mr. Pribulka 
stated yes, they need to apply each year.  Mr. Keough inquired about notifications to reapply for 
credits and exemptions.  Mr. Pribulka stated that the Township will be proactive with annual 
reminders.  
 
Mr. Fred Growl stated that the Township is burdening the general population with all of the 
accumulative efforts.   
 
Board Discussion 
 
Mr. Miller commented on questions regarding the General Fund that was brought up at tonight’s 
meeting.  Mr. Miller noted that he believes that the items moved from the General Fund into the 
Stormwater Fund will more than offset the exemptions and credits.  Mr. Miller asked for 
clarification with the agricultural exemptions/credits.  Mr. Pribulka will rework the language for 
better clarity.     
 
Ms. Strickland received questions regarding credits for existing versus new construction.  Mr. 
Modricker noted that the distinction is that whatever and wherever the stormwater feature was 
built, that they comply with the ordinance at that time.  Newer basins will be eligible for more 
credits.   
 
Ms. Strickland asked for clarification under Section 7 – Exemptions with the language and should 
similar language be included under the credits.  Mr. Pribulka will add clarifying language to the 
ordinance and the resolution. 
 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, February 1, 2021 
Page 6 


Mr. Miller moved that the Board of Supervisors continue the public hearing on February 16, 
2021.  Ms. Stephens seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.   
 


b.  Public Hearing – Agricultural Properties Partial Exemption Resolution 
 


Mr. Pribulka introduced the resolution and noted that the policy is to provide a partial exemption 
to certain agricultural properties from the Ferguson Township Stormwater Management Utility 
Fee.  The draft resolution limits the maximum fee assessed to Agricultural Properties to twice 
the median value of the assessment charged to all properties in the Township.  For the purposes 
of the proposed ordinance, this would limit that exposure to two (2) Equivalent Residential Units 
(ERUs) for properties that meet the definition of Agricultural Use under Pennsylvania’s “Clean 
and Green” statute.  It is notable that residential dwelling units situated on Agricultural Properties 
would be assessed one additional ERU per each residential dwelling unit and would not be 
restricted by the limit set by this policy. 
 
Public Hearing - No Comments were made. 
 
Board Discussion - No Comments were made. 
 
Mr. Miller moved that the Board of Supervisors continue the public hearing on February 16, 
2021.  Ms. Stephens seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.  


 
c.  Public Hearing – Economic Hardship Exemption Resolution 
 


Mr. Pribulka introduced the resolution and noted that provided with the agenda is a copy of a 
resolution advertised for public hearing establishing a policy to provide an economic hardship 
exemption from the Ferguson Township Stormwater Management Utility Fee to qualified 
property owners.  The draft policy provides a full exemption to individuals and families earning 
less than or equal to two hundred percent (200%) of the federal poverty line annually, and a fifty 
percent (50%) exemption to individuals and families earning between two hundred percent 
(200%) and two hundred and fifty percent (250%) of the federal poverty line annually. 
 
Public Hearing 
 
Mr. Jeremie Thompson, Ferguson Township Resident, felt it leaves out residents that rent 
because a property manager could impose a rent increase or a new fee.  Mr. Thompson inquired 
about credits received by a property manager and the insurability that the savings is passed to 
the tenant.  Also, Mr. Thompson stated that low income, minorities, and fix income residents will 
be most impacted by the fee.  Mr. Pribulka noted that there is no mechanism in place to track if 
a property manager is passing the savings. 
 
Mr. Bill Keough, Ferguson Township Resident, asked what 200% represents.  Mr. Pribulka noted 
that it depends on family size and the federal poverty levels are set by the Department of Health 
and Human Services.   For a family of four, 200% is $52,400, at 250% for a family of four is 
$65,500, 200% for a family of two would be $34,480, and 250% for a family of two would be 
$43,100.  Mr. Keough expressed concerns for retirees and Ferguson Township has a large poll 
of retirees on fixed incomes.  Mr. Pribulka noted that resolution is presented to include adjusted 
gross income and would include income that is not necessarily earned income.   
 
Mr. Steve Balkey, Ferguson Township Resident, asked if the current income tax of the Township 
does or doesn’t include the unearned income on a 1040.  Mr. Pribulka stated that it doesn’t 
include.   
 
Board Discussion 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, February 1, 2021 
Page 7 


 
Mr. Steve Miller commented that the resolution is not intended as an exemption for retirees but 
rather an exemption for a certain income level.  Ms. Dininni concurred with Mr. Miller. 
 
Mr. Art Reid asked in the chat box if the Township is using the fee to avoid saying tax.  Mr. 
Pribulka noted it is an exemption and not as a basis for a fee. 
 
Ms. Dininni responded to Mr. Thompson’s comments and shares her concerns with low income 
earners.  Ms. Dininni stated that Ferguson Township has the lowest property tax in the region 
and hopes that landlords are passing down any savings to their tenants. 
 
Mr. Mitra also shares his concern with low income earners and noted rent is dependent on the 
market.  
 
Ms. Strickland thanked Mr. Thompson and Ms. Holiday for their comments and suspects they 
will more than likely have an increase in rent.   
 
Mr. Mitra moved that the Board of Supervisors continue the public hearing on February 16, 
2021.  Ms. Stephens seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.  


 
d.  Public Hearing – Non-Profit Organization Exemption Resolution 
 


Mr. Pribulka noted that this is a relatively new policy.  The resolution is provided with the agenda 
and there is a copy of a resolution advertised for public hearing establishing a policy to provide 
a hardship exemption from the Ferguson Township Stormwater Management Utility Fee to 
certain eligible non-profit organizations.  The policy requires applicants to demonstrate that the 
annual fee imposed to a property owned by the applicant organization to equal or exceed one 
percent (1%) of the organization’s annual revenue. This can be demonstrated by the provision 
of the most current audited annual financial statements of the applicant organization.  Mr. 
Pribulka stated that there needs to be more time spent on the resolution before it can be adopted 
because there are a few outstanding questions that need to be explored.  
 
Public Hearing  
 
Mr. Darin Barker thanked the Board for the exemptions and asked where the 1% came from.  
Mr. Pribulka noted that when preparing the draft, he reviewed a number of Hardship Policies 
related to non-profits mainly in Maryland.  Mr. Pribulka noted that the 1% is a range that can 
provide relief for small non-profits, but not for big non-profits.  Mr. Barker proposed to revisit the 
1% to the Board.   
 
Mr. Ron Strouse thank the Board for considering an exemption for non-profits.  Mr. Strouse 
suggested adding language regarding 501(c)(13) for non-profit cemeteries to the exemption.    
 
Mr. Bill Keough expressed concerns with daycare centers because they are suffering due to the 
pandemic.  
 
Mr. William Kenyon, President, HOA, The Landings, noted that the development is almost 
entirely a retention basin and asked how it will be assessed.   Mr. Modricker stated that the 
impervious area would be assessed. 
 
Ms. Nancy Strouse, Representative, Pine Hall Lutheran Church, thanked the Board for 
considering an exemption for non-profits because the church is small with mostly an elderly 
population.  Ms. Strouse noted that churches are excluded from filing 990’s with the IRS.   
 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, February 1, 2021 
Page 8 


Board Discussion 
 
Mr. Miller commented that more work needs to be done on the resolution and pointed out that 
the non-profit exemption is different than the agricultural exemption.  The agricultural exemption 
was based on the fact the property doesn’t create stormwater the same way other properties do.  
Mr. Miller noted that the non-profit exemption is based on hardships and is not intended for every 
non-profit and suggested having a sliding scale beyond the 1%.    
 
Mr. Mitra is in favor of small non-profit’s for hardship exemption. 
 
Ms. Strickland stated that she doesn’t want to table the exemption indefinably and asked if it 
could be included on an agenda in March.  Mr. Miller suggested closing the Public Hearing, have 
continued discussion, and then advertise another Public Hearing.  Mr. Pribulka concurred with 
Mr. Miller.   
 
Ms. Dininni asked Board members for their specific suggestions so that Mr. Pribulka can do 
research.   
 
Ms. Strickland suggested double checking the language around documentation that non-profits 
need to provide; a sliding scale; and making sure that all non-profits are inclusive.   
 
Ms. Dininni suggested a $1 million cap.   
 
Mr. Miller moved that the Board of Supervisors close the public hearing.  Mr. Mitra  seconded 
the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.         
 


e.  Public Hearing – Fund Balance Limit Resolution 
 


Mr. Pribulka introduced the resolution and noted that provided with the agenda is a copy of a 
resolution advertised for public hearing establishing a maximum fund balance permitted to 
accrue in Fund 20, Stormwater of the Township’s Annual Operating Budget.  The resolution 
limits fund balance to no more than thirty percent (30%) of budgeted expenditures in a fiscal 
year.  Should the fund balance be projected to exceed the maximum allowable percentage of 
budgeted expenditures, the Board of Supervisors may reduce the rate per Equivalent Residential 
Unit by an amount that would offset the additional fund balance, or authorize one-time 
expenditure(s) to reduce the fund balance to a permitted level.  Mr. Pribulka noted that it will be 
unlikely that the fund balance will accrue to the degree listed. 
 
Public Hearing - No Comments were made. 
 
Board Discussion - No Comments were made. 
 
Mr. Mitra moved that the Board of Supervisors continue the public hearing on February 16, 
2021.  Ms. Stephens seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.  
 


 
2. THE COTTAGES POST-FINAL PLANNED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT AMENDMENT 


 
Ms. Wargo presented the amendment that was provided in the agenda.  State College Apartments, 
LLC has submitted a request for amendments to their approved Final PRD Plan to include 
modifications to the landscaping plan.  Trees were relocated from the top of the retaining wall to 
the bottom of the retaining wall adjacent to Swale 16 and behind Units 43 & 44. An updated 
Stormwater calculation and maintenance plan were requested by staff.  Township Staff and 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, February 1, 2021 
Page 9 


consultants have reviewed the requested modifications and is recommending approval pending 
outstanding grading comments from Scott Brown, NTM Engineering.  


Per §27-407, Planned Residential Development, 8. Post Final, the procedure to amend a Final 
PRD Plan after it has been approved is to request approval from the Board of Supervisors. Provided 
with the agenda is Sheet 14 highlighting the requested modifications.  Ms. Wargo reviewed photos 
that were taken. 


Ms. Dininni asked if the Board is obligated to pass the amendment.  Ms. Wargo noted that if it isn’t 
passed, the landscaper would have to remove the trees and replant them on top of the wall that 
was reviewed in the photos.   


Mr. John Stepp, PennTerra Engineering, noted that the trees will fair better at the bottom of the 
retaining wall.  Mr. Stepp stated that the landscaping company planted the trees without their 
knowledge and that is why they applied for an amendment.   


Ms. Strickland moved that the Board of Supervisors approve the post-final amendment to The 
Cottages at State College Planned Residential Development subject to compliance with all 
outstanding staff comments.  Mr. Mitra seconded the motion.  The motion passed 3-1.  Please note 
that Mr. Miller was not in attendance for the discussion. 
 


3. CONTINUED DISCUSSION – WHITEHALL ROAD REGIONAL PARK 
 
Mr. Miller noted that COG Finance Committee held a special meeting and has recommended 
increasing the loan amount to cover Phase I, including restrooms, by extending the payback period 
of the loan.   


Ms. Dininni stated that she expected refinancing of the extra funds to cover the restrooms.    


Mr. Miller told the COG Finance Committee that he didn’t believe that Ferguson Township would 
vote to approve.  Mr. Miller noted that he can recommend to either refinance the amount that is 
outstanding at a lower rate or refinance at a rate that brings in the $300,000 that keeps the 
payments the same.  Mr. Miller stated he would not accept an extra $1 million in principle.   


Ms. Strickland reiterated that the master plan should be revisited and stated that she would not 
approve to continue investing money into the project.    


Ms. Stephens concurred with Ms. Dininni and Ms. Strickland.  


Mr. Mitra stated that he would be in favor of refinancing to lower the payment and asked what would 
the $300,000 get the Township in return.  Ms. Dininni noted that the base bid is underfunded by 
$700,000 to $800,000 and that the $300,000 would be going toward the underfunding.   


Mr. Bill Keough asked what it would mean if the master plan were to be redone.  Also, Mr. Keough 
noted that there has been a lot of money raised in grants and would lose if the master plan were 
revised.  Ms. Dininni noted that revisiting the master plan may not start from scratch, but rather 
having a discussion at General Forum to find out what the municipalities are willing to commit to 
and then modify the existing plan to match the needs.    


4. CONTINUED DISCUSSION – RECREATIONAL FIRE/OPEN BURN ORDINANCE AMENDMENT 
 
Chief Albright noted that provided with the agenda is the draft language.  Chief Albright stated that 
Counsel needs to review the fireworks section and will add comments that the Board may have.  
Chief Albright noted that the amendment might be added to the COG’s Building, Safety, and 
Property Maintenance Code that might be updated.        
 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, February 1, 2021 
Page 10 


VI. NEW BUSINESS 
 
1.  CONSENT AGENDA 
 


a. Donation Request – FT Senior Citizens Group 
b. Juniata Watershed Management Plan Update  
c. Treasurer’s Report – November 2020 for acceptance  
d. Treasurer’s Report – December 2020 for acceptance  
e. Voucher Report – December 2020  
f. Contract 2020-C4, Pay App #7, Suburban Park Permits: $17,130.44 
 


Ms. Stephens moved that the Board of Supervisors approve the Consent Agenda.  Mr. Miller 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.    


 
VII. STAFF AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 


 
1. COG COMMITTEE REPORTS 


a. Executive Committee – Ms. Dininni reported that everything was discussed at the General 
Forum   
 


b. Climate Action & Adaptation TAG – The report is included in the agenda.  Ms. Dininni noted 
that this group is focused on outreach and not focused on steps that the COG can make to 
become more climate friendly.  Mr. Pribulka will relay Ms. Dininni’s comment to COG.   
  


c. Finance Committee – The report is included in the agenda.   
  


2. OTHER COMMITTEE REPORTS 


a. Spring Creek Watershed Commission - The report is included in the agenda.   
   


3. STAFF REPORTS 


a.  Manager’s Report – Mr. Pribulka noted that the Pine Grove Mills Small Area             
  Plan Advisory Board held its Reorganizational Meeting on January 21st.  Matthew Heller    
  was reelected Chairman and Paul Tomkiel was reelected as Vice Chairman.  A     
  subcommittee of the Board met on January 28th to review action steps in the plan and   
  begin to categorize and prioritize them for implementation.   Mr. Pribulka noted that the   
  meeting was very productive.  The Schlow Centre Region Library Executive Director initial 
  interviews have concluded.   


                 
      b.  Public Works Director – Mr. Modricker noted that a comprehensive list of projects is  
           included in the packet.   
 
                 c.  Planning and Zoning Director – Ms. Wargo noted that the report is included in the agenda 
           and the subdivision was withdrawn.  Staff was given noticed to relitigate the Harner site  
           due to arsenic being found in the soil.    


 
VIII. COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD  


 
Ms. Strickland received communications regarding a cap that might be imposed by Comcast.   Also, 
Ms. Strickland has had many complaints regarding the online signup for the COVID-19 vaccine.    


 
IX. ADJOURNMENT 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, February 1, 2021 
Page 11 


 
With no further business to come before the Board of Supervisors, Ms. Stephens motioned to adjourn 
the meeting.  The meeting adjourned at 11:59 p.m. 
 
 
       Respectfully submitted, 


 
 
 
David Pribulka, Township Manager 
For the Board of Supervisors 








 
RESOLUTION NO. ___________ 


 
 


A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, 
PENNSYLVANIA AUTHORIZING THE TOWNSHIP MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN 
ADOPTION AGREEMENT FOR THE 401(A) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN FOR 
GOVERNMENT EMPLOYERS. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township has established a Code Section 401(a) Defined 
Contribution Plan for Government Employers; and   
 
 WHEREAS, the 401(a) Plan is intended to be a qualified plan within the 
meaning of Code Section 401(a); based on the election of the Employer in the 
Adoption Agreement, a money purchase pension plan within the meaning of Treasury 
Regulation Section 1-401-1(b)(1)(i) or a profit sharing plan within the meaning of 
Treasury Regulation Section 1-401-1(b)(1)(ii); and a governmental plan within the 
meaning of Code Section 414(d) and Section 3(32) of the Employee Retirement 
Income Security Act of 1974. 
 
 WHEREAS, the 401(a) Plan consists of provisions set forth in the basic plan 
document attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and made part of the Resolution. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Supervisors hereby 
authorizes the Township Manager to execute the Adoption Agreement for the 401(a) 
Defined Contribution Plan for Government Employers attached hereto as Exhibit “A” 
and made part of the Resolution. 
 
 RESOLVED, this 16th day of February 2021. 
 
           TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
 
 
 
      By:       
             Laura Dininni, Chair 
             Board of Supervisors 


 
 
 
[ S E A L ] 
 
       


 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:______________________________ 
      David G. Pribulka, Secretary    







-1-


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON  
ADOPTION AGREEMENT FOR 


401(a) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 


The undersigned Employer adopts the 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan for Governmental Employers for those 
Employees who qualify as Participants hereunder, to be known as the 


Township of Ferguson 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan 


It shall be effective as of the date specified below.  The Employer hereby selects the following Plan 
specifications: 


EMPLOYER INFORMATION (Plan Section 1.11) 


Name of Employer: Township of Ferguson 
Address: 3147 Research Drive 


State College, PA  16801 


Telephone Number: 814-238-4651 


Employer Identification Number:  25 - 1197270 


Location of Employer: 


The Plan shall be governed in accordance with retirement plan laws of the 
o State of
X    Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
o District of


______________________.


Employer Fiscal Year (Plan Section 1.14): 


The 12-consecutive month period commencing on January 1 and ending on December 31. 


Exhibit "A"







- 2 - 


 
PLAN INFORMATION 
 
Type of Plan: 
 
This 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan for Governmental Employers is designed as: 


 
              X    a money purchase pension plan within the meaning of Treas. Reg. Section 1-401-1(b)(1)(i). 


 


o a profit sharing plan within the meaning of Treas. Reg. Section 1-401-1(b)(1)(ii). 
 
Effective Date: 
 
This 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan for Governmental Employers shall: 


 
o establish a new Plan effective as of ___________. 
 


              X    constitute an amendment and restatement in its entirety of a previously established 401(a)  
                    Defined Contribution Plan of the Employer which was effective June 28, 1988 
 


              X    Except as specifically provided in the Plan, the effective date of this amendment and restatement  
                     is April 1, 2021 
 
Plan Year (Plan Section 1.23): 
 


The 12-consecutive month period beginning on January 1and ending on December 31. 
 
Anniversary Date of Plan (Annual Valuation Date) (Plan Section 1.5): 


 December 31 


 
Name of Administrator: 
 


o Employer (use Employer address) 
 


             X     Other: 
 


Name:  David Pribulka 
Address: 3147 Research Drive 
  State College, PA  16801 
Telephone:  814-238-4651 


 
 
 







- 3 - 


 
COMPENSATION 
 
Compensation (Plan Section 1.8) 
 


o Compensation for purposes of Code Section 415, as defined in Treas. Reg. Sections 1.415(c)-
2(b)(1) and 1.415(c)-2(c). 


 


             X     Base Salary Compensation reportable as wages on Form W–2, not to include overtime or other 
                    supplemental wages.  For purposes of the Plan, amounts paid to any Leased Employees by the 
                    leasing organization for services performed for the Employer shall be treated as Compensation 
                    paid by the Employer. 
 
Compensation shall be based on: 
 
              X    the Plan Year. 


 


o the Fiscal Year (consisting of 12-consecutive months) coinciding with or ending within the Plan 
Year. 


 


o the 12-consecutive months comprising of the calendar year coinciding with or ending within the 
Plan Year. 


 
 
TYPES OF CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
              X    Employer Contributions (Plan Section 1.12) 


 


o Matching Contributions (Money Purchase Pension Plan only) (Plan Section 1.18) 
 


o Code Section 414(h) Contributions (Plan Section 1.2) 
 


o Voluntary Contributions (Plan Section 1.29) 
 


o Rollover Contributions (Plan Section 1.25) 
 
 
ELIGIBILITY, CONTRIBUTIONS AND ALLOCATIONS 
 
Leased Employees (Plan Section 1.17) 
 
For purposes of the Plan, the term Employee: 
  


o shall include any Leased Employees 
 


X    shall not include any Leased Employees. 
 
Employees eligible for Employer Contributions: 
 


X     To be eligible, Employee must fund the Township of Ferguson 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan at  
        a rate of no less than 2% of employee’s gross base compensation 


 
Employee Status: 


o All Employees 
 


o The following Employees who have satisfied the eligibility requirements: 
 


X     Full-time, Non-Uniformed Employees hourly paid 
X     Full-time, Non-Uniformed Employees paid by annualized salary 
 Collectively bargained employees who participate in the following unions: 


_________________________________________________________________ 
 Employees whose employment is NOT governed by a collective bargaining agreement 


between the Employer and employee representatives 







- 4 - 


 Management employees 
 Treasurer 
 Administrator 
X    Other (specify): Non-Uniformed Employees Only 


 
NOTE:  The Eligible Employees specified above must correspond to a group of the same designation that is defined in 
statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, personnel manuals, collective bargaining agreements or other authority for the state 
or local jurisdiction of the Employer.  


 
Age and Service Requirements 
Employees that have satisfied the service and age requirements specified below: 
 


o Service Requirement→ Years of service with the Employer: ______ 
 


X    N/A – there is no service requirement for Employer Contributions 
 


X    Age Requirement→ Attained age: 18 
 


o N/A – there is no age requirement for Employer Contributions 
 
Effective Date of Plan Participation 
For purposes of Employer Contributions, an Eligible Employee who has satisfied the Plan’s eligibility 
requirements shall become a Participant as of: 
 


X     Immediate upon the satisfaction of the eligibility requirements 
 


o The first day of the month 
 


o Semi-annual.  The first day of the first month and the seventh month of the Plan Year 
 


o The first day of the Plan Year 
 


o Other (specify): _____________________________________ 
 
Money Purchase Pension Plan:  Amount of Annual Employer Contribution 
 
For each Plan Year, the Employer Contribution shall be: 
 


X     10% of each Participant's Base Salary Compensation contributed to the Employer Contributions 
        Account of each Participant. 


 


o $______ contributed to the Employer Contributions Account of each Participant. 
 


o An amount, determined uniformly with respect to each Employee classification within the applicable 
collective bargaining agreement, to the Employer Contributions Account of each Participant as 
specified in the applicable collective bargaining agreement. 


 
NOTE:  If Employer Contributions are available to collectively bargained employees, such Employer Contributions formula 
must also reflect the terms of the collective bargaining agreement. 
 
Profit Sharing Plan:  Allocation of Annual Employer Contribution 
 
If the Employer chooses to make an Employer Contribution for a Plan Year, the Employer Contribution shall be 
allocated as follows: 


 
o _____% of each Participant's Compensation contributed to the Employer Contributions Account of 


each Participant. 
 


o $______ contributed to the Employer Contributions Account of each Participant. 
 


o An amount, determined uniformly with respect to each Employee classification within the applicable 
collective bargaining agreement, to the Employer Contributions Account of each Participant as 
specified in the applicable collective bargaining agreement. 


 







- 5 - 


NOTE:  If Employer Contributions are available to collectively bargained employees, such Employer Contributions formula 
must also reflect the terms of the collective bargaining agreement. 
 
Matching Contributions:  Money Purchase Pension Plan only: 
 


X     N/A – Matching Contributions are not permitted under the Plan 
 
Employees eligible for Matching Contributions: 


o All Employees 
 


o The following Employees who have satisfied the eligibility requirements: 
 


 Employees hourly paid 
 Employees paid by annualized salary 
 Collectively bargained employees who participate in the following unions: 


________________________________________________________________ 
 Employees whose employment is NOT governed by a collective bargaining agreement 


between the Employer and employee representatives 
 Management employees 
 Treasurer 
 Administrator 


      Other (specify): ___________________________ 
 
NOTE:  The Eligible Employees specified above must correspond to a group of the same designation that is defined in 
statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, personnel manuals, collective bargaining agreements or other authority for the state 
or local jurisdiction of the Employer.  


 
Age and Service Requirements for Matching Contributions 
Employees that have satisfied the service and age requirements specified below: 
 


o Service Requirement→ Years of service with the Employer: ____ 
o N/A – there is no service requirement for Matching Contributions 
o Age Requirement→ Attained age: ______ 
o N/A – there is no age requirement for Matching Contributions 


 
Effective Date of Participation 
For purposes of Matching Contributions, an Eligible Employee who has satisfied the Plan’s eligibility 
requirements shall become a Participant as of: 
 


o Immediate upon the satisfaction of the eligibility requirements 
 


o The first day of the month 
 


o Semi-annual.  The first day of the first month and the seventh month of the Plan Year 
 


o The first day of the Plan Year 
 


o Other (specify): _____________________________________ 







- 6 - 


Amount of Annual Matching Contribution 
 
For each Plan Year, the Matching Contribution shall match a Participant’s (select all that apply): 
 


o Code Section 414(h) Pick-Up Contributions 
o Voluntary Contributions 
o Elective Deferrals (include Roth contributions) made to the following plan(s):  


 457 plan.  Enter Plan name: ______________________________ 
 403(b) plan(s).  Enter Plan name: __________________________ 


 
Amount of Matching Contribution: 
 


o A matching contribution equal to ____% of each Participant’s contribution to the Plan. 
 


o A matching contribution equal to $____ of each Participant’s contribution to the Plan. 
 


o A matching contribution equal to a percentage of each Participant’s contribution to the Plan in an 
amount to be determined each Plan Year by the Employer or the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 


 
NOTE:  If Matching Contributions are available to collectively bargained employees, such Matching Contributions formula 
must also reflect the terms of the collective bargaining agreement. 


 
Employees eligible for Code Section 414(h) Contributions: 
 


X     N/A – Code Section 414(h) Contributions are not permitted under the Plan 
 
Employee status: 


o All Employees 
 


o The following Employees who have satisfied the eligibility requirements: 
 


 Employees hourly paid 
 Employees paid by annualized salary 
 Collectively bargained employees who participate in the following unions: 


_________________________________________________________________ 
 Employees whose employment is NOT governed by a collective bargaining agreement 


between the Employer and employee representatives 
 Management employees 
 Treasurer 
 Administrator 
 Other (specify): ____________________________________________________ 


 
NOTE:  The Eligible Employees specified above must correspond to a group of the same designation that is defined in 
statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, personnel manuals, collective bargaining agreements or other authority for the state 
or local jurisdiction of the Employer.  
 
Age and Service Requirements 
Employees that have satisfied the service and age requirements specified below: 
 


o Service Requirement→ Years of service with the Employer: ____ 
 


o N/A – there is no service requirement for Code Section 414(h) Contributions   


o Age Requirement→ Attained age: ______ 
 


o N/A – there is no age requirement for Code Section 414(h) Contributions 
 
Effective Date of Participation 
For purposes of Code Section 414(h) Pick-Up Contributions, an Eligible Employee who has satisfied the Plan’s 
eligibility requirements shall become a Participant as of: 







- 7 - 


 
o Immediate upon the satisfaction of the eligibility requirements 


 


o The first day of the month 
 


o Semi-annual.  The first day of the first month and the seventh month of the Plan Year 
 


o The first day of the Plan Year 
 


o Other (specify): _____________________________________ 
 
Amount of Annual Code Section 414(h) Contributions 
 
For each Plan Year, each Participant shall make Code Section 414(h) Pick-Up Contributions as indicated 
below: 
 


o _______% of each Participant's Compensation 
 


o $______ 
 
NOTE:  If Code Section 414(h) Contributions are available to collectively bargained employees, such Code Section 414(h) 
Contribution formula must also reflect the terms of the collective bargaining agreement. 


 
Participants eligible for Voluntary Contributions: 
 


X     N/A – Voluntary Contributions are not permitted under the Plan 
 
Employee status: 


o All Employees 
 


o The following Employees who have satisfied the eligibility requirements: 
 


 Employees hourly paid 
 Employees paid by annualized salary 
 Collectively bargained employees who participate in the following unions: 


_________________________________________________________________ 
 Employees whose employment is NOT governed by a collective bargaining agreement 


between the Employer and employee representatives 
 Management employees 
 Treasurer 
 Administrator 
 Other (specify): ____________________________________ 


 
NOTE:  The Eligible Employees specified above must correspond to a group of the same designation that is defined in 
statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, personnel manuals, collective bargaining agreements or other authority for the state 
or local jurisdiction of the Employer.  
 
Age and Service Requirements 
Employees that have satisfied the service and age requirements specified below: 
 


o Service Requirement→Years of service with the Employer: ____ 
 


o N/A – there is no service requirement for Voluntary Contributions 
  


o Age Requirement→Attained age: ______ 
 


o N/A – there is no age requirement for Voluntary Contributions 
 
Effective Date of Participation 
For purposes of Voluntary Contributions, an Eligible Employee who has satisfied the Plan’s eligibility 
requirements shall become a Participant as of: 
 


o Immediate upon the satisfaction of the eligibility requirements 
 







- 8 - 


o The first day of the month 
 


o Semi-annual.  The first day of the first month and the seventh month of the Plan Year 
 


o The first day of the Plan Year 
 


o Other (specify): _____________________________________ 
 
Amount of Annual Voluntary Contribution 
 
For each Plan Year, each Participant may make Voluntary Contributions as indicated below: 
 


o ________% of Compensation 
 


o $_________ 
 


o Other (specify): ______________________________________ 
 
Rollover Contributions (Plan Section 3.6): 
 
Rollover Contributions: 
  


o shall be permitted into the Plan.  
 


X     shall not be permitted into the Plan. 
 
Rollover Contributions of after-tax amounts from another eligible retirement plan:  
 


o shall be permitted into the Plan.  
 


X     shall not be permitted into the Plan. 
 
 
VESTING (Plan Section 3.8) 
 
Vesting of Participant's Interest in Employer Contributions 
 
The vesting schedule, based on number of completed years with the Employer, shall be as follows: 
 
  ο 100% upon entering Plan 
 
  ο 0-2 years 0%    ο 0-4 years 0% 
   3 years   100%     5 years  100% 
    
  ο 0-1 year  0%    ο 1 year    25% 
   2 years     33%     2 years    50% 
   3 years    66%     3 years    75% 
   4 years  100%     4 years   100% 







- 9 - 


  ο 1 year     20%    X 0-2 year  0% 
   2 years    40%     3 years     20% 
   3 years     60%     4 years   40% 
   4 years   80%     5 years   60% 
   5 years   100%     6 years   80% 
          7 years  100% 
 
  ο Other:  Years     Percentage 
   ______________   ______________  
   ______________   ______________  
   ______________   ______________  
   ______________   ______________  
   ______________   ______________  
  
          
 
Vesting of Participant's Interest in Matching Contributions 
 
The vesting schedule, based on number of years with the Employer, shall be as follows: 
 
  ο 100% upon entering Plan 
 
  ο 0-2 years 0%    ο 0-4 years 0% 
   3 years  100%     5 years  100% 
 
  ο 0-1 year  0%    ο 1 year   25% 
   2 years     33%     2 years  50% 
   3 years     66%     3 years  75% 
   4 years    100%     4 years   100% 
 
  ο 1 year   20%    ο 0-1 year  0% 
   2 years    40%     2 years     20% 
   3 years     60%     3 years     40% 
   4 years    80%     4 years     60% 
   5 years    100%     5 years    80% 
          6 years   100% 
 
  ο Other:  Years     Percentage 
   ______________   ______________ 
   ______________   ______________ 
   ______________   ______________ 
   ______________   ______________ 
   ______________   ______________ 
 
NOTE:  Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant will be 100% vested in any Employer Contributions and Matching 
Contributions upon attaining Normal Retirement Age, termination of the Plan, the complete discontinuance of Employer 
contributions, death of the Participant and the Total and Permanent Disability of the Participant. 
 
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, a Participant is always 100% vested in his Code Section 
414(h) Pick-Up Contributions, Rollover Contributions, Voluntary Contributions and the earnings thereon. 
 







- 10 - 


 
DISTRIBUTIONS 
 
Normal Retirement Age (Plan Section 1.19) 
 
NOTE:  The IRS issued proposed regulations [Prop. Treas. Reg. Section1.401(a)-1(b)(2)(v)] on 1/27/16 on what constitutes 
a normal retirement age for governmental retirement plans and provided safe harbor definitions of normal retirement age.  
Any normal retirement age must be reasonably representative of the typical retirement age for the industry in which the 
covered workforce is employed.  The IRS has stated that governmental plan sponsors may currently rely on the proposed 
regulations. 


 
Normal Retirement Age for Employees other than Qualified Public Safety Employees: 


o Age 60 and 5 years of service 
 


X     Age 55 and 10 years of service 
 


o Combined age and years of service of 80 or more→ Age _____and ____ years of service 
 


o Other:  __________________________________ 
 
Normal Retirement Age for Qualified Public Safety Employees: 


o Age 50 
 


o Combined age and years of service of 70 or more→ Age _____ and ____ years of service 
 


o Other:  __________________________________ 
 
Distribution Options for Participants (Plan Section 4.2): 
 


X     Lump sum 
 


X     Immediate or deferred annuity (including life annuities and installment payment annuities) 
 


X     Systematic distribution option 
 


X     Under any distribution method available under the Investment Product 
 


o Other:  ______________________________________________________ 
 
Death Benefits Payable to Beneficiary (Plan Section 4.3(d)): 
 
Amounts payable to the Beneficiary may be elected by the Beneficiary in the following forms of benefit 
payment: 
 


X    Same distribution options as available to the Participant 
 


o Other: 
 _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 
NOTE:  Distribution options selected are available to the extent permitted by applicable law and the terms of the Investment 
Product. 







- 11 - 


Distribution of a Participant Rollover Account (Plan Section 4.1(b)): 
 


X    N/A – Rollover Contributions are not permitted under the Plan 
 
Amounts payable under a Participant Rollover Account will be paid to a Participant: 
 


o Upon attainment of an event as described in Section 4.1 
 


o Upon the request of a Participant 
 


o Other:  _______________________ 
 
Distribution of a Participant Voluntary Contribution Account (Plan Section 4.1(b)): 
 


X     N/A – Voluntary Contributions are not permitted under the Plan 
 
Amounts payable under a Participant Voluntary Contribution Account will be paid to a Participant: 
 


o Upon attainment of an event as described in Section 4.1 
 


o Upon the request of a Participant 
 


o Other:   ______________________________________ 
 
 
MISCELLANEOUS 
 
Loans to Participants (Plan Section 4.6): 
 
Loans:  
 


o shall be permitted under the Plan 
 


X     shall not be permitted under the Plan. 
 
Distributions for Health Insurance and Long Term Care (Plan Section 4.7): 
 
Distributions to pay for health insurance and long term care:  
 


o shall be permitted under the Plan 
 


X     shall not be permitted under the Plan. 
 
Mandatory Distributions (Plan Section 4.8) 
 
Mandatory distributions: 
 


X     shall be permitted under the Plan 
 


o shall not be permitted under the Plan. 
 
If mandatory distributions are permitted under the Plan, the dollar amount of a mandatory distribution under the 
Plan is $5,000 (not to exceed $5,000). 
 







- 12 - 


CERTIFICATION AND SIGNATURE 
 
Employer hereby represents that it is a unit of a state or local government or an agency or instrumentality of 
one or more units of a state or local government as described in Code Section 414(d).  If Employer ceases to 
be considered a governmental entity within the meaning of Code Section 414(d), then it would be ineligible to 
sponsor this plan prospectively and will be required to restate its plan accordingly. 
 
This Adoption Agreement and this basic plan document together constitute the Plan.  The Plan is a specimen 
plan, not a master or prototype plan, and has not been approved by the IRS.  The adoption of this Plan, 
determination of its qualification by the IRS, and related tax consequences are the responsibility of the 
Employer and its independent tax and legal advisors. 
 
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer hereby causes this Plan to be executed on this _____ day of  


________________________, 2021. 


 
TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


 
 


By: _____________________________ 
       Name & Title 
 
 







401(a) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION 
PLAN FOR GOVERNMENTAL 


EMPLOYERS 
BASIC PLAN DOCUMENT 


Exhibit "B"







 
 


 
 


TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 Page 
  
Preamble 1 
  
Article I – Definitions 1 - 4 
  
Article II – Eligibility 4 - 5 
  
Article III – Contribution and Allocation 5 - 8 
  
Article IV – Determination and Distribution of Benefits 8 -11 
  
Article V – Administration 11-13 
  
Article VI – Amendment and Termination 13-14 
  
Article VII – Miscellaneous 14-16 


 
 
 







 
 


1 
 


401(a) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 
FOR GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYERS 


PREAMBLE 
 
 
The Employer hereby establishes the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code) Section 401(a) Defined 
Contribution Plan for Governmental Employers (the “Plan”). 
 
The Plan is intended to be a qualified plan within the meaning of Code Section 401(a); based on the 
election of the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, a money purchase pension plan within the meaning 
of Treas. Reg. Section 1-401-1(b)(1)(i) or a profit sharing plan within the meaning of Treas. Reg. Section 1-
401-1(b)(1)(ii); and a governmental plan within the meaning of Code Section 414(d) and Section 3(32) of 
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. 
 
The Plan consists of the provisions set forth in this basic plan document and the Adoption Agreement and 
is applicable to each Eligible Employee. 
 
 


ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 


 
As used in this Plan, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings set forth herein unless a 
different meaning is clearly required by the context. 
 


1.1 “414(h) Pick-Up Contributions” means mandatory contributions that all Participants must 
make if required under the Adoption Agreement pursuant to Code Section 414(h).  414(h) Pick-Up 
Contributions are picked up by the Employer in accordance with Code Section 414(h)(2) and are treated 
as Employer Contributions for federal income tax purposes, but are considered “wages” for purposes of 
FICA and FUTA. 
 


1.2 “414(h) Pick-Up Contributions Account” means the account (including any earnings and 
losses attributable thereon) established and maintained by the Administrator for each Participant with 
respect to his total interest under the Plan resulting from 414(h) Pick-Up Contributions. 
 


1.3 “Administrator” means the person(s), committee or organization appointed by the 
Employer pursuant to Section 5.2 to administer the Plan and perform administrative functions for the Plan 
as specified by the Employer. 


 
 1.4 “Adoption Agreement” means the separate agreement which is executed by the Employer 
and sets forth the elective provisions of the Plan.  The Adoption Agreement is considered a part of the 
Plan. 
 
 1.5 “Anniversary Date” means the annual date for valuation of Plan assets specified in the 
Adoption Agreement, but in no event shall a valuation of Plan assets be performed less than once a year 
occurring on the last day of the Plan Year. 
 


1.6 “Beneficiary” means the individual, individuals or trust designated by the Participant in 
writing on a form acceptable to the Administrator, and received by the Administrator before the 
Participant's death, to receive any undistributed amounts under the Participant Account which becomes 
payable upon the Participant's death.  A Beneficiary may designate his own Beneficiary.  If a Participant or 
Beneficiary does not designate a Beneficiary in a form acceptable to the Administrator, then his estate will 
be deemed to be his Beneficiary.  In addition, any Beneficiary designation will meet the requirements of 
applicable state law. 
 
 







2 
 


1.7 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as now in effect or as hereafter 
amended.  All citations to sections of the Code are to such sections as they may from time to time be 
amended or renumbered. 
 


1.8 “Compensation” with respect to any Participant means such Participant's annual 
compensation as defined in the Adoption Agreement and as determined within the 12-consecutive month 
period specified in the Adoption Agreement that is paid during that 12-consecutive month.  If a 
Participant’s compensation is determined for a period of less than 12 months, the annual compensation 
limit described below is an amount equal to the otherwise applicable annual compensation limit multiplied 
by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months in the short determination period, and the 
denominator of which is 12. 
 
The annual compensation of each Participant that may be taken into account in determining allocations for 
any Plan Year shall not exceed $200,000, as adjusted for the cost of living increases in accordance with 
Code Section 401(a)(17)(B).  The Plan may provide that the Compensation of an “eligible Participant” be 
not less than such Participant’s Compensation determined as of July 1, 1993 and adjusted for cost of 
living.  For purposes of this Section, an eligible Participant is an individual who first became a Participant 
in the Plan before the first day of the first Plan Year beginning after the earlier of: 
 


(a) the last day of the Plan Year by which the Plan is amended to provide for the 1995 limit on 
Compensation and such amendment becomes effective, or 


 
(b) December 31, 1995. 


 
The cost of living adjustment in effect for a calendar year applies to Compensation for the determination 
period that begins with or within such calendar year. 
 


1.9 “Eligible Employee” means any individual Employee of the Employer who meets the 
criteria set forth in Section 2.1, and is in one or more of the classifications of Employees specified in the 
Adoption Agreement. 
 


1.10 “Employee” means any person who is employed by the Employer and who performs 
services for the Employer for which compensation is paid.  If elected by the Employer in the Adoption 
Agreement, the term Employee shall include Leased Employees. 
 


1.11 “Employer” means the governmental employer that satisfies the definition of Code Section 
414(d) and is named in the Adoption Agreement (together with any other entity required to be aggregated 
with such governmental employer under Code Sections 414(b), (c), (m) or (o)), and any successor which 
shall maintain this Plan, and any predecessor which has maintained this Plan. 


 
1.12 “Employer Contributions” means the Employer's contributions to the Plan in accordance 


with the formula selected in the Adoption Agreement. 
 
1.13 “Employer Contributions Account” means that portion of the Participant Account 


established and maintained by the Administrator for each Participant with respect to his total interest 
(including any earnings and losses attributable thereon) under the Plan resulting from Employer 
Contributions and/or Matching Contributions. 


 
1.14 “Fiscal Year” means the Employer's 12-month consecutive accounting year specified by 


the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. 
 


1.15 “Forfeiture” means that portion of a Participant's Employer Contributions Account that is 
not Vested and in which the Participant no longer has an interest and will be treated in accordance with 
Section 3.8(c). 
 







3 
 


1.16 “Investment Product” means group or individual annuity contracts or such other 
investment arrangements issued by or offered through the Provider and used to hold the assets of the 
Plan.  Notwithstanding the previous sentence, life insurance shall not be a permissible investment product 
under the Plan. 


 
1.17 “Leased Employee” means any person (other than an Employee of the Employer) who, 


pursuant to an agreement between the Employer and any other person or entity (“leasing organization”) 
has performed services for the Employer (or for the Employer and related persons determined in 
accordance with Code Section 414(n)(6)) on a substantially full time basis for a period of at least one year, 
and such services are performed under primary direction or control by the Employer.  Contributions or 
benefits provided for a leased employee by the leasing organization which are attributable to services 
performed for the Employer will be treated as provided by the Employer. 


 
A leased employee will not be considered an employee of the Employer if:  (a) such individual is covered 
by a money purchase pension plan sponsored by the leasing organization providing:  (1) a nonintegrated 
employer contribution rate of at least 10 percent of compensation, as defined in Code Section 415(c)(3), 
including amounts contributed pursuant to a salary reduction agreement which are excludable from the 
individual’s gross income under Code Section 125, 402(e)(3), 402(h)(1)(B), 403(b) or 132(f)(4), (2) 
immediate participation, and (3) full and immediate vesting, and (b) leased employees do not constitute 
more than 20 percent of the Employer’s nonhighly compensated work force. 
 


1.18 “Matching Contribution” means the Employer's contributions to the Plan that match a 
Participant’s Code Section 414(h) Contributions or Voluntary Contributions in accordance with the formula 
selected in the Adoption Agreement. 
 


1.19 “Normal Retirement Age” means the earliest date attained by a Participant as selected by 
the Employer in the Adoption Agreement and thus is entitled to a distribution under the Plan.  The 
Employer can elect a separate Normal Retirement Age for Qualifed Public Safety Employees as defined in 
Code Section 72(t)(10)(B).  In addition, at Normal Retirement Age, a Participant shall become fully Vested 
in his Participant Account. 
 


1.20 “Participant” means any individual who participates in the Plan or has previously 
participated in the Plan and who has not yet received a distribution of his entire Participant Account under 
the Plan.  As appropriate, a Participant means a Beneficiary or an alternate payee as defined in Code 
Section 414(p)(8). 


 
1.21 “Participant Account” means the total of a Participant’s 414(h) Pick-Up Contributions 


Account, Rollover Contributions Account, Voluntary Contributions Account and the Employer Contributions 
Account for each Participant in the Plan, the account established for a Beneficiary after a Participant’s 
death, and any account or accounts established for an alternate payee (as defined in Code Section 
414(p)(8)). 


 
1.22 “Plan” means the name of the Plan as indicated in the Adoption Agreement. 


 
1.23 “Plan Year” means the Plan's 12-consecutive month accounting year as elected by the 


Employer in the Adoption Agreement. 
 


1.24 “Provider” means Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company and/or ReliaStar Life 
Insurance Company or such other provider entity as the Employer may approve. 


 
1.25 “Rollover Contribution” means, if so elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, 


contributions made by a Participant (or, if applicable, Eligible Employee) pursuant to Section 3.6 of 
“eligible rollover distributions” in accordance with Code Section 402(c)(4).  If elected by an Employer in the 
Adoption Agreement, the Plan will accept Rollover Contributions of after-tax amounts from another eligible 
retirement plan described in Section 3.6 and as permitted by the Code. 


 







4 
 


1.26 “Rollover Contributions Account” means the account established and maintained by the 
Administrator for each Participant (or, if applicable, Eligible Employee) with respect to his total interest 
(including any earnings and losses attributable thereon) under the Plan resulting from Rollover 
Contributions.  To the extent that an Eligible Employee rolls over after-tax amounts to the plan from 
another eligible retirement plan described in Section 3.6 and as permitted by the Code, such after-tax 
amounts in the Rollover Contributions Account will be separately accounted for. 


 
1.27 “Total and Permanent Disability” means the inability to engage in any substantial gainful 


activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to 
result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 
months.  The determination of Total and Permanent Disability of a Participant shall be performed by a 
licensed physician chosen by the Administrator.  However, if the condition constitutes total disability under 
the federal Social Security Acts, the Administrator may rely upon such determination that the Participant is 
totally and permanently disabled for the purposes of this Plan.  The criteria for determination of Total and 
Permanent Disability shall be applied uniformly to all Participants. 


 
 1.28 “Vested” means the nonforfeitable portion of any account maintained on behalf of a 
Participant in accordance with Section 3.8. 
 


1.29 “Voluntary Contributions” means a contribution made to a Plan by a Participant on an 
after-tax basis pursuant to the election of the Participant. 


 
1.30 “Voluntary Contributions Account” means the account established and maintained by the 


Administrator for each Participant with respect to his total interest (including any earnings and losses 
attributable thereon) under the Plan resulting from Voluntary Contributions. 
 
 


ARTICLE II 
ELIGIBILITY 


 
2.1 Eligibility 


 
Each Eligible Employee will be a Participant in the Plan when he satisfies the eligibility requirements 
specified in the Adoption Agreement.  
 


2.2 Determination of Eligibility and Effective Date of Participation 
 
 (a) The Administrator will determine whether an Eligible Employee has satisfied the eligibility 
requirements specified in the Adoption Agreement based upon information furnished by the Employer.  
Such determination will be conclusive and binding and the criteria for such determination will be applied 
uniformly to all Participants. 
 
 (b) An Eligible Employee who has become eligible to be a Participant shall become a 
Participant effective as of the day specified in the Adoption Agreement.  In the event an Employee who 
has satisfied the Plan's service and age requirements for eligibility but who has not satisfied one of the 
classifications of an Eligible Employee at any time becomes an Eligible Employee, such Employee shall 
become a Participant immediately as of the date he becomes an Eligible Employee. 







5 
 


 
 2.3 Termination of Eligibility  
 
In the event a Participant will go from a classification of an Eligible Employee to a non-Eligible Employee, 
such Participant will not be able to participate in the Plan until he is again reclassified as an Eligible 
Employee.  The Participant Account of such inactive Participant will continue to be allocated any 
attributable earnings and losses. 
 
 2.4 Information Provided by the Employee 
 
Each Eligible Employee enrolling in the Plan should provide to the Administrator at the time of initial 
enrollment, and later if there are any changes, any information necessary or advisable for the 
Administrator to administer the Plan. 
 
 2.5 Leave of Absence 
 
If an Employee is absent from work by leave of absence, contributions under the Plan shall continue to the 
extent that Compensation continues. 
 


2.6 Payment of Contributions to Investment Product 
 
The Employer shall remit to the Provider the contributions to be allocated under the Investment Product to 
fund benefits under the Plan within the time period prescribed by applicable law or under any applicable 
collective bargaining agreement. 
 
 


ARTICLE III 
CONTRIBUTION AND ALLOCATION 


 
3.1 Employer Contributions and Matching Contributions 


 
If the Plan is a money purchase pension plan within the meaning of Treas. Reg. Section 1-401-1(b)(1)(i) as 
elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the Employer will make Employer Contributions 
and/or Matching Contributions for each Plan Year as elected in the Adoption Agreement.  If the Plan is a 
profit sharing plan within the meaning of Treas. Reg. Section 1-401-1(b)(1)(ii) as elected by the Employer in 
the Adoption Agreement, the Employer may elect to make Employer Contributions each Plan Year and 
such Employer Contributions shall be allocated in accordance with the formula elected by the Employer in 
the Adoption Agreement.  Employer Contributions are subject to any limitations imposed under applicable 
law or under any applicable collective bargaining agreement.  Such Employer contributions shall be 
allocated to the Participant’s Employer Contributions Account. 
 


3.2 414(h) Pick-Up Contributions 
 
A Participant shall make 414(h) Pick-Up Contributions as indicated in the Adoption Agreement, subject to 
any limitations imposed under applicable law or under any applicable collective bargaining agreement.  
Such contributions shall be allocated to the 414(h) Pick-Up Contributions Account of each Participant. 


 
3.3 Voluntary Contributions 


 
A Participant may make Voluntary Contributions to the Plan as indicated in the Adoption Agreement, 
subject to any limitations imposed under applicable law or under any applicable collective bargaining 
agreement.  Such contributions shall be allocated to the Voluntary Contributions Account of each 
Participant. 
 







6 
 


 3.4 Maximum Annual Additions 
 


(a) The maximum permissible Annual Additions that may be contributed or allocated to each 
Participant Account under the Plan for any Limitation Year shall not exceed the lesser of: 


 
(1) $40,000, as adjusted for increase in the cost of living under Code Section 


415(d), or 
(2) 100 percent of the Participant’s Compensation for the Limitation Year. 


 
(b) For purposes of this Section, “Annual Additions” means, for any Limitation Year, the sum 


of Employer Contributions, Matching Contributions, 414(h) Pick-Up Contributions, Voluntary Contributions 
and Forfeitures to the Plan and any contributions and forfeitures allocated to any other qualified defined 
contribution plans of the Employer which are required to be aggregated with the Plan in accordance to 
Treas. Reg. Section 1.415(c)–1(a)(2).  For this purpose, any excess amount applied under Code Section 
415 in the Limitation Year to reduce Employer Contributions shall be considered “Annual Additions” for 
such Limitation Year. 
 
 (c) For purposes of this Section, “Limitation Year” means the 12-consecutive month calendar 
year.  If the Employer maintains any other qualified defined contribution plans as defined in Treas. Reg. 
Section 1.415(c)–1(a)(2), such other plans shall also use the calendar year as the Limitation Year. 
 
 (d) If a Participant participates in another qualified defined contribution plan maintained by the 
Employer (as defined in Treas. Reg. Section 1.415(c)–1(a)(2)) which is required to be aggregated with the 
Plan for purposes of this Section, the amount of Annual Additions which may be credited to an individual’s 
Participant Account for any Limitation Year shall not exceed the maximum permissible amount described 
in subsection (a).  If amounts allocated to an individual’s participant account maintained under such other 
plans are equal or greater than the maximum permissible amount described in subsection (a) in a 
Limitation Year, no amount shall be contributed to the Participant Account under the Plan for that 
Limitation Year. 
 


3.5 Adjustment for Excess Annual Additions 
 
 (a) Notwithstanding Section 3.4(d), if the maximum permissible amount described in Section 
3.4(a) is exceeded and if the Employer sponsors more than one qualified defined contribution plan, then 
any excesses will first be cured from such other qualified plan.  If excesses remain or if there is no other 
qualified defined contribution plan of the Employer, then any remaining excesses shall be corrected in 
accordance with this Section. 
 


(b) Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, if the Annual Additions to a 
Participant Account under the Plan are exceeded in any Limitation Year, then the Plan shall correct such 
excess in accordance with the Treasury Regulations and such other guidance as the IRS may issue from 
time to time. 
 


3.6  Rollovers to the Plan 
 
 (a) If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement and with the consent of the 
Administrator, amounts that are considered eligible rollover distributions as defined in Code Section may 
be rolled over by an Eligible Employee, whether or not a Participant at the time, from an eligible retirement 
plan, as defined in subsection (b) below.  A Participant who is a surviving spousal Beneficiary or an 
alternate payee (who is a spouse or former spouse) of another eligible retirement plan may roll over 
eligible rollover distributions from such eligible retirement plan.  Such amounts shall be allocated to the 
Participant’s Rollover Contributions Account. 







7 
 


 
(b) For purposes of this Section, the term “eligible retirement plan” means any other plan 


under Code Section 401(a), a plan under Code Section 457(b) maintained by an employer as defined in 
Code Section 457(e)(1)(A), a plan under Code Section 403(b), an individual retirement account as 
described in Code Section 408(a), and an individual retirement annuity as described in Code Section, as 
appropriate. 
 


3.7 Investments 
 
Amounts deferred under the Plan will be invested in any Investment Product.  If applicable, a Participant 
will direct the investment of his Participant Account among the investment options available under the 
Investment Product.  Contributions will be allocated to a Participant Account in accordance with this Article 
III and earnings and losses attributable to such contributions will be allocated to such Participant Account.  
If any provision of an Investment Product agreement is not consistent with the Plan provisions, the terms 
of the Plan will control. 
 


3.8  Vesting 
 


(a) The Vested portion of any Employer Contributions Account will be a percentage of such 
Account determined on the basis of the Participant's number of years in accordance with the vesting 
schedule selected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement.  Criteria for determining a Participant’s 
years with the Employer shall be made on a uniform basis applicable to all Eligible Employees and subject 
to the terms of any applicable collective bargaining agreement. 
 


(b) A Participant is always fully vested in his 414(h) Pick-Up Contributions, Rollover 
Contributions, Voluntary Contributions and the earnings thereon. 


 
(c) Except as provided in subsection (d) below, any amount that is not Vested upon a 


Participant’s separation from service will be considered to be a Forfeiture and will be used as directed by 
the Employer. 


 
(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant will be 100% vested in any Employer 


Contributions and Matching Contributions upon attaining Normal Retirement Age, Total and Permanent 
Disability, death of the Participant, termination of the Plan or the complete discontinuance of Employer 
contributions. 


 
(e) If the Plan's vesting schedule is amended, or if the criteria for determining years with the 


Employer is amended in any way that directly or indirectly affects the computation of the Participant's 
Vested percentage, then each Participant who has performed services for the Employer for at least three 
(3) years as of the end of the election period as defined below may elect to have such Participant's Vested 
percentage computed under the Plan without regard to such amendment or change, subject to any 
applicable collective bargaining agreement.  If a Participant fails to make a timely election, then such 
Participant shall be subject to the new vesting schedule.  The Participant's election period shall 
commence on the adoption date of the amendment and shall end sixty (60) days after the latest of: 
 


(1) the adoption date of the amendment, 
(2) the effective date of the amendment, or 
(3) the date the Participant receives notice of the amendment from the Employer or 


Administrator. 
 
 







8 
 


 
3.9 Protection of Persons Who Serve in a Uniformed Service 


 
 (a) Notwithstanding any provision of this plan to the contrary, contributions, benefits and 
service credit with respect to qualified military service will be provided in accordance with Code Section 
414(u). 


 
(b) In the case of a Participant who dies while performing qualified military service (as defined 


in Code Section 414(u)), the Beneficiaries are entitled to any additional benefits (other than deferrals 
relating to the period of qualified military service) provided under the Plan had the Participant resumed 
employment and then had a separation from service on account of death. 
 
 


ARTICLE IV 
DETERMINATION AND DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS 


 
4.1 Distributions under the Plan 


 
(a) A Participant Account may not be paid to a Participant (or, if applicable, the Beneficiary) 


until one of the following events has occurred: 
 


(1) attainment of Normal Retirement Age, 
(2) separation from service prior to Normal Retirement Age, 
(3) the Participant’s Total and Permanent Disability, or 
(4) the Participant’s death. 


 
(b) Notwithstanding subsection (a), a Participant may choose to receive a distribution from 


his Rollover Contributions Account and Voluntary Contributions Account at the time elected by the 
Employer in the Adoption Agreement. 


 
4.2 Distribution of Benefits upon Normal Retirement Age, Separation From Service and Total 


and Permanent Disability 
 
(a) Upon attainment of a distributable event described in Section 4.1, but in no event later 


than the requirement to commence minimum distribution payments in accordance with Code Section 
401(a)(9) and the Treasury Regulations thereunder, a Participant may elect a benefit distribution option to 
which benefits will be paid. 


 
(b) Upon a Participant’s application for benefits, the Administrator will direct the distribution of 


a Participant Account in accordance with this Section 4.2. 
 


 (c) A Participant may choose a benefit distribution option as selected by the Employer in the 
Adoption Agreement.  The terms of any annuity contract purchased and distributed by the Plan to a 
Participant will comply with the requirements of the Plan.  In the event a Participant fails to make an 
election as to a benefit distribution option, any benefit payable to such Participant will be distributed in 
accordance with Code Section 401(a)(9).   


 
4.3 Distribution of Benefits upon Death 


 
 (a) Upon the death of a Participant, the Administrator will direct that the deceased 
Participant’s Participant Account be distributed to the Beneficiary in accordance with the provisions of this 
Section. 







9 
 


 
(b) The designation of a Beneficiary will be made on a form satisfactory to the Administrator.  


A Participant or Beneficiary may at any time revoke his designation of a Beneficiary or change his 
Beneficiary by filing notice of such revocation or change with the Administrator.  In the event no valid 
designation of Beneficiary exists at the time of the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s death, the death benefit 
will be payable to the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s estate. 
 


(c) The Administrator may require such proper proof of death and such evidence of the right 
of any person to receive payment of the value of the Participant Account of a deceased Participant or 
Beneficiary, as the Administrator may deem appropriate.  The Administrator’s determination of death and 
of the right of any person to receive payment will be conclusive. 
 


(d) Death benefits payable to a Beneficiary will be made in a form as selected by the 
Beneficiary in accordance with the available options as elected by the Employer in the Adoption 
Agreement.  In the event a Beneficiary fails to make an election as to a benefit distribution option, any 
benefit payable to such Beneficiary will be distributed in accordance with Code Section 401(a)(9).  The 
terms of any annuity contract purchased and distributed by the Plan to a Beneficiary will comply with the 
requirements of the Plan. 


 
4.4 Minimum Distributions 
 


All distributions under the Plan shall comply with the minimum distribution requirements of Code Section 
401(a)(9) and the Treasury Regulations. 


 
4.5 Rollovers from the Plan 


 
(a) Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, a Participant will be permitted to 


elect to have any eligible rollover distribution (as defined in Code Section 402(c)(4)) paid directly to an 
eligible retirement plan (as defined in Section 3.6(b)) or to a Roth IRA established under Code Section 
408A specified by the Participant.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Voluntary Contributions are permitted 
under the Plan, they may only be rolled over to another eligible retirement plan described in Section 3.6 
and as permitted by the Code.  The Participant will, in the time and manner prescribed by the 
Administrator, specify the amount to be rolled over and the eligible retirement plan to receive such 
rollover.  Any portion of a distribution which is not rolled over will be distributed directly to the Participant. 
 


(b) The election described in subsection (a) also applies to the surviving spouse who is the 
designated Beneficiary of the Participant or a spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee, 
provided that such spouse, former spouse or alternate payee directs the transfer of an eligible rollover 
distribution, as defined in Code Section 402(c)(4) into an eligible retirement plan, as defined in Section 
3.6(b), in which such spouse, former spouse or alternate payee is a participant. 
 
 (c) A non-spousal Beneficiary may elect to roll over death benefits amounts in accordance 
with Section Code 402(c)(11) provided that: 
 


(1) such amounts are rolled over to an inherited IRA via a direct trustee-to-trustee 
transfer; and 


(2) the rolled over amounts are eligible rollover distributions as defined in Code 
Section 402(c)(4). 







10 
 


 
 4.6 Loans to Participants 
 


(a) This Section will apply only if elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement and as 
set forth in the loan program created by the Employer.  For purposes of this Section, all plans of the 
Employer will be considered one plan in accordance with Code Section 72(p) and regulations thereunder, 
and the balance of all loans under any plan of the Employer under which the Participant participates must 
be aggregated in determining the maximum loan available under subsection (c). 
 


(b) The Provider may, in accordance with the Administrator’s direction, make loans to 
Participants under the following circumstances:  (1) loans will be made available to all Participants on a 
reasonably equivalent basis; (2) loans will bear a reasonable rate of interest; (3) loans will be adequately 
secured; and (4) will provide for periodic repayment over a reasonable period of time.  Such loans may 
also be subject to the requirements of the Investment Product. 
 


(c) No loan made pursuant to this Section shall exceed the lesser of: 
 


(1) $50,000 reduced by the excess (if any) of the highest outstanding balance of loans from 
the Plan to the Participant during the one-year period ending on the day before the date on which such 
loan is made, over the outstanding balance of loans from the Plan to the Participant on the date on which 
such loan was made, or 
 


(2) one-half (1/2) of the Participant Account. 
 
For purposes of this Section, any loan from any other plan maintained by the Employer shall be treated as 
if it were a loan made from the Plan, and the Participant’s vested interest under any such other plan shall 
be considered a vested interest under this Plan; provided, however, that the provisions of this paragraph 
shall not be applied so as to allow the amount of a loan to exceed the amount that would otherwise be 
permitted in the absence of this paragraph. 
 


(d) Loans will provide for level amortization with payments to be made not less frequently 
than quarterly over a period not to exceed five (5) years.  However, loans used to acquire any dwelling unit 
which, within a reasonable time, is to be used (determined at the time the loan is made) as a principal 
residence of the Participant will, provide for periodic repayment over a reasonable period to be determined 
by the Administrator of time that may exceed five (5) years.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event a 
Participant enters the uniformed services of the United States and retains reemployment rights under law, 
repayments will be suspended and interest will cease to accrue during the period of leave and the period 
of repayment will be extended by the number of months of leave in the uniformed services.  In the event a 
Participant is on an Employer approved, bona fide leave of absence without pay, loan payments may be 
suspended (but interest will continue to accrue) for the period of leave but not to exceed one year; 
however, the loan must be repaid by the original loan repayment date. 
 


(e) An assignment or pledge of any portion of a Participant’s interest in the Plan will be 
treated as a loan under this Section. 
 


(f) Any security interest held by the Plan by reason of an outstanding loan to the Participant 
will be taken into account in determining the amount of the death benefit or single lump-sum payment. 







11 
 


 
4.7 Distributions from Governmental Plans for Health and Long Term Care 


 
If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement and pursuant to Code Section 402(l), annual 
distributions of up to $3,000 from the Plan that would otherwise be taxable are excludable for income tax 
purposes if the following conditions are satisfied:  (1) the distribution is used to pay for qualified health 
insurance premiums (accident, health insurance or long term care) for an eligible retired public safety 
officer as defined in Code Sections 402(l)(4)(B) and 402(l)(4)(C), or spouse or dependent of the public 
safety officer, (2) the public safety officer is separated from service due to disability or attainment of the 
age which the Participant has the right to retire and receive unreduced retirement benefits from the 
Employer’s basic pension plan, and (3) the distributions are paid directly to the insurer or to the 
administrator of a self-insured plan. 
 


4.8 Mandatory Distributions 
 


(a) To the extent permitted by the Investment Product and if elected by the Employer in the 
Adoption Agreement, if the value of a Vested Participant Account of a Participant who has had a 
separation from service does not exceed an amount set forth in Code Section 411(a)(11), as amended 
and as elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, then a distribution may be made in the form of 
a lump sum payment, without the consent of the Participant or Beneficiary. 
 


(b) If a mandatory distribution made pursuant to this Section is greater than $1,000 and the 
Participant does not elect to have such distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan as defined in 
Section 3.6(b) or to receive the distribution directly in cash, then the Administrator shall transfer such 
amount to an individual retirement account described in Code Section 408(a) or an individual retirement 
annuity described in Code Section 408(b) designated by the Administrator in accordance with the 
requirements of Code Section 401(a)(31)(B). 
 
 


ARTICLE V 
ADMINISTRATION 


 
 5.1 Powers and Responsibilities of the Employer 
 
 (a) The Employer shall have full power to interpret and construe the Plan in a manner 
consistent with its terms and the provisions of Code Section 401(a), including the applicable Treasury 
Regulations and to establish practices and procedures conforming to those provisions.  In all such cases, 
the Employer’s determination shall be final and conclusive upon all persons.  It is recognized that unusual 
circumstances may occur and questions may arise that are not specifically covered by any provision of the 
Plan, and the Employer shall have the right to resolve all such questions.  Notwithstanding the above, the 
Employer’s power and responsibility under the Plan will not extend to, nor have any control over, those 
responsibilities and duties of the Provider. 


 
(b) The Employer shall be empowered to appoint and remove the Administrator from time to 


time as it deems necessary for the proper administration of the Plan to assure that the Plan is being 
operated for the exclusive benefit of the Participants and their Beneficiaries in accordance with the terms 
of the Plan and the Code. 
 


(c) The Employer shall periodically review the performance of any person to whom duties 
have been delegated or allocated by it under the provisions of this Plan or pursuant to procedures 
established hereunder.  This requirement may be satisfied by formal periodic review by the Employer or by 
a qualified person specifically designated by the Employer, through day-to-day conduct and evaluation, or 
through other appropriate ways. 







12 
 


 
 5.2 Designation of Administrative Authority 
 
The Employer may appoint a committee (“Committee”) of one or more persons to serve as the 
Administrator and to discharge the Administrator's responsibilities under the Plan.  The Employer may 
remove a Committee member for any reason by giving such member ten (10) days’ notice and may 
thereafter fill any vacancy thus created.  If the Employer does not appoint a Committee to administer the 
Plan, the Employer shall be the Administrator. 
 
 5.3 Allocation and Delegation of Responsibilities 
 
If more than one person is appointed as Administrator, the responsibilities of each Administrator may be 
specified by the Employer and accepted in writing by each Administrator.  In the event that the Employer 
makes no such delegation, the Administrators may allocate the responsibilities among themselves, in 
which event the Administrators shall notify the Employer in writing of such action and specify the 
responsibilities of each Administrator. 
 


5.4 Powers and Duties of the Administrator 
 
The primary responsibility of the Administrator is to administer the Plan for the benefit of the Participants 
and their Beneficiaries, subject to the specific terms of the Plan.  The Administrator will administer the 
Plan in accordance with its terms and will have the power and discretion to construe the terms of the Plan 
and determine all questions arising in connection with the administration, interpretation, and application of 
the Plan.  Any such determination by the Administrator will be conclusive and binding upon all persons.  
The Administrator may establish procedures, correct any defect, supply any information, or reconcile any 
inconsistency in such manner and to such extent as will be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out 
the purpose of the Plan; provided, however, that any procedure, discretionary act, interpretation or 
construction will be done in a nondiscriminatory manner based upon uniform principles consistently 
applied and will be consistent with the intent that the Plan will continue to be deemed a qualified plan 
under the terms of Code Section 401(a), and will comply with the terms of all Treasury Regulations issued 
pursuant thereto.  The Administrator will have all powers necessary or appropriate to accomplish his 
duties under this Plan.  The Administrator will be charged with the duties of the general administration of 
the Plan, including, but not limited to, the following: 
 
 (a) the discretion to determine all questions relating to the eligibility of Employees and 
Independent Contractors to participate or remain a Participant hereunder and to receive benefits under the 
Plan; 
 
 (b) determine the amounts to be contributed to each Participant Account; 
 
 (c) to authorize and direct the Provider with respect to all disbursements to which a 
Participant or Beneficiary is entitled under the Plan; 
 
 (d) to maintain all necessary records for the administration of the Plan; 
 
 (e) to maintain practices and procedures necessary to administer the Plan as are consistent 
with the terms hereof; 
 
 (f) to determine the type of any Investment Product to be offered by the Provider; and 
 
 (g) to assist any Participant or Beneficiary regarding his rights, benefits, or elections available 
under the Plan. 







13 
 


 
 5.5 Records and Reports 
 
The Administrator will keep a record of all actions taken and will keep all other books of accounts, records, 
and other data that may be necessary for proper administration of the Plan and will be responsible for 
supplying all information and reports to the Internal Revenue Service, Participants, Beneficiaries and other 
parties as required by law. 
 


5.6 Appointment of Advisers  
 
The Administrator may appoint/employ such agents, attorneys, actuaries, accountants, auditors, 
investment counsel, and clerical assistants, and other persons or entities as the Administrator deems 
necessary or desirable in connection with the administration of this Plan. 
 


5.7 Information from Employer 
 
To enable the Administrator to perform his functions, the Employer will supply the necessary information 
to the Administrator on a timely basis regarding the Participants under the Plan, including but not limited to 
Compensation, date of hire, date of death, disability, or termination of employment, and such other 
pertinent facts and data as the Administrator may require.  The Administrator may rely upon such 
information as is supplied by the Employer and shall have no duty or responsibility to verify such 
information. 
 
 5.8 Payment of Expenses 
 
All expenses of administration will be paid as directed by the Employer.  Such expenses will include any 
expenses incident to the functioning of the Administrator, including, but not limited to, fees of accountants, 
counsel, and other specialists and their agents, and other costs of administering the Plan. 
 
 


ARTICLE VI 
AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION 


 
6.1 Amendment 
 
(a) The Employer shall have the right at any time to amend this Plan.  Any such amendment 


shall become effective as provided therein upon its execution. 
 


(b) No amendment to the Plan will be effective if it authorizes or permits any part of the 
Investment Product (other than such part as is required to pay taxes and administration expenses) to be 
used for or diverted to any purpose other than for the exclusive benefit of the Participants or their 
Beneficiaries; or causes any reduction in the amount credited to the account of any Participant or 
Beneficiary; or causes or permits any portion of the Investment Product to revert to or become property of 
the Employer. 
 


6.2 Termination 
 


(a) The Employer shall have the right at any time to terminate the Plan by resolution of its 
governing board.  Upon any full or partial termination all amounts credited to the affected Participant 
Accounts shall become 100% Vested and shall not thereafter be subject to Forfeiture, and all unallocated 
amounts shall be allocated to the accounts of all Participants in accordance with the provisions hereof.  In 
addition, the Employer must deliver notice of discontinuance of the Investment Product to the Provider. 
 


(b) Upon the full termination of the Plan, the Employer will direct the distribution of the assets 
to Participants and Beneficiaries in a manner which is consistent with and satisfies the provisions of Article 
IV.  







14 
 


 
ARTICLE VII 


MISCELLANEOUS 
 
7.1 Assets for Exclusive Benefit of Participants and Beneficiaries 
 


All amounts in the Participant Accounts under this Plan, all property and rights which may be purchased 
with such amounts and all income attributable to such amounts, property or rights will be held in trust (or a 
custodial account or annuity contract described in Code Section 401(f)) for the exclusive benefit of 
Participants and their Beneficiaries.  All such amounts will not be subject to the claims of the Employer’s 
general creditors. 


 
7.2 Participant's Rights 


 
This Plan will not be deemed to constitute an employment contract between the Employer and any 
Participant or to be a consideration or an inducement for the employment of any Participant or Employee.  
Nothing contained in this Plan will be deemed to give any Participant or Employee the right to be retained 
in the service of the Employer or to interfere with the right of the Employer to discharge any Participant or 
Employee at any time regardless of the effect which such discharge shall have upon him as a Participant 
in this Plan. 
 


7.3 Alienation 
 
Subject to applicable state law (and Code Section 401(g) if the Investment Product consists of an annuity 
contract) and except as provided in Section 7.4, no benefit which will be payable to any person (including 
a Participant or their Beneficiaries) will be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, 
assignment, pledge, encumbrance, or charge, and any attempt to anticipate, alienate, sell, transfer, 
assign, pledge, encumber, or charge the same will be void; and no such benefit will in any manner be 
liable for, or subject to, the debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements, or torts of any such person, nor will 
be subject to attachment or legal process for or against such person, and the same will not be recognized 
except to such extent as may be required by law. 
 


7.4 Recognition of Approved Domestic Relations Orders 
 
Notwithstanding Section 7.3, if a judgment, decree or order (including approval of a property settlement 
agreement) that relates to the provision of child support, alimony payments, or the marital property rights 
of a spouse or former spouse, child, or other dependent of a Participant is made pursuant to the domestic 
relations law of any State (“domestic relations order”) and Code Section 414(p), then the amount of the 
Participant Account shall be paid in the manner and to the person or persons so directed in the domestic 
relations order.  Such payment shall be made without regard to whether the Participant is eligible for a 
distribution of benefits under the Plan.  The Administrator shall establish reasonable procedures for 
determining the status of any such decree or order and for effectuating distribution pursuant to the 
domestic relations order. 
 


7.5 IRS Levy 
 
Notwithstanding Section 7.3, if a Participant or Beneficiary is entitled to a distribution in accordance with 
Section 5, the Administrator may pay from a Participant's or Beneficiary's Account the amount that the 
Administrator finds is lawfully demanded under a levy issued by the Internal Revenue Service with respect 
to that Participant or Beneficiary or is sought to be collected by the United States Government under a 
judgment resulting from an unpaid tax assessment against the Participant or Beneficiary. 







15 
 


 
 7.6 Distribution for Minor Beneficiary or Incompetent 
 
If a Participant or Beneficiary entitled to receive any benefits hereunder is a minor or is adjudged to be 
legally incapable of giving valid receipt and discharge for such benefits, or is deemed so by the 
Administrator, benefits will be paid to such person as the Administrator may designate for the benefit of 
such Participant or Beneficiary.  Such payments shall be considered a payment to such Participant or 
Beneficiary and shall, to the extent made, be deemed a complete discharge of any liability for such 
payments under the Plan. 


 
7.7 Mistaken Contributions 


 
If any contribution (or any portion of a contribution) is made to the Plan by a good faith mistake of fact, 
then within one year after the payment of the contribution, and upon receipt in good order of a proper 
request approved by the Administrator, the amount of the mistaken contribution (adjusted for any income 
or loss in value, if any, allocable thereto) shall be returned directly to the Participant or, to the extent 
required or permitted by the Administrator, to the Employer. 
 


7.8 Procedure When Distributee Cannot Be Located 
 
The Plan Administrator shall make all reasonable attempts to determine the identity and address of a 
Participant entitled to benefits under the Plan.  For this purpose, a reasonable attempt includes the 
following: 
 


(a) the mailing by certified mail of a notice to the last known address of the missing individual 
shown on the Employer’s or the Plan Administrator's records; 


 
(b) the mailing of a letter to the missing individual following the employer and administrator(s) 


of related plans searching their records for a more current address; 
 
(c) the mailing of a letter to the missing individual after identifying and contacting any 


beneficiary of the missing individual designated in accordance with applicable law for a more current 
address for that missing individual; 


 
(d) reasonable use of Internet search tools that do not charge a fee (including Internet search 


engines, public record databases (such as those for licenses, mortgages and real estate taxes), obituaries 
and social media) for a more current address for the missing individual, and  


 
(e)  such other attempts as may be provided under applicable law. 
 


If, despite these attempts, the individual has not responded within a reasonable period of time, or if there 
has been no claim made for such benefits, the Investment Product shall continue to hold the benefits due 
such individual, with investment direction provided by the Plan Administrator, under the Plan.  In the event 
a Participant is located subsequent to his benefit being held in such account, such benefit shall be 
restored, including any applicable interest, and paid, to the individual in accordance with this Article VII. 
 


7.9 Governing Law 
 
The Plan will be construed, administered and enforced according to the Code and the laws of the State in 
which the Employer has its principal place of business. 







16 
 


 
7.10 Headings 


 
Headings of the Plan have been inserted for convenience of reference only and are to be ignored in any 
construction of the provisions hereof. 
 


7.11 Gender 
 
Pronouns used in the Plan in the masculine or feminine gender include both genders unless the context 
clearly indicates otherwise. 
 


7.12 Approval by Internal Revenue Service 
 
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if, pursuant to a timely application filed by or on behalf of 
the Plan, the Commissioner of the Internal Revenue Service or his delegate should determine that the 
Plan does not initially qualify as a tax-exempt plan under Code Sections 401 and 501, and such 
determination is not contested, or if contested, is finally upheld, then if the Plan is a new plan, it shall be 
void and all amounts contributed to the Plan, by the Employer, less expenses paid, shall be returned within 
one year and the Plan shall terminate.  If the disqualification relates to an amended plan, then the Plan 
shall operate as if it had not been amended and restated.  In the event that a contribution is made to the 
Plan conditioned upon qualification of the Plan as amended, such contribution must be returned to the 
Employer upon the determination that the amended Plan fails to qualify under the Code. 
 
This Specimen Document, consisting of a Plan document and Adoption Agreement, is for illustrative 
purposes only, presented by Voya for the consideration of a plan sponsor's legal counsel.  This Specimen 
Document reflects a number of the special rules applicable to governmental 401(a) qualified plans.  
Because of differences in facts, circumstances, and laws of various states, interested parties should 
consult their own attorneys or tax advisors.  The client's counsel alone must decide whether this specimen 
or any portion thereof should be used in any particular set of circumstances.  This Plan has not been 
reviewed or approved by the Internal Revenue Service.  You should discuss with your legal counsel the 
submission of the Plan to the IRS for a Determination Letter.  This is the sole responsibility of the client. 


 
This Specimen Document includes a number of provisions which are optional, or as part of which there 
are different options that may be selected.  Such provisions are generally indicated on the Adoption 
Agreement.  This does not mean that other provisions may not also be optional, or that other options may 
not be available.  As indicated above, the selection of appropriate options is solely the responsibility of the 
plan sponsor and should be done only after consulting with the client's own knowledgeable counsel. 
 
 
 
Copyright 2019 Voya 


 












 
 


 


 


FERGUSON 


TOWNSHIP 


GREENHOUSE 


GAS INVENTORY 
Methodology Report 


ABSTRACT 
This inventory report describes the methodology 
employed to create Ferguson Township’s greenhouse 
gas emissions inventory for a baseline year of 2016.   


Ferguson Township Climate Action 
Committee 
Dave Cullmer, Jason Grottini, Brandi Robinson (Chair), 
and Tip Stama 


  







2 
 


Credits and Acknowledgements 
 


Pam Adams, Current Sustainability Planner, Centre Region Planning Agency 
Colleen Barrett, Former Sustainability Planner, Centre Region Planning Agency  
Peter Buck, Former Chair of the Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Dave Pribulka, Township Manager, Ferguson Township 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


This report was prepared by the Ferguson Township Climate Action Committee. The authors would like 
to thank Ferguson Township staff for providing much of the insight and local information necessary for 
the completion of this report. 


 







3 
 


Contents 
Executive Summary 5 


Climate Change: Causes and Consequences 6 


Evidence of Human-Caused Climate Change 6 


Regional and Local Impacts 8 


Climate Action Process 9 


ICLEI Climate Mitigation Program 9 


Inventory Overview 11 


A snapshot of Ferguson Township’s Emissions 11 


Significantly Influenced Emissions Frame 12 


Community Emissions Protocol 12 


Scoping Process: deciding where to draw lines around emissions 13 


Suggestions for Future Inventories 13 


Greenhouse Gas Inventory Methodology 14 


Understanding Our Baseline is Key to Reducing It 14 


Quantifying Greenhouse Gas Emissions 14 


Sources and Activities 14 


Base Year 14 


Emissions Calculation Method 15 


Stationary Energy 15 


Electricity 15 


Natural Gas 17 


On-site fuels 17 


Transportation 18 


Vehicle Miles Traveled 18 


Public Transit Miles 19 


Emissions Sources 19 


Solid Waste 20 


Water and Wastewater 21 


On Lot Septic 21 


Water Treatment 21 


Agriculture 23 


Livestock Emissions 23 


Farmland Management Emissions 24 







4 
 


Beyond the Inventory:   Thinking Ahead to Climate Action 24 


Sustainability & Climate Change Mitigation Activities in Ferguson Township 25 


Summary 26 


Appendix A: Community Inventory Details 27 


Table A-1: summary of the activity sources and emissions data included in the community GHG emissions 
inventory 27 


Table A-2: summary of the emissions sources and activities that are included in the community inventory, 
as well as those potential sources that are excluded 28 


Table A-3: calculation methods and data sources for each included activity and source 32 


Appendix B: Reference Materials 37 


 


  







5 
 


 


Executive Summary 
Ferguson Township recognizes that greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from human activity are catalyzing 


profound climate change, the consequences of which pose substantial risks to the future health, wellbeing, 


and prosperity of our community. Furthermore, Ferguson Township has multiple opportunities to benefit 


by acting quickly to reduce community GHG emissions. Recommended actions to reduce emissions will 


provide ancillary benefits to Ferguson Township residents and the community as a whole by reducing 


energy and transportation costs, improving health, supporting local businesses, developing and promoting 


an economy centered around energy efficiency and good practices, thereby making the community an 


even more attractive place to live and locate a business. Additionally, Ferguson Township, as an early actor 


in climate action, helps to lead the way for other local municipalities in the areas.  


This inventory exercise was initiated by the June 2017 adoption of Resolution 2017-14, which was modeled 


after the Paris Climate Agreement. Members of the Paris Climate Agreement agree to limit the increase in 


global average temperature to “well below 2 degrees centigrade above pre-industrial levels” in addition 


to pursuing more ambitious reductions to limit that increase to 1.5 degrees centigrade, recognizing this is 


necessary to prevent the more catastrophic and irreversible impacts to both people and ecological 


systems, largely due to unlocking methane from the permafrost in a strong feedback loop which creates 


even further anthropogenic-forced warming. The resolution calls for the Township to develop and 


implement a strategy to achieve zero net emissions no later than 2050. After the resolution’s adoption, 


the Township convened a Climate Action Committee to inventory existing emissions and begin planning 


reduction strategies. This report provides estimates of community-wide greenhouse gas emissions 


resulting from activities in Ferguson Township in 2016. 


The inventorying and planning work of the Ferguson Township Climate Action committee has been 


informed by and is completed in close consultation with the Centre Region Planning Agency in an effort to 


align with regional inventorying methodology to ensure we can successfully benchmark emissions across 


municipalities and monitor the success of subsequent actions to reduce emissions.  


  







6 
 


Climate Change: Causes and 
Consequences 
Evidence of Human-Caused Climate Change 


The greenhouse effect is a naturally occurring phenomenon by which the gases in the Earth’s atmosphere 


trap solar radiation.  The natural greenhouse effect warms the average temperature of the Earth by about 


60 degrees Fahrenheit, making life as we know it possible.  However, as human activity strengthens the 


greenhouse effect, so too do we alter the planet’s climate system. 


There is overwhelming scientific consensus that the global climate is changing, and that human actions, 


primarily the burning of fossil fuels, are the main cause of those changes. The Intergovernmental Panel on 


Climate Change (IPCC) is the scientific body charged with bringing together the work of thousands of 


climate scientists. The IPCC’s Fifth Assessment Report Summary for Policy Makers states that, 


“Anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions have increased since the pre-industrial era, driven largely by 


economic and population growth, and are now higher than ever. This has led to atmospheric 


concentrations of carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide that are unprecedented in at least the last 


800,000 years. Their effects, together with those of other anthropogenic drivers, have been detected 


throughout the climate system and are extremely likely to have been the dominant cause of the observed 


warming since the mid-20th century”i.  This builds on the earlier findings of the Fourth Assessment Report 


which states that, “warming of the climate system is unequivocal” and “most of the observed increase in 


global average temperatures since the mid-20th century is very likely due to the observed increase in 







7 
 


anthropogenic GHG concentrations”ii. 


 


Figure 1: Observed Changes in Temperature, Sea Level, and Northern Hemisphere Snow Cover 
Source: IPCC Fourth Assessment Report 


For the period 1880-2020, 2020 was the second warmest year of the period of record. This is not an 


anomaly, but instead part of a recent and persistent trend.  Per the National Oceanic Atmospheric 


Administration (NOAA), “the world’s seven-warmest years have all occurred since 2014, with 10 of the 


warmest years occurring since 2005”iii. The last year with a below average global temperature was 1976. 


The steady uptick in average temperatures is significant and expected to continue if action is not taken to 


greatly reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 







8 
 


Regional and Local Impacts 


The impacts of a changing climate are more complicated than higher temperatures.  In addition to more 


extreme heat and cold, extreme precipitation and its associated flooding, drought, more intense extreme 


weather events such as hurricanes, increased prevalence of vector-borne diseases, and loss of biodiversity 


are also impacts of a changing climateiv.  And while some of these impacts focus on the physical 


environment, many others have direct and indirect impacts on human health and well-being.   


While often framed as a challenge people and the planet will face in the future, the impacts of climate 


change are already affecting communities and people here in Central Pennsylvania.   


The Northeast has experienced a greater recent increase in extreme precipitation than any other region 


in the U.S.; between 1958 and 2010, the Northeast saw more than a 70% increase in the amount of 


precipitation falling in very heavy events (defined as the heaviest 1% of all daily eventsv. These trends are 


expected to continue in Pennsylvania, including Ferguson Township, which puts a burden on infrastructure 


and disrupts economic, social, and environmental systems. Other expected impacts to Ferguson Township 


include summer heat waves, temperature swings and odd seasonal time periods, which will disrupt 


ecosystems, habitats, and agricultural activities. Current impacts to Ferguson Township, and the greater 


State College Area are explained below. 


Climate change will increase the likelihood of extreme precipitation events and local Pennsylvania 


communities like Ferguson Township, will feel the effects. In 2018, severe weather caused an estimated 


$125 million worth of damage to infrastructure in Pennsylvania.vi As in 2018, if federal disaster relief 


cannot cover the total cost of repair, the burden will simply be passed to local municipalities and county 


agencies, impacting local taxpayers and property ownersvii.  


Agricultural impacts are already being felt today. Due to increased frequency and intensity of precipitation 


events, farmers are experiencing direct crop loss as a consequence. July 2018 was the wettest on record, 


resulting in flooding events that led to significant crop loss in Pennsylvania. This caused 61 counties 


(including Centre County) to apply for disaster relief through the USDA, thus forcing farmers to increase 


their debt burden if they looked to recoup lossesviii.    


However, severe weather and increasing temperatures will not only target infrastructure and agriculture, 


it will also lead to a greater prevalence of vector-borne diseases. Between 2004 and 2016, the frequency 


of these diseases nearly tripled nationally; starting at roughly 27,000 reported cases and increasing to 







9 
 


96,000 in 2016ix. At the state level, Pennsylvania has reported the highest total reported cases of Lyme 


disease in 2016 and 4 of the top 5 states with the highest totals reside in the Northeast. Climate change 


will lead to greater exposure risk as temperatures and precipitation rise, creating opportunity for breeding 


and transmissionx.  


Intense rainfall and severe weather events have also increased the preponderance of pathogens and 


fungus; in 2018, Corl Street Elementary closed to manage and mitigate a mold outbreak. Whereas, in 2016, 


East Pennsboro Area High, located near Harrisburg, was forced to close due to a mold outbreak worsened 


by extreme humidity and rainfallxi. According to the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental 


Protection, climate change will likely only exacerbate this issue. Temperature rise, coupled with increased 


precipitation, are main drivers of vector-borne diseases and pathogens that will negatively impact human 


health, agriculture, and outdoor recreationvii. 


Acknowledging these impacts, many communities in the United States have taken responsibility for 


addressing climate change at the local level. Reducing fossil fuel use in the community creates many 


ancillary benefits beyond emissions reduction. More efficient use of energy decreases utility and 


transportation costs for residents and businesses. Retrofitting homes and businesses to be more efficient 


creates local jobs. In addition, money not spent on energy is more likely to be spent at local businesses 


and add to the local economy. Reducing fossil fuel use improves air quality and increasing opportunities 


for walking and bicycling improves residents’ health. This frame of thinking promotes local sustainability 


by promoting “buy local”, farm to table establishments and cleaner, healthier living.  


In 2018, the IPCC released a special report, Global Warming of 1.5 degrees C, sending one of the strongest 


messages to date on the science of climate change and our ability to minimize its impacts to people and 


the systems on which we depend.  As the science of climate change becomes clearer, our actions to 


address it must be both swift and commensurate with that science.  


Climate Action Process 
ICLEI Climate Mitigation Program 


In response to the problem of climate change, many communities in the United States are taking 


responsibility for addressing emissions at the local level. The International Council for Local Environmental 


Initiatives (ICLEI) has taken a lead role in training and providing resources for local governments and 



https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/





10 
 


communities to take those that responsibility. ICLEI is a global network committed to building a sustainable 


future for planet earth. Since many of the major sources of greenhouse gas emissions are directly or 


indirectly controlled through local policies, local governments have a strong role to play in reducing 


greenhouse gas emissions within their boundaries. Through proactive measures around land use patterns, 


transportation demand management, energy efficiency, green building, waste diversion, and more, local 


governments can dramatically reduce emissions in their communities. In addition, local governments are 


primarily responsible for the provision of emergency services and the mitigation of natural disaster 


impacts.  


ICLEI provides a framework and methodology (Figure 2) for local governments to identify and reduce 


greenhouse gas emissions, organized along Five Milestones. 


This report represents the completion of ICLEI’s Climate Mitigation Milestone One for the community 


and provides a foundation for future work to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in Ferguson Township.  


Ferguson Township completed Milestone 2 first when it passed the resolution seeking to achieve net 


zero emissions by 2050.  For planning purposes moving forward, we will consider Milestone 2 to be 


establishing interim targets to support that larger goal. 


 


     


Figure 2: ICLEI Milestones for Inventorying and Planning 







11 
 


Inventory Overview 
A snapshot of Ferguson Township’s Emissions 
 
Ferguson Township completed the first milestone in the ICLEI process in 2018-2019 with the completion 


of its initial greenhouse gas emissions inventory for the 2016 baseline year.  In 2016, Ferguson Township’s 


emissions were 222,812 metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent (MTCO2e). 


The 222,812 metric tons is roughly an average annual carbon footprint of 12 tons per resident.  Figure 3 


below illustrates the six categories of emissions evaluated in this inventory.  The emissions total represents 


the equivalent of 48,137 passenger vehicles driven for a year or almost 21.9 million gallons of gasoline 


consumedxii.  Ferguson Township represents 27% of the Centre Region’s greenhouse gas emissions based 


on the Centre Region’s 2016 greenhouse inventory of 824,209 MTCO2e. 


 


Figure 3: Ferguson Township Emissions by Sector, 2016 
 







12 
 


Significantly Influenced Emissions Frame 


Ferguson Township has chosen first to focus on emissions over which the municipal government has 


significant influence. This frame emphasizes policy relevance, highlighting a set of emission sources and 


activities that Ferguson Township has the greatest opportunity to address. This fame includes all five of 


the Basic Emissions Generating Activities required by the US Community Protocol as well as agriculture.  


The largest contributor in this set is residential energy consumption with 35% of emissions. The next 


largest contributor is transportation and mobile sources with 24% of emissions. Actions to reduce 


emissions in these sectors will be a key part of a future township climate action plan. Additionally, 


commercial energy consumption accounts for 20% of community-wide emissions and is expected to 


provide considerable opportunity for emissions reductions through programs such as Commercial 


Property Assessed Clean Energy (C-PACE). Agriculture (11%), industrial electricity (6%), solid waste (3%), 


water and wastewater (1%), and were responsible for the remainder of significantly influenced emissions. 


Ferguson Township will focus on these emissions sources and activities in participating in regional climate 


action planning activities within the Township. 


Community Emissions Protocol 
 


This emissions inventory employs US Community Protocol for Accounting and Reporting of Greenhouse 


Gas Emissions, version 1.2.  This Community Protocol, updated by ICLEI in June 2019, helps local 


governments develop accurate and effective community inventories which can be compared against 


other communities’ inventories.  This protocol establishes reporting requirements and provides detailed 


accounting guidance for quantifying GHG emissions associated with emissions sources and community 


activities.   


The emissions values provided in this report are reported out as metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent 


(MTCO2e).  Individual greenhouse gases included in the ICLEI ClearPath calculator include carbon dioxide, 


methane, and nitrous oxide and the carbon dioxide equivalents are then derived for each gas based on 


established 100 year global warming potential values as published in the Intergovernmental Panel on 


Climate Change’s Fifth Assessment Report (AR5). The other three categories of greenhouse gases 


considered under the Kyoto Protocol – CFCs, PFCs, and sulfur hexafluoride are not included in this 


inventory due to a lack of available data. 



https://icleiusa.org/ghg-protocols/

https://www.dep.pa.gov/Business/Energy/OfficeofPollutionPrevention/FinancialOptions/Pages/C-PACE.aspx

https://www.dep.pa.gov/Business/Energy/OfficeofPollutionPrevention/FinancialOptions/Pages/C-PACE.aspx





13 
 


Scoping Process: deciding where to draw lines around emissions 
 


For the 2016 baseline inventory, the Ferguson Township Climate Action Committee identified five emissions 


sources to reflect the emissions associated with community activity: 


1. Stationary energy 


2. Transportation 


3. Solid Waste 


4. Water and Wastewater 


5. Agriculture 


The first four sources are required per the Community Emissions Protocol and the decision was made to also 


include agriculture because it is an activity of community significance in Ferguson Township.  These emissions 


sources are evaluated and cataloged for the following reasons: 


● Local government’s significant influence over the emissions-generating activity 


● Readily available data 


● Significant magnitude of the associated emissions 


● Common activity across US communities 


Emissions are delineated into scopes based on where the emissions physically occur in relation to where the 


accounting is occurring.  For this inventory, the Community Emissions protocol scopes for emissions are as 


follows: 


● Scope 1:  emissions from sources located within the township boundary 


● Scope 2:  emissions occurring as a result of the use of energy (grid-supplied electricity, heat, steam, 


cooling) within the township boundary 


● Scope 3:  all other emissions that occur outside the township boundary as a result of activities taking 


place within the township boundary 


Emissions sources or activities that cross outside the township boundary are applicable to multiple scope 


categories.  As an example, emission from solid waste are Scope 1, however the emissions from transporting 


that waste to a landfill and the subsequent emissions at the landfill are Scope 3. 


Suggestions for Future Inventories 
 


Consumption-based emissions:  The Committee recommends an attempt to account for consumption-based 


emissions in the next iteration of the inventory.  This framework provides a more complete picture of the total 


life cycle impacts of residents’ activities in the township.  Household consumption activity includes the use of 







14 
 


materials and services (such as food or purchased goods) as well as those sources already identified in this 


initial inventory.   


Refrigerant data:  The Committee recommends that Ferguson Township seek to establish a process by which 


refrigerant data is voluntarily collected and anonymously utilized.  


 


Greenhouse Gas Inventory Methodology 
Understanding Our Baseline is Key to Reducing It 


The first step toward achieving tangible greenhouse gas emission reductions requires identifying baseline 


emissions sources and activities in Ferguson Township. A government operations inventory was completed for 


the 2016 baseline year as well. This work was done by senior Energy and Sustainability Policy major at Penn 


State, Joshua Hunter in 2018.  


As local governments have continued to join the climate protection movement, the need for a standardized 


approach to quantify GHG emissions has proven essential so that resulting inventories represent comparable 


snapshots of a community’s overall impact. This inventory uses the approach and methods provided by the US 


Community Protocol for Accounting and Reporting of Greenhouse Gas Emissions.  


Quantifying Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
Sources and Activities 
 
Communities contribute to greenhouse gas emissions in many ways. This community inventory looks at 


emissions sources, which we define as any physical process inside the jurisdictional boundary that releases 


GHG emissions into the atmosphere as well as the use of energy, materials, and/or services by members of the 


community that result in the creation of emissions. By reporting on these emissions sources, local governments 


can develop and promote a deeper understanding of GHG emissions associated with their communities.  


Base Year 


The inventory process requires the selection of a base year with which to compare current emissions. Ferguson 


Township’s community greenhouse gas emissions inventory utilizes 2016 as its base year. The Committee chose 


2016 as the base year because it was the most complete recent year for which data was available at the onset 


of the inventorying process. The only exception to this was the Energy Use data in the water and wastewater 


category; 2017 data was readily available and used in this Report. It is not anticipated that there were any 


Community Emissions 


 



https://icleiusa.org/publications/us-community-protocol/

https://icleiusa.org/publications/us-community-protocol/





15 
 


strongly appreciable differences in that data from one year to the next based on discussion with operators in 


those sectors. 


Emissions Calculation Method 
 
All emissions sources in this inventory are quantified using calculation-based methodologies, some with 


extrapolation to the appropriate scale necessary, but documented with methodological approach. Activity data 


is used in conjunction with an emissions factor to determine emissions using this generalized equation:  


Activity Data  x  Emission Factor  =  Emissions 


Activity data refer to the relevant measurement of energy use or other greenhouse gas-generating processes 


such as fuel consumption by fuel type, metered annual electricity consumption, and annual vehicle miles 


traveled. Please see appendices for a detailed listing of the activity data used in composing this inventory. 


Known emission factors are used to convert energy usage or other activity data into associated quantities of 


emissions. Emissions factors are usually expressed in terms of emissions per unit of activity data (e.g. lbs 


CO2/kWh of electricity).  


For this inventory, activity data was entered into ICLEI’s ClearPath software. 


In Appendix A, Table A-3 provides details on data sources and emissions factors for each included emissions 


source. 


Stationary Energy 
 
Emissions in this category include any building energy use, mainly electricity (Scope 2) and natural gas (Scope 


1). Other stationary combustion fuels (such as fuel oil or propane) are included in the inventory but represent 


a smaller source of community emissions.  The remaining significant emissions sources related to buildings are 


fugitive emissions from the processing, storage, and transport of natural gas (which is included in the inventory) 


and escaping refrigerant gases from air conditioning and refrigeration units (which is not included due to lack 


of available data).  The Committee recommends effort to include refrigerant loss in future inventories due to 


the extremely high global warming potential values for refrigerants. 


Electricity 
 
Electricity emissions include all emissions that result from the generation of the electricity used within 


Ferguson Township.  West Penn Power, a First Energy Company, provided consumption and customer count 


data broken into residential /commercial / industrial uses as well as separate street lighting categories.   







16 
 


Emissions factors are from the 2016 EPA e-Grid for the Reliability First Corporation West (RFCW) subregion.  


The e-Grid subregions are defined by EPA to establish aggregated areas where the emissions rates most 


accurately match the generation and emissions from the plants within that subregion, recognizing that fuel mix 


and plant efficiencies vary widely across the US. 


Figure 4 below illustrates the RFCW fuel mix along with the national average. 


 


Figure 4: National and eGRID Subregion RFCW Fuel Mix 
Source:  EPA Power Profiler 


 


Note the heavier reliance regionally on coal than the national average.  While natural gas has increased its 


share of the fuel mix over the past two decades with the unconventional gas revolution, it still lags coal 


regionally. This has consequences for the emissions from electricity generation.  Figure 5 illustrates the pounds 


of carbon dioxide per megawatt hour of electricity produced with both the national average fuel mix and the 


RFCW fuel mix. 



https://www.epa.gov/energy/power-profiler#/RFCW





17 
 


 


Figure 5: National and Regional CO2 Emissions Rates from Electricity Generation 
Source:  EPA Power Profiler 


 


. 


Natural Gas 
 
Natural gas emissions include metered natural gas use for residential, commercial, industrial, governmental, 


and institutional buildings as well as estimated natural gas losses through the distribution of natural gas within 


the township.  Columbia Gas provided consumption and customer count data broken into residential, 


commercial, and industrial categories at the county level.  The data was then scaled down to the township level 


by using the 2012-2016 American Community Survey data and 2012 Economic Census of the US, both of which 


are supported by the US Census Bureau. 


On-site fuels 
 
The on-site fuels sector comprises fossil fuels burned on-location, primarily for residential and commercial 


heating.  Obtaining complete data on fuel oil, kerosene, wood, and other fuel use is currently not possible due 


to the nature of the distribution process, which involves many individual private suppliers.  As a result, the fuel 


use was estimated based on the following methods described below. 


Residential:  These values were determined based on census data from the U.S. Census Bureau’s 2012-2016 


ACS5 to first define the proportion of households in Centre County that utilize these fuels.  Then, state-level 



https://www.epa.gov/energy/power-profiler#/RFCW





18 
 


data from the U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA) was used to determine the annual per-household 


energy intensity for each fuel type (completed by dividing total statewide fuel use by the total number of 


households in PA using that fuel).  The energy intensity is then multiplied by the number of households in 


Ferguson Township using that fuel type. 


Commercial:  This data is more limited than that available for the residential sector.  Fuel oil is the only fuel 


that can be estimated.  Using local data from the Code Agency, the square footage of commercial space for the 


Centre Region was estimated, and then extrapolated to Ferguson Township.  Next, the regional data from US 


EIA is used to determine the proportion of those commercial buildings using fuel oil and determine the energy 


intensity (fuel oil gallons consumed per square foot).  The fuel consumed is calculated by multiplying this energy 


intensity by the estimated Ferguson commercial square footage. 


 


Transportation 
 
The transportation sector encompasses direct fossil fuel combustion emissions in on-road vehicles driven 


within the boundaries of Ferguson Township. The inventory focused on road-bound vehicular traffic as data 


from mobile off-road sources and fuel purchased for use in-township was not readily available. Ferguson 


Township does not have any water or rail transportation emissions sources, and aviation emissions from the 


University Park Airport were disregarded due to the inventory boundary (potential double-count) and lack of 


resident-specific travel data. Private aviation emissions may occur within the inventory boundary, such as 


agriculture applications or locally-stationed small aircraft, but data to recognize these sources was unavailable. 


For boundary purposes, only vehicular traffic within Ferguson Township’s geographic boundary was quantified 


for the emissions inventory, though pass-through traffic was included due to the nature of available data and 


conservative treatment. This likely represents a double-count risk due to overlap with Penn State’s inventory 


and other municipalities, counties, states, and governments that recognize transportation emissions beyond 


geographic boundaries from vehicles considered to be in their inventory scope. 


Vehicle Miles Traveled 
 
Vehicular Miles Traveled (VMT) within the Township boundary was determined by conducting a Geographic 


Information System (GIS) analysis of 2016 Pennsylvania Traffic Counts provided by the Pennsylvania 


Department of Transportation (PennDOT) and obtained through the Pennsylvania Spatial Data Access (PASDA) 


clearinghouse. PennDOT monitors and reports traffic volumes, both measured and calculated amounts, of 


vehicle traffic that travel sections of roads as well as the daily VMT. Both daily VMT (“DLY_VMT”), assumed to 


represent all vehicles not classified as a medium- or heavy-duty trucks (MDT and HDT, respectively), and daily 







19 
 


truck VMT (“DLY_TRK_VM”), were output for analysis from this GIS dataset. Information from PennDOT 


includes conflicting information on their definition of a truck for VMT reporting, and the inclusion of MDTs in 


this category was for conservative valuation in consideration of vehicle weights and design characteristics. 


The data set used to obtain daily VMT through GIS analysis only reports on PennDOT managed roadways; as 


such, the inventory increased the GIS output of VMT proportional to the ratio of VMT by Centre County travel 


jurisdiction reported in the 2016 Pennsylvania Highway Statistics. It was determined that, in Centre County, 


the total VMT was 12.7% higher than VMT on PennDOT managed only roads due to the inclusion of other 


agency and local municipality-managed roads. As such, VMT values reported in the GIS output were increased 


by this factor to conservatively estimate all traffic VMT and include traffic on non-PennDOT roads within the 


Township not accounted for by the analysis. 


Public Transit Miles 
 
The Centre Area Transportation Authority (CATA) operates a fleet of compressed natural gas (CNG) transit 


busses in the Centre Region (CATABUS), in addition to traditional gasoline and diesel fueled vans and small 


busses for rideshares (CATARIDE) and commuters (CATACOMMUTE). For the purposes of this inventory, only 


CATABUS was assessed for emissions generation as the other transportation services are properly captured by 


using the PennDOT VMT assessment. CATABUS emissions are assessed by mileage for CNG consumption, and 


the calculated VMT figure is deducted from truck VMT in the PennDOT VMT assessment to recognize avoided 


diesel emissions. 


At the timing of this assessment, CATA did not have records of natural gas consumed by the CATABUS fleet for 


revenue and non-revenue consumption, records of actual overall mileage and actual revenue mileage traveled 


(historic performance), or ridership by municipality. However, CATA does provide fiscal year budgets on their 


website (catabus.com), which forecasts revenue mileage allocated to municipalities by scheduled routes. Total 


revenue mileage and Ferguson Township’s percent share provided in “Revenue Mileage – Allocation to 


Municipalities” tables from the 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 fiscal year budgets are used and calendar year data 


extrapolated for inventory quantification. 


Emissions Sources 
 
In order to accurately reflect the emissions from different vehicle types and ages, further analyses were 


conducted using the 2016 Pennsylvania Highway Statistics report, 2016 Federal Highway Statistics report, IHS 


Markit reported average vehicle ages for passenger vehicles (12 years) and heavy trucks (14 years), and 


Argonne GREET Model for emissions factors. 







20 
 


From the 2016 Pennsylvania Highway Statistics report, we extracted information form one table to assess daily 


VMT by travel jurisdictions and extract Centre County data for interpolation to Ferguson Township roads, as 


previously discussed. 


From the Federal Highway Administration’s 2016 Highway Statistics publication, we extracted state-specific 


information from a number of tables including motor vehicle registrations (table MV-1), truck and tractor 


registrations (table MV-9), gasoline fuel sales (table MF-33GA), and special fuel sales (table MF-33F). From this 


information, we were able to determine the approximate ratio of passenger vehicles (PAX), light-duty trucks 


(LDT), heavy-duty trucks (HDT), and the associated fuel-type distribution and apply these ratios to VMT results. 


VMT broken down by vehicle category and fuel type for the 2016 inventory is reported in Appendix A, Table A-


3. 


Next, the Argonne National Laboratory GREET Life-Cycle Model (GREET) was used to determine the emissions 


profiles of the established vehicle and fuel distribution types. Each vehicle type was modeled based on the 


average vehicle year to determine the on-road average emissions factor for CO2, CH4, and N2O. For 


conservative modeling, gasoline consumed by on-road vehicles in the township was modeled as US blended 


reformulated gasoline (E10) and diesel was assumed to be a low sulfur US blend from crude. Biogenic and 


alternative fuels were not considered in this inventory due to a lack of data and conservative preferences. 


Solid Waste 
 
The Centre County Refuse and Recycling Authority (CCRRA) provided solid waste data which includes 


residential, commercial, and construction and demolition waste from Ferguson Township.  Because the waste 


disposal is not uniform, it was characterized based on the 2003 PA Statewide Waste Composition Study, using 


the Northcentral Region’s data.   


Landfill emissions are unique among sources of emissions in that the emissions are generated over long periods 


of time from the activity that caused them.  Following the Community Protocol, the inventory method 


attributes future landfill gas generation to the inventory year in which the community’s waste was generated 


and deposited.  Emissions calculations include information on the landfill methane collection scenario and 


annual moisture content. 


The solid waste generated in Ferguson Township in 2016 was disposed of at the Advanced Disposal Greentree 


Landfill in Kersey, PA.  It has a high BTU gas cleaning plant onsite, treating about 6500 cubic feet per minute of 


landfill gas. After cleaning, about half of the landfill gas is sent down a 6.5 mile pipeline to a compressor station 


where it is tied into the National Fuel Interstate pipeline where it is sold as green power to power plants.  This 


landfill’s methane collection scenario was defined by Advanced Disposal as ‘Aggressive Collection’ which is 







21 
 


typical for a bioreactor.  The annual moisture content was defined as ‘Moderate’ for 20 to 40 inches per year 


based on historical weather data. 


 


Water and Wastewater 
 
Energy use data was obtained from the University Area Joint Authority for the 16-month period dating 


November 2016 through March 2018. Full calendar year 2016 data was not readily available, so the Climate 


Action Committee elected to substitute the 2017 data with the understanding that there were no anomalies 


in usage in either year which would lead to this not being a representative snapshot of anticipated activity data. 


Electric data for the main wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) and two sewage pumping stations located in 


Ferguson Township was provided. Data for the Scott Road and Piney Ridge pumping stations were entered 


directly into the inventory, as that energy is consumed fully within the Township boundary. The WWTP is 


located outside of the Township boundary, and therefore the following calculation was made to estimate how 


many kWh can be attributed to Ferguson Township: 


Ferguson Township has a WWTP service population of 16,482 people, 26% of the total regional WWTP service 
population. 


 


In 2017, the WWTP consumed 11,124,326 kWh.  Scott Road pumping station consumed 105,695 kWh. Piney 
Ridge consumed 27,736 kWh. 


(11,124,326 kWh/yr * 0.26) + 105,695 kWh/yr + 27,736 kWh = 3,025,755 kWh/yr 


 


To calculate volume of water treated attributed to Township residents, the WWTP has an average daily flow 
of 4.93 MGD. 


4.93 million gallons per day x 365 days x 0.26 = 469 million gallons per year 


 


On Lot Septic 
 
Data provided by the Centre Region Council of Governments (COG) showed that 896 septic tanks located in 


the Township were inspected in 2016. According to the 2016 US Census American Community Survey, the 


average household size in the Township is 2.54 people. The total Township population served by on-lot septic 


systems: 


896 septic tanks x 2.54 people/household = 2,275 people 


Water Treatment 
 







22 
 


Energy use data was obtained from the State College Borough Water Authority for a 12-month period dating 


January 2017 through December 2017. Electric data for nine facilities located in Ferguson Township, as well as 


data from the main water treatment plant (WTP) not located within the facility was entered into the inventory. 


Energy use for the nine facilities located within Township boundaries include three wellfields, three water 


pumping stations, and three above ground storage tanks. The WTP is located outside of the Township 


boundary, and therefore the following calculation was made to estimate how many kWh can be attributed to 


Ferguson Township: 


Ferguson Township has a service population of 16,482 people, 26% of the total regional service population. 


In 2017, the WTP consumed 1,160,323 kWh. 
 


(1,160,323 kWh/year * 0.26) = 301,683 kWh/year 
 


In 2017, the other nine water facilities consumed the following: 


Wellfield #4 - 335,200 kWh Pump Station #2 - 21,760 kWh Tank #1 - 1,833 kWh 


Wellfield #5 - 158,401 kWh Pump Station #4 - 24,714 kWh Tank #5 - 1,775 kWh 


Wellfield #7 - 27,600 kWh Pump Station #6 - 4,799 kWh Tank #9 - 7,988 kWh 


Total - 584,070 kWh 


 


The total electric consumption attributed to water treatment in the Township is calculated: 


 


301,683 kWh/yr + 584,070 kWh/yr =  885,753 kWh/yr  


 


The total annual volume of water delivered to Township residents was provided by the State College Borough 


Water Authority and can be found in their Annual Report. That value is 382.89 million gallons per year. 


  







23 
 


Agriculture 
 
The agriculture sector potentially accounts for a significant volume of greenhouse gas emissions for many 


farming communities; however, methodologies for quantifying numerous emissions-generating activities are 


uncommon or unproven. As such, this inventory assesses methane and nitrous oxide emissions from livestock 


and farmland management activities using well-established quantification methods to estimate emissions from 


livestock waste decay and fertilizer use. 


Fuel consumption for agricultural equipment was not readily available and subsequently passed over in this 


process, though it may represent a small amount of off-road emissions unaccounted for by this inventory. 


Livestock Emissions 
 
Two primary sources of emissions are estimated in this inventory from livestock management: manure 


management and enteric fermentation. The most prominent livestock categories in Centre County are cattle, 


swine, equine, and poultry operations. For this inventory, animal populations were extrapolated at the county 


level from the 2007 and 2012 USDA NASS Ag Census and estimated for the Township using local farmland ratio 


factors of Agriculture Security Areas. Moreover, quantification was focused on two emissions-intensive animal 


categories, cattle and swine, as other categories contribute only a small portion of agriculture emissions due 


to animal type and management practices. 


In livestock agriculture, manure is a nutrient rich waste product that may be managed in numerous ways at 


animal rearing operations. Typically, manure is either stored in pits where the manure is left to decompose 


under anaerobic conditions or promptly spread on farm fields to decay under aerobic conditions. In either 


treatment, the waste product is commonly applied to crop fields leveraging its nutrient rich composition to 


supplant synthetic fertilizers. Each treatment has economic and environmental benefits and pitfalls, but the 


practicality of storing the manure anaerobically makes it common practice at most farming operations. Without 


further field analysis and farmer interviews, this inventory conservatively assumes cattle and swine operations 


predominantly utilize anaerobic manure storage and treatment practices, a higher emissions-intensive practice 


than the alternatives, as assesses the emissions rates by animal populations using revised 2017 USDA emissions 


factors and ICLEI emissions factors, where appropriate. 


The second source of livestock emissions estimates methane from enteric fermentation, the process of 


microbial fermentation in ruminant animal digestion. Cattle are the only common ruminants raised in Ferguson 


Township and are the only animal category assessed for enteric methane emissions in the inventory. 







24 
 


Farmland Management Emissions 
 
Second to emissions from livestock management, fertilizing farm soils accounts for a significant rate of nitrous 


oxides deposited in the atmosphere from agriculture. While direct nitrous oxide emissions from managed soils 


are still difficult to quantify, the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories provides 


estimated ranges for nitrogen additions from fertilizers, organic soil amendments, crop residues, and 


mineralized nitrogen due to soil carbon loss. Additionally, the Pennsylvania Department of Agriculture reports 


the tonnage of fertilizer produced by county; this data was assumed to represent Centre County usage and 


scaled down to the Township level based on Agriculture Security Areas. 


 


Beyond the Inventory:   
Thinking Ahead to Climate Action 
An initial inventory is a crucial step in understanding Township-related greenhouse gas emissions, which then 


allows for focused efforts to reduce those emissions in corresponding sectors. What are the next steps for 


Ferguson Township? 


● Provide public access to the inventory and all associated reports (existing and forthcoming) on the 


Ferguson Township website 


 


At the outset of this work, Ferguson Township, along with State College Borough, were the only municipalities 


in the region undertaking this work or these ambitious reduction targets.  However, in 2018, the Centre Region 


began its own emissions inventorying process and is finalizing a regional Climate Action and Adaptation Plan 


later in 2021.   


● Form a subsequent committee of resident volunteers to evaluate proposed climate actions for 


Ferguson Township and to work directly with the ongoing Centre Region efforts.  


● Establish interim GHG emissions reduction targets by sector for years 2030 and 2040. 


● Implement reduction strategies to achieve targets in support of Ferguson’s 2017-14 Resolution and 


the Centre Region’s Climate Action and Adaptation Plan.   


● Track progress on implemented reduction strategies. 


● Review township ordinances to understand possible opportunities to support climate actions as well 


as identify opportunities to enhance local policy’s ability to incentivize climate action. 







25 
 


● Collaborate with the Centre Region COG to contribute to regular inventorying updates.  Consider 


another township-specific inventory for 2022 and every 5 years subsequent to that. 


 


These steps will be accomplished through the following means: 


● Working cooperatively with Township leaders, businesses, and the community to lower GHG 


emissions. 


● Aligning our actions, targets, and goals with other local, state, and federal initiatives, such as the 


Centre Region Climate Action and Adaptation Plan and Governor Wolf’s Executive Order 2019-01.  


● Continuing close communication and coordination with the Centre Region Council of Governments 


Office of Planning, the State College Borough and the surrounding Townships of Harris, Patton, 


Halfmoon and College, as well as the Pennsylvania State University.  


● Engaging the Ferguson Township community to identify concerns and opportunities related to the 


impacts of climate change as well as the strategies to decrease emissions and ensure resiliency. 


● Encouraging climate-friendly development in our community by supporting developers who employ 


best building practices that are environmentally friendly, energy efficient, promote natural lighting 


and are positioned to accept renewable resources. 


 


Sustainability & Climate Change Mitigation Activities in Ferguson Township 
 
Ferguson Township has already implemented programs that have or will lead to ancillary benefits in the 


form of energy conservation and greenhouse gas mitigation; the more pertinent activities include: 


Already completed: 


● Adopted Ferguson Township Resolution 2017-14, which commits the Township to develop and 


implement a strategy to achieve net zero greenhouse gas emissions no later than 2050. 


● Converted all Township owned and operated outdoor lighting, including street and traffic lights, 


to LED technology. 


● Endorsed the Pennsylvania Cap and Trade Petition as proposed in November 2018. 


● Purchased a Chevy Bolt through a 2018 application to the Alternative Fuels Incentive Grant 


Program.  Installed a 2-port charging station at the Township office with one port dedicated to 


the township vehicle and the other open to the public.  


● Included low-impact development standards in the most recent Zoning Ordinance.  


In progress: 







26 
 


● Constructing the Ferguson Township Public Works Building with plans to install rooftop solar PV.   


● Considering a draft ‘green infrastructure policy’ for public parks to encourage native and low-mow 


landscaping in some passive grass parks areas.  


● The Township, through engagement with local developers, is encouraging “environmentally 


friendly” development districts, which includes constructing manufactured homes using recycled 


materials and situating structures on lots to maximize southerly exposure. The Township’s 


planned Public Works Building and Whitehall Park Regional Pavilion will be aligned to accept 


rooftop solar arrays and maximize sunlight potential.   


● Pending adoption of a policy for using only environmentally responsible cleaning products within 


Township facilities. 


 


Summary 
This inventory marks completion of Milestone One of the Five Milestones for Climate Mitigation. The next 


steps are to set incremental emissions reduction targets between the present and 2050’s net zero target, 


and to develop a climate action plan that identifies specific quantified strategies that can cumulatively 


meet that target. Ferguson Township should continue to track key energy use and emissions indicators on 


an ongoing basis. While ICLEI recommends completing a re-inventory at least every five years to measure 


emissions reduction progress, the Climate Action Committee recommends updating the inventory every 


three years. The Climate Action Committee recommends that Ferguson Township continue to work in 


close partnership with the Centre Region Council of Governments, which is developing a regional climate 


action and adaptation plan after having completed a 2016 baseline inventory as well.  Successful mitigation 


of emissions and adaptations to observed and expected climate change impacts will necessitate a 


concerted effort across municipal boundaries. Subsequent inventorying at the regional scale will provide 


sufficient data for monitoring successful implementation of reduction strategies and ensures that 


Township staff and volunteer committee members from the community can focus their attention to action 


implementation rather than duplicating inventorying efforts. 


 


  







27 
 


Appendix A: Community Inventory Details 
 


Table A-1: summary of the activity sources and emissions data included in the community GHG emissions 
inventory 
 


A-1:  2016 GHG EMISSIONS INVENTORY FOR FERGUSON TOWNSHIP 
Sector Fuel or Source Usage Usage Units MTCO2E 


Residential 
Energy 


Electricity 98,470,673 kWh 55,911 
Natural Gas 289,154 MMBtu 15,376 
Propane 11,710 MMBtu 727 
Distillate Fuel Oil No. 2 77,806 MMBtu 5,792 


Residential Energy Total:  77,997 
Commercial 
Energy 


Electricity 63,512,987 kWh 36,062 
Natural Gas 157,689 MMBtu 8,385 
Distillate Fuel Oil No. 2 1,452 Gallons 15 


Commercial Energy Total:  44,462 
Industrial Energy Electricity 24,767,506 kWh 14,063 


Industrial Energy Total:  14,063 
Transportation & 
Mobile Sources 


CNG (CATA) 12,532,041 SCF 705 
PAX Cars & Motorcycles – gasoline 48,798,734 VMT 18,839 
LDT Trucks, Vans & Other – gasoline 16,316,172 VMT 10,263 
LDT SUVs – gasoline 28,579,153 VMT 14,966 
LDT Trucks, Vans & Other – diesel 4,863,220 VMT 2,777 
Heavy & Medium Duty Trucks – diesel 3,395,318 VMT 5,944 


Transportation & Mobile Sources Total:  53,494 
Solid Waste Waste Sent to Landfill 15,394 Tons 6097 


Collection & Transportation 461 
Process Emissions from landfilling 252 


Solid Waste Total:  6,810 
Water & 
Wastewater 


Water Supply Energy – electricity 824,161 kWh 468 
Wastewater Supply Energy – electricity 3,025,756 kWh 1,718 
Septic Tank Biogenic Emissions 2,276 people 247 


Waste and Wastewater Total:  2,433 
Agriculture Enteric Fermentation 2,289 Cattle 13,577 


Manure Management 6,179 Livestock 7,487 
Fertilizer Application 31,653 Acres Cultivated 2,679 


Agriculture Total:  23,743 
 


TOTAL 2016 FERGUSON TOWNSHIP GHG EMISSIONS:  222,812 MTCO2E 







28 
 


Table A-2: summary of the emissions sources and activities that are included in the community inventory, as well as those potential sources that 
are excluded 
 


SI – Local Government Significant Influence        |        CA – Community-wide Activities       |           HC – Household Consumption 


IE – Included Elsewhere        |        NE – Not Estimated       |           NA – Not Applicable        |         NO – Not Occurring 


 


A-2:  SUMMARY OF INCLUDED AND EXCLUDED COMMUNITY EMISSIONS 


Emissions Type 
  


Source or 
Activity? 


Required 
Activities 


Included under 
reporting 


frameworks: Excluded (IE, 
NA, NO, or NE) Explanatory Notes Emissions 


(MTCO2e) 


SI CA HC 


  Stationary Energy – Built Environment 


Use of fuel in residential and commercial stationary 
combustion equipment 


Source & 
Activity X X   X       6,534  


Industrial stationary combustion sources Source        NO  No industrial facilities in the community    


Electricity 


Power generation in the community Source         NO  No power plants in the community    


Use of electricity by the community Activity X   X X        106,036  


District 
Heating/ 
Cooling 


District heating/cooling facilities in the 
community 


Source 
         NO No sources in the community    


Use of district heating/cooling by the 
community 


Activity 
        NO  No sources in the community   


Industrial process emissions in the community Source         NO No industrial facilities in the community    


Refrigerant leakage in the community Source        NE  No data available    







29 
 


  Transportation and Other Mobile Sources  


On-road 
Passenger 


Vehicles 


On-road passenger vehicles operating 
within the community boundary 


Source 
X  X  X        


46,845  


On-road passenger vehicle travel 
associated with community land uses 


Activity 
        IE  


Obtained data for alternative method TR 1.B (source data, not 
activity)  


  


On-road 
Freight 


Vehicles 


On-road freight and service vehicles 
operating within the community 


boundary 


Source 
X X  X        


5,944  


On-road freight and service vehicle 
travel associated with community land 


uses 


Activity 
       IE  


Obtained data for alternative method TR 1.B (source data, not 
activity)   


  


On-road transit vehicles operating within the 
community boundary 


Source 
   X       Included CATA data  


705  


Transit Rail 


Transit rail vehicles operating within the 
community boundary  


Source 
         NO No rail transit  


  


Use of transit rail travel by the 
community  


Activity 
       NE  No data available  


  


Inter-city passenger rail vehicles operating within the 
community boundary 


Source 
         NO No passenger rail 


  


Freight rail vehicles operating within the community 
boundary 


Source 
        NE  No data available 


  


Marine 


Marine vessels operating within the 
community boundary 


Source 
        NO  No waterways in community  


  


Use of ferries by the community  Activity         NO  No waterways in community    


Off-road surface vehicles and other mobile equipment 
operating within the community boundary  


Source 
         NE No data available  


  


Use of air travel by the community Activity          NE No data available    







30 
 


  Solid Waste 


Solid Waste 


Operation of solid waste disposal 
facilities in the community 


Source 
        IE  Included our portion of the operations  


  


Generation and disposal of solid waste 
by the community 


Activity 
X X  X        


6,810  


  Water and Wastewater 


Potable 
Water - 


Energy Use 


Operation of water delivery facilities in 
the community 


Source 
X X  X       SCBWA 


468 


Use of energy associated with use of 
potable water by the community 


Activity 
            


  


Use of energy associated with generation of 
wastewater by the community 


Activity 
X  X  X        


1,718  


Centralized 
Wastewater 


Systems - 
Process 


Emissions 


Process emissions from operation of 
wastewater treatment facilities located 


in the community 


Source 
   X     NO Does not occur within Township boundary 


 


Process emissions associated with 
generation of wastewater by the 


community 


Activity 
         NO   


  


Use of septic systems in the community 
Source & 
activity   X   X       


 247 


  Agriculture 


Domesticated animal production Source     X      Includes enteric fermentation  13,577 


Fertilizer application Activity   X    2,679 


Manure decomposition and treatment Source      X       7,487  


Upstream Impacts of Community-Wide  Activities 







31 
 


Upstream impacts of fuels used in stationary 
applications by the community 


Activity 
         NE   


  


Upstream and transmission and distribution (T&D) 
impacts of purchased electricity used by the 


community 


Activity 
        NE    


  


Upstream impacts of fuels used for transportation in 
trips associated with the community 


Activity 
        NE    


  


Upstream impacts of fuels used by water and 
wastewater facilities for water used and wastewater 


generated within the community boundary 


Activity 
        IE   Included in water and wastewater operations 


  


Upstream impacts of select materials (concrete, food, 
paper, carpets, etc.) used by the whole community 


Activity 
        NE    


  


 


 


 







32 
 


 


Table A-3: calculation methods and data sources for each included activity and source 
 


Residential use of 
electricity 


Activity data Emissions factor Method 


Value Unit CO2 
lbs/MWh 


CH4 
lbs/GWh 


N2O 
lbs/GWh 


98,470,673 kWh 1243.4 108.19 18.59 Community Protocol Method 
BE.2.1 


Method and data source notes: 


West Penn Power provided cumulative electricity consumption for residential accounts in the Township.  Emissions 
factors from the EPA eGRID 2016 for RFCW region 


Commercial use of 
electricity 


Activity data Emissions factor Method 


Value Unit CO2 
lbs/MWh 


CH4 
lbs/GWh 


N2O 
lbs/GWh 


63,385,148 kWh 1243.4 108.19 18.59 Community Protocol Method 
BE.2.1 


Method and data source notes: 


West Penn Power provided cumulative electricity consumption for commercial accounts in the Township.  Emissions 
factors from the EPA eGRID 2016 for RFCW region.  Includes consumption from commercial, institutional, and 
governmental entities and street/stop lighting categories  


Industrial use of 
electricity 


Activity data Emissions factor Method 


Value Unit CO2 
lbs/MWh 


CH4 
lbs/GWh 


N2O 
lbs/GWh 


24,767,506 kWh 1243.4 108.19 18.59 Community Protocol Method 
BE.2.1 


Method and data source notes: 


West Penn Power provided cumulative electricity consumption for industrial accounts in the Township.  Emissions 
factors from the EPA eGRID 2016 for RFCW region.  Includes consumption industrial categories.  


 


Residential 
use of 
stationary 
combustion 
equipment  


Activity Data Emissions factor Method 


Fuel Type Value Unit CO2 
kg/MMBtu 


CH4 
kg/MMBtu 


N2O 
kg/MMBtu 


Natural Gas 289,154  MMBtu 53.02 0.005 0.0001 Community 
Protocol 
Method 
BE.1.1 


Distillate Fuel 2 77,806  MMBtu 73.96 0.01087 0.000724 


Propane 11,710  MMBtu 61.46 0.01099 0.001099 







33 
 


Method and data source notes: 


Columbia Gas provided natural gas consumption for Centre County and it was scaled down to the municipality.  Propane 
and distillate fuel estimates were obtained using the US Energy Information Administration (EIA) data for PA and scaling 
down to the municipality using the US Census – American Community Survey data. 


Commercial 
use of 
stationary 
combustion 
equipment  


Activity data Emissions factor Method 


Fuel Type Value Unit CO2 
kg/MMBtu 


CH4 
kg/MMBtu 


N2O 
kg/MMBtu 


Natural Gas 157,689 MMBtu 53.02 0.005 0.0001 Community 
Protocol 
Method 
BE.1.1 


Distillate Fuel 2 1452 gallons 73.96 0.01087 0.000724 


Method and data source notes: 


Columbia Gas provided natural gas consumption for Centre County which was then scaled down to the municipality. 
Distillate fuel estimates were obtained using the US Energy Information Administration (EIA) data for PA and scaling 
down to the Township using the US Census – American Community Survey data. 


Public 
Transit  
CATABUS 


 


Activity data Emissions factor Method 


Fuel Type Value Unit CO2 kg/scf  CH4  
g/mi 


N2O  
g/mi 


CNG 12,532,040.94  
 


SCF .0544  1.966 .0175 Community 
Protocol 
Method 
TR.4.a-b 


Method and data source notes: 


CATA provided fuel efficiency factors, revenue miles and data to calculate % of routes in Ferguson Township. Excluded 
routes operated specifically for Penn State commuters (included in PSU emissions) and routes outside the Township. 
CATARIDE and CATACOMMUTE emissions not included here but are included in on-road vehicle travel calculations due 
to methodology constraints. 


CATARIDE and CATACOMMUTE: For the purposes of this Public Transit inventory, only CATABUS was assessed for 
emissions generation as the other transportation services are properly captured by using the PennDOT VMT assessment 
for on-road vehicles using gasoline/diesel. Emissions from CATACOMMUTE are accounted for because the inventory is a 
pass-through model, and not an origination/destination model (data insufficient). 


Emission factors are from EPA GHG inventory guidance – Appendix B 


On-road 
passenger 
vehicle travel  


Activity Data Emissions factor Method 


Vehicle Type Value Unit CO2  
g/mi 


CH4  
g/mi 


N2O  
g/mi 


Passenger Cars 
(gasoline) 


48,798,733.97 VMT 380  0.01571 0.01903 Community-
specific 







34 
 


Light Duty 
(gasoline) 


16,316,172.25 VMT 600 0.05519 0.09262 GREET Model 
(2016) 


Light Duty SUV 
(gasoline) 


28,579,153.44 VMT 510 0.03779 0.04265 


Method and data source notes: 


Vehicular Miles Traveled (VMT) includes origination and pass-through traffic of automobiles, motorcycles, and light-duty 
vehicles. Emission factors calculated from region-specific GREET Emissions Model. 


On-road freight 
and service 
vehicle travel  


Activity Data Emissions factor Method 


Vehicle Type Value Unit CO2  
g/mi 


CH4  
g/mi 


N2O  
g/mi 


Light Duty 
(diesel) 


4,863,220.21 VMT 570 0.00278 0.00313 Community-
specific 
GREET Model 
(2016) 


Heavy Duty 
(diesel) 


3,395,318.39 VMT 1750 0.00481 0.00206 


Method and data source notes: 


Vehicular Miles Traveled (VMT) includes origination and pass-through traffic of automobiles, motorcycles, and light-duty 
vehicles.  Emission factors calculated from region-specific GREET Emissions Model. 


Generation 
of solid 
waste by 
the 
community 


Activity data Emissions factor Method 


Value Unit CO2 MT CH4 / ton MT N2O 
/ ton 


15,394.23 


MSW 


Tons Factor different for each waste type (see notes) Community Protocol 
Method SW.4  


Collection and Transportation: 0.014 MTCO2e/ton 


Processing: 0.0164 MTCO2e/ton 


Community Protocol 
Method SW.6 and SW.5 


Method and data source notes: 


Waste composition percentages are from the PA Statewide Waste Composition Study by PA Dept of Environmental 
Protection (April 2003) and reflect data from the year 2001. Download the report. 


Use of energy 
associated 
with use of 
potable 
water 


Activity data Emissions factor Method 


Value Unit CO2  CH4  N2O  


824,161 kWh 1243.4 


lbs/MWh 


108.19 
lbs/GWh 


18.59 


lbs/GWh 


Community Protocol 
BE.2.1 


Method and data source notes: 


Electricity consumption provided by State College Borough Water Authority. It is not included in the commercial 
electricity data. Emissions factors from the EPA eGRID 2016 for RFCW region. 


Activity data Emissions factor Method 



http://files.dep.state.pa.us/Waste/Recycling/lib/landrecwaste/recycling/documents/wastecompositionstudy.pdf





35 
 


Use of energy 
associated 
with 
generation of 
wastewater 


Value Unit CO2  CH4  N2O  


3,025,755.76 kWh 1243.4 
lbs/MWh 


108.19 
lbs/GWh 


18.59 
lbs/GWh 


Community Protocol 
WW.15 


Method and data source notes: 


Electricity consumption provided by University Area Joint Authority. This electricity data is not included in the 
commercial electricity data.  Emissions factors from the EPA eGRID 2016 for RFCW region 


Biogenic 
Emissions 
from septic 
tanks and 
wastewater 
treatment 


Activity data Emissions factor Method 


Value Unit CO2  CH4  N2O   


2275.84 people n/a 0.0482 MT CH4 / 
daily kg BOD5 


n/a Community Protocol 
WW.11 (alt) 


Method and data source notes: 


Population served: 896 septic tanks in Centre Region (Source: COG Code Agency--POC Kathy Woods) x 2.54 people 
(Source: 2016 US Census American Community Survey average household size in township) =7,723.98 people 


Emissions 
from 
Agriculture 
Activities 


Activity data Emissions factor Method 


Value Unit Process CH4  N2O  


2075 Dairy cows Enteric fermentation 158.7 kg/CH4/animal  Comm 
Protocol 
Method 
A1 
(Enteric 
Fermenta
tion) 


  Manure 137 kg/CH4/animal 0.07 kg 
N2O/animal 


Comm 
Protocol 
Method 
A2 


3636 Other cows Enteric fermentation 58 kg/CH4/animal  Comm 
Protocol 
Method 
A1 
(Enteric 
Fermenta
tion) 


  Manure 2.4 kg/CH4/animal 0.07 kg 
N2O/animal 


Comm 
Protocol 







36 
 


Method 
A2 


470 Swine Manure  15 kg/CH4/animal 0.108 kg 
N2O/animal 


Comm 
Protocol 
Method 
A2 


31,653 Acres 
cultivated 


Fertilizer 0 0.03 kg 
N2O/ton 


IPCC 
2006 
Chapter 
11 


Method and data source notes: 


Obtained data from (a) 2012 and 2017 Census of Agriculture reported by the Department of Agriculture and (b) the PA 
Department of Agriculture Bureau of Plant Industry Fertilizer report. Emissions factors are from 2006 IPCC Guidelines 
for National Greenhouse Gas Inventoriesxiii and from current research updating the emission factors for livestock 
management (Revised methane emissions factors and spatially distributed annual carbon fluxes for global livestock’xiv 


 
 


  







37 
 


Appendix B: Reference Materials 
 


ii IPCC, 2013: Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working 
Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. 
Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, 
Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. Accessed from: 
https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/WG1AR5_SPM_FINAL.pdf.  
 
ii IPCC, 2007: Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working 
Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. 
Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M.Tignor and H.L. Miller (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United 
Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. Accessed from: https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ar4-wg1-spm-1.pdf. 
 
iii National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.  2021.  2020 Was the Earth’s Second-Hottest Year, Just Behind 2016.  
Accessed from:  https://www.noaa.gov/news/2020-was-earth-s-2nd-hottest-year-just-behind-2016.  
 
iv USGCRP, 2018: Impacts, Risks, and Adaptation in the United States: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume 
II [Reidmiller, D.R., C.W. Avery, D.R. Easterling, K.E. Kunkel, K.L.M. Lewis, T.K. Maycock, and B.C. Stewart (eds.)]. U.S. Global 
Change Research Program, Washington, DC, USA, 1515 pp. doi: 10.7930/NCA4.2018. 
 
v Blake, E.S. & Kimberlain, T.B. & Berg, R.J. & Cangialosi, John & Beven, I.I.J.L.. (2013). Tropical cyclone report: Hurricane 
sandy. National Hurricane Center. 12. 1-10. 
 
vi Newton, Larissa.  2018.  PennDOT Estimates Over $105M in Flood, Slide Damages.  Pennsylvania Department of 
Transportation.  Accessed from: https://www.penndot.gov/PennDOTWay/Pages/Article.aspx?post=165.  
 
vii Shortle, J.S., Abler, D., Blumsack, S., Duncan, J., Fernandez, C., Keller, K., Zarekarizi, M., Nassry, M., Nichols, R., Royer, M., 
and Wrenn, D.  2020.  Pennsylvania Climate Change Impacts Assessment Update. Environment and Natural Resources 
Institute, The Pennsylvania State University.  Accessed from: 
http://files.dep.state.pa.us/Energy/Office%20of%20Energy%20and%20Technology/OETDPortalFiles/ClimateChange/2020Cl
imateChangeImpactsAssessmentUpdate.pdf.   
 
viii Office of Governor Tom Wolf.  (2019, March 25). Statewide Disaster Relief Approved for Pennsylvania Farms. [Press 
release].  Accessed from: https://www.governor.pa.gov/newsroom/statewide-disaster-relief-approved-for-pennsylvania-
farms/.  
 
ix Rosenberg, R., Lindsey, N. P., Fischer, M., Gregory, C. J., Hinckley, A. F., Mead, P. S., Paz-Bailey, G., Waterman, S. H., 
Drexler, N. A., Kersh, G. J., Hooks, H., Partridge, S. K., Visser, S. N., Beard, C. B., & Petersen, L. R. (2018). Vital Signs: Trends in 
Reported Vector-borne Disease Cases - United States and Territories, 2004-2016. MMWR. Morbidity and mortality weekly 
report, 67(17), 496–501. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6717e1 
 
x US Environmental Protection Agency. (n.d.). Climate Change Indicators: Lyme Disease.  Accessed from: 
https://www.epa.gov/climate-indicators/climate-change-indicators-lyme-disease.  
 
xi The Associated Press.  (2016).  Mold Closes East Pennsboro Schools.  Accessed from: 
https://www.ydr.com/story/news/2016/08/23/students-had-just-returned-monday-after-summer-vacation/89233438/.  
 
xii US Environmental Protection Agency.  (2020).  Greenhouse Gas Equivalencies Calculator.  Accessed from:  
https://www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse-gas-equivalencies-calculator.  
 



https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/WG1AR5_SPM_FINAL.pdf

https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ar4-wg1-spm-1.pdf

https://www.noaa.gov/news/2020-was-earth-s-2nd-hottest-year-just-behind-2016

https://www.penndot.gov/PennDOTWay/Pages/Article.aspx?post=165

http://files.dep.state.pa.us/Energy/Office%20of%20Energy%20and%20Technology/OETDPortalFiles/ClimateChange/2020ClimateChangeImpactsAssessmentUpdate.pdf

http://files.dep.state.pa.us/Energy/Office%20of%20Energy%20and%20Technology/OETDPortalFiles/ClimateChange/2020ClimateChangeImpactsAssessmentUpdate.pdf

https://www.governor.pa.gov/newsroom/statewide-disaster-relief-approved-for-pennsylvania-farms/

https://www.governor.pa.gov/newsroom/statewide-disaster-relief-approved-for-pennsylvania-farms/

https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6717e1

https://www.epa.gov/climate-indicators/climate-change-indicators-lyme-disease

https://www.ydr.com/story/news/2016/08/23/students-had-just-returned-monday-after-summer-vacation/89233438/

https://www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse-gas-equivalencies-calculator





38 
 


 
xiii IPCC (2006). 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas 
Inventories Programme, Eggleston H.S., Buendia L., Miwa K., Ngara T. and Tanabe K. (eds). Published: IGES, Japan.  Accessed 
from: https://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/2006gl/vol4.html.  
xiv Wolf, J., Asrar, G.R. & West, T.O. (2017). Revised methane emissions factors and spatially distributed annual carbon fluxes 
for global livestock. Carbon Balance Manage 12, 16 https://doi.org/10.1186/s13021-017-0084-y.  



https://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/2006gl/vol4.html

https://doi.org/10.1186/s13021-017-0084-y















































 


 


ORDINANCE NO. ________ 


 


AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA 
ESTABLISHING A UTILITY FEE FOR STORMWATER COLLECTION AND MANAGEMENT. 
 
 WHEREAS, The Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors is authorized under the 
Second-Class Township Code, and otherwise authorized and obligated under laws of the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania to regulate stormwater through its Municipal Separate Storm 
Sewer System (MS4) Permit; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the existing stormwater management system and infrastructure requires 
maintenance, repair, improvements, and replacement to meet current and future needs, including 
addressing increased precipitation and flooding events; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township, through its obligations under its Stormwater Management 
Ordinance and MS4 Permit requirements, maintains significant public-owned (either in fee or by 
easement) capital and operational infrastructure necessary to provide for water quality and rate 
control; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a comprehensive multi-phased analysis was completed to evaluate the 
feasibility, need, and structure of a proposed Stormwater Management Utility Fee; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the analysis included a sustained public input and community engagement 
campaign; the engagement of a stormwater advisory committee consisting of multiple 
stakeholders and interests; a multi-year needs assessment and alternatives analysis; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors hereby determines that a Stormwater Management 
Utility Fee is necessary to equitably and proportionately assess property owners in the Township 
for stormwater runoff contributed to the public system as a result of the impact of land 
development. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that the Ferguson Township Board of 
Supervisors hereby enacts and implements a Stormwater Management Utility Fee for the 
purposes of meeting the needs described herein and in accordance with the following provisions: 
 
Section 1 – Purpose and Policy. 
 
The Board of Supervisors finds that an adequate, sustainable source of revenue for stormwater 
management is necessary to protect the general health, safety, and welfare of the residents of 
the Township.  Further, the Board of Supervisors finds that higher amounts of impervious area 
contribute greater amounts of stormwater runoff and associated pollutants to the stormwater 
management system.  Therefore, the Board of Supervisors determines that it is in the best interest 
of the public to enact a stormwater utility fee that allocates stormwater management program 
costs to property owners based on impervious area. 
 


  







 


 


Section 2 – Definitions. 
 


A. Agricultural Properties – Properties that meet the definition of “agricultural use” as defined 
in Section 2 of the Act of December 19, 1974, known as the "Pennsylvania Farmland and 
Forest Land Assessment Act of 1974," regardless of whether the area is comprised of 
more than one deeded tract. 
 


B. Developed Parcel – A parcel that contains an impervious area equal to or greater than five 
hundred (500) square feet. 
 


C. Director – Refers to the Director of Public Works or his/her designee. 
 


D. Equivalent Residential Unit ("ERU") - The basic unit for the computation of Stormwater 
Program Fees.  An ERU is based on the analysis of all single-family-detached-residential 
properties within the Township and is the value of impervious area found on the median. 
It is 3,097 square feet of impervious area.  The ERU billing unit of 3,097 square feet is 
used to calculate the Stormwater Utility Fee for each parcel of developed property within 
the Township.  
 


E. Impervious Area - A surface that prevents the percolation of water into the ground. 
Impervious surfaces (or areas) shall include, but not be limited to:  roofs; additional indoor 
living spaces, patios, garages, storage sheds and similar structures; and any new streets 
or sidewalks.  Decks, parking areas, and driveway areas are not counted as impervious 
areas if they do not prevent infiltration. Gravel or crushed stone shall be considered 
impervious area when designed or primarily utilized to support vehicular traffic.  The 
Director may develop specifications for the mapping of impervious area for the purpose of 
this Article, including the establishment of a uniform threshold under which a contiguous 
unit of impervious area is considered de minimis and not subject to mapping. 
 


F. Owner - any person, individual, firm, corporation, entity, institution, partnership, trust, 
company, association, government agency, society, or group owning real property in the 
Township. 
 


G. Single-Family-Detached-Residential  ("SFDR") - Property which has been assigned a 
Residential  Land Use designation by the County of Centre Assessment and Tax Claim 
Office as "R" [Residential]  except those properties, or portions thereof, which are being 
used for non-single-family-detached residential purposes which include, but are not limited 
to, apartments, boarding houses, hotels and motels, churches, industrial properties, 
commercial and retail  properties, manufactured home or mobile home parks,  commercial   
and  office  buildings, storage areas, parking lots, private roadways, common areas as 
part of a condominium and/or planned community, and other impervious areas, parks, 
recreation  properties,  public  and  private schools  and  universities,  hospitals and  
convalescent  centers,  office  buildings,  government properties, and mixed-use 
properties. 
 


H. Stormwater - Drainage runoff from the surface of the land resulting from precipitation or 
snow or ice melt. 
 







 


 


I. Stormwater Management Program - The activities of the Township necessary to operate, 
maintain, enhance, and expand the stormwater management system and the activities 
necessary to carry out the Township’s municipal separate storm sewer system (MS4) 
permit and the stormwater-related provisions of the Stormwater Management Ordinance. 
 


J. Stormwater Management System - The system of runoff avoidance, infiltration, collection, 
and conveyance, including storm sewers, curbs, pipes, conduits, mains, inlets, culverts, 
catch basins, gutters, ditches, channels, detention ponds, streets, drains, and all devices, 
appliances, and stormwater management practices and facilities used for collecting, 
conducting, pumping, conveying, detaining, infiltrating, reducing, managing, avoiding 
generation of, and treating stormwater. 
 


K. Township Manager – Refers to the Township Manager or his/her designee. 
 
Section 3 – Stormwater Utility Fee Established. 
 


A. A stormwater utility fee shall be imposed on every developed parcel in the Township that 
appears in the Centre County parcel database as of October 31st of each year.  All 
stormwater utility fees shall be deposited into the Stormwater Management Fund of the 
Township described in Section 4. 
 


B. The rate per billing unit to be used for calculating the stormwater utility fee shall be 
established by Resolution of the Board of Supervisors and shall be reviewed annually.   


 
Section 4 – Stormwater Management Fund. 


The Stormwater Management Fund is established as a separate enterprise fund of the Township, 
which shall be used solely to cover the cost of the Township’s stormwater management program 
and maintaining the Stormwater Management System in the Township.  The fund shall consist of 
revenue generated by the stormwater utility fee and other deposits that may be made from time 
to time by the Board of Supervisors, including but not limited to federal or state grants and revenue 
from the sale of bonds.  All interest or other income derived from stormwater utility fees shall 
remain or otherwise be deposited into the fund. 


Section 5 – Stormwater Utility Fee Calculation. 
 


A. Unless otherwise specified in this Article, the stormwater utility fee for each SFDR parcel 
shall be calculated in the following manner: 
 


a. Determine the location of the parcel as either within or outside of the Regional 
Growth Boundary; 


b. Determine the product of one (1) ERU and the appropriate rate established by 
Resolution of the Board of Supervisors for parcels within or outside the Regional 
Growth Boundary; and 


c. Deduct any credits or exemptions for which the parcel qualifies.  
 


B. Unless otherwise specified in this Article, the stormwater utility fee for each non-SFDR 
parcel shall be calculated in the following manner: 
 







 


 


a. Determine the location of the parcel as either within or outside of the Regional 
Growth Boundary; 


b. Determine the impervious area of the parcel in square feet; 
c. Divide the impervious area of the parcel by 3,097 square feet to determine the 


number of ERUs assigned to the parcel; 
d. Round the resulting calculation using natural rounding to determine the whole 


number of ERUs; 
e. Multiply the number of ERUs by the rate established by Resolution of the Board of 


Supervisors for parcels within or outside the Regional Growth Boundary, to obtain 
the stormwater utility fee for the parcel; and 


f. Deduct any credits or exemptions for which the parcel qualifies.  
 


C. Impervious area held in common ownership shall be calculated using the methodology in 
Section 5(B), above.  The resulting stormwater utility fee will then be divided equally 
among parcels sharing common ownership.  The Township Manager may, on a case by 
case basis and at the request of an association representing the owners of the property 
under common ownership or the recommendation of the Director, implement alternative 
methodology for dividing the stormwater utility fee, including but not limited to an 
established par value. 
 


D. Stormwater Fee Calculation for Exempt Properties. Properties which are deemed eligible 
for a full or partial exemption as provided for in Section 7 shall have their fees calculated 
as described in the appropriate exemption policy. Unless otherwise noted, it shall be the 
responsibility of the property owner to request an exemption and demonstrate eligibility.  


 
Section 6 – Stormwater Utility Fee Credits. 
 


A. The Board of Supervisors shall adopt by Resolution a Stormwater Management Program 
Credit Policy Manual for reductions in the stormwater utility fee in recognition of practices 
that are targeted to reduce the cost of the Township’s stormwater management program.  
The types and amounts of credits are at the sole discretion of the Board of Supervisors.  
The credits shall be applied after determination of the stormwater utility fee in accordance 
with Section 5, above. 
 


B. The Director shall develop written policies and procedures necessary to implement the 
system of credits.  These policies and procedures shall include, but not be limited to, 
provisions to reduce or eliminate the amount of credit to a property owner if the Director 
determines that the BMP or credit feature or practice is not functioning as intended. 
 


C. The revenue source for the implementation of any credits established by the Board of 
Supervisors shall be separate and distinct from the stormwater management utility fee 
and shall be deposited by the Township from the General Fund into the Stormwater Fund. 
Nothing shall prevent the Board of Supervisors from modifying or eliminating any 
established credits. Any such modification or elimination may apply to beneficiaries of 
existing credit(s) at the discretion of the Board of Supervisors. 


 
  







 


 


Section 7 – Exemptions. 
 


A. The Board of Supervisors may adopt by Resolution as part of the Stormwater 
Management Utility Fee policies and procedures a hardship policy that reduces or 
eliminates the stormwater management utility fee for a property owner who demonstrates 
financial hardship as a result of the imposition of the stormwater management utility fee.  
 


B. The Board of Supervisors may adopt by Resolution as part of the Stormwater 
Management Utility Fee policies and procedures a policy to reduce the stormwater 
management utility assessed to Agricultural Properties whose total area of impervious 
surface does not exceed thirty percent (30%) of the property's total land area to a fee that 
does not exceed twice the median assessment fee imposed on all other properties in the 
township.  Dwelling units on agricultural lots shall be assessed separately.  
 


C. Notwithstanding Section 3.A. above, the following impervious area shall be exempt from 
the imposition of the stormwater utility fee: 
 


a. Streets,sidewalks and shared use paths contained in a Right-of-Way as defined in 
Chapter 22, Subdivision and Land Development; Section 202, Definitions and 
further referenced in Section 502, Streets; and 


b. Rail and associated rail ballast. 
 


D. The revenue source for the implementation of any exemptions established by the Board 
of Supervisors shall be separate and distinct from the stormwater management utility fee 
and shall be deposited by the Township from the General Fund into the Stormwater Fund. 
Nothing shall prevent the Board of Supervisors from modifying or eliminating any 
established exemptions. Any such modification or elimination may apply to beneficiaries 
of an existing exemption at the discretion of the Board of Supervisors. 


 
Section 8 – Billing, Interest, and Enforcement. 
 


A. The stormwater utility fee shall be billed each year on or before March 1 to the record 
owner of each parcel subject to the fee in combination with bill for real estate taxes.  If the 
property owner is making real estate tax payments on an installment basis as authorized 
in this ordinance, then the stormwater utility fee will be collected on the same schedule.  
Any portion of a stormwater utility fee that is unpaid as of the subsequent December 31st 
of each year the property owner or agent was billed shall be considered delinquent except 
if the unpaid stormwater utility fee is subject to an appeal in accordance with Section 9. 
 


B. The penalty assessed for delinquent fees will be 1.5% per month. 
 


C. In addition to any penalty assessed in Section 8(B.) above, any cost or fee incurred by the 
Township in conjunction with the collection of a delinquent fee shall be the responsibility 
of and paid by the owner of the subject parcel. 
 


D. A delinquent fee, along with cumulative penalties and collection costs or fees, shall 
constitute a lien on the parcel ranking on a parity with liens for unpaid real estate taxes 
and shall be handled in the same manner as provided for the collection of municipal liens. 







 


 


 
E. For properties exempt from the assessment of municipal liens, the Township reserves all 


rights pursuant to law to collect any delinquent fees. 
 
Section 9 – Appeal Process and Procedure. 
 


A. Any owner of a parcel who believes the provisions of this Article have been applied in error 
may appeal in accordance with this Section, provided, however, that grounds for appeal 
are limited to the following: 
 


a. An error was made regarding the square footage of the impervious area attributed 
to the parcel; 


b. The property is exempt under Section 7(C);  
c. There is a mathematical error in calculating the stormwater utility fee; 
d. The identification of the parcel owner invoiced is in error; and/or 
e. Disputes over the application or qualification of credits. 


 
B. The parcel owner shall complete and submit to the Township Manager a Stormwater Utility 


Fee Appeal Form in a format approved by the Township within thirty (30) days of the 
charge being mailed or otherwise issued to the owner (“appeal date”).  A Hearing Officer, 
designated by the Director, shall review the appeal for completeness and make a 
determination within fifteen (15) calendar days.  In the event that the Hearing Officer finds 
that the appeal is incomplete, the Hearing Officer shall offer the owner thirty (30) calendar 
days from the determination that the appeal is incomplete to supply the missing 
information.  If all information requested is not provided within the thirty (30) calendar days, 
the petition for appeal shall be deemed to have been withdrawn.   
 


C. Once the appeal has been determined to be complete, the Hearing Officer shall conduct 
a technical review of the alleged error and respond to the owner in writing within thirty (30) 
calendar days.  The Hearing Officer may deny the appeal or adjust the stormwater utility 
fee if it is found to be in error. 
 


D. A decision by the Hearing Officer that is adverse to the appellant may be further appealed 
to the Township Manager within thirty (30) days of the determination being mailed or 
otherwise issued to the owner.  The Township Manager shall review the determination of 
denial made by the Hearing Officer and either affirm, reject, or modify the determination.  
The Township Manager’s determination will be provided to the owner in writing by certified 
or registered mail within thirty (30) calendar days of receiving the denial appeal request. 
The Township Manager’s decision shall constitute the official municipal action subject to 
appeal as provided in Section E. 
 


E. Any person aggrieved by a decision of the Township Manager may further appeal to the 
Centre County Court of Common Pleas within thirty (30) days of receipt of such written 
final decision.   
 


F. If payment is not made within fifteen (15) calendar days after the expiration of the owner’s 
right to appeal in accordance with this Section or December 31st of each year, whichever 
date is later, or a decision that is adverse to the owner made by the Centre County Court 







 


 


of Common Pleas, the unpaid fee shall be considered delinquent and subject to the 
provisions of Section 8(B.) through Section 8(D.). 


 
Section 10 – Policies and Procedures. 
 


A. The Board of Supervisors may by Resolution adopt such policies and procedures it deems 
appropriate to ensure collection of stormwater utility fees imposed pursuant to this article. 
 


B. The Director may implement such administrative procedures necessary to implement the 
requirements set forth in this Article. 


 
Section 11 – Repealer. 
 
Any and all previous Ordinance(s) or parts thereof which are inconsistent with the terms and 
provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 
Section 12 – Severability. 
 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, provision, or portion of this Ordinance is 
found to be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be 
deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision. Such decision shall not affect the validity 
of the remaining portions of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 13 – Effective Date. 
 
This Ordinance shall become effective on January 1, 2022.  
 
ORDAINED and ENACTED this _______ day of _______ 2021. 


 


      TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


       


      By: _________________________ 
       Laura Dininni, Chair 
       Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
                           [ S E A L ] 


ATTEST: 


 


 


___________________________ 
David G. Pribulka, Secretary   













 


 


 


 


RESOLUTION NO. ________ 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, 
PENNSYLVANIA ESTABLISHING A CREDIT POLICY MANUAL FOR THE STORMWATER 
MANAGEMENT UTILITY FEE AS DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “A” AND ATTACHED HERETO.
  


WHEREAS, the Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors adopted Ordinance #_____ 
on February 16, 2021 establishing a Stormwater Management Utility Fee for all property 
owners in Ferguson Township; and 
 


WHEREAS, the intention of the ordinance and fee is to offset the direct and indirect 
costs of stormwater management in Ferguson Township; and 
 


WHEREAS, a component of the Township’s stormwater management obligations is to 
encourage and incentivize best management practices for the conveyance and treatment of 
stormwater by property owners in the Township; 


 
WHEREAS, a Credit Policy Manual has been enabled by the ordinance to provide a 


mechanism for property owners to reduce their annual fee by invoking certain credits related to 
the reduction of the impact on public infrastructure and the cost of stormwater management to 
the Township. 
 


NOW THEREFORE, the Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors hereby establishes a 
Credit Policy Manual for the Stormwater Management Utility Fee attached hereto and made 
part of this Resolution as Exhibit “A”. 
 


RESOLVED this ___ day of ___________, 2021. 
 


 
TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


 
 
 
      By:__________________________________ 
           Laura Dininni, Chair 
           Board of Supervisors 
 
 
  [ S E A L ] 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
David G. Pribulka, Secretary 


 
 







TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


Your guide to reducing your stormwater fee and protecting 
Ferguson’s water resources. 


Township of Ferguson
Public Works Department 


February 9, 2021


Stormwater 


Management Program 


Credit Manual -2021 


Exhibit "A"







 


 


Ferguson Township 


Stormwater Protection Program 


Credit Manual 
 
 
Table of Contents 
 
Why manage stormwater? ...................................................................................................... 1 


Stormwater Protection Program ............................................................................................. 2 


 How is the fee calculated? 


 Can I reduce my bill? 


 Can the Township help if I want to improve my property? 


Credit Policy ............................................................................................................................ 5 


 How much credit can I get? 


 Credit calculator. 


 Structures serving homeowner associations. 


 How and when do I apply? 


 Do I need to re-apply for credits? 


 
 
Forms 
 
Credit Application Form 


Structure Certification Form 


 
 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 1 


Why manage stormwater? 


Stormwater is rain and melted snow that “runs off” the land.  In natural, undeveloped areas, soil 


absorbs and filters most of the stormwater in a process called infiltration.  The water that runs off 


the land in Ferguson Township impacts the Spruce Creek Watershed and Halfmoon Creek, 


Spruce Creek, Beaver Branch and Slab Cabin Run.  


During development, natural areas are replaced with roofs, driveways, sidewalks, and streets.  


These hard surfaces, called impervious surfaces, do not allow water to penetrate them.  


Stormwater runoff carries fertilizers, sediment, oil, grease, heavy metals, trash, and anything else 


deposited on impervious surfaces directly into the Township’s storm drain system and natural 


stream systems.  This can cause: 


 Erosion of streams and decreased water quality; 


 Contamination of downstream water quality and drinking water supplies; and, 


 Flooding, property damage, and damage to public storm drains. 


Ferguson Township is taking action to clean up our community’s polluted stormwater runoff and 


to make investments in our aging stormwater infrastructure.  Half of the Township’s pipes are 


corrugated metal pipe that has met or exceeded its projected life and is deteriorating.    This will 


not only help to improve water quality and our environment for future generations, but also help 


protect residents and private property from damage due to flooding. 


Did you know that Ferguson Township … 
 
 Maintains over 33 miles of pipe and channels, 2,000 


catch basins, and 56 miles of curbing to channel runoff 


safely from roadways? 


Half of pipe in the system is deteriorating because 


corrugated metal performance is at or near its useful life. 


 Plants and maintains over 5,000 street trees across the 


Township? 


Trees help decrease runoff and cool the urban environment. 


 Is required by state and federal law to reduce 


stormwater pollution and improve the quality of our 


local streams?  


Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 1 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 2 


Stormwater Protection Program 


Ferguson Township has been working diligently to develop solutions to our water quality and 


flood control challenges.  After considering different options, the Township has implemented a 


stormwater utility fee.  A stormwater utility fee is a charge based on the amount of impervious 


area on a property.   


This approach has several advantages.  First, it fairly distributes the cost of the Township’s 


stormwater services since the amount of impervious area is related to the amount of stormwater 


that must be managed and all property owners directly benefit from a well maintained and 


regulated drainage management system.  This concept is similar to measuring usage and 


calculating fees for drinking water and sanitary sewer services.  Second, the amount of the fee 


must be linked to demonstrated need for publicly provided stormwater management services 


addressing flood abatement, water quality protection, infrastructure operation and maintenance, 


and regulatory compliance. All revenue is deposited into a special fund that can only be used for 


stormwater management.   


How is the fee calculated? 


Since a stormwater utility is a fee for service, all properties are charged regardless of their tax 


status.  In Ferguson, properties are charged per ERU or equivalent residential unit. In determining 


what an ERU equals, staff examined every residential property in the Township and calculated an 


average amount of impervious area for residential lots. This was determined to be 3,097 square 


feet, which is used to define one ERU. For non- residential properties, the number of ERUs 


assigned is determined by dividing the total impervious area of the parcel by 3,097 square feet. A 


property’s fee is then determined by multiplying the number of ERUs that apply to the property by 


the rate per ERU. Once that amount is determined, any credits or exemptions that apply are 


deducted and the difference represents the final fee assessed to the property.  


Sample Property Factor Calculation 


 


Impervious Area 53,873 Square Feet 


Billing Unit = ERU 3,097 Square Feet 


Number of Billing Units 


on Property 
53,873 ÷  3,097 = 17.4 


Natural Rounding 17 Billing Units 


User Fee 


17 Billing Units × Rate 


Set by Township Board 


of Supervisors 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 3 


A property with less than 500 SF of impervious area results in a billing unit of zero and is 


therefore not assessed a fee.  







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 4 


Can I reduce my bill? 


Yes!  Another advantage of a stormwater utility fee approach is that it allows the Township to 


provide “credits” to property owners who have implemented practices that reduce the impact of 


stormwater on the publicly-managed system.   


Ferguson property owners can reduce their fee in two ways: 


[1] Reduce your impervious area. 


Property owners can remove un-needed impervious area.  If the removal of impervious area 


results in fewer billing units, there is a reduction in the total fee charged.  The Township’s 


Engineering section is happy to work with any property owner to assess whether a planned 


reduction will result in a lower fee.  


[2] Take credit for a stormwater management 


structure on your property.  


The Township will provide credit to property 


owners who operate and maintain qualifying 


stormwater management structures.  These 


private structures help the Township by 


reducing the cost of managing the public 


system.  Typical facilities include dry ponds, 


wet ponds and wetlands, bioretention, 


bioswales and filter strips, permeable pavers, 


and green roofs.   


This manual provides a step-by-step process 


for determining whether your stormwater structure qualifies for credit. 


Will the Township help partner if I want to improve my property? 


To assist willing property owners, the Township has implemented a program designed to help 


property owners who have pipe or basins that perform a public function by carrying stormwater 


across their property or receive stormwater flow from the publicly owned and operated drainage 


system. The partnership program is a part of the capital improvement strategy for maintaining the 


stormwater system.  


Some of these practices are eligible for credits if designed and maintained to meet certain 


standards. 


A stormwater structure, such as the bioretention facility 
above, may qualify a property owner for a credit on the 
stormwater utility fee. 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 5 


Credit Policy 


The Township will provide a stormwater utility fee credit for any stormwater management 


structure, whether built voluntarily or as a condition of development, if it meets the requirements 


in the Credit Eligibility Table: 


Credit Eligibility Table for Post Construction Structures 


Component Requirement 


Technical 


Standards 


 Condition of Development 


The structure is designed, installed, and certified in accordance with the 


technical standards required by the Township stormwater management 


ordinance at the time of construction. 


 Voluntary 


The structure is designed, installed, and certified in accordance with the 


technical standards required by the Township stormwater management 


ordinance at the time of development and installation.  Other standards 


may be approved at the discretion of the Township Engineer if they meet 


the treatment requirements of the Township’s Municipal Separate Storm 


Sewer System (MS4) permit. 


Maintenance 


Agreement 


 The structure must be subject to a properly executed maintenance 


agreement with the Township.  


 For a voluntarily implemented structure, the maintenance agreement 


must be for at least a 20-year period from the date the structure 


becomes operational unless a different amount of time is agreed to in 


writing by the Township.  When the agreement expires, it may be 


renewed or allowed to lapse, the latter of which will result in the credit 


being discontinued. 


 As a condition for a new or renewed credit, the Township may require an 


existing maintenance agreement to be updated to meet current 


standards for maintenance and inspection. 


Function 


Verification 


 The structure must be functioning as designed.   


 This requirement is satisfied if the structure has previously been certified 


by a stormwater engineer, has passed its most recent inspection, and is 


compliant with any reporting requirements contained in the maintenance 


agreement. 


 If the above conditions have not been met, this requirement is satisfied if 


a professional engineer or other professional recognized by the 


Township certifies that the structure is operating as designed.   


 If the structure fails a Township inspection, the Township will revoke the 


credit if corrective actions are not taken within the time specified by the 


Township.   







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 6 


How much credit can I get? 


The Township’s credit system accounts for the fact that different structures and design standards 


provide different levels of benefit.  Some structures provide only quality or flood control, while 


others provide both.  Some structures provide higher levels of pollutant reduction than others.  


The credit system is also designed to encourage redevelopment of existing impervious areas and 


to incentivize voluntary installation of structures by a property owner.  The following credit 


amounts will be applied to an eligible stormwater management structure.  


Summary of Available Credits 
 


Table 1. Summary of Available Credits by Property Type. 
 


Credit 


Eligible Property Type 
Maximum 


Credit 
RES 


NR 


ALL EDUC AG MS4 


Public Engagement  X    10% 


Education   X   10% 


Structural BMP Rate Control X X    10% 


BMP for Water Quality X X    20% 


BMP for Recharge X X    40% 


Voluntary Exceedance X X    15% 


BMP Operations and Maintenance 
Plan 


X X    5% 


Disconnected Impervious (low impact 
develop.) 


X X    5% 


Riparian Buffer/Floodplain Protection X X    30% 


Turf Nutrient Management Plan X X    15% 


Manure, Pesticide, Nutrient 
Management, E&S Controls 


   X  15% 


Stream Buffer    X  30% 


Adopt an Inlet X     20% 


Rain Barrel and Downspout 
disconnection 


X     20% 


Separate MS4 permit holder      X 50% 


Urban Tree Canopy Expansion X X    40% 


Innovation X X    20% 


 
 
Table definitions of abbreviations 
 
RES: A Residential use property  
NR: A Non-Residential use property  


ALL: Any NR property charged a Stormwater Management Program Fee 
EDUC: Any public or private educational system property (K-12) 
AG: Agriculture use property as defined in Chapter 27 Zoning of the Ferguson Township 
Code of Ordinances. 
 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 7 


 
MS4: Any NR property charged a Stormwater Management Program Fee that is also the holder of 
a Municipal Separate Storm Sewer permit 
BMP: a best management practice or stormwater control measure (SCM) as defined by the 
Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection and/or allowed by the Township stormwater 
ordinance 
 
Table Notes: 


1. Non-Residential properties that are categorized as EDUC or AG are also potentially eligible 


for any Non-Residential Credits listed as ALL.  


2. All credits are cumulative but cannot exceed a total 40% credit for any property except MS4 


properties which cannot exceed a cumulative total of 50% for any property. 


3. Urban Tree Canopy Expansion – reference Table 2 for amount of credit 


4. Unless noted below, credit assignment shall be the maximum credit allowed. 


 


 


Credits 


Public Engagement (NR ALL ) 


Community groups, businesses, non-profits, and other organizations are eligible for this credit and 
encouraged to promote water quality and sound stormwater management principles by providing 
opportunities for individuals to participate in activities such as: 


 Stream cleanups, 


 Rain barrel workshops, 


 Roadside clean-up, 


 Township approved tree planting, 


 Sponsoring an educational event at a public venue.  


Education (NR EDUC) 


Deliver specific messages to target audiences consistent with the Township’s stormwater 
management program and MS4 (municipal separate storm sewer system) permit. The Township 
encourages both public and private educational systems (K-12) to educate and inform their 
students on the importance of surface water and ground water resources, and the relationship to 
stormwater management, and how that relationship plays a role in preserving the quality of the 
Township’s water resources.  
The educational program may include but is not limited to: 


 participation in a water resource-themed student poster session or science fair, 


 take-home materials, 


 classroom lessons, 


 field trips. 


The educational program/materials must be approved by the Township. A list of educational 
resources and materials can be found on the Township’s web site. 
Education Credits only apply to the impervious area on the school property associated with the 
teaching facility where the stormwater education is taught. For example, a high school course 
offering would allow a credit for impervious area on the high school property, not on the property 
of a middle school or elementary school. 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 8 


 


Structural  BMP for Rate Control (RES and NR ALL) 
Demonstrate the ability to limit post-development runoff rates to pre-development runoff rates. Must 
have a recorded BMP operation and maintenance plan and easement agreement allowing the 
Township to inspect the BMP 


Structural BMP for Volume Control (RES and NR ALL) 


Demonstrate the ability to retain at least one inch of rainfall onsite through infiltration, reuse, or 
evapotranspiration. Must have a recorded BMP operation and maintenance plan and easement 
agreement allowing the Township to inspect the BMP. 
 


BMP for Water Quality (RES and NR ALL) 


Demonstrate the ability to improve the quality of surface runoff prior to discharge from the 
property. BMPs may be non-structural such as soil media and vegetated filter strips, or structural 
such as man made filters or hydrodynamic devices. Must have a recorded BMP operation and 
maintenance plan and easement agreement allowing the Township to inspect the BMP. 


BMP for Recharge (RES and NR ALL) 


Demonstrate the ability to infiltrate the runoff volume associated with at least 1 ½” (one and one 
half inches) of rainfall completely on site. Must have a recorded BMP operation and maintenance 
plan and easement agreement allowing the Township to inspect the BMP. 


Voluntary Exceedance (RES and NR ALL) 


Demonstrate that an on-site BMP exceeds the minimum regulatory control requirements of the 
Township stormwater ordinance for rate or volume control by at least 20%. For existing approved 
stormwater facilities, the minimum regulatory control requirements may be either those in effect at 
the time of subdivision or land development approval or the current Township stormwater 
management ordinance. Must have a recorded BMP operation and maintenance plan and 
easement agreement allowing the Township to inspect the BMP. 


BMP Operations and Maintenance Plan (RES and NR ALL) 


This credit applies to a property with a BMP such as a stormwater basin on site, yet no recorded 
operations and maintenance plan nor easement exists on the property for the BMP. The applicant 
receives this credit by recording a Township approved BMP operation and maintenance plan and 
easement agreement allowing the Township to inspect the BMP. 


Disconnected Impervious or Low Impact Development (RES and NR ALL) 


A property must meet the following criteria: 
Have 10% or less of the total site area as impervious area, 
OR 
Have 20% or less of the total site area as impervious area AND, 
the impervious areas are not directly connected (for example but not limited to: gutter, 


swale, channel, pipe) to a storm sewer, curb line, stream, channel, street or other surface water 
conveyance AND, 


the impervious areas are a minimum of fifty (50) feet (measured horizontally) from the 
edge of a stream, channel, wetland, or other surface water conveyance. 


 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 9 


Riparian Buffer/Floodplain Protection (RES and NR ALL) 


This credit is available to property owners who create or have and then maintain a riparian buffer 
alongside a stream as defined in Chapter 27, Zoning Ordinance on their property (maintaining a 
stream buffer on property other than the Owner’s may be eligible for a Public Participation Credit). 
The riparian buffer can be existing or a newly-planted buffer of native plants. Buffers must meet the 
following criteria: 


1. A minimum of twenty-five (25) contiguous linear feet of stream must be buffered from the 


top of bank to a minimum distance of 25 feet measured horizontally from and perpendicular 


to the stream 


2. Must have a recorded BMP operation and maintenance plan and easement agreement 


allowing the Township to inspect the BMP. 


 


Turf Nutrient Management Plan (NR except AG) 


Properties with lawns or landscape areas where fertilizers and pesticides are typically applied 
may apply for this credit (AG properties are eligible for a different credit). A property must meet 
the following criteria: 


1. Soil fertility sample(s) must be collected and submitted to a qualified lab such as the 


Pennsylvania State Agricultural Analytical Services Laboratory for a soil fertility test. A 


sample must be taken a minimum of once every three years and a copy of the results must 


be submitted to the Township with the credit application; 


2. The property owner must commit to following the recommendations provided on the soil 


fertility report, including the application of lime if recommended. 


3. The impervious area of the property cannot exceed 40% of the total parcel area. 


Manure, Pesticide, Nutrient Management, E&S Controls (NR AG) 


To be eligible for this credit, agricultural properties must have current plans in place as applicable 
for manure, pesticide, nutrient, and/or erosion control management as required by the Centre 
County Conservation District. Property owner to provide evidence of appropriate approved plans 
with the credit application. 


Stream Buffer (NR AG) 


This credit is available to agricultural property owners who create or have and then maintain a 
stream buffer of plantings alongside a stream as defined in Chapter 27, Zoning on their property. 
A property must meet the following criteria: 


1. A minimum of half the length of the stream on the property must be buffered from the 


top of bank to a minimum distance of 35 feet measured horizontally from and 


perpendicular to the stream, 


2. The stream buffer BMP must be reviewed and approved by the Centre County 


Conservation District, 


3. Must have a recorded BMP operation and maintenance plan and easement agreement 


allowing the Township to inspect the BMP. 


Adopt and Inlet (RES) 


This credit is available to property owners that participate in the Adopt an Inlet program. Although 
residents may adopt as many inlets as they like, only one adopted inlet will be applied per property 
for the purpose of Credit. Adopted inlets should be in close proximity to the property receiving the 
Credit. If there are no inlets in close proximity to the property, a property owner to adopt an inlet 
elsewhere in the Township. Participants will be responsible for keeping leaves and other debris 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 10 


away from their adopted inlet. Approved participants will receive periodic emails to alert them to 
check on and remove surface debris from their adopted inlet. Additionally, participants will be asked 
to alert the Township of any maintenance issues that need addressed around their adopted inlet.  


Rain Barrel and Downspout Disconnects (RES) 


This credit is available to property owners if downspouts on the property are properly connected to 
a rain barrel, cistern, or other approved containment device that provides a minimum of 40 gallons 
of storage per downspout. If all downspouts are connected to rain barrels, then all available credit 
per the table will be applied. If only half of the downspouts have rain barrels, then half the available 
credit will be applied. In lieu of counting the number of downspouts, the percentage of roof area 
captured can also be used to determine Credit amount.  
 
Property owners are available for this credit if downspouts are disconnected from directly 
discharging into a stream, channel, stormwater inlet, stormwater conveyance pipe, driveway or 
other surface conveyance feature, including all IA. The amount of the Credit will be determined by 
the percent of downspouts disconnected or by the percent of the roof area discharged to 
disconnected downspouts. Disconnected downspouts should have a minimum of ten (10) feet of 
pervious land separation from the nearest down gradient impervious surface to qualify for Credit.  
The use of rain barrels and downspout disconnection can be used together. For example, if you 
have four (4) downspouts and two (2) are connected to two (2) rain barrels and two (2) are 
disconnected and drain into the lawn, then you would be eligible for half available credit (rain barrel) 
+ half available credit (downspout disconnection) = Total Credit. 
 


Separate MS4 Permit Holder (NR MS4) 


A Credit is available to those properties that have been identified by PADEP as being required to 
obtain and comply with the terms of a Non-Municipal MS4 permit. To be eligible for the Credit, the 
MS4 permit must be kept in full compliance and the Township must be provided a copy of the MS4 
permit as well as copies of the annual reports. 
 


Urban Tree Canopy Expansion (RES and NR) All properties 


Property owners who complete an urban tree planting project on their property are eligible for this 
credit. Tree canopy Credits can also be applied to existing trees if the tree canopy covers existing 
impervious surfaces. New trees are not required to cover existing impervious surfaces. To be 
eligible, the planted tree must have a minimum diameter at breast height (DBH) of one (1)-inch. A 
minimum of four (4) trees are needed to qualify for the Credit, and can consist of a combination of 
existing and new plantings. Credits will be applied based on Table 2. Planting trees as part of 
restoration efforts associated with tree harvesting is not an eligible activity to receive Credits. Trees 
required to be planted as part of a land development plan including but not limited to street trees 
and buffer plantings, trees required under the tree preservation ordinance, are not eligible plantings 
to receive this credit. For RES properties, credits are applied based on absolute number of trees. 
For NR properties, credits are applied based on the number of trees per ERU. Two examples of 
how Credits are calculated are shown below: 
RES Example: Property has two (2) existing trees along the street in front of their house. The 
property owner plants three (3) additional trees in the backyard for a total of five (5) trees. The 
property owner is eligible for a 20% Credit for the five (5) trees. 
NR Example: A property with 100 ERUs of IA has no existing trees. The property owner plants 30 
trees around the perimeter of the property. This is equivalent to planting five (5) trees per ERU for 
six (6) ERUs. The property owner is eligible for a 40% Credit on six (6) of their 100 ERUs.  
 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 11 


Table 2. Tree Canopy Credit based on Number of Trees 
 
 
 
 


Number of Eligible 
Trees Credit 


RES NR 


4 2 per ERU 15% 


6 3 per ERU 25% 


8 4 per ERU 35% 


10 5 per ERU 40% 


 
 


Innovation (RES and NR ALL) 


Ferguson Township recognizes that the ultimate goal of the SMP and Credit Policy is to improve 
our stormwater management system and local and regional water quality. Therefore, Ferguson 
Township encourages property owners to propose other means to improve their property and our 
community through the use of innovative stormwater technologies. If a property owner has an idea 
for a project worthy of stormwater credits, the property owner may submit the project idea under 
the Innovation Credit. The project eligibility will be determined by the Director.  
 
Common Questions 


 Does the credit apply to the entire property?  For structural facilities (Post Construction and 


Green Infrastructure) the credit only applies to the impervious area draining to the structure, 


not the entire property. 


 Can I take credit for impervious area from another property?  Yes, but only if the area is not 


subsequently treated by a structure on the contributing property.  However, in no case can the 


credit taken by a property owner exceed 40% of the total stormwater utility fee for the 


property. 


 What about structures that are maintained by a homeowner’s association?  These structures 


are subject to specific procedures and are addressed later in this manual. 


 How do I know the design standard for my structure?  The Township will assign the 


design standard based on when the development was reviewed and approved, which aligns 


with the Township stormwater requirements at that time. 


 What if my structure exceeded the design standard in place at the time of 


development?  Most structures were designed to meet the overall requirements for the 


property at the time of development.  The Township will grant an additional credit as stated in  


table 1 for those that exceed 20% of the design standard requirement.  


 Why can’t I get 100% credit on my stormwater bill?  The Township’s stormwater program 


is designed to be comprehensive and includes public services such as rehabilitation and 


replacement of the storm drainage system, and regulatory compliance.  All properties receive 


a benefit from the overall program and therefore contribute to the funding needed for 


stormwater management.  







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 12 


 If I build a structure using Township cost-share funds, does that affect my credit?  Yes.  


Under the Partnership Program a credit will be reduced by the percent of public funds used to 


design and install (or retrofit) the structure.  The reduction applies for the expected functional 


life-time of the structure (20 years unless otherwise provided by the Township). 


 
Post Construction and Green Stormwater Structures serving homeowner associations. 
 
A stormwater management structure may be operated and maintained by a homeowner 
association (HOA) on behalf of its members.  In these cases, the credit applicant is the 
association, not the individual property owners.  This is because some properties that belong 
to the association pay for maintenance of the structure but may not actually drain to the structure.  
Conversely, some properties that drain to the structure may not belong to the association. 


HOAs have two options and should contact the Township’s Engineer for more information 


prior to submitting a credit application. 


Separate Billing and Consolidated Credit 


The HOA and individual property owners will be billed separately for their impervious area.  


However, credit for the stormwater structure(s) is analyzed as if the HOA was a single property.  


When submitting an application, the association enters the total impervious area within the 


association boundary draining to the structure.  The resulting credit is provided to the association.  


If the amount of the HOA’s utility bill is less than the credit, the HOA will receive a check from the 


Township.  It is then up to the association, on behalf of its members, to determine how to 


distribute the credit among property owners (direct payment, reduction in HOA fees, deposit into 


a structure maintenance fund, etc.).  


How and when do I apply? 
 


A Credit Application Form must be submitted to the Township by the operator of the structure, or 


his/her legal agent, and approved by the Township’s Engineer to receive credit no later than 


September 30 for the following fiscal year user fees.  Separate forms may be needed when there 


are multiple structures that are eligible for different credit levels.  Once an application is approved, 


it will be applied to the next full billing period.  Credits are not retroactively applied to a previous 


billing period. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 13 


 


Credit Application Checklist 


Documentation Description 


Credit Application 


Form 


This form is located under Forms at the end of this manual. 


Structure Certification 


Form 


This form is required ONLY if the structure has not been approved by 


the Township and accepted into the Township’s inspection program.  


The form is completed under the authority of a professional engineer 


or other qualified professional.  The form must include certification 


that the structure if functioning as originally designed. 


The following must be submitted on request if not on-file with the Township: 


Drainage Area Map Provide a to-scale map showing property lines, impervious areas, 


stormwater drainage area boundaries, and the total impervious cover 


draining to the structure(s). 


Structure Design 


Plan/As-Built Drawing 


Provide the design plan and as-built drawing for the structure(s). 


Maintenance 


Agreement 


Provide a copy of the agreement that allows the Township access to 


the site and establishes enforceable maintenance and reporting 


requirements.  An updated maintenance agreement may be required 


as a condition of receiving credit. 


 


  







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 14 


Do I need to re-apply for credit? 


At the discretion of the Township, credit will continue to renew on an annual basis provided that 


the operator complies with all requirements of the maintenance agreement.  The Township 


reserves the right to change the criteria for receiving credit or require additional information for 


the operator of the structure to continue receiving credit. 


The Township will periodically inspect properties to verify functionality of the structures or best 
practices.  If the inspection results in a determination of non-compliance or performance with the 
terms of the credit, the property owner will be provided time to make corrections/improvements.  If 
such deficiencies are not corrected, the credit will be revoked. 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits and Incentives Credit Application Form 


Credit Application Form Structures and Buffers 


FILL OUT THIS FORM FOR EACH STORMWATER MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE IF 


THERE ARE MULTIPLE STRUCTURES ON A PROPERTY 


 


Applicant Name:   Date:     


Property Information: 


Owner  


Street  


Township, State, ZIP Code  


Property Type Choose an item. 


Mailing Address: (if different from property address) 


Street  


Township, State, ZIP Code  


 


Email Address:  


Phone Number:  


 


Homeowner Association Information: 


Is the structure operated by a homeowner association? 


☐   Yes ☐   No 


 


Facility/Buffer Information: 


Leave blank if information is unknown. 


 Facility, Buffer or Practice Type


  


Year of Installation  


If buffer, width & length in feet:  W ____________    L ___________________ 


If buffer, name stream protected:   _____________________________________ 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits and Incentives Credit Application Form 


Was this facility/buffer constructed as a condition of development?  Yes ☐     No ☐ 


If structure was a condition of development, was the facility designed to control new 
impervious cover, existing impervious cover, or a combination of both? 


 New Impervious Cover ☐ 


 Existing Impervious Cover ☐ 


 Both New and Existing Impervious Cover ☐ 


Impervious Area Treated: 


New Impervious Area Treated  SF 


Existing Impervious Area Treated  SF 


Total Impervious Area Treated  SF 


 


Additional Information: 


Please include additional information if necessary either in the box below or as a separate 
attachment: 


 


 


The following supporting documentation may be required if it is not already on-file 
with the Township.  Township staff will contact the applicant if the information is 
needed. 


 Drainage Area Map – A to-scale map showing property lines, impervious areas, 


stormwater drainage area boundaries, and the total impervious cover draining to the 


structure(s).  


 Structure Design Plan/As-Built Drawing – A design plan and as-built drawing for 


the structure(s). 


 Maintenance Agreement – A copy of the agreement that allows the Township 


access to the site and establishes enforceable maintenance and reporting 


requirements. An updated maintenance agreement may be required as a condition 


of receiving credit.  







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits and Incentives Credit Application Form 


Certification and Inspection Agreement 


 


☐ I am the legal operator or I am duly authorized to act on behalf of the legal operator, I 


have reviewed the information contained in this application and the supporting 
documentation, and to the best of my knowledge believe that it is true and accurate.   


☐ I commit to maintaining the stormwater management structure in good working 


condition.  


☐ I authorize the Township or its representative to enter the site for the sole purpose of 


visually inspecting the stormwater management structure. 


☐ I understand that if an inspection by the Township indicates that the structure is not 


properly maintained, that the structure will no longer be eligible for credit if deficiencies 
are not corrected within the timeframe provided by Township staff. 


 


Name/Title:   


 


Signature ________________________________ Date ___________________________  


 


 


Return this form and supporting documentation to: 


Ferguson Township 


 


  







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits and Incentives Credit Application Form 


Credit Application Form Non-Structural/Buffers 


FILL OUT THIS FORM FOR EACH STORMWATER PRACTICE (NUTRIENT 


MANAGEMENT PLAN, DISCONNECTED IMPERVIOUS AREA, INFILTRATION 


PRACTICE/GROUNDWATER RECHARGE) IF THERE ARE MULTIPLE 


ACTIVITIES/PRACTICES ON A PROPERTY. 


 


Applicant Name:   Date:     


Property Information: 


Owner  


Street  


Township, State, ZIP Code  


Property Type Choose an item. 


Mailing Address: (if different from property address) 


Street  


Township, State, ZIP Code  


 


Email Address:  


Phone Number:  


Information: 


Please include detailed information if necessary either in the box below or as a separate 
attachment to describe the activity or practice. Identify the credit applied for on this property. 


 


 


  







 


 


Structure Certification Form 


FILL OUT THIS FORM ONLY IF THE STRUCTURE HAS NOT ALREADY BEEN 


ACCEPTED INTO THE TOWNSHIP’S INSPECTION SYSTEM 


 


Applicant Name:   Date:     


Property Information: 


Owner  


Street  


Township, State, ZIP Code  


Property Type Choose an item. 


 


Structure Type:  


Year Built:  


Design Standard:  


Impervious Area Treated (SF):  


 


General Condition: Yes No N/A 


Is the primary outfall pipe/ ditch clear and functioning?    


Are the inflow pipes/ ditches clear and functioning?    


Is the water quality pool at the correct height (if present)?    


Are water quality pool control weirs, pipes, etc. working properly?    


Are emergency overflow devices clear and functional (if present)?    


Is the structure clear of sediment?    


Is the structure clear of trash?    


Are embankments free of erosion, woody vegetation (unless called for 
in the design), animal burrows, or signs of deterioration? 


   


Is vegetation being managed in a manner appropriate to the facility?    


 







 


 


Certification  


This certification must be made by or under the guidance of a licensed professional 


engineer, landscape architect, or other professional recognized by the Township to make 


this certification. 


☐ Based on a visual inspection of the above facility conducted on   


I certify that the structure is currently functioning as designed. 


☐ I certify that the total impervious area served by the structure is true and accurate. 


 


Attach documentation of the structure inspection, including photographs. 


 


Name:   


Qualification:   


Address of Inspector:   


Email:  


Phone:  


 


 


Signature ________________________________ Date ___________________________  


 


 


Return this form and supporting documentation to: 


Ferguson Township 


 
 
 








 


 


- A Home Rule Municipality - 


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


3147 Research Drive •  State College, Pennsylvania 16801 


Telephone: 814-238-4651 •  Fax: 814-238-3454 


www.twp.ferguson.pa.us 


 


 


 


 


 


TO:  Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 


FROM:  Ron Seybert, Jr., P.E., Township Engineer 


DATE:  February 9, 2021 


SUBJECT:  AWARD OF 2021-C23 


  Traffic Signal Pole Replacement, West College Ave and Science Park Rd 


 


Bids were opened publicly for Contract 2021-C23 ‘Proposal and Contract for Traffic Signal 
Pole Replacement, West College Ave and Science Park Rd’ at 2:15 pm on Tuesday February 
9, 2021 and read aloud via a Microsoft Teams meeting.   
 
The bid opening was attended by Bill Clark of M and B Services, LLC and Nicola Qamout of 
Kuharchik Construction Company, Inc., as well as Ferguson Township staff Summer Brown 
and myself.  The bid was advertised in the Centre Daily Times on January 18, 2021 and the 
invitation to bid was sent to qualified bidders. 
 
The signal pole replacement is related to a vehicle crash that occurred on December 7, 2020 
and the cost to replace the pole will be covered by insurance. 
 
Two bids were received for the project with M and B Services, LLC submitting the lowest 
qualified bid in the amount of $46,020.71.  Attached is the bid tabulation. 


 
I recommend that the Board of Supervisors award this contract to M and B Services, LLC in 
the amount of $46,020.71. 
 
Attachments: 2021-C23 Bid Tabulation 
 
Copy: D. Pribulka 


D. Modricker 
2021-C23 File 







 2021-C23 TRAFFIC SIGNAL POLE REPLACEMENT
WEST COLLEGE AVE AND SCIENCE PARK RD


BID TABULATION


ITEM 


NO.
ITEM DESCRIPTION QTY UNITS UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL


0608-


0001
MOBILIZATION 1 LS $2,900.00 $2,900.00 $5,753.89 $5,753.89 $2,300.00 $2,300.00


0203-


0004
CLASS 1B EXCAVATION 6 CY $200.00 $1,200.00 $148.15 $888.90 $250.00 $1,500.00


0676-


0001
CEMENT CONCRETE SIDEWALK 16 SY $250.00 $4,000.00 $104.77 $1,676.32 $390.00 $6,240.00


0901-


0001


MAINTENANCE AND PROTECTION OF 


TRAFFIC
1 LS $1,450.00 $1,450.00 $2,619.64 $2,619.64 $1,500.00 $1,500.00


0910-


4116


AWG 8 UNDERGOUND CABLE, COPPER, 1 


CONDUCTOR
525 LF $2.00 $1,050.00 $1.16 $609.00 $1.10 $577.50


0936-


0200


STRUCTURE MOUNTED FLAT SHEET 


ALUMINUM SIGNS
8 SF $75.00 $600.00 $77.23 $617.84 $51.00 $408.00


9951-


2135


TRAFFIC SIGNAL SUPPORT, 35' MAST ARM, 


WITH 12' LUMINAIRE ARM, (45' MOUNTING 


HEIGHT)


1 EACH $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $27,390.00 $27,390.00 $28,600.00 $28,600.00


0954-


0012
2 INCH CONDUIT 18 LF $10.00 $180.00 $6.63 $119.34 $4.90 $88.20


0954-


0013
3 INCH CONDUIT 18 LF $10.00 $180.00 $8.35 $150.30 $5.20 $93.60


0954-


0152
TRENCH AND BACKFILL, TYPE II 12 LF $150.00 $1,800.00 $86.77 $1,041.24 $105.00 $1,260.00


0954-


0203
SIGNAL CABLE, 14 AWG, 7 CONDUCTOR 175 LF $4.00 $700.00 $2.25 $393.75 $3.70 $647.50


0955-


3208


VEHICULAR SIGNAL HEAD, THREE 12" 


SECTIONS 
2 EA $1,500.00 $3,000.00 $884.06 $1,768.12 $990.00 $1,980.00


9000-


0001


RELOCATE EXISTING STOP BAR RADAR 


DETECTOR
1 EA $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $2,682.70 $2,682.70 $3,800.00 $3,800.00


9000-


0002


RELOCATE EXISTING LUMINAIRE, ARM 


MOUNT
1 EA $350.00 $350.00 $309.67 $309.67 $410.00 $410.00


PROJECT TOTAL $43,910.00 $46,020.71 $49,404.80


ENGR ESTIMATE M AND B SERVICES, LLC
KUHARCHIK CONSTRUCTION, 


INC


2/9/2021 1 of 1







rseybert

Text Box

2021-C23 West College Ave and Science Park RdSignal Pole Replacement



rseybert

Callout

Pole to be replaced.








TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


Your guide to reducing your stormwater fee and protecting 
Ferguson’s water resources. 


Township of Ferguson
Public Works Department 


February 9, 2021


Stormwater 


Management Program 


Credit Manual -2021 


Exhibit "A"







 


 


Ferguson Township 


Stormwater Protection Program 


Credit Manual 
 
 
Table of Contents 
 
Why manage stormwater? ...................................................................................................... 1 


Stormwater Protection Program ............................................................................................. 2 


 How is the fee calculated? 


 Can I reduce my bill? 


 Can the Township help if I want to improve my property? 


Credit Policy ............................................................................................................................ 5 


 How much credit can I get? 


 Credit calculator. 


 Structures serving homeowner associations. 


 How and when do I apply? 


 Do I need to re-apply for credits? 


 
 
Forms 
 
Credit Application Form 


Structure Certification Form 


 
 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 1 


Why manage stormwater? 


Stormwater is rain and melted snow that “runs off” the land.  In natural, undeveloped areas, soil 
absorbs and filters most of the stormwater in a process called infiltration.  The water that runs off 
the land in Ferguson Township impacts the Spruce Creek Watershed and Halfmoon Creek, 
Spruce Creek, Beaver Branch and Slab Cabin Run.  


During development, natural areas are replaced with roofs, driveways, sidewalks, and streets.  
These hard surfaces, called impervious surfaces, do not allow water to penetrate them.  
Stormwater runoff carries fertilizers, sediment, oil, grease, heavy metals, trash, and anything else 
deposited on impervious surfaces directly into the Township’s storm drain system and natural 
stream systems.  This can cause: 


 Erosion of streams and decreased water quality; 
 Contamination of downstream water quality and drinking water supplies; and, 
 Flooding, property damage, and damage to public storm drains. 


Ferguson Township is taking action to clean up our community’s polluted stormwater runoff and 
to make investments in our aging stormwater infrastructure.  Half of the Township’s pipes are 
corrugated metal pipe that has met or exceeded its projected life and is deteriorating.    This will 
not only help to improve water quality and our environment for future generations, but also help 
protect residents and private property from damage due to flooding. 


Did you know that Ferguson Township … 
 
 Maintains over 33 miles of pipe and channels, 2,000 


catch basins, and 56 miles of curbing to channel runoff 
safely from roadways? 


Half of pipe in the system is deteriorating because 
corrugated metal performance is at or near its useful life. 


 Plants and maintains over 5,000 street trees across the 
Township? 


Trees help decrease runoff and cool the urban environment. 


 Is required by state and federal law to reduce 
stormwater pollution and improve the quality of our 
local streams?  


Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 1 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 2 


Stormwater Protection Program 


Ferguson Township has been working diligently to develop solutions to our water quality and 
flood control challenges.  After considering different options, the Township has implemented a 
stormwater utility fee.  A stormwater utility fee is a charge based on the amount of impervious 
area on a property.   


This approach has several advantages.  First, it fairly distributes the cost of the Township’s 
stormwater services since the amount of impervious area is related to the amount of stormwater 
that must be managed and all property owners directly benefit from a well maintained and 
regulated drainage management system.  This concept is similar to measuring usage and 
calculating fees for drinking water and sanitary sewer services.  Second, the amount of the fee 
must be linked to demonstrated need for publicly provided stormwater management services 
addressing flood abatement, water quality protection, infrastructure operation and maintenance, 
and regulatory compliance. All revenue is deposited into a special fund that can only be used for 
stormwater management.   


How is the fee calculated? 


Since a stormwater utility is a fee for service, all properties are charged regardless of their tax 
status.  In Ferguson, properties are charged per ERU or equivalent residential unit. In determining 
what an ERU equals, staff examined every residential property in the Township and calculated an 
average amount of impervious area for residential lots. This was determined to be 3,097 square 
feet, which is used to define one ERU. For non- residential properties, the number of ERUs 
assigned is determined by dividing the total impervious area of the parcel by 3,097 square feet. A 
property’s fee is then determined by multiplying the number of ERUs that apply to the property by 
the rate per ERU. Once that amount is determined, any credits or exemptions that apply are 
deducted and the difference represents the final fee assessed to the property.  


Sample Property Factor Calculation 


 


Impervious Area 53,873 Square Feet 


Billing Unit = ERU 3,097 Square Feet 


Number of Billing Units 
on Property 


53,873 ÷  3,097 = 17.4 


Natural Rounding 17 Billing Units 


User Fee 
17 Billing Units × Rate 
Set by Township Board 
of Supervisors 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 3 


A property with less than 500 SF of impervious area results in a billing unit of zero and is 
therefore not assessed a fee.  







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 4 


Can I reduce my bill? 


Yes!  Another advantage of a stormwater utility fee approach is that it allows the Township to 
provide “credits” to property owners who have implemented practices that reduce the impact of 
stormwater on the publicly-managed system.   


Ferguson property owners can reduce their fee in two ways: 


[1] Reduce your impervious area. 


Property owners can remove un-needed impervious area.  If the removal of impervious area 
results in fewer billing units, there is a reduction in the total fee charged.  The Township’s 
Engineering section is happy to work with any property owner to assess whether a planned 
reduction will result in a lower fee.  


[2] Take credit for a stormwater management 


structure on your property.  


The Township will provide credit to property 
owners who operate and maintain qualifying 
stormwater management structures.  These 
private structures help the Township by 
reducing the cost of managing the public 
system.  Typical facilities include dry ponds, 
wet ponds and wetlands, bioretention, 
bioswales and filter strips, permeable pavers, 
and green roofs.   


This manual provides a step-by-step process 
for determining whether your stormwater structure qualifies for credit. 


Will the Township help partner if I want to improve my property? 


To assist willing property owners, the Township has implemented a program designed to help 
property owners who have pipe or basins that perform a public function by carrying stormwater 
across their property or receive stormwater flow from the publicly owned and operated drainage 
system. The partnership program is a part of the capital improvement strategy for maintaining the 
stormwater system.  


Some of these practices are eligible for credits if designed and maintained to meet certain 
standards. 


A stormwater structure, such as the bioretention facility 
above, may qualify a property owner for a credit on the 
stormwater utility fee. 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 5 


Credit Policy 


The Township will provide a stormwater utility fee credit for any stormwater management 
structure, whether built voluntarily or as a condition of development, if it meets the requirements 
in the Credit Eligibility Table: 


Credit Eligibility Table for Post Construction Structures 


Component Requirement 


Technical 
Standards 


 Condition of Development 
The structure is designed, installed, and certified in accordance with the 
technical standards required by the Township stormwater management 
ordinance at the time of construction. 


 Voluntary 
The structure is designed, installed, and certified in accordance with the 
technical standards required by the Township stormwater management 
ordinance at the time of development and installation.  Other standards 
may be approved at the discretion of the Township Engineer if they meet 
the treatment requirements of the Township’s Municipal Separate Storm 
Sewer System (MS4) permit. 


Maintenance 
Agreement 


 The structure must be subject to a properly executed maintenance 
agreement with the Township.  


 For a voluntarily implemented structure, the maintenance agreement 
must be for at least a 20-year period from the date the structure 
becomes operational unless a different amount of time is agreed to in 
writing by the Township.  When the agreement expires, it may be 
renewed or allowed to lapse, the latter of which will result in the credit 
being discontinued. 


 As a condition for a new or renewed credit, the Township may require an 
existing maintenance agreement to be updated to meet current 
standards for maintenance and inspection. 


Function 
Verification 


 The structure must be functioning as designed.   
 This requirement is satisfied if the structure has previously been certified 


by a stormwater engineer, has passed its most recent inspection, and is 
compliant with any reporting requirements contained in the maintenance 
agreement. 


 If the above conditions have not been met, this requirement is satisfied if 
a professional engineer or other professional recognized by the 
Township certifies that the structure is operating as designed.   


 If the structure fails a Township inspection, the Township will revoke the 
credit if corrective actions are not taken within the time specified by the 
Township.   







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 6 


How much credit can I get? 


The Township’s credit system accounts for the fact that different structures and design standards 
provide different levels of benefit.  Some structures provide only quality or flood control, while 
others provide both.  Some structures provide higher levels of pollutant reduction than others.  
The credit system is also designed to encourage redevelopment of existing impervious areas and 
to incentivize voluntary installation of structures by a property owner.  The following credit 
amounts will be applied to an eligible stormwater management structure.  


Summary of Available Credits 
 


Table 1. Summary of Available Credits by Property Type. 
 


Credit 
Eligible Property Type 


Maximum 
Credit 


RES 
NR 


ALL EDUC AG MS4 
Public Engagement  X    10% 
Education   X   10% 
Structural BMP Rate Control X X    10% 
BMP for Water Quality X X    20% 
BMP for Recharge X X    40% 
Voluntary Exceedance X X    15% 
BMP Operations and Maintenance 
Plan 


X X    5% 


Disconnected Impervious (low impact 
develop.) 


X X    5% 


Riparian Buffer/Floodplain Protection X X    30% 
Turf Nutrient Management Plan X X    15% 
Manure, Pesticide, Nutrient 
Management, E&S Controls 


   X  15% 


Stream Buffer    X  30% 
Adopt an Inlet X     20% 
Rain Barrel and Downspout 
disconnection 


X     20% 


Separate MS4 permit holder      X 50% 
Urban Tree Canopy Expansion X X    40% 
Innovation X X    20% 


 
 
Table definitions of abbreviations 
 
RES: A Residential use property  
NR: A Non-Residential use property  


ALL: Any NR property charged a Stormwater Management Program Fee 
EDUC: Any public or private educational system property (K-12) 
AG: Agriculture use property as defined in Chapter 27 Zoning of the Ferguson Township 
Code of Ordinances. 
 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 7 


 
MS4: Any NR property charged a Stormwater Management Program Fee that is also the holder of 
a Municipal Separate Storm Sewer permit 
BMP: a best management practice or stormwater control measure (SCM) as defined by the 
Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection and/or allowed by the Township stormwater 
ordinance 
 
Table Notes: 


1. Non-Residential properties that are categorized as EDUC or AG are also potentially eligible 
for any Non-Residential Credits listed as ALL.  


2. All credits are cumulative but cannot exceed a total 40% credit for any property except MS4 
properties which cannot exceed a cumulative total of 50% for any property. 


3. Urban Tree Canopy Expansion – reference Table 2 for amount of credit 
4. Unless noted below, credit assignment shall be the maximum credit allowed. 


 
 


Credits 


Public Engagement (NR ALL ) 


Community groups, businesses, non-profits, and other organizations are eligible for this credit and 
encouraged to promote water quality and sound stormwater management principles by providing 
opportunities for individuals to participate in activities such as: 


 Stream cleanups, 
 Rain barrel workshops, 
 Roadside clean-up, 
 Township approved tree planting, 
 Sponsoring an educational event at a public venue.  


Education (NR EDUC) 


Deliver specific messages to target audiences consistent with the Township’s stormwater 
management program and MS4 (municipal separate storm sewer system) permit. The Township 
encourages both public and private educational systems (K-12) to educate and inform their 
students on the importance of surface water and ground water resources, and the relationship to 
stormwater management, and how that relationship plays a role in preserving the quality of the 
Township’s water resources.  
The educational program may include but is not limited to: 


 participation in a water resource-themed student poster session or science fair, 
 take-home materials, 
 classroom lessons, 
 field trips. 


The educational program/materials must be approved by the Township. A list of educational 
resources and materials can be found on the Township’s web site. 
Education Credits only apply to the impervious area on the school property associated with the 
teaching facility where the stormwater education is taught. For example, a high school course 
offering would allow a credit for impervious area on the high school property, not on the property 
of a middle school or elementary school. 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 8 


 


Structural  BMP for Rate Control (RES and NR ALL) 
Demonstrate the ability to limit post-development runoff rates to pre-development runoff rates. Must 
have a recorded BMP operation and maintenance plan and easement agreement allowing the 
Township to inspect the BMP 


Structural BMP for Volume Control (RES and NR ALL) 


Demonstrate the ability to retain at least one inch of rainfall onsite through infiltration, reuse, or 
evapotranspiration. Must have a recorded BMP operation and maintenance plan and easement 
agreement allowing the Township to inspect the BMP. 
 


BMP for Water Quality (RES and NR ALL) 


Demonstrate the ability to improve the quality of surface runoff prior to discharge from the 
property. BMPs may be non-structural such as soil media and vegetated filter strips, or structural 
such as man made filters or hydrodynamic devices. Must have a recorded BMP operation and 
maintenance plan and easement agreement allowing the Township to inspect the BMP. 


BMP for Recharge (RES and NR ALL) 


Demonstrate the ability to infiltrate the runoff volume associated with at least 1 ½” (one and one 
half inches) of rainfall completely on site. Must have a recorded BMP operation and maintenance 
plan and easement agreement allowing the Township to inspect the BMP. 


Voluntary Exceedance (RES and NR ALL) 


Demonstrate that an on-site BMP exceeds the minimum regulatory control requirements of the 
Township stormwater ordinance for rate or volume control by at least 20%. For existing approved 
stormwater facilities, the minimum regulatory control requirements may be either those in effect at 
the time of subdivision or land development approval or the current Township stormwater 
management ordinance. Must have a recorded BMP operation and maintenance plan and 
easement agreement allowing the Township to inspect the BMP. 


BMP Operations and Maintenance Plan (RES and NR ALL) 


This credit applies to a property with a BMP such as a stormwater basin on site, yet no recorded 
operations and maintenance plan nor easement exists on the property for the BMP. The applicant 
receives this credit by recording a Township approved BMP operation and maintenance plan and 
easement agreement allowing the Township to inspect the BMP. 


Disconnected Impervious or Low Impact Development (RES and NR ALL) 


A property must meet the following criteria: 
Have 10% or less of the total site area as impervious area, 
OR 
Have 20% or less of the total site area as impervious area AND, 
the impervious areas are not directly connected (for example but not limited to: gutter, 


swale, channel, pipe) to a storm sewer, curb line, stream, channel, street or other surface water 
conveyance AND, 


the impervious areas are a minimum of fifty (50) feet (measured horizontally) from the 
edge of a stream, channel, wetland, or other surface water conveyance. 


 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 9 


Riparian Buffer/Floodplain Protection (RES and NR ALL) 


This credit is available to property owners who create or have and then maintain a riparian buffer 
alongside a stream as defined in Chapter 27, Zoning Ordinance on their property (maintaining a 
stream buffer on property other than the Owner’s may be eligible for a Public Participation Credit). 
The riparian buffer can be existing or a newly-planted buffer of native plants. Buffers must meet the 
following criteria: 


1. A minimum of twenty-five (25) contiguous linear feet of stream must be buffered from the 
top of bank to a minimum distance of 25 feet measured horizontally from and perpendicular 
to the stream 


2. Must have a recorded BMP operation and maintenance plan and easement agreement 
allowing the Township to inspect the BMP. 


 


Turf Nutrient Management Plan (NR except AG) 


Properties with lawns or landscape areas where fertilizers and pesticides are typically applied 
may apply for this credit (AG properties are eligible for a different credit). A property must meet 
the following criteria: 


1. Soil fertility sample(s) must be collected and submitted to a qualified lab such as the 
Pennsylvania State Agricultural Analytical Services Laboratory for a soil fertility test. A 
sample must be taken a minimum of once every three years and a copy of the results must 
be submitted to the Township with the credit application; 


2. The property owner must commit to following the recommendations provided on the soil 
fertility report, including the application of lime if recommended. 


3. The impervious area of the property cannot exceed 40% of the total parcel area. 


Manure, Pesticide, Nutrient Management, E&S Controls (NR AG) 


To be eligible for this credit, agricultural properties must have current plans in place as applicable 
for manure, pesticide, nutrient, and/or erosion control management as required by the Centre 
County Conservation District. Property owner to provide evidence of appropriate approved plans 
with the credit application. 


Stream Buffer (NR AG) 


This credit is available to agricultural property owners who create or have and then maintain a 
stream buffer of plantings alongside a stream as defined in Chapter 27, Zoning on their property. 
A property must meet the following criteria: 


1. A minimum of half the length of the stream on the property must be buffered from the 
top of bank to a minimum distance of 35 feet measured horizontally from and 
perpendicular to the stream, 


2. The stream buffer BMP must be reviewed and approved by the Centre County 
Conservation District, 


3. Must have a recorded BMP operation and maintenance plan and easement agreement 
allowing the Township to inspect the BMP. 


Adopt and Inlet (RES) 


This credit is available to property owners that participate in the Adopt an Inlet program. Although 
residents may adopt as many inlets as they like, only one adopted inlet will be applied per property 
for the purpose of Credit. Adopted inlets should be in close proximity to the property receiving the 
Credit. If there are no inlets in close proximity to the property, a property owner to adopt an inlet 
elsewhere in the Township. Participants will be responsible for keeping leaves and other debris 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 10 


away from their adopted inlet. Approved participants will receive periodic emails to alert them to 
check on and remove surface debris from their adopted inlet. Additionally, participants will be asked 
to alert the Township of any maintenance issues that need addressed around their adopted inlet.  


Rain Barrel and Downspout Disconnects (RES) 


This credit is available to property owners if downspouts on the property are properly connected to 
a rain barrel, cistern, or other approved containment device that provides a minimum of 40 gallons 
of storage per downspout. If all downspouts are connected to rain barrels, then all available credit 
per the table will be applied. If only half of the downspouts have rain barrels, then half the available 
credit will be applied. In lieu of counting the number of downspouts, the percentage of roof area 
captured can also be used to determine Credit amount.  
 
Property owners are available for this credit if downspouts are disconnected from directly 
discharging into a stream, channel, stormwater inlet, stormwater conveyance pipe, driveway or 
other surface conveyance feature, including all IA. The amount of the Credit will be determined by 
the percent of downspouts disconnected or by the percent of the roof area discharged to 
disconnected downspouts. Disconnected downspouts should have a minimum of ten (10) feet of 
pervious land separation from the nearest down gradient impervious surface to qualify for Credit.  
The use of rain barrels and downspout disconnection can be used together. For example, if you 
have four (4) downspouts and two (2) are connected to two (2) rain barrels and two (2) are 
disconnected and drain into the lawn, then you would be eligible for half available credit (rain barrel) 
+ half available credit (downspout disconnection) = Total Credit. 
 


Separate MS4 Permit Holder (NR MS4) 


A Credit is available to those properties that have been identified by PADEP as being required to 
obtain and comply with the terms of a Non-Municipal MS4 permit. To be eligible for the Credit, the 
MS4 permit must be kept in full compliance and the Township must be provided a copy of the MS4 
permit as well as copies of the annual reports. 
 


Urban Tree Canopy Expansion (RES and NR) All properties 


Property owners who complete an urban tree planting project on their property are eligible for this 
credit. Tree canopy Credits can also be applied to existing trees if the tree canopy covers existing 
impervious surfaces. New trees are not required to cover existing impervious surfaces. To be 
eligible, the planted tree must have a minimum diameter at breast height (DBH) of one (1)-inch. A 
minimum of four (4) trees are needed to qualify for the Credit, and can consist of a combination of 
existing and new plantings. Credits will be applied based on Table 2. Planting trees as part of 
restoration efforts associated with tree harvesting is not an eligible activity to receive Credits. Trees 
required to be planted as part of a land development plan including but not limited to street trees 
and buffer plantings, trees required under the tree preservation ordinance, are not eligible plantings 
to receive this credit. For RES properties, credits are applied based on absolute number of trees. 
For NR properties, credits are applied based on the number of trees per ERU. Two examples of 
how Credits are calculated are shown below: 
RES Example: Property has two (2) existing trees along the street in front of their house. The 
property owner plants three (3) additional trees in the backyard for a total of five (5) trees. The 
property owner is eligible for a 20% Credit for the five (5) trees. 
NR Example: A property with 100 ERUs of IA has no existing trees. The property owner plants 30 
trees around the perimeter of the property. This is equivalent to planting five (5) trees per ERU for 
six (6) ERUs. The property owner is eligible for a 40% Credit on six (6) of their 100 ERUs.  
 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 11 


Table 2. Tree Canopy Credit based on Number of Trees 
 
 
 
 


Number of Eligible 
Trees Credit 


RES NR 
4 2 per ERU 15% 
6 3 per ERU 25% 
8 4 per ERU 35% 
10 5 per ERU 40% 


 
 


Innovation (RES and NR ALL) 


Ferguson Township recognizes that the ultimate goal of the SMP and Credit Policy is to improve 
our stormwater management system and local and regional water quality. Therefore, Ferguson 
Township encourages property owners to propose other means to improve their property and our 
community through the use of innovative stormwater technologies. If a property owner has an idea 
for a project worthy of stormwater credits, the property owner may submit the project idea under 
the Innovation Credit. The project eligibility will be determined by the Director.  
 
Common Questions 


 Does the credit apply to the entire property?  For structural facilities (Post Construction and 
Green Infrastructure) the credit only applies to the impervious area draining to the structure, 
not the entire property. 


 Can I take credit for impervious area from another property?  Yes, but only if the area is not 
subsequently treated by a structure on the contributing property.  However, in no case can the 
credit taken by a property owner exceed 40% of the total stormwater utility fee for the 
property. 


 What about structures that are maintained by a homeowner’s association?  These structures 
are subject to specific procedures and are addressed later in this manual. 


 How do I know the design standard for my structure?  The Township will assign the 
design standard based on when the development was reviewed and approved, which aligns 
with the Township stormwater requirements at that time. 


 What if my structure exceeded the design standard in place at the time of 
development?  Most structures were designed to meet the overall requirements for the 
property at the time of development.  The Township will grant an additional credit as stated in  
table 1 for those that exceed 20% of the design standard requirement.  


 Why can’t I get 100% credit on my stormwater bill?  The Township’s stormwater program 
is designed to be comprehensive and includes public services such as rehabilitation and 
replacement of the storm drainage system, and regulatory compliance.  All properties receive 
a benefit from the overall program and therefore contribute to the funding needed for 
stormwater management.  







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 12 


 If I build a structure using Township cost-share funds, does that affect my credit?  Yes.  
Under the Partnership Program a credit will be reduced by the percent of public funds used to 
design and install (or retrofit) the structure.  The reduction applies for the expected functional 
life-time of the structure (20 years unless otherwise provided by the Township). 


 
Post Construction and Green Stormwater Structures serving homeowner associations. 
 
A stormwater management structure may be operated and maintained by a homeowner 
association (HOA) on behalf of its members.  In these cases, the credit applicant is the 
association, not the individual property owners.  This is because some properties that belong 
to the association pay for maintenance of the structure but may not actually drain to the structure.  
Conversely, some properties that drain to the structure may not belong to the association. 


HOAs have two options and should contact the Township’s Engineer for more information 
prior to submitting a credit application. 


Separate Billing and Consolidated Credit 


The HOA and individual property owners will be billed separately for their impervious area.  
However, credit for the stormwater structure(s) is analyzed as if the HOA was a single property.  
When submitting an application, the association enters the total impervious area within the 
association boundary draining to the structure.  The resulting credit is provided to the association.  
If the amount of the HOA’s utility bill is less than the credit, the HOA will receive a check from the 
Township.  It is then up to the association, on behalf of its members, to determine how to 
distribute the credit among property owners (direct payment, reduction in HOA fees, deposit into 
a structure maintenance fund, etc.).  


How and when do I apply? 
 
A Credit Application Form must be submitted to the Township by the operator of the structure, or 
his/her legal agent, and approved by the Township’s Engineer to receive credit no later than 
September 30 for the following fiscal year user fees.  Separate forms may be needed when there 
are multiple structures that are eligible for different credit levels.  Once an application is approved, 
it will be applied to the next full billing period.  Credits are not retroactively applied to a previous 
billing period. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 13 


 


Credit Application Checklist 


Documentation Description 


Credit Application 
Form 


This form is located under Forms at the end of this manual. 


Structure Certification 
Form 


This form is required ONLY if the structure has not been approved by 
the Township and accepted into the Township’s inspection program.  
The form is completed under the authority of a professional engineer 
or other qualified professional.  The form must include certification 
that the structure if functioning as originally designed. 


The following must be submitted on request if not on-file with the Township: 


Drainage Area Map Provide a to-scale map showing property lines, impervious areas, 
stormwater drainage area boundaries, and the total impervious cover 
draining to the structure(s). 


Structure Design 
Plan/As-Built Drawing 


Provide the design plan and as-built drawing for the structure(s). 


Maintenance 
Agreement 


Provide a copy of the agreement that allows the Township access to 
the site and establishes enforceable maintenance and reporting 
requirements.  An updated maintenance agreement may be required 
as a condition of receiving credit. 


 


  







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits Page 14 


Do I need to re-apply for credit? 


At the discretion of the Township, credit will continue to renew on an annual basis provided that 
the operator complies with all requirements of the maintenance agreement.  The Township 
reserves the right to change the criteria for receiving credit or require additional information for 
the operator of the structure to continue receiving credit. 


The Township will periodically inspect properties to verify functionality of the structures or best 
practices.  If the inspection results in a determination of non-compliance or performance with the 
terms of the credit, the property owner will be provided time to make corrections/improvements.  If 
such deficiencies are not corrected, the credit will be revoked. 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits and Incentives Credit Application Form 


Credit Application Form Structures and Buffers 


FILL OUT THIS FORM FOR EACH STORMWATER MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE IF 
THERE ARE MULTIPLE STRUCTURES ON A PROPERTY 


 


Applicant Name:   Date:     


Property Information: 


Owner  


Street  


Township, State, ZIP Code  


Property Type Choose an item. 


Mailing Address: (if different from property address) 


Street  


Township, State, ZIP Code  


 


Email Address:  


Phone Number:  


 


Homeowner Association Information: 


Is the structure operated by a homeowner association? 


☐   Yes ☐   No 


 


Facility/Buffer Information: 


Leave blank if information is unknown. 


 Facility, Buffer or Practice Type


  


Year of Installation  


If buffer, width & length in feet:  W ____________    L ___________________ 


If buffer, name stream protected:   _____________________________________ 







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits and Incentives Credit Application Form 


Was this facility/buffer constructed as a condition of development?  Yes ☐     No ☐ 


If structure was a condition of development, was the facility designed to control new 
impervious cover, existing impervious cover, or a combination of both? 


 New Impervious Cover ☐ 


 Existing Impervious Cover ☐ 


 Both New and Existing Impervious Cover ☐ 


Impervious Area Treated: 


New Impervious Area Treated  SF 


Existing Impervious Area Treated  SF 


Total Impervious Area Treated  SF 


 


Additional Information: 


Please include additional information if necessary either in the box below or as a separate 
attachment: 


 


 


The following supporting documentation may be required if it is not already on-file 
with the Township.  Township staff will contact the applicant if the information is 
needed. 


 Drainage Area Map – A to-scale map showing property lines, impervious areas, 
stormwater drainage area boundaries, and the total impervious cover draining to the 
structure(s).  


 Structure Design Plan/As-Built Drawing – A design plan and as-built drawing for 
the structure(s). 


 Maintenance Agreement – A copy of the agreement that allows the Township 
access to the site and establishes enforceable maintenance and reporting 
requirements. An updated maintenance agreement may be required as a condition 
of receiving credit.  







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits and Incentives Credit Application Form 


Certification and Inspection Agreement 


 


☐ I am the legal operator or I am duly authorized to act on behalf of the legal operator, I 
have reviewed the information contained in this application and the supporting 
documentation, and to the best of my knowledge believe that it is true and accurate.   


☐ I commit to maintaining the stormwater management structure in good working 
condition.  


☐ I authorize the Township or its representative to enter the site for the sole purpose of 
visually inspecting the stormwater management structure. 


☐ I understand that if an inspection by the Township indicates that the structure is not 
properly maintained, that the structure will no longer be eligible for credit if deficiencies 
are not corrected within the timeframe provided by Township staff. 


 


Name/Title:   


 


Signature ________________________________ Date ___________________________  


 


 


Return this form and supporting documentation to: 


Ferguson Township 


 


  







 


 Township of Ferguson  Stormwater Utility Credits and Incentives Credit Application Form 


Credit Application Form Non-Structural/Buffers 


FILL OUT THIS FORM FOR EACH STORMWATER PRACTICE (NUTRIENT 
MANAGEMENT PLAN, DISCONNECTED IMPERVIOUS AREA, INFILTRATION 
PRACTICE/GROUNDWATER RECHARGE) IF THERE ARE MULTIPLE 
ACTIVITIES/PRACTICES ON A PROPERTY. 


 


Applicant Name:   Date:     


Property Information: 


Owner  


Street  


Township, State, ZIP Code  


Property Type Choose an item. 


Mailing Address: (if different from property address) 


Street  


Township, State, ZIP Code  


 


Email Address:  


Phone Number:  


Information: 


Please include detailed information if necessary either in the box below or as a separate 
attachment to describe the activity or practice. Identify the credit applied for on this property. 


 


 


  







 


 


Structure Certification Form 


FILL OUT THIS FORM ONLY IF THE STRUCTURE HAS NOT ALREADY BEEN 
ACCEPTED INTO THE TOWNSHIP’S INSPECTION SYSTEM 


 


Applicant Name:   Date:     


Property Information: 


Owner  


Street  


Township, State, ZIP Code  


Property Type Choose an item. 


 


Structure Type:  


Year Built:  


Design Standard:  


Impervious Area Treated (SF):  


 


General Condition: Yes No N/A 


Is the primary outfall pipe/ ditch clear and functioning?    


Are the inflow pipes/ ditches clear and functioning?    


Is the water quality pool at the correct height (if present)?    


Are water quality pool control weirs, pipes, etc. working properly?    


Are emergency overflow devices clear and functional (if present)?    


Is the structure clear of sediment?    


Is the structure clear of trash?    


Are embankments free of erosion, woody vegetation (unless called for 
in the design), animal burrows, or signs of deterioration? 


   


Is vegetation being managed in a manner appropriate to the facility?    


 







 


 


Certification  


This certification must be made by or under the guidance of a licensed professional 
engineer, landscape architect, or other professional recognized by the Township to make 
this certification. 


☐ Based on a visual inspection of the above facility conducted on   
I certify that the structure is currently functioning as designed. 


☐ I certify that the total impervious area served by the structure is true and accurate. 


 


Attach documentation of the structure inspection, including photographs. 


 


Name:   


Qualification:   


Address of Inspector:   


Email:  


Phone:  


 


 


Signature ________________________________ Date ___________________________  


 


 


Return this form and supporting documentation to: 


Ferguson Township 


 
 
 








   


 


During the COVID-19 health emergency, to continue business operations of the 
COG and ensure the safety of municipal officials and staff, and to adhere to health 
emergency recommendations while remaining in compliance with Pennsylvania’s 
guidelines for public meetings, this Facilities Committee meeting will be held via 
video conference. Written public comment or requests to speak to the Facilities 
Committee for items not on the agenda, and requests to comment to specific agenda 
items listed below, may be submitted in advance by emailing lbrungard@crcog.net. 
 


 


CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite #3 


State College, PA 16801 


Phone: (814) 231-3077  Fax: (814) 231-3088  Website: www.crcog.net 


 
 


FACILITIES COMMITTEE 
Virtual Meeting 
February 2, 2021 


8:30 AM 
 


 
 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 


 


AGENDA 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 


 
2. PUBLIC COMMENTS 


 


Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda (five 
minutes per person time limit, please). Comments relating to specific items on the agenda should 
be deferred until that point in the meeting. Submitted comments will be read into the record at 
the appropriate time in the meeting.  
 


3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES (Action) 
 


A copy of the minutes of the January 12, 2021 Facilities Committee meeting is enclosed. 
 
4.  PROJECT UPDATES (Informational) 
 


This is an informational agenda item whereby COG staff will update the Committee on the 
status of current projects. 
 


• COG Building Code Renovations - Video 
• COG Building HVAC evaluation by Lou Brungard 
• Park Forest Pool Facility Condition Report by Lou Brungard 
• Screens for COG Building by Lou Brungard 
• Millbrook Marsh Nature Center boardwalk RFP update by CRPR staff  
• COG Building Ownership Discussion with Managers by Eric Norenberg 







Facilities Committee Agenda 
February 2, 2021 
Page 2 of 2 
 


   


 


• Whitehall Road Regional Park Project Update by Pam Salokangas 
 


The Committee members should ask any questions they deem pertinent. 
 


5.   FACILITIES INFORMATION FILE 
Joe Viglione and Lou Brungard have formatted a file structure that will be a SharePoint file for 
the Facilities Committee to access.  This file structure will contain Facility Conditions Reports, 
Project Updates, the overall initiative schedule, and pertinent project updates. 


 
6.  EXPECTATIONS OF THE FACILITY COORDINATOR 


Lou Brungard will provide the “first 30 days” as well as discuss with the Committee plans and 
objectives for the Facility Coordinator.  A discussion is expected to collect feedback from the 
Committee to ensure information sharing and reporting meets the needs of the Committee.  
Enclosed is a copy of the presentation.   


  
 
7. FINANCE COMMITTEE REPORT (Informational) 


 


Ms. Patti Hartle to provide summary of the 1/14/2021 Finance Committee meeting. 
 
8.  MATTERS OF RECORD – Nothing to report 


 
9.  OTHER BUSINESS (Informational) 
 


As may come forward by the members and/or staff. 
 


10.  ADJOURNMENT 







